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        All references to "us," "we," "our," the "Company" and "Kratos" refer to Kratos Defense & Security Solutions, Inc., a Delaware Corporation, and its
subsidiaries.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 

        This Annual Report on Form 10-K (this "Annual Report") contains "forward-looking statements" that involve risks and uncertainties, as well as assumptions
that, if they never materialize or prove incorrect, could cause our results to differ materially and adversely from those expressed or implied by such forward-
looking statements. These statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other important factors that may cause our actual results, performance
or achievements to be materially different from any future results, performances or achievements expressed or implied by the forward looking statements.
Forward looking statements may include, but are not limited to, statements relating to our future financial performance, the growth of the market for our services,
expansion plans and opportunities and statements regarding our intended uses of the proceeds of the securities offered hereby. In some cases, you can identify
forward looking statements by terminology such as "may," "will," "should," "expect," "plan," "anticipate," "believe," "estimate," "predict," "potential" or
"continue," the negative of such terms or other comparable terminology.

        Forward looking statements reflect our current views about future events, are based on assumptions, and are subject to known and unknown risks and
uncertainties. Many important factors could cause actual results or achievements to differ materially from any future results or achievements expressed in or
implied by our forward looking statements, including the factors listed below. Many of the factors that will determine future events or achievements are beyond
our ability to control or predict. Certain of these are important factors that could cause actual results or achievements to differ materially from the results or
achievements reflected in our forward looking statements, including, but not limited to those specifically addressed in Item 1A. "Risk Factors" in this Annual
Report, as well as those discussed elsewhere in this Annual Report.

        These forward looking statements reflect our views and assumptions only as of the date such forward-looking statements are made. You should not place
undue reliance on forward looking statements. Except as required by law, we assume no responsibility for updating any forward looking statements nor do we
intend to do so. Our actual results, performance or achievements could differ materially from the results expressed in, or implied by, these forward looking.

PART I 

Item 1.    Business

Overview

        We are a specialized national security business providing mission critical products, services and solutions for United States national security priorities. Our
core capabilities are sophisticated engineering, manufacturing and system integration offerings for national security platforms and programs. Our principal
services are related to, but are not limited to, Command, Control, Communications, Computing, Combat Systems, Intelligence, Surveillance and Reconnaissance
("C5ISR"); related cybersecurity; cyberwarfare; information assurance and situational awareness solutions; weapons systems lifecycle support and sustainment;
military weapon range operations and technical services; missile, rocket and weapons system testing and evaluation; missile and rocket mission launch services,
primarily for Ballistic Missile Defense; public safety, critical infrastructure security and surveillance systems; modeling and simulation; unmanned aerial vehicle
systems ("UAVs"); and advanced network engineering and information technology services. We offer our customers products, solutions, services and expertise to
support their mission-critical needs by leveraging our skills across our core offering areas.
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        Our primary end customers are United States Federal Government agencies, including the Department of Defense ("DoD"), classified agencies, intelligence
agencies, other National Security agencies and Homeland Security related agencies. We believe our stable client base, strong client relationships, broad array of
contract vehicles, considerable employee base possessing national security clearances, extensive list of past performance qualifications, and significant
management and operational capabilities position us for continued growth.

        We provide products, solutions and services for a wide range of established, deployed and operating national security platforms, including, but not limited to:
Aegis Ballistic Missile Defense systems, M1 Abrams tanks, Bradley fighting vehicles, F-5 Tiger, HiMARS, Chaparral and Hawk missile systems, Kiowa AH-60
helicopters, DDG-1000 Zumwalt destroyers, attack and missile submarines, certain intelligence surveillance and reconnaissance systems and various unmanned
systems.

        Prior to 2008, we were also an independent provider of outsourced engineering and network deployment services, security systems engineering and
integration services and other technical services for the wireless communications industry, the U.S. Government and enterprise customers. In 2006 and 2007, we
undertook a transformation strategy whereby we divested our commercial wireless-related businesses and chose to pursue business with the federal government,
primarily the DoD, through strategic acquisitions. On September 12, 2007, we changed our name from Wireless Facilities, Inc. to Kratos Defense & Security
Solutions, Inc. Our new name reflects our revised focus as a defense contractor and security systems integrator for the federal government and for state and local
agencies. In connection with our name change, we changed our NASDAQ Global Select Market trading symbol to "KTOS".

        We were incorporated in the state of New York on December 19, 1994 and began operations in March 1995. We reincorporated in the state of Delaware in
1998.

Current Reporting Segments

        We operate in two principal business segments: Kratos Government Solutions and Public Safety and Security. We organize our business segments based on
the nature of the services offered. Transactions between segments are generally negotiated and accounted for under terms and conditions similar to other
government and commercial contracts and these intercompany transactions are eliminated in consolidation. The financial statements in this Annual Report are
presented in a manner consistent with our operating structure. For additional information regarding our operating segments, see Note 14 of the Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements. From a customer and solutions perspective, we view our business as an integrated whole, leveraging skills and assets
wherever possible.

Kratos Government Solutions ("KGS") Segment

        The KGS segment provides products, solutions and services primarily for mission critical National Security priorities. KGS customers primarily include
National Security related agencies, the Department of Defense, intelligence agencies and classified agencies. Our work includes weapon systems sustainment,
lifecycle support and extension; C5ISR services, including related cybersecurity, cyberwarfare, information assurance and situational awareness solutions;
military range operations and technical services; missile, rocket, and weapons systems test and evaluation; mission launch services; modeling and simulation,
UAV products and technology, and advanced network engineering and information technology services; and public safety, security and surveillance systems
integration. We produce products, solutions and services related to certain C5ISR platforms, unmanned system platforms, weapons systems, national security
related assets and warfighter systems.
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Public Safety and Security ("PSS") Segment

        Our PSS segment provides independent integrated solutions for advanced homeland security, public safety, critical information, security and surveillance
systems for government and commercial applications. Our solutions include designing, installing and servicing building technologies that protect people, critical
infrastructure, assets, information and property and make facilities more secure and efficient. We provide solutions in such areas as the design, engineering and
operation of command and control centers; the design, engineering, deployment and integration of access control; building automation and control;
communications; digital and closed circuit television security and surveillance; fire and life safety; maintenance and services and product support services.

        We provide solutions for customers in the critical infrastructure, power generation, power transport, nuclear energy, financial, information technology,
healthcare, education, transportation and petro-chemical industries, as well as certain government and military customers. For example, we provide biometrics
and other access control technologies to customers such as pipelines, electrical grids, municipal port authorities, power plants, communication centers, large data
centers, government installations and other commercial enterprises.

Competitive Strengths

        We believe we have robust capabilities and past performance qualifications in our respective business areas, including a work force that is experienced with
the various programs we service and the customers we serve. Additionally, the majority of our employees have national security clearances specifically related to
the customers they work for and the contracts which they work on. We believe the following key strengths distinguish us competitively:

• Significant and highly specialized experience.  Through existing customer engagements and the government-focused acquisitions we have
completed over the past several years, we have amassed significant and highly specialized experience in areas directly related to C5ISR weapon
system life-cycle extension and sustainment; missile, rocket and weapons system testing and evaluation; military range operations and technical
services, and other highly differentiated services and solutions. This collective experience, or past performance qualifications, is a requirement for
the majority of our contract vehicles and customer engagements. Further enhancing our specialized expertise, a majority of our approximately
2,900 employees have national security clearances, including top secret and higher. We believe these characteristics represent a significant
competitive strength and position us to win renewal or follow-on business. 

• Specialized national security focus aligned with mission-critical national security priorities. Continued concerns related to the threat posed by
certain foreign nations and terrorists have caused the U.S. Government to identify national security as an area of functional and spending priority.
Budget pressures, particularly related to DoD spending, have placed a premium on developing and fielding relatively low-cost, high-technology
solutions to assist in national security missions. Our primary capabilities and areas of focus, listed below, are strongly aligned with the objectives
of the U.S. Government: 

• Intelligence, surveillance and reconnaissance 

• Command, control and combat systems 

• Unmanned systems 

• Ballistic missile defense 

• Cyber security and information assurance
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        We believe our strategy has been confirmed through our established positions on 11 of the top 15 DoD programs in terms of total procurement and research,
development, testing and evaluation spending, including the F-35 Lightning II, multiple missile defense programs, Bridge Combat Team, multiple unmanned
aerial vehicle ("UAV") programs, Blackhawk helicopter and related variants, CVN-21 Carrier Replacement, DDG-51 Aegis Destroyer, Littoral Combat Ship and
others.

• Strategic geographic locations and base realignment and closure.  The U.S. Base Realignment and Closure Act of 2005 ("BRAC") is the
congressionally authorized process the DoD has implemented to reorganize its base structure to fewer, larger bases in order to support U.S. armed
forces more efficiently and effectively, increase operational readiness and facilitate new ways of doing business. As a result of the DoD's BRAC
transformation, we have concentrated part of our business strategy on building a significant presence in key BRAC receiving locations where the
U.S. Federal Government is relocating its personnel and related technical and professional services. We believe our focus on increasing our
strategic presence in key BRAC receiving locations will provide us with a significant competitive advantage. 

• Diverse base of key contracts with low concentration.  As a result of our business development focus on securing key contracts, we are a preferred
contractor on numerous multi-year, government-wide acquisition contracts ("GWACs") and multiple award contracts. Our preferred contractor
status provides us with the opportunity to bid on hundreds of millions of dollars of business each year against a discrete number of other pre-
qualified companies. We have a highly diverse base of contracts with no contract representing more than 5% of 2010 revenue. Our fixed-price
contracts, almost all of which are production contracts, represent approximately 57% of our 2010 revenue. Our cost-plus-fee contracts and time
and materials contracts represent approximately 22% and 21%, respectively, of our 2010 revenue. We believe our diverse base of key contracts
and low reliance on any one contract provides us with a stable, balanced revenue stream. 

• In-depth understanding of client missions.  We have a reputation for providing mission-critical services and solutions to our clients. Our
relationships with our U.S. Army, U.S. Navy and U.S. Air Force customers generally exceed 10 years, enabling us to develop an in-depth
understanding of their missions and technical needs. In addition, we have employees located at customer sites, providing us valuable strategic
insights into our clients' ongoing and future program requirements. Our in-depth understanding of our clients' missions, in conjunction with the
strategic location of our employees, enables us to offer technical solutions tailored to our clients' specific requirements and evolving mission
objectives. In addition, once we are on-site with a customer, we have historically been successful in winning recompete business in the vast
majority of cases. 

• Significant cash flow visibility driven by stable backlog.  As of December 26, 2010, our total backlog was approximately $674 million, of which
approximately $292 million was funded backlog. The majority of our sales are from orders issued under long-term contracts, typically three to five
years in duration. Our contract backlog provides visibility into stable future revenue and cash flow over a diverse set of contracts. 

• Highly skilled employees and an experienced management team.  We deliver our services through a skilled workforce of approximately 2,900
employees. Our senior managers have significant experience with U.S. Federal Government agencies, the U.S. military and federal government
contractors. Members of our management team have experience growing businesses both organically and through acquisitions. We believe that the
cumulative experience and differentiated expertise of our personnel in our core focus areas, coupled with our sizable employee base, the majority
of which hold national security clearances, allows us to qualify for and bid on larger projects in a prime contracting role.
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Services and Solutions

        We provide a range of integrated engineering, war fighter, security and information technology services, solutions, and products by leveraging our core
service offerings: C5ISR weapons systems lifecycle sustainment, support, and extension; military range operations and technical services; missile and rocket test
and evaluation; security systems integration; manufacturing of tactical combat vehicle shelters for C5ISR systems, weapon systems and warfighters; and learning,
performance and training solutions.

C5ISR (Command, Control, Communications, Computing, Combat Systems, Intelligence, Surveillance and Reconnaissance)

        In the area of C5ISR, we are involved in a wide range of services, including installation, upgrade and maintenance of command, control, computing, and
surveillance systems for customers such as the Joint Inter Agency Task Force- south ("JIATF"), the Naval Undersea Warfare Center (NUWC) and the Space and
Naval Warfare Systems Center (SPAWAR). We are also involved in the study, research and development of exotic sensors, including Electrical-Optical/Infrared
("EO/IR") sensors, for our customers.

Weapon Systems Lifecycle Sustainment, Support and Extension

        We provide weapons systems life cycle sustainment, support, and extension services for the DoD and foreign governments. These services focus on
maintaining, testing and repairing certain weapons systems for the war fighter.

Manufacturing of tactical combat vehicle shelters for C5ISR systems, unmanned aerial systems, weapon systems and warfighters

        We provide tactical combat vehicle shelters for C5ISR systems, weapon systems and warfighters. Our tactical military facilities and products include
lightweight, high-strength enclosures for widely recognized military programs and platforms, as well as ruggedized and readily transported enclosures. Many of
our products include High Altitude Electromagnetic Pulse ("HEMP") protection, and other types of electromagnetic, electronic warfare and other protections. Our
product design approach focuses on highly engineered enclosures and facilities that have the flexibility to be modified to customer specifications. We routinely
design, integrate and install components into our standard products, such as command, control and communication systems infrastructure, racks and cabinets and
power distribution and lighting, among others.

Missile and Rocket Test and Evaluation

        We have expertise in the area of ballistic missile and rocket test and evaluation services, which are primarily dedicated to United States Ballistic Missile
Defense (BMD) missions. This includes exclusive rights to the design and manufacture of the motor on the Oriole Rocket System and ancillary hardware for
sounding rockets, suborbital research and target services together with both intellectual property and subject matter expertise in sensors and modeling and
simulation associated with a wide range of missile technologies. Additionally, this area of our business develops and produces low-cost ballistic missile defense
targets. These ballistic missile targets or AEGIS Readiness Assessment Vehicles (ARAVs) are a key element in U.S. AEGIS based Ballistic Missile Defense
forces.

Security Systems Integration

        We have broad experience integrating security services and solutions across a number of network and communications platforms. In particular, our non-
federal business has extensive experience and has developed significant customer relationships by providing best-in-class systems integration services on a
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variety of platforms including digital (IP) surveillance and security, building automation systems and controls, fire and life safety systems, access control and
perimeter protection, and service and maintenance of the aforementioned systems.

        We have comprehensive experience providing engineering services at any phase of a project lifecycle including program management, engineering design,
system engineering, operations and maintenance, integrated telecommunications, and warfare systems training.

        We also develop and produce network management and protection proprietary products—NeuralStar and dopplerVUE.

Missile Range Operations and Technical Services

        A key area of differentiation for us is within the missile range and technical service areas. We have resources stationed at many major weapons and targets
range locations throughout the United States, including Naval Air Warfare Center Pt. Mugu, Hawaii Pacific Missile Range, Fort Bliss, Texas, and White Sands
Missile Range, New Mexico. Our services include aerial target operations and maintenance, surface target operations and maintenance, missile systems
operations and maintenance, range operations planning and support, hazardous materials management, supply and logistics support, and manufacturing.

Learning, Performance and Training Solutions

        Our learning, performance and training solutions consist of a broad range of products and service capabilities to deliver training solutions and web-enabled
or satellite based interactive distance learning for customers in the DoD, other government agencies, universities and commercial organizations. Our training
solutions include services, product development, and tools addressing a wide range of related disciplines that include human performance factors, job and task
analysis, competencies definitions, skills and knowledge building via multiple delivery mediums, tracking, assessment, evaluation, and trend analysis. In addition,
we develop and provide classroom based and e-learning training and education programs and Net-Centric Human Systems Integration (HSI) solutions.

        We offer a range of IT services and solutions from conceptual network planning to system service and maintenance. We also offer our proprietary software
based network management products via software license and maintenance sales which also serve as a platform for incremental network based services work. We
have extensive experience building complex and secure networks for the federal government, and we possess in-depth experience with network operations
centers. Our services include network operations centers, help desks, system maintenance, system upgrades, configuration management, data warehousing,
commercial off the self ("COTS") selection and integration, and high performance computing.

Our Strategy

        Our strategy is to aggressively grow our business as a leading provider of highly differentiated products, solutions and services in our core areas of focus as
noted above by delivering comprehensive, high-end engineering services, technical solutions, product manufacturing, and information technology solutions to
federal government agencies, while improving our margin rates and overall profitability. To achieve our objective, we intend to accelerate internal growth and
pursue strategic acquisitions.

Accelerate Internal Growth

        We are focused on accelerating our internal growth rate by capitalizing on our current contract base and customer relationships, expanding product, solution
and service offerings provided to our
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existing clients, expanding our client and contract base, improving our operating margins, capitalizing on corporate infrastructure investments and concentrating
on high value-added contracts.

        Capitalize on Current Contract Base.    We are pursuing new program and contract opportunities and awards, as we build the business, with our expanding
customer base, contract portfolio, and product, solution and service offerings. We are aggressively pursuing task orders under existing contract vehicles to
maximize our revenue and strengthen our client relationships, though there is no assurance that the federal government will make awards up to the ceiling
amounts or that we will be awarded any task orders under these vehicles. We have developed several internal tools that facilitate our ability to track, prioritize and
win task orders under these vehicles. Combining these tools with our technical expertise, our strong past performance record and our knowledge of our clients'
needs, should position us to win additional task orders.

        Expand Product, Solution and Service Offerings Provided to Existing Clients.    We are focused on expanding the products, solutions and services we
provide to our current clients by leveraging our strong relationships, technical capabilities and past performance record, and by offering a wider range of
comprehensive solutions as we continue to acquire companies with new areas of specialization. In regard to new areas of specialization, two of our recent
acquisitions have expanded our service offerings to include manufacturing of tactical combat vehicle shelters for C5ISR systems, unmanned systems, weapon
systems and warfighters. We believe our understanding of client missions, processes and needs, in conjunction with our full lifecycle IT offerings, including
cybersecurity, cyberwarfare and situational awareness, positions us to capture new work from existing clients as the federal government continues to increase the
volume of IT services contracted to professional services providers. Moreover, we believe our strong past performance record positions us to expand the level of
services we provide to our clients as the federal government places greater emphasis on past performance as a criterion for awarding contracts.

        Expand Client and Contract Base.    We are also focused on expanding our client base into areas with significant growth opportunities by leveraging our
capabilities, industry reputation, long-term client relationships and diverse contract base. We anticipate that this expansion will enable us both to pursue additional
higher value work and to further diversify our revenue base across the federal government. Our long-term relationships with federal government agencies,
together with our GWAC vehicles, give us opportunities to win contracts with new clients within these agencies.

        Improve Operating Margins.    We believe that we have opportunities to increase our operating margins and improve profitability by capitalizing on our
corporate infrastructure investments and internally developed tools, improving efficiencies and reducing costs, and concentrating our efforts on increasing the
percentage of revenues generated from high value-added contracts.

        Capitalize on Corporate Infrastructure Investments.    In recent periods, we have made significant investments in our senior management and corporate
infrastructure in anticipation of future revenue growth. These investments included hiring senior executives with significant experience in the national security
business, strengthening our internal controls over financial reporting and accounting staff in support of public company reporting requirements, expanding our
Sensitive Compartmented Information Facilities and other corporate facilities, and expanding our backlog and bid and proposal pipeline. We will be allocating
additional resources in our pursuit of new and larger contract opportunities, leveraging our increased scale and robust past performance qualifications. We believe
our management experience and corporate infrastructure are more typical of a company with a much larger revenue base than ours. We therefore anticipate that,
to the extent our revenue grows, we will be able to leverage this infrastructure base and increase our operating margins.

        Concentrate on High Value-Added Contracts.    We expect to improve our operating margins as we strive to increase the percentage of revenue we derive
from our work as a contractor and from
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engagements where contracts are awarded on a best value, rather than on a low cost, basis. The federal government's move toward performance-based contract
awards to realize greater return on its investment has resulted in a shift to greater utilization of best value awards. We believe this shift will enable us to expand
our operating margins as we are awarded more contracts of this nature.

Pursuit of Strategic Acquisitions

        We intend to supplement our organic growth by identifying, acquiring and integrating businesses that meet our primary objective of providing us with
enhanced capabilities to pursue a broader cross section of the DoD, Department of Homeland Security ("DHS") and other government markets, complement and
broaden our existing client base and expand our primary service offerings. Our senior management team has significant acquisition experience.

Pending Acquisition of Herley Industries, Inc.

        On February 7, 2011, we entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger (the "Merger Agreement") with Lanza Acquisition Co., our indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary ("Merger Sub"), and Herley Industries, Inc. ("Herley"). Pursuant to the terms of the Merger Agreement we will acquire Herley through a tender offer
by Merger Sub for all of Herley's outstanding common stock and a subsequent merger between Merger Sub and Herley (the "Merger"). Herley is a leading
provider of microwave technologies for use in command and control systems, flight instrumentation, weapons sensors, radar, communication systems, and
electronic warfare systems. Herley has served the defense industry since 1965 by designing and manufacturing microwave devices for use in high-technology
defense electronics applications. Herley's products represent key components in the national security efforts of the U.S., as they are employed in mission-critical
electronic warfare, electronic attack, electronic warfare threat and radar simulation, command and control network, and cyber warfare/cybersecurity applications.

        The boards of directors of Kratos and Herley have approved the Merger Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereby. On February 25, 2011,
pursuant to the terms of the Merger Agreement, Merger Sub commenced a tender offer (the "Offer") to purchase all of Herley's issued and outstanding shares of
common stock, par value $0.10 per share (the "Herley Common Stock"), at a price of $19.00 per share in cash, without any interest thereon (the "Offer Price").
The Offer will remain open for 20 business days, subject to periods of extension through June 30, 2011 if the conditions to the Offer have not been satisfied at the
end of any Offer period (subject to the parties' termination rights under the Merger Agreement).

Acquisition in the PSS segment

        On December 15, 2010, we acquired Henry Bros. Electronics, Inc. ("HBE") in a cash merger for a purchase price of $56.6 million, of which $54.9 million
was paid in cash and $1.7 million reflects the fair value of options to purchase common stock of HBE that were assumed by us and converted into options to
purchase our common stock upon completion of the merger. HBE is a leading provider of homeland security solutions, products, and system integration services,
including the design, engineering and operation of command and control systems for the protection of strategic assets and critical infrastructure in the U.S. HBE
also has particular expertise in the design, engineering, deployment and operation of specialized surveillance, thermal imaging, analytics, radar, and biometrics
technology based security systems. Representative HBE programs and customers include DoD agencies, nuclear power generation facilities, state government
and municipality related agencies, major national airports, major harbors, railways, tunnel systems, energy centers, power plants, and related infrastructure.
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Acquisitions in the KGS segment

        On December 7, 2010, we acquired Southside Container & Trailer, LLC ("Southside" or "SCT") for $13.7 million of which $12.2 million in cash was paid at
closing, $0.3 million is being held as security for SCT's indemnification obligations as set forth in the Purchase Agreement and approximately $1.2 million of
which represents the acquisition date fair value of additional performance based consideration. The potential undiscounted amount of all future contingent
consideration that may be payable by us under the Purchase Agreement is $3.5 million. Southside was a privately-held, premier provider of National Security
related Command and Control Center, Law Enforcement, Military Aviation and Data Center Products, Shelters and Solutions for the United States Department of
Defense, National Security agencies and related customers. Southside provides products and solutions for specialized war fighter and critical asymmetric warfare
related missions. Representative end customers and program locations include the United States Army, Marine Corps, Special Operations Command, SPAWAR,
Fort Bragg, Fort Lewis, Fort Bliss, Fort McGregor, Fort Irwin, Fort Stewart, the Border Patrol and the National Guard.

        On August 9, 2010, we acquired DEI Services Corporation ("DEI") in a cash merger valued at approximately $14.0 million, of which $9.0 million was paid
in cash at closing and $5.0 million of which represented the acquisition date fair value of additional performance-based consideration, of which $0.4 million was
achieved and paid in September 2010. Pursuant to the terms of that the applicable agreement and plan of merger (the "DEI Agreement"), upon achievement of
certain cash receipts, revenue, EBITDA and backlog amounts in 2010, 2011 and 2012, we will be obligated pay certain additional contingent consideration. The
potential undiscounted amount of all future contingent consideration that may be payable by us under the DEI Agreement is between zero and $12.3 million. DEI
designs, manufactures and markets full-scale training simulation products. In addition to the engineering and construction of physical simulators for air and
ground military vehicles, DEI provides instructional design, courseware creation, learning application programming and other supporting services. Among DEI's
most successful products are training and simulation solutions for fixed-wing aircraft (including the Tiger, Harrier and Prowler aircraft), rotor-wing aircraft
(including Blackhawk, Chinook and Sea Stallion helicopters) and ground combat vehicles including the M1 Abrams Main Battle Tank and M2 Bradley Fighting
Vehicle.

        On May 19, 2010, we acquired Gichner Holdings, Inc. ("Gichner") in a cash for stock transaction valued at approximately $133.0 million. Gichner has
manufacturing and operating facilities in Dallastown and York, Pennsylvania and Charleston, South Carolina, and is a manufacturer of tactical military products,
combat support facilities, subsystems, modular systems and shelters primarily for the DoD and leading defense system providers. Representative programs for
which Gichner provides products and solutions include the MQ—1C Sky Warrior, Gorgon Stare, MQ—8B Fire Scout and RQ-7 Shadow Unmanned Aerial
Vehicles, the Command Post Platform and Joint Light Tactical Vehicles, Combat Tactical Vehicles, DDG-1000 Modular C5 Compartments and the Persistent
Threat Detection System ISR Platform.

        On December 24, 2008, we acquired DFI in a stock for stock transaction valued at approximately $37.0 million. DFI provides Command, Control,
Communications, Computing, Intelligence, Surveillance, and Reconnaissance ("C4ISR") and technical engineering services, UAV products and technology and
has significant engineering, modeling and simulation capabilities. The acquisition of DFI has provided us with new customers and an expanded contract vehicle
portfolio, in addition to expanding the range of service offerings to our existing customers. Principal customers of DFI include the Army Aviation and Missile
Research, Development and Engineering Center (AMRDEC), Army Space and Missile Defense Command/Army Forces Strategic Command (ARSTRAT),
NASA Marshall Space Flight Center, and certain classified customers.
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        On June 28, 2008, we acquired SYS Technologies ("SYS") for a purchase price of $55.9 million, including direct transaction costs of $2.4 million and
estimated restructuring costs of $2.6 million to be paid by us. SYS provided a range of C4ISR and net-centric solutions to federal, state, and local governments as
well as other customers. The combination of SYS and Kratos created a broad, complementary set of offerings, and positioned the organization to deliver proven
capabilities to a wider spectrum of customers in the areas of highly-specialized engineering and IT solutions and services, specifically in the areas of weapon
systems life cycle support and extension, military range operations, missile and weapon system testing, and C4ISR.

Customers

        A representative list of our customers in our KGS segment during 2010 included the U.S. Air Force, U.S. Army, U.S. Navy, Missile Defense Agency, the
Department of Homeland Security, NASA, Foreign Military Sales ("FMS"), the U.S. Southern Command, and U.S. Intel Community. In 2010, our customers in
the PSS segment included Halliburton, Hess Corporation, Houston Community College, Texas A&M University, AT&T, Chevron, Mellon Bank, Calpine Power
Plants, Capital Health, DuPont Fabros, Colonial Pipeline, BP America, The Houston Ballet, University of Houston, Meridian Health and Memorial Hermann
Hospital System.

        Revenue from the U.S. Government (which includes Foreign Military Sales) includes revenue from contracts for which we are the prime contractor as well
as those for which we are a subcontractor and the ultimate customer is the U.S. Government. Revenues from U.S. Government agency customers in aggregate
accounted for approximately 79%, 86% and 87% of total revenues in 2008, 2009, and 2010, respectively.

Backlog

        As of December 26, 2010 and December 27, 2009, our total backlog was approximately $674 million and $565 million, respectively, of which $292 million
was funded as of December 26, 2010 and $124 million was funded as of December 27, 2009. Backlog is our estimate of the amount of revenue we expect to
realize over the remaining life of awarded contracts and task orders that we have in hand as of the measurement date. Our total backlog consists of funded and
unfunded backlog. We define funded backlog as estimated future revenue under government contracts and task orders for which funding has been appropriated by
Congress and authorized for expenditure by the applicable agency, plus our estimate of the future revenue we expect to realize from our commercial contracts that
are under firm orders. Our funded backlog does not include the full potential value of our contracts, because Congress often appropriates funds to be used by an
agency for a particular program of a contract on a yearly or quarterly basis, even though the contract may call for performance over a number of years. As a
result, contracts typically are only partially funded at any point during their term and all or some of the work to be performed under the contracts may remain
unfunded unless and until Congress makes subsequent appropriation and the procuring agency allocates funding to the contract. Unfunded backlog reflects our
estimate of future revenue under awarded government contracts and task orders for which either funding has not yet been appropriated or expenditure has not yet
been authorized. Our total backlog does not include estimates of revenue from GWACs or General Services Administration ("GSA") schedules beyond awarded
or funded task orders, but our unfunded backlog does include estimates of revenue beyond awarded or funded task orders for other types of indefinite delivery,
indefinite quantity contracts, based on our experience under such contracts and similar contracts. Unfunded backlog also includes priced options, which consist of
the aggregate contract revenues expected to be earned as a result of a customer exercising an option period that has been specifically defined in the original
contract award.

        Contracts undertaken by us may extend beyond one year. Accordingly, portions are carried forward from one year to the next as part of backlog. Because
many factors affect the scheduling of projects, no

13



Table of Contents

assurance can be given as to when revenue will be realized on projects included in our backlog. Although funded backlog represents only business that is
considered to be firm, we cannot guarantee that cancellations or scope adjustments will not occur. The majority of funded backlog represents contracts under the
terms of which cancellation by the customer would entitle us to all or a portion of our costs incurred and potential fees.

        Management believes that year-to-year comparisons of backlog are not necessarily indicative of future revenues. The actual timing of receipt of revenues, if
any, on projects included in backlog could change because many factors affect the scheduling of projects. In addition, cancellation or adjustments to contracts
may occur. Backlog is typically subject to large variations from quarter to quarter as existing contracts are renewed or new contracts are awarded. Additionally, all
U.S. government contracts included in backlog, whether or not funded, may be terminated at the convenience of the U.S. government.

Employees

        As of December 26, 2010, including the employees from the Southside and HBE acquisitions, we had a work force of approximately 2,900 full-time, part-
time and on-call employees, the majority of which hold an active National Security clearance. We have one collective bargaining unit of approximately 22
employees which is represented by the International Association of Machinists & Aerospace Workers, AFL-CIO, White Sands Local Lodge 2515, Alamogordo,
New Mexico.

Competition

        Our market is competitive and includes the full range of federal and non-federal engineering and IT service providers. Many of the companies that we
compete against have significantly greater financial, technical and marketing resources, and generate greater revenues than we do. Competition in the federal
business segment includes tier one, large federal government contractors, such as Northrop Grumman, Lockheed Martin, General Dynamics, SAIC, ITT Systems,
Computer Sciences Corporation, ARINC, Raytheon, BAE Systems, and CACI. While we view government contractors as competitors, we often team with these
companies in joint proposals or in the delivery of our services for customers. Tier two competitors include smaller and mid-tier government contractors such as
NCI, Inc., VSE Corporation, Global Defense Technology & Systems, Inc., and Dynamics Research Corp. Competition in the PSS segment includes Siemens
Building Technology, Johnson Controls, Ingersoll Rand, and Convergint.

        We believe that the principal competitive factors in our ability to win new business include past performance qualifications, domain and technology
expertise, the ability to replace contract vehicles, the ability to deliver results within budget (time and cost), reputation, accountability, staffing flexibility
including the large number of personnel with government security clearances, and project management expertise. We believe our ability to compete also depends
on a number of additional factors including the ability of our customers to perform the services themselves and competitive pricing for similar services.

Available Information

        We file reports with the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC"). We make available on our website under "Investor Relations/SEC Filings," free of
charge, our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those reports as soon as reasonably
practicable after we electronically file such materials with or furnish them to the SEC. Our website address is www.kratosdefense.com.
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Item 1A.    Risk Factors 

        You should carefully consider the following risk factors and all other information contained herein as well as the information included in this Annual Report,
and other reports and filings made with the SEC in evaluating our business and prospects. Risks and uncertainties, in addition to those we describe below, that
are not presently known to us or that we currently believe are immaterial may also impair our business operations. If any of the following risks occur, our
business and financial results could be harmed and the price of our common stock could decline. You should also refer to the other information contained in this
Annual Report, including our consolidated financial statements and related notes.

Risks Related to the Proposed Acquisition of Herley

The proposed acquisition of Herley may not be completed within the expected timeframe, or at all, and the failure to complete such acquisition could
adversely affect our stock price and our future business and financial results.

        On February 7, 2011, we entered into the Merger Agreement with Herley. The Merger Agreement is an executory contract subject to numerous closing
conditions beyond our control, and there is no guarantee that these conditions will be satisfied in a timely manner or at all. If any of the conditions to the proposed
Merger are not satisfied (or waived by the other party), we may not complete the Merger or realize the anticipated benefits thereof. Disputes regarding
interpretations of the Merger Agreement could also delay or prevent the closing. In addition, the market price of our common stock may reflect various market
assumptions as to whether and when the proposed Merger will occur. Consequently, the failure to complete the Merger within the expected timeframe, or at all,
could result in a significant change in the market price of our common stock.

We may experience difficulties in integrating Herley's business and realizing the expected benefits of the proposed Merger.

        Our ability to achieve the benefits we anticipate from the proposed Merger will depend in large part upon whether we are able to integrate Herley's business
into our business in an efficient and effective manner. Because the businesses of Herley and Kratos differ, we may not be able to integrate Herley's business
smoothly or successfully and the process may take longer than expected. The integration of certain operations, including Herley's international operations, and the
differences in operational culture following the Merger will require the dedication of significant management resources, which may distract management's
attention from day-to-day business operations. If we are unable to successfully integrate the operations of Herley's business into our business, we may be unable
to realize the revenue growth, synergies and other anticipated benefits we expect to achieve as a result of the proposed Merger and our business and results of
operations could be adversely affected.

The announcement and pendency of the proposed Merger may cause disruptions in Herley's business, which could have an adverse effect on our business,
financial condition or results of operations following completion of the Merger.

        The announcement and pendency of the proposed Merger could cause disruptions in the business of Herley. Specifically:

• current and prospective employees of Herley may experience uncertainty about their future roles with Kratos, which might adversely affect the
ability of Herley to retain key personnel and attract new personnel; 

• current and prospective customers of Herley may experience uncertainty about the ability of Herley to meet their needs, which might cause
customers to seek other suppliers for the products and services provided by Herley; and
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• management's attention may be focused on the Merger, which may divert management's attention from the core business of Herley and other
opportunities that could have been beneficial to Herley.

This could have an adverse effect on the business, financial condition or results of operations of Herley prior to the completion of the Merger and on us following
the completion of the Merger. These disruptions to Herley's business could be exacerbated by a delay in the completion of the Merger.

Herley may have liabilities that are not known, probable or estimable at this time.

        As a result of the Merger, Herley will become our subsidiary and we will effectively assume all of its liabilities, whether or not asserted. There could be
unasserted claims or assessments that we failed or were unable to discover or identify in the course of performing due diligence investigations of Herley. In
addition, there may be liabilities that are neither probable nor estimable at this time which may become probable and estimable in the future. Any such liabilities,
individually or in the aggregate, could have a material adverse effect on our business. We may learn additional information about Herley that adversely affects us,
such as unknown, unasserted or contingent liabilities and issues relating to compliance with applicable laws.

The Merger may not be accretive and may cause dilution to the combined company's earnings per share, which may negatively impact the price of the
common stock of the combined company following the completion of the Merger.

        We currently anticipate that the Merger will be accretive to the earnings per share ("EPS") of the combined company during the first full calendar year after
the Merger is completed. This expectation is based on preliminary estimates and estimated purchase price valuations of amortizable purchased intangibles and
assumes certain synergies expected to be realized by the combined company during such time, including the elimination of Herley's expenses related to operating
as a publicly traded company and excluding the impact of merger related expenses. Such estimates and assumptions could materially change due to any changes
in the final purchase price valuation of amortizable purchased intangibles, the failure to realize any or all of the benefits expected in the Merger or other factors
beyond our control or the control of Herley. All of these factors could delay, decrease or eliminate the expected accretive effect of the Merger and cause resulting
dilution to the combined company's EPS or to the price of the common stock of the combined company.

Risks Related to Our Business Currently and Following the Proposed Acquisition of Herley

Our business could be adversely affected by changes in the contracting or fiscal policies of the Federal Government and governmental entities.

        We derive a significant portion of our revenue from contracts with the U.S. Federal Government and government agencies and subcontracts under federal
government prime contracts, and the success of our business and growth of our business will continue to depend on our successful procurement of government
contracts either directly or through prime contractors. Current projections of the DoD indicate that government spending is expected to decrease beginning in
2011. Any such reductions or other government budgetary constraints and any changes in government contracting policies could directly affect our financial
performance. Among the factors that could adversely affect our business are:

• changes in fiscal policies or decreases in available government funding, including budgetary constraints affecting federal government spending
generally, or specific departments or agencies in particular; 

• the adoption of new laws or regulations or changes to existing laws or regulations;
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• changes in political or social attitudes with respect to security and defense issues; 

• changes in federal government programs or requirements, including the increased use of small business providers; 

• increases in the federal government initiatives related to in-sourcing; 

• changes in or delays related to government restrictions on the export of defense articles and services; 

• potential delays or changes in the government appropriations process; and 

• delays in the payment of our invoices by government payment offices.

        These and other factors could cause governments and government agencies, or prime contractors that use us as a subcontractor, to reduce their purchases
under existing contracts, to exercise their rights to terminate contracts at-will or to abstain from exercising options to renew contracts, any of which could have an
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. Many of our government customers are subject to stringent budgetary constraints.
The award of additional contracts from government agencies could be adversely affected by spending reductions or budget cutbacks at these agencies.

        The entire federal government is currently operating under a Continuing Resolution authority for fiscal year ending September 30, 2011. The Continuing
Resolution funds programs and services, including DoD budgets, at approximately the same levels as fiscal year 2010. The Continuing Resolution expires on
March 4, 2011, after which, Congress will either pass a new appropriations bill, extend the Continuing Resolution, or shut down the government for all
nonessential federal government services. An extension of the Continuing Resolution or a shut down of the government for all nonessential federal government
services may adversely affect our sales, operating results and operating cash flows and possibly delay new awards.

We significantly increased our leverage in connection with the financing of recent acquisitions.

        We incurred approximately $225 million of indebtedness in the form of 10% Senior Secured Notes (the "Original Notes") in connection with the financing of
our acquisition of Gichner. On August 11, 2010, we completed an exchange offer for the Original Notes pursuant to a registration rights agreement entered into in
connection with the issuance of the Original Notes (such exchanged notes, the "Exchange Notes"). As a result of this indebtedness, our interest payment
obligations have increased. The degree to which we are leveraged could have adverse effects on our business, including the following:

• it may make it difficult for us to satisfy our obligations under the Exchange Notes, and our other indebtedness and contractual and commercial
commitments; 

• it may require us to dedicate a substantial portion of our cash flow from operations to payments on our indebtedness, thereby reducing the
availability of our cash flow to fund working capital, capital expenditures and other general corporate purposes; 

• it may limit our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and the industries in which we operate; 

• it may restrict us from making strategic acquisitions or exploiting business opportunities; 

• it may place us at a competitive disadvantage compared to our competitors that have less debt; 

• it may limit our ability to borrow additional funds;
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• it may prevent us from raising the funds necessary to repurchase the Exchange Notes tendered to us if there is a change of control, which would
constitute a default under the indentures governing the Exchange Notes and under our credit facility; and 

• it may decrease our ability to compete effectively or operate successfully under adverse economic and industry conditions.

        If new debt is incurred, in connection with our proposed acquisition of Herley or otherwise, these risks may intensify. Our ability to meet our debt service
obligations will depend upon our future performance, which may be subject to the financial, business and other factors affecting our operations, many of which
are beyond our control.

Our credit facility contains restrictive covenants that could limit our ability to operate our business and, if not satisfied, could result in the acceleration of any
amounts then due under the credit facility.

        The agreement governing our credit facility subjects us to various financial and other covenants with which we must comply. These covenants require that
we maintain a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio and include restrictions on our ability to:

• incur additional debt; 

• create or incur liens; 

• bid on or perform work due to limits on the amount of performance bonds that may be secured by letters of credit; 

• pay dividends or make other equity distributions to our stockholders; 

• make investments and effect certain acquisitions; 

• sell assets; 

• issue or become liable on a guarantee; 

• create or acquire new subsidiaries; and 

• effect a merger or consolidation, or sell all or substantially all of our assets.

        Upon the occurrence of any event of default under our credit facility, our lenders could elect to declare all amounts then outstanding on our credit facility,
together with accrued interest, to be immediately due and payable. If our lenders were to accelerate payment of these amounts, we may not have sufficient assets
to repay them in full. In addition, if we fail to comply with these financial and other covenants, or are otherwise unable to make scheduled debt payments or
comply with the other provisions of our debt instruments, our lenders may be permitted under certain circumstances to deny future access to liquidity, seize
control of substantially all of our assets and exercise other remedies provided for in those agreements and under applicable law.

We may need additional capital to fund the growth of our business, and financing may not be available on favorable terms or at all.

        We currently anticipate that our available capital resources, including our credit facility and operating cash flow, will be sufficient to meet our expected
working capital and capital expenditure requirements for at least the next 12 months. However, such resources may not be sufficient to fund the long-term growth
of our business. If we determine that it is necessary to raise additional funds, either through an expansion or refinancing of our credit facility or through public or
private debt or equity financings, additional financing may not be available on terms favorable to us, or at all. Disruptions in the capital and credit markets may
continue indefinitely or intensify, which could adversely affect our ability to access these markets. Limitations on our borrowing base contained in our
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credit facility may limit our access to capital, and we could fall out of compliance with financial and other covenants contained in our credit facility which, if not
waived, would restrict our access to capital and could require us to pay down our existing debt under the credit facility. Our lenders may not agree to extend
additional or continuing credit under our credit facility or waive restrictions on our access to capital. If we were to conduct a public or private offering of
securities, any new offering would be likely to dilute our stockholders' equity ownership. If adequate funds are not available or are not available on acceptable
terms, we may not be able to take advantage of available opportunities, develop new products or otherwise respond to competitive pressures and our business,
operating results or financial condition could be materially adversely affected.

Our ability to utilize our net operating loss carryforwards and certain other tax attributes may be limited.

        Federal and state income tax laws impose restrictions on the utilization of net operating loss ("NOL") and tax credit carryforwards in the event that an
"ownership change" occurs for tax purposes, as defined by Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. In general, an ownership change
occurs when shareholders owning 5% or more of a "loss corporation" (a corporation entitled to use NOL or other loss carryovers) have increased their ownership
of stock in such corporation by more than 50 percentage points during any 3-year period. The annual base Section 382 limitation is calculated by multiplying the
loss corporation's value at the time of the ownership change by the greater of the long-term tax-exempt rate determined by the Internal Revenue Service in the
month of the ownership change or the two preceding months. In March 2010, an "ownership change" occurred which will limit the utilization of the loss
carryforwards. As a result, our annual utilization of NOL carryforwards will be limited to $28.1 million for five years and $11.6 million per year thereafter. For
the fiscal year ended December 26, 2010, there was no impact of such limitations on the income tax provision since the amount of taxable income did not exceed
the annual limitation amount. In addition, future equity offerings or acquisitions that have equity as a component of the purchase price could also result in an
"ownership change". If and when any other "ownership change" occurs, utilization of the NOL or other tax attributes may be further limited.

We derive a substantial amount of our revenues from the sale of our solutions either directly or indirectly to U.S. government entities pursuant to government
contracts, which differ materially from standard commercial contracts, involve competitive bidding and may be subject to cancellation or delay without
penalty, any of which may produce volatility in our revenues and earnings.

        Government contracts frequently include provisions that are not standard in private commercial transactions, and are subject to laws and regulations that give
the federal government rights and remedies not typically found in commercial contracts, including provisions permitting the federal government to:

• terminate our existing contracts; 

• reduce potential future income from our existing contracts; 

• modify some of the terms and conditions in our existing contracts; 

• suspend or permanently prohibit us from doing business with the federal government or with any specific government agency; 

• impose fines and penalties; 

• subject us to criminal prosecution; 

• suspend work under existing multiple year contracts and related task orders if the necessary funds are not appropriated by Congress; 

• decline to exercise an option to extend an existing multiple year contract; and
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• claim rights in technologies and systems invented, developed or produced by us.

        In addition, government contracts are frequently awarded only after formal competitive bidding processes, which have been and may continue to be
protracted and typically impose provisions that permit cancellation in the event that necessary funds are unavailable to the public agency. Competitive
procurements impose substantial costs and managerial time and effort in order to prepare bids and proposals for contracts that may not be awarded to us. In many
cases, unsuccessful bidders for government agency contracts are provided the opportunity to formally protest certain contract awards through various agencies,
administrative and judicial channels. The protest process may substantially delay a successful bidder's contract performance, result in cancellation of the contract
award entirely and distract management. We may not be awarded contracts for which we bid, and substantial delays or cancellation of purchases may follow our
successful bids as a result of such protests.

        Certain of our government contracts also contain "organizational conflict of interest" clauses that could limit our ability to compete for certain related follow-
on contracts. For example, when we work on the design of a particular solution, we may be precluded from competing for the contract to install that solution.
While we actively monitor our contracts to avoid these conflicts, we cannot guarantee that we will be able to avoid all organizational conflict of interest issues.

We may not receive the full amounts estimated under the contracts in our backlog, which could reduce our revenue in future periods below the levels
anticipated and which makes backlog an uncertain indicator of future operating results.

        As of December 26, 2010 and December 27, 2009, our total backlog was approximately $674 million and $565 million, respectively of which $292 million
was funded as of December 26, 2010 and $124 million was funded as of December 27, 2009. Funded backlog is estimated future revenue under government
contracts and task orders for which funding has been appropriated by Congress and authorized for expenditure by the applicable agency, plus our estimate of the
future revenue we expect to realize from our commercial contracts that are under firm orders. Although funded backlog represents only business which is
considered to be firm, cancellations or scope adjustments may still occur. The remaining $382 million of our total backlog as of December 26, 2010 is unfunded.
Unfunded backlog reflects our estimate of future revenue under awarded government contracts and task orders for which either funding has not yet been
appropriated or expenditure has not yet been authorized. Unfunded backlog does not include estimates of revenue from GWAC or GSA schedules beyond
awarded or funded task orders, but does include estimates of revenue beyond awarded or funded task orders for other types of indefinite delivery, indefinite
quantity contracts. The amount of unfunded backlog is not exact or guaranteed and is based upon, among other things, management's experience under such
contracts and similar contracts, the particular clients, the type of work and budgetary expectations. Our management may not accurately assess these factors or
estimate the revenue we will realize from these contracts, and our unfunded and total backlog may not reflect the actual revenue ultimately received from these
contracts.

        Backlog is typically subject to large variations from quarter to quarter and comparisons of backlog from period to period are not necessarily indicative of
future revenues. The contracts comprising our backlog may not result in actual revenue in any particular period or at all, and the actual revenue from such
contracts may differ from our backlog estimates. The timing of receipt of revenues, if any, on projects included in backlog could change because many factors
affect the scheduling of projects. Cancellation of or adjustments to contracts may occur. Additionally, all United States government contracts included in backlog,
whether or not funded, may be terminated at the convenience of the United States government. The failure to realize all amounts in our backlog could adversely
affect our revenues and gross margins. As a result, our funded and total backlog as of any particular date may not be an accurate indicator of our future earnings.
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We face intense competition from many competitors that have greater resources than we do, which could result in price reductions, reduced profitability or
loss of market share.

        We operate in highly competitive markets and generally encounter intense competition to win contracts from many other firms, including mid-tier federal
contractors with specialized capabilities and large defense and IT services providers. Competition in our markets may increase as a result of a number of factors,
such as the entrance of new or larger competitors, including those formed through alliances or consolidation. These competitors may have greater financial,
technical, marketing and public relations resources, larger client bases and greater brand or name recognition than we do. These competitors could, among other
things:

• divert sales from us by winning very large-scale government contracts, a risk that is enhanced by the recent trend in government procurement
practices to bundle services into larger contracts; 

• force us to charge lower prices; or 

• adversely affect our relationships with current clients, including our ability to continue to win competitively awarded engagements in which we
are the incumbent.

        If we lose business to our competitors or are forced to lower our prices, our revenue and our operating profits could decline. In addition, we may face
competition from our subcontractors who, from time-to-time, seek to obtain prime contractor status on contracts for which they currently serve as a subcontractor
to us. If one or more of our current subcontractors are awarded prime contractor status on such contracts in the future, it could divert sales from us or could force
us to charge lower prices, which could cause our margins to suffer.

Recent acquisitions and potential future acquisitions could prove difficult to integrate, disrupt our business, dilute stockholder value and strain our resources.

        During 2010, we acquired four companies. On May 19, 2010, we acquired Gichner. On August 9, 2010, we acquired DEI. On December 7, 2010, we
acquired Southside. On December 15, 2010, we acquired HBE. On February 7, 2011, we entered into the Merger Agreement to acquire Herley.

        We continually evaluate opportunities to acquire new businesses as part of our ongoing strategy and we may in the future acquire additional businesses that
we believe could complement or expand our business or increase our customer base. Integrating the operations of acquired businesses successfully or otherwise
realizing any of the anticipated benefits of acquisitions, including anticipated cost savings and additional revenue opportunities, involves a number of potential
challenges. The failure to meet these integration challenges could seriously harm our financial condition and results of operations. Realizing the benefits of
acquisitions depends in part on the integration of IT operations and personnel. These integration activities are complex and time-consuming and we may
encounter unexpected difficulties or incur unexpected costs, including:

• our inability to achieve the operating synergies anticipated in the acquisitions; 

• diversion of management attention from ongoing business concerns to integration matters; 

• difficulties in consolidating and rationalizing IT platforms and administrative infrastructures; 

• complexities associated with managing the geographic separation of the combined businesses and consolidating multiple physical locations where
management may determine consolidation is desirable; 

• difficulties in integrating personnel from different corporate cultures while maintaining focus on providing consistent, high quality customer
service;
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• difficulties or delays in transitioning federal government contracts pursuant to federal acquisition regulations; 

• challenges in demonstrating to customers of Kratos and to customers of acquired businesses that the acquisition will not result in adverse changes
in customer service standards or business focus; 

• possible cash flow interruption or loss of revenue as a result of change of ownership transitional matters; and 

• inability to generate sufficient revenue to offset acquisition costs.

        Acquired businesses may have liabilities or adverse operating issues that we fail to discover through due diligence prior to the acquisition. In particular, to
the extent that prior owners of any acquired businesses or properties failed to comply with or otherwise violated applicable laws or regulations, or failed to fulfill
their contractual obligations to the federal government or other clients, we, as the successor owner, may be financially responsible for these violations and failures
and may suffer reputational harm or otherwise be adversely affected. Acquisitions also frequently result in the recording of goodwill and other intangible assets
which are subject to potential impairment in the future that could harm our financial results. In addition, if we finance acquisitions by issuing convertible debt or
equity securities, our existing stockholders may be diluted, which could affect the market price of our stock. Acquisitions and/or the related equity financings
could also impact our ability to utilize our NOL carryforwards. As a result, if we fail to properly evaluate acquisitions or investments, we may not achieve the
anticipated benefits of any such acquisitions, and we may incur costs in excess of what we anticipate. Acquisitions frequently involve benefits related to
integration of operations. The failure to successfully integrate the operations or otherwise to realize any of the anticipated benefits of the acquisition could
seriously harm our results of operations.

If we are unable to manage our growth, our business and financial results could suffer.

        Sustaining our growth has placed significant demands on our management, as well as on our administrative, operational and financial resources. For us to
continue to manage our growth, we must continue to improve our operational, financial and management information systems and expand, motivate and manage
our workforce. If we are unable to manage our growth while maintaining our quality of service and profit margins, or if new systems that we implement to assist
in managing our growth do not produce the expected benefits, our business, prospects, financial condition or operating results could be adversely affected.

        Additionally, our future financial results depend in part on our ability to profitably manage our growth on a combined basis with the businesses we acquire.
Management will need to maintain existing customers and attract new customers, recruit, retain and effectively manage employees, as well as expand operations
and integrate customer support and financial control systems. If the integration-related expenses and capital expenditure requirements are greater than anticipated
or if we are unable to manage our growth profitably after business acquisitions, our financial condition and results of operations may suffer.

Our financial results may vary significantly from quarter to quarter.

        We expect our revenue and operating results to vary from quarter to quarter. Reductions in revenue in a particular quarter could lead to lower profitability in
that quarter because a relatively large amount of our expenses are fixed in the short-term. We may incur significant operating expenses during the start-up and
early stages of large contracts and may not be able to recognize corresponding revenue in that same quarter. We may also incur additional expenses when
contracts are terminated or expire and are not renewed.
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        In addition, payments due to us from federal government agencies may be delayed due to billing cycles or as a result of failures of government budgets to
gain congressional and administration approval in a timely manner. The U.S. Federal Government's fiscal year ends September 30. If a federal budget for the next
federal fiscal year has not been approved by that date in each year, our clients may have to suspend engagements that we are working on until a budget has been
approved. Any such suspensions may reduce our revenue in the fourth quarter of the federal fiscal year or the first quarter of the subsequent year. The U.S.
Federal Government's fiscal year end can also trigger increased purchase requests from clients for equipment and materials. Any increased purchase requests we
receive as a result of the U.S. Federal Government's fiscal year end would serve to increase our third or fourth quarter revenue, but will generally decrease profit
margins for that quarter, as these activities generally are not as profitable as our typical offerings.

        Additional factors that may cause our financial results to fluctuate from quarter to quarter include those addressed elsewhere in these Risk Factors and the
following, among others:

• the terms of customer contracts that affect the timing of revenue recognition; 

• variability in demand for our services and solutions; 

• commencement, completion or termination of contracts during any particular quarter; 

• timing of award or performance incentive fee notices; 

• timing of significant bid and proposal costs; 

• variable purchasing patterns under GSA Schedule 70 contracts, GWACs, blanket purchase agreements and other indefinite delivery/indefinite
quantity contracts; 

• restrictions on and delays related to the export of defense articles and services; 

• costs related to government inquiries; 

• strategic decisions by us or our competitors, such as acquisitions, divestitures, spin-offs and joint ventures; 

• strategic investments or changes in business strategy; 

• changes in the extent to which we use subcontractors; 

• seasonal fluctuations in our staff utilization rates; 

• changes in our effective tax rate including changes in our judgment as to the necessity of the valuation allowance recorded against our deferred tax
assets; and 

• the length of sales cycles.

        Significant fluctuations in our operating results for a particular quarter could cause us to fall out of compliance with the financial covenants contained in our
credit facility, which if not waived by the lender, could restrict our access to capital and cause us to take extreme measures to pay down our debt under the credit
facility. In addition, fluctuations in our financial results could cause our stock price to decline.

If we fail to establish and maintain important relationships with government entities and agencies and other government contractors, our ability to bid
successfully for new business may be adversely affected.

        To develop new business opportunities, we primarily rely on establishing and maintaining relationships with various government entities and agencies. We
may be unable to successfully maintain our relationships with government entities and agencies, and any failure to do so could materially adversely affect our
ability to compete successfully for new business. In addition, we often act as a
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subcontractor or in "teaming" arrangements in which we and other contractors bid together on particular contracts or programs for the federal government or
government agencies. As a subcontractor or team member, we often lack control over fulfillment of a contract, and poor performance on the contract could tarnish
our reputation, even when we perform as required. We expect to continue to depend on relationships with other contractors for a portion of our revenue in the
foreseeable future. Moreover, our revenue and operating results could be materially adversely affected if any prime contractor or teammate chooses to offer a
client services of the type that we provide or if any prime contractor or teammate teams with other companies to independently provide those services.

We depend on U.S. Government agencies as our primary customer and if our reputation or relationships with these agencies were harmed, our future
revenues and growth prospects would be adversely affected.

        In fiscal 2008, 2009 and 2010, we generated 79%, 86% and 87%, respectively, of our total revenues from contracts with the U.S. Government (including all
branches of the U.S. military), either as a prime contractor or a subcontractor. We generated more than 10% of our total revenues during the last three fiscal years
from each of the U.S. Army and U.S. Navy. We expect to continue to derive most of our revenues from work performed under U.S. Government contracts. Our
reputation and relationship with the U.S. Government, and in particular with the agencies of the DoD and the U.S. intelligence community, are key factors in
maintaining and growing these revenues. Negative press reports regarding conflicts of interest, poor contract performance, employee misconduct, information
security breaches or other aspects of our business, regardless of accuracy, could harm our reputation, particularly with these agencies. If our reputation is
negatively affected, or if we are suspended or debarred (or proposed for suspension or debarment) from contracting with government agencies for any reason, the
amount of business with the U.S. Government would decrease and our future revenues and growth prospects would be adversely affected.

Our margins and operating results may suffer if we experience unfavorable changes in the proportion of cost-plus-fee or fixed-price contracts in our total
contract mix.

        Although fixed-price contracts entail a greater risk of a reduced profit or financial loss on a contract compared to other types of contracts we enter into,
fixed-price contracts typically provide higher profit opportunities because we may be able to benefit from cost savings. In contrast, cost-plus-fee contracts are
subject to statutory limits on profit margins, and generally are the least profitable of our contract types. Our federal government customers typically determine
what type of contract we enter into. Cost-plus-fee and fixed-price contracts in our federal business accounted for approximately 25% and 52%, respectively, of
our federal business revenues for the year ended December 26, 2010. To the extent that we enter into more cost-plus-fee or less fixed-price contracts in proportion
to our total contract mix in the future, our margins and operating results may suffer.

Our cash flow and profitability could be reduced if expenditures are incurred prior to the final receipt of a contract.

        We provide various professional services and sometimes procure equipment and materials on behalf of our federal government customers under various
contractual arrangements. From time to time, in order to ensure that we satisfy our customers' delivery requirements and schedules, we may elect to initiate
procurement in advance of receiving final authorization from the government customer or a prime contractor. If our government or prime contractor customers'
requirements should change or if the government or the prime contractor should direct the anticipated procurement to a contractor other than us or if the
equipment or materials become obsolete or require modification before we are under contract for the procurement, our investment in the equipment or materials
might be at risk if
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we cannot efficiently resell them. This could reduce anticipated earnings or result in a loss, negatively affecting our cash flow and profitability.

Loss of our GSA contracts or GWACs would impair our ability to attract new business.

        We are a prime contractor under several GSA contracts and GWAC vehicles. We believe that our ability to provide services under these contracts will
continue to be important to our business because of the multiple opportunities for new engagements each contract provides. If we were to lose our position as
prime contractor on one or more of these contracts, we could lose substantial revenues and our operating results could suffer. GSA contracts and other GWACs
typically have a one or two-year initial term with multiple options exercisable at the government client's discretion to extend the contract for one or more years.
We cannot be assured that our government clients will continue to exercise the options remaining on our current contracts, nor can we be assured that our future
clients will exercise options on any contracts we may receive in the future.

Failure to properly manage projects may result in additional costs or claims.

        Our engagements often involve large scale, highly complex projects. The quality of our performance on such projects depends in large part upon our ability
to manage the relationship with our customers, and to effectively manage the project and deploy appropriate resources, including third-party contractors, and our
own personnel, in a timely manner. Any defects or errors or failure to meet clients' expectations could result in claims for substantial damages against us. Our
contracts generally limit our liability for damages that arise from negligent acts, error, mistakes or omissions in rendering services to our clients. However, we
cannot be sure that these contractual provisions will protect us from liability for damages in the event we are sued. In addition, in certain instances, we guarantee
customers that we will complete a project by a scheduled date. If the project experiences a performance problem, we may not be able to recover the additional
costs we will incur, which could exceed revenues realized from a project. Finally, if we underestimate the resources or time we need to complete a project with
capped or fixed fees, our operating results could be seriously harmed.

The loss of any member of our senior management could impair our relationships with federal government clients and disrupt the management of our
business.

        We believe that the success of our business and our ability to operate profitably depends on the continued contributions of the members of our senior
management. We rely on our senior management to generate business and execute programs successfully. In addition, the relationships and reputation that many
members of our senior management team have established and maintain with federal government personnel contribute to our ability to maintain strong client
relationships and to identify new business opportunities. We do not have any employment agreements providing for a specific term of employment with any
member of our senior management. The loss of any member of our senior management could impair our ability to identify and secure new contracts, to maintain
good client relations and to otherwise manage our business.

If we fail to attract and retain skilled employees or employees with the necessary security clearances, we might not be able to perform under our contracts or
win new business.

        The growth of our business and revenue depends in large part upon our ability to attract and retain sufficient numbers of highly qualified individuals who
have advanced information technology and/or engineering skills. These employees are in great demand and are likely to remain a limited resource in the
foreseeable future. Certain federal government contracts require us, and some of our employees, to maintain security clearances. Obtaining and maintaining
security clearances for employees involves a lengthy process, and it is difficult to identify, recruit and retain employees who already hold security clearances. In
addition, some of our contracts contain provisions requiring us to
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staff an engagement with personnel that the client considers key to our successful performance under the contract. In the event we are unable to provide these key
personnel or acceptable substitutions, the client may terminate the contract and we may lose revenue.

        If we are unable to recruit and retain a sufficient number of qualified employees, our ability to maintain and grow our business could be limited. In a tight
labor market, our direct labor costs could increase or we may be required to engage large numbers of subcontractor personnel, which could cause our profit
margins to suffer. Conversely, if we maintain or increase our staffing levels in anticipation of one or more projects and the projects are delayed, reduced or
terminated, we may underutilize the additional personnel, which would increase our general and administrative expenses, reduce our earnings and possibly harm
our results of operations.

If our subcontractors fail to perform their contractual obligations, our performance and reputation as a prime contractor and our ability to obtain future
business could suffer.

        As a prime contractor, we often rely upon other companies as subcontractors to perform work we are obligated to perform for our clients. As we secure more
work under our GWAC vehicles, we expect to require an increasing level of support from subcontractors that provide complementary and supplementary services
to our offerings. Depending on labor market conditions, we may not be able to identify, hire and retain sufficient numbers of qualified employees to perform the
task orders we expect to win. In such cases, we will need to rely on subcontracts with unrelated companies. Moreover, even in favorable labor market conditions,
we anticipate entering into more subcontracts in the future as we expand our work under our GWACs. We are responsible for the work performed by our
subcontractors, even though in some cases we have limited involvement in that work.

        If one or more of our subcontractors fail to satisfactorily perform the agreed-upon services on a timely basis or violate federal government contracting
policies, laws or regulations, our ability to perform our obligations as a prime contractor or meet our clients' expectations may be compromised. In extreme cases,
performance or other deficiencies on the part of our subcontractors could result in a client terminating our contract for default. A termination for default could
expose us to liability, including liability for the agency's costs of procurement, could damage our reputation and could hurt our ability to compete for future
contracts.

Our contracts and administrative processes and systems are subject to audits and cost adjustments by the federal government, which could reduce our
revenue, disrupt our business or otherwise adversely affect our results of operations.

        Federal government agencies, including the Defense Contract Audit Agency ("DCAA"), routinely audit and investigate government contracts and
government contractors' administrative processes and systems. These agencies review our performance on contracts, pricing practices, cost structure and
compliance with applicable laws, regulations and standards. They also review the adequacy of our compliance with government standards for our accounting and
management of internal control systems, including: control environment and overall accounting system, general information technology system, budget and
planning system, purchasing system, material management and accounting system, compensation system, labor system, indirect and other direct costs system,
billing system and estimating system used for pricing on government contracts. Both contractors and the U.S. Government agencies conducting these audits and
reviews have come under increased scrutiny. The current audits and reviews have become more rigorous and the standards to which contractors are being held are
being more strictly interpreted, increasing the likelihood of an audit or review resulting in an adverse outcome.

        While we have submitted all applicable incurred cost claims, the actual indirect cost audits by the DCAA have not been completed for fiscal 2005 and
subsequent fiscal years. Although we have
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recorded contract revenues subsequent to fiscal 2004 based upon costs that we believe will be approved upon final audit or review, we do not know the outcome
of any ongoing or future audits or reviews and, if future adjustments exceed our estimates, our profitability would be adversely affected.

Our failure to comply with complex procurement laws and regulations could cause us to lose business and subject us to a variety of penalties.

        We must comply with laws and regulations relating to the formation, administration and performance of federal government contracts, which affect how we
do business with our clients, prime contractors, subcontractors and vendors and may impose added costs on us. Our role as a contractor to agencies and
departments of the U.S. Government results in our being routinely subject to investigations and reviews relating to compliance with various laws and regulations,
including those associated with organizational conflicts of interest. These investigations may be conducted without our knowledge. Adverse findings in these
investigations or reviews can lead to criminal, civil or administrative proceedings and we could face civil and criminal penalties and administrative sanctions,
including termination of contracts, forfeiture of profits, suspension of payments, fines and suspension or debarment from doing business with federal government
agencies. In addition, we could suffer serious harm to our reputation and competitive position if allegations of impropriety were made against us, whether or not
true. If our reputation or relationship with federal government agencies were impaired, or if the federal government otherwise ceased doing business with us or
significantly decreased the amount of business it does with us, our revenue and operating profit would decline.

If we experience systems or service failure, our reputation could be harmed and our clients could assert claims against us for damages or refunds.

        We create, implement and maintain IT solutions that are often critical to our clients' operations. We have experienced, and may in the future experience,
some systems and service failures, schedule or delivery delays and other problems in connection with our work. If we experience these problems, we may:

• lose revenue due to adverse client reaction; 

• be required to provide additional services to a client at no charge; 

• receive negative publicity, which could damage our reputation and adversely affect our ability to attract or retain clients; and 

• suffer claims for substantial damages.

        In addition to any costs resulting from product or service warranties, contract performance or required corrective action, these failures may result in
increased costs or loss of revenue if clients postpone subsequently scheduled work or cancel, or fail to renew, contracts.

        While many of our contracts limit our liability for consequential damages that may arise from negligence in rendering services to our clients, we cannot
ensure that these contractual provisions will be legally sufficient to protect us if we are sued. In addition, our errors and omissions and product liability insurance
coverage may not be adequate, may not continue to be available on reasonable terms or in sufficient amounts to cover one or more large claims, or the insurer
may disclaim coverage as to some types of future claims. The successful assertion of any large claim against us could seriously harm our business. Even if not
successful, these claims could result in significant legal and other costs, may be a distraction to our management and may harm our reputation.
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Security breaches in sensitive federal government systems could result in the loss of clients and negative publicity.

        Many of the systems we develop, install and maintain involve managing and protecting information involved in intelligence, national security and other
sensitive or classified federal government functions. A security breach in one of these systems could cause serious harm to our business, damage our reputation
and prevent us from being eligible for further work on sensitive or classified systems for federal government clients. We could incur losses from such a security
breach that could exceed the policy limits under our errors and omissions and product liability insurance. Damage to our reputation or limitations on our
eligibility for additional work resulting from a security breach in one of the systems we develop, install and maintain could materially reduce our revenue.

Our employees may engage in misconduct or other improper activities, which could cause us to lose contracts.

        We are exposed to the risk that employee fraud or other misconduct could occur. Misconduct by employees could include intentional failures to comply with
federal government procurement regulations, engaging in unauthorized activities or falsifying time records. Employee misconduct could also involve the
improper use of our clients' sensitive or classified information, which could result in regulatory sanctions against us and serious harm to our reputation and could
result in a loss of contracts and a reduction in revenues. It is not always possible to deter employee misconduct, and the precautions we take to prevent and detect
this activity may not be effective in controlling unknown or unmanaged risks or losses, which could cause us to lose contracts or cause a reduction in revenues. In
addition, alleged or actual employee misconduct could result in investigations or prosecutions of employees engaged in the subject activities, which could result
in unanticipated consequences or expenses and management distraction for us regardless of whether we are alleged to have any responsibility.

Our business is dependent upon our ability to keep pace with the latest technological changes.

        The market for our services is characterized by rapid change and technological improvements. Failure to respond in a timely and cost effective way to these
technological developments would result in serious harm to our business and operating results. We have derived, and we expect to continue to derive, a
substantial portion of our revenues from providing innovative engineering services and technical solutions that are based upon today's leading technologies and
that are capable of adapting to future technologies. As a result, our success will depend, in part, on our ability to develop and market service offerings that
respond in a timely manner to the technological advances of our customers, evolving industry standards and changing client preferences.

We may be harmed by intellectual property infringement claims and our failure to protect our intellectual property could enable competitors to market
products and services with similar features.

        We may become subject to claims from our employees or third parties who assert that software and other forms of intellectual property that we use in
delivering services and solutions to our clients infringe upon intellectual property rights of such employees or third parties. Our employees develop some of the
software and other forms of intellectual property that we use to provide our services and solutions to our clients, but we also license technology from other
vendors. If our employees, vendors, or other third parties assert claims that we or our clients are infringing on their intellectual property rights, we could incur
substantial costs to defend those claims. If any of these infringement claims are ultimately successful, we could be required to cease selling or using products or
services that incorporate the challenged software or technology, obtain a license or additional licenses from our employees, vendors, or other third parties, or
redesign our products and services that rely on the challenged software or technology.

28



Table of Contents

        We attempt to protect our trade secrets by entering into confidentiality and intellectual property assignment agreements with third parties, our employees and
consultants. However, these agreements can be breached and, if they are, there may not be an adequate remedy available to us. In addition, others may
independently discover our trade secrets and proprietary information and in such cases we could not assert any trade secret rights against such party. Enforcing a
claim that a party illegally obtained and is using our trade secret is difficult, expensive and time consuming, and the outcome is unpredictable. If we are unable to
protect our intellectual property, our competitors could market services or products similar to our services and products, which could reduce demand for our
offerings. Any litigation to enforce our intellectual property rights, protect our trade secrets or determine the validity and scope of the proprietary rights of others
could result in substantial costs and diversion of resources, with no assurance of success.

        Substantially all of the technology that is developed by us is developed under contract for our DoD customers. Accordingly, such intellectual property and
rights to technology development are owned by the U.S. Government. Very few of our contracts involve the use of intellectual property rights, patents or
trademarks owned by use. For the fiscal year ended December 26, 2010, these contracts accounted for less than 3% of our consolidated revenues.

If we fail to maintain an effective system of internal controls, we may not be able to accurately report our financial results or prevent fraud.

        Effective internal controls are necessary for us to provide reliable financial reports. If we cannot provide reliable financial reports, our operating results could
be misstated, our reputation may be harmed and the trading price of our stock could be negatively affected. Our management has concluded that there are no
material weaknesses in our internal controls over financial reporting as of December 26, 2010. However, there can be no assurance that our controls over financial
processes and reporting will be effective in the future or that additional material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in our internal controls will not be
discovered in the future. Any failure to remediate any future material weaknesses or implement required new or improved controls, or difficulties encountered in
their implementation, could harm our operating results, cause us to fail to meet our reporting obligations or result in material misstatements in our financial
statements or other public disclosures. Inferior internal controls could also cause investors to lose confidence in our reported financial information, which could
have a negative effect on the trading price of our stock. In addition, from time to time we acquire businesses which could have limited infrastructure and systems
of internal controls.

We have incurred and may continue to incur goodwill impairment charges in our reporting entities which could harm our profitability.

        A significant portion of our net assets come from goodwill and other intangible assets. In accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB")
Accounting Standards Code ("ASC") Topic 350 Intangibles—Goodwill and Other ("Topic 350") we periodically review the carrying values of our goodwill to
determine whether such carrying values exceed the fair market value. Our acquired companies are subject to annual review for goodwill impairment. If
impairment testing indicates that the carrying value of a reporting unit exceeds its fair value, the goodwill of the reporting unit is deemed impaired. Accordingly,
an impairment charge would be recognized for that reporting unit in the period identified.

        In 2008, as a result of our annual review, we recorded a goodwill impairment charge of $105.8 million related to our KGS segment, to reflect the declining
market and economic conditions through December 28, 2008. In the beginning of 2009, we performed another impairment test for goodwill in accordance with
Topic 350 as of February 28, 2009. The test indicated that the book value for the KGS segment exceeded the fair values of the businesses and resulted in our
recording a charge
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totaling $41.3 million in that segment for the impairment of goodwill. The impairment charge was primarily driven by adverse equity market conditions that
caused a decrease in current market multiples and our average stock price as of February 28, 2009, compared with the test performed as of December 28, 2008.
Future reviews could result in further impairment charges, which could have a significant effect on our financial results.

The commercial business arena in which we operate has relatively low barriers to entry and increased competition could result in margin erosion, which
would make profitability even more difficult to sustain.

        Other than the technical skills required in our commercial business, the barriers to entry in this area are relatively low. We do not have any intellectual
property rights in this segment of our business to protect our methods, and business start-up costs do not pose a significant barrier to entry. The success of our
commercial business is dependent on our employees, customer relations and the successful performance of our services. If we face increased competition as a
result of new entrants in our markets, we could experience reduced operating margins and loss of market share and brand recognition.

Any increase in our debt service obligations, including in connection with our proposed acquisition of Herley, may adversely affect our cash flow.

        We expect our cash requirements in connection with our proposed acquisition of Herley to be approximately $316 million. On a pro forma basis, after giving
effect to our acquisition of HBE on December 15, 2010 and our proposed acquisition of Herley, we would have had total long term debt of $452 million as of
December 26, 2010, which includes $61 million raised in our recent public offering of shares of our common stock in February 2011 and $225 million of new
indebtedness to fund the proposed acquisition of Herley. We currently intend to raise up to $325 million through debt financing in order to fund the proposed
acquisition of Herley, with any excess used for other general corporate purposes. A higher level of indebtedness increases the risk that we may default on our debt
obligations. We may not be able to generate sufficient cash flow to pay the interest on our debt, and future working capital, borrowings or equity financing may
not be available to pay or refinance such debt. If we are unable to generate sufficient cash flow to pay the interest on our debt, we may have to delay or curtail our
operations.

        Our ability to generate cash flow from operations and to make scheduled payments on our indebtedness will depend on our future financial performance. Our
future financial performance will be affected by a range of economic, competitive and business factors that we cannot control. A significant reduction in operating
cash flow resulting from changes in economic conditions, increased competition or other events beyond our control could increase the need for additional or
alternative sources of liquidity and could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, prospects and our ability to
service our debt and other obligations. If we are unable to service our indebtedness, we will be forced to adopt an alternative strategy that may include actions
such as reducing capital expenditures, selling assets, restructuring or refinancing our indebtedness or seeking additional equity capital. We cannot assure that any
of these alternative strategies could be effected on satisfactory terms, if at all, or that they would yield sufficient funds to make required payments on our
indebtedness.

        If for any reason we are unable to meet our debt service and repayment obligations, we would be in default under the terms of the agreements governing our
debt, which would allow our creditors at that time to declare certain outstanding indebtedness to be due and payable, which would in turn trigger cross-
acceleration or cross-default rights between the relevant agreements. In addition, our lenders could compel us to apply all of our available cash to repay our
borrowings or they could prevent us from making payments on our indebtedness. If the amounts outstanding under any
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outstanding indebtedness were to be accelerated, we cannot assure that our assets would be sufficient to repay in full the money owed to the lenders or to our
other debt holders.

Some of our contracts with the U.S. Government are classified which may limit investor insight into portions of our business.

        We derive a portion of our revenues from programs with the U.S. Government that are subject to security restrictions (classified programs), which preclude
the dissemination of information that is classified for national security purposes. We are limited in our ability to provide details about these classified programs,
their risks or any disputes or claims relating to such programs. As a result, you might have less insight into our classified programs than our other businesses and
therefore less ability to fully evaluate the risks related to our classified business.

We are subject to environmental laws and potential exposure to environmental liabilities. This may affect our ability to develop, sell or rent our property or to
borrow money where such property is required to be used as collateral.

        As a result of the acquisition of Gichner, we use hazardous materials common to the industry in which Gichner operates. We are required to follow federal,
state and local environmental laws and regulations regarding the handling, storage and disposal of these materials, including the Clean Air Act, the Clean Water
Act, the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act ("CERCLA"), and the Toxic
Substances Control Act. We could be subject to fines, suspensions of production, alteration of our manufacturing processes or interruption or cessation of our
operations if we fail to comply with present or future laws or regulations related to the use, storage, handling, discharge or disposal of toxic, volatile or otherwise
hazardous chemicals used in our manufacturing processes. These regulations could require us to acquire expensive remediation equipment or to incur significant
other expenses to comply with environmental regulations. Our failure to control the handling, use, storage or disposal of, or adequately restrict the discharge of,
hazardous substances could subject us to liabilities and production delays, which could cause us to miss our customers' delivery schedules, thereby reducing our
sales for a given period. We may also have to pay regulatory fines, penalties or other costs (including remediation costs), which could materially reduce our
profits and adversely affect our financial condition. Permits are required for our operations, and these permits are subject to renewal, modification and, in some
cases, revocation.

        In addition, under environmental laws, ordinances or regulations, a current or previous owner or operator of property may be liable for the costs of removal
or remediation of some kinds of petroleum products or other hazardous substances on, under, or in its property, adjacent or nearby property, or offsite disposal
locations, without regard to whether the owner or operator knew of, or caused, the presence of the contaminants, and regardless of whether the practices that
resulted in the contamination were legal at the time they occurred. We have incurred, and may incur in the future, liabilities under CERCLA and other
environmental cleanup laws at our current or former facilities, adjacent or nearby properties or offsite disposal locations. The costs associated with future cleanup
activities that we may be required to conduct or finance may be material. The presence of, or failure to remediate properly, petroleum products or other hazardous
substances may adversely affect the ability to sell or rent the property or to borrow funds using the property as collateral. Additionally, we may become subject to
claims by third parties based on damages, including personal injury and property damage, and costs resulting from the disposal or release of hazardous substances
into the environment.

Litigation may distract us from operating our business.

        Litigation that may be brought by or against us could cause us to incur significant expenditures and distract our management from the operation of our
business. Furthermore, there can be no
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assurance that we would prevail in such litigation or resolve such litigation on terms favorable to us, which may adversely affect our financial results and
operations.

Risks Related to Owning Our Stock

Our stock price may be volatile, and your investment in our stock could suffer a decline in value.

        The stock market in general and the stock prices of government services companies in particular, have experienced volatility that has often been unrelated to
or disproportionate to the operating performance of those companies. These broad market fluctuations may negatively affect the market price of our common
stock. From December 27, 2009 to December 26, 2010, our closing stock price ranged from $9.46 to $14.93. You may not be able to resell your shares at or above
the price you paid for them due to fluctuations in the market price of our common stock.

        Factors which could have a significant impact on the market price of our common stock include, but are not limited to, the following:

• quarterly variations in operating results; 

• announcements of new services by us or our competitors; 

• the gain or loss of significant customers; 

• changes in analysts' earnings estimates; 

• rumors or dissemination of false information; 

• pricing pressures; 

• short selling of our common stock; 

• impact of litigation and government inquiries; 

• general conditions in the market; 

• political and/or military events associated with current worldwide conflicts; and 

• events affecting other companies that investors deem comparable to us.

        These and other external factors may cause the market price and demand for our common stock to fluctuate substantially, which may limit or prevent
investors from readily selling their shares of common stock and may otherwise negatively affect the liquidity of our common stock. Volatility in the market price
of our common stock could also subject us to securities class action litigation. We and certain of our current and former officers and directors have been named
defendants in class action and derivative lawsuits. These matters and any other securities class action litigation and derivative lawsuits in which we may be
involved could result in substantial costs to us and a diversion of our management's attention and resources, which could materially harm our financial condition
and results of operations.

Our charter documents and Delaware law may deter potential acquirers and may depress our stock price.

        Certain provisions of our charter documents and Delaware law, as well as certain agreements we have with our executives, could make it substantially more
difficult for a third party to acquire control of us. These provisions include:

• authorizing the board of directors to issue preferred stock; 

• prohibiting cumulative voting in the election of directors; 

• prohibiting stockholder action by written consent; 

• establishing advance notice requirements for nominations for election to our board of directors or for proposing matters that can be acted on by
stockholders at meetings of our stockholders;
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• Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, which prohibits us from engaging in a business combination with an interested stockholder
unless specific conditions are met; and 

• agreements with a number of our executives entitle them to payments in certain circumstances following a change in control.

We have a stockholder rights plan which may discourage certain types of transactions involving an actual or potential change in control and may limit our
stockholders' ability to approve transactions that they deem to be in their best interests. As a result, these provisions may depress our stock price.

Enacted and proposed changes in securities laws and regulations have increased our costs and may continue to increase our costs in the future.

        In recent years, there have been several changes in laws, rules, regulations and standards relating to corporate governance and public disclosure, including
the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act (the "Dodd-Frank Act"), the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 ("Sarbanes-Oxley") and various other
new regulations promulgated by the SEC and rules promulgated by the national securities exchanges.

        The Dodd-Frank Act, enacted in July 2010, expands federal regulation of corporate governance matters and imposes requirements on publicly-held
companies, including us, to, among other things, provide stockholders with a periodic advisory vote on executive compensation and also adds compensation
committee reforms and enhanced pay-for-performance disclosures. While some provisions of the Dodd-Frank Act are effective upon enactment, others will be
implemented upon the SEC's adoption of related rules and regulations. The scope and timing of the adoption of such rules and regulations is uncertain and
accordingly, the cost of compliance with the Dodd-Frank Act is also uncertain.

        Sarbanes-Oxley Act required changes in some of our corporate governance and securities disclosure and compliance practices. Under Sarbanes-Oxley,
publicly-held companies, including us, are required to, among other things, furnish independent annual audit reports regarding the existence and reliability of
their internal control over financial reporting and have their chief executive officer and chief financial officer certify as to the accuracy and completeness of their
financial reports.

        These and other new or changed laws, rules, regulations and standards are, or will be, subject to varying interpretations in many cases due to their lack of
specificity. As a result, their application in practice may evolve over time as new guidance is provided by regulatory and governing bodies, which could result in
continuing uncertainty regarding compliance matters and higher costs necessitated by ongoing revisions to disclosure and governance practices. Our efforts to
comply with evolving laws, regulations and standards are likely to continue to result in increased general and administrative expenses and a diversion of
management time and attention from revenue-generating activities to compliance activities. Further, compliance with new and existing laws, rules, regulations
and standards may make it more difficult and expensive for us to maintain director and officer liability insurance, and we may be required to accept reduced
coverage or incur substantially higher costs to obtain coverage. Members of our board of directors and our principal executive officer and principal financial
officer could face an increased risk of personal liability in connection with the performance of their duties. As a result, we may have difficulty attracting and
retaining qualified directors and executive officers, which could harm our business. We continually evaluate and monitor regulatory developments and cannot
estimate the timing or magnitude of additional costs we may incur as a result.

Item 1B.    Unresolved Staff Comments. 

        None.
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Item 2.    Properties. 

        Our principal executive offices for all business segments are located in approximately 34,000 square feet of office space in San Diego, California. The lease
for such space expires on September 30, 2018.

        KGS segment corporate resource offices which are owned in fee simple are located in the following locations: Dallastown, Pennsylvania, Charleston, South
Carolina, and Walterboro, South Carolina; other leased KGS corporate resource offices are located in Washington, D.C.; Marietta, Georgia; Dayton, Ohio;
Huntsville, Alabama; Alexandria, Virginia; York, Pennsylvania; Orlando, Florida; and Indianapolis, Indiana. Our PSS segment corporate resource offices, both of
which are leased, are located in Houston, Texas and Newport, Delaware.

        We also lease office space to provide local support services to our customers in various regions throughout the U.S. The leases on these spaces expire at
various times through June 2022. We continually evaluate our current and future space capacity in relation to current and projected future staffing levels. We
believe that our existing facilities are suitable and adequate to meet our current business requirements.

Item 3.    Legal Proceedings 

IPO Securities Litigation

        Beginning in June 2001, the Company and certain of its officers and directors were named as defendants in several parallel class action shareholder
complaints filed in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of New York, now consolidated under the caption, In re Wireless Facilities, Inc. Initial Public
Offering Securities Litigation, Case 01-CV-4779. In the amended complaint, the plaintiffs allege that the Company, certain of its officers and directors, and the
underwriters of the Company's initial public offering ("IPO") violated section 11 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act") and
section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act") based on allegations that the Company's registration statement and
prospectus failed to disclose material facts regarding the compensation to be received by, and the stock allocation practices of, the IPO underwriters. The
plaintiffs seek unspecified monetary damages and other relief. Similar complaints were filed in the same court against hundreds of other public companies
("Issuers") that conducted IPOs of their common stock in the late 1990s and 2000. These complaints have been consolidated into an action captioned In re Initial
Public Offering Securities Litigation, 21 MC 92 (the "IPO Cases").

        In June 2004, the Issuers (including the Company) executed a partial settlement agreement with the plaintiffs that would have, among other things, resulted
in the dismissal with prejudice of all claims against the Issuers and their officers and directors and the assignment of certain potential Issuer claims to the
plaintiffs. On February 15, 2005, the district court issued a decision certifying a class action for settlement purposes and granting preliminary approval of the
settlement subject to modification of certain bar orders contemplated by the settlement. On August 31, 2005, the court reaffirmed class certification of the
settlement class and preliminary approval of the modified settlement in a comprehensive Order. On February 24, 2006, the court dismissed litigation filed against
certain underwriters in connection with certain claims to be assigned under the settlement. On April 24, 2006, the district court held a final fairness hearing to
determine whether to grant final approval of the settlement, and the court reserved decision at that time. While the partial settlement was pending approval, the
plaintiffs continued to litigate against the underwriter defendants. The district court directed that the litigation proceed within a number of "focus cases" rather
than all of the 310 cases that had been consolidated. The Company's case is not one of these focus cases. On October 13, 2004, the district court certified the
focus cases as class actions. The underwriter defendants appealed that ruling and on December 5, 2006, the Second Circuit Court of Appeals reversed the district
court's class certification decision. On April 6, 2007, the Second Circuit denied plaintiffs' rehearing petition, but clarified that the plaintiffs could seek to certify a
more limited class in the district court. In light of the
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Second Circuit opinion, liaison counsel for all issuer defendants, including the Company, informed the district court that the settlement could not be approved
because the defined settlement class, like the litigation class, could not be certified. On June 24, 2007, the district court entered an order terminating the proposed
settlement.

        Plaintiffs filed second consolidated amended complaints in the six focus cases on August 14, 2007, and, on September 27, 2007, again moved for class
certification. On November 12, 2007, certain of the defendants in the focus cases moved to dismiss the second consolidated amended class action complaints. On
March 26, 2008, the district court denied the motions to dismiss except as to section 11 claims raised by those plaintiffs who sold their securities for a price in
excess of the initial offering price and those who purchased outside the previously certified class period. The motion for class certification was withdrawn without
prejudice on October 10, 2008. On April 2, 2009, a stipulation and agreement of settlement among the plaintiffs, issuer defendants and underwriter defendants
was submitted to the Court for preliminary approval. The Court granted the plaintiffs' motion for preliminary approval and preliminarily certified the settlement
classes on June 10, 2009. The settlement fairness hearing was held on September 10, 2009. On October 6, 2009, the Court entered an opinion granting final
approval to the settlement and directing that the Clerk of the Court close the IPO Cases. Notices of appeal of this decision have been filed. Due to the inherent
uncertainties of litigation and because the settlement remains subject to appeal, the ultimate outcome of the matter is uncertain, however, the Company believes
that any settlement amount will be covered by its Directors and Officers insurance policy.

2004 and 2007 Derivative Securities Litigation

        In August 2004, following the Company's announcement on August 4, 2004 that it intended to restate its financial statements for the fiscal years ended
December 31, 2000, 2001, 2002 and 2003, the Company and certain of its current and former officers and directors were named as defendants (Defendants) in
several securities class action lawsuits filed in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of California. These actions were filed on behalf of those who
purchased, or otherwise acquired, the Company's common stock between April 26, 2000 and August 4, 2004. The lawsuits generally alleged that, during that time
period, Defendants made false and misleading statements to the investing public about the Company's business and financial results, causing its stock to trade at
artificially inflated levels. Based on these allegations, the lawsuits alleged that Defendants violated the Exchange Act, and the plaintiffs sought unspecified
damages. On January 13, 2009, following a motion by the parties, the Court granted final approval of the settlement of these claims, issued its final judgment on
the matter, and entered an order dismissing the case with prejudice.

        In 2004, two derivative lawsuits were filed in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of California against certain of the Company's current and
former officers and directors: Pedicini v. Wireless Facilities, Inc., Case 04CV1663; and Roth v. Wireless Facilities, Inc., Case 04CV1810. These actions were
consolidated into a single action in In re Wireless Facilities, Inc. Derivative Litigation, Lead Case No 04CV1663-JAH. These lawsuits contain factual allegations
that are substantially similar to those made in the class action lawsuits, but the plaintiffs in these lawsuits assert claims for breach of fiduciary duty, gross
mismanagement, abuse of control, waste of corporate assets, violation of Sarbanes Oxley Act section 304, unjust enrichment and insider trading. The plaintiffs in
these lawsuits seek unspecified damages and equitable and/or injunctive relief. The lead plaintiff filed a consolidated complaint on March 21, 2005. On May 3,
2005, the defendants filed motions to dismiss this action, to stay this action pending the resolution of the consolidated non-derivative securities case pending in
the Southern District of California, and to dismiss the complaint against certain non-California resident defendants. Pursuant to a request by the court, the
defendants' motions were withdrawn without prejudice pending a decision on defendants' motion to dismiss the complaint against the non-California resident
defendants. On March 20, 2007, the court ruled that it lacked personal jurisdiction over five of the six non-California defendants and dismissed them from the
federal derivative complaint. On
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March 27, 2007, plaintiffs filed an amended derivative complaint setting forth all of the same allegations from the original complaint and adding allegations
regarding the Company's stock option granting practices. The amended complaint names all of the original defendants (including those dismissed for lack of
jurisdiction) as well as nine new defendants. On July 2, 2007, the non-California resident defendants moved to dismiss the complaint for lack of personal
jurisdiction. On October 17, 2007, the court took the motion under submission without oral argument. On February 26, 2008, the court again ruled that it lacked
personal jurisdiction over five of the six non-California defendants and dismissed them from the amended federal derivative complaint. Plaintiffs subsequently
moved the court for certification and entry of final judgment of the court's order dismissing the non-residents for lack of personal jurisdiction so that the plaintiffs
may seek immediate appellate review of the matter. On July 10, 2008, the court granted plaintiffs' motion for certification, which was not opposed by defendants.
On August 12, 2008, the plaintiffs filed a notice of appeal of the personal jurisdictional order. In light of the proposed settlement of all derivative litigation,
discussed below, the court has stayed all other matters except as necessary to document and consummate the proposed settlement, pending final approval of the
proposed settlement. Similarly, the appellate court has stayed all matters related to plaintiffs' notice of appeal of the personal jurisdictional order pending district
court approval of the proposed settlement.

        In August and September 2004, two virtually identical derivative lawsuits were filed in California Superior Court for San Diego County against certain of the
Company's current and former officers and directors. These actions contain factual allegations similar to those of the federal lawsuits, but the plaintiffs in these
cases assert claims for violations of California's insider trading laws, breaches of fiduciary duty, abuse of control, gross mismanagement, waste of corporate assets
and unjust enrichment. The plaintiffs in these actions seek unspecified damages, equitable and/or injunctive relief and disgorgement of all profits, benefits and
other compensation obtained by defendants. These lawsuits have been consolidated into one action—In re Wireless Facilities, Inc. Derivative Litigation,
California Superior Court, San Diego County, Lead Case GIC 834253. The plaintiffs filed a Consolidated Shareholder Derivative Complaint on October 14, 2004.
This action has been stayed pending a decision in federal court on a motion to dismiss the federal derivative lawsuit. In October 2009, the parties notified the
Court of the status of the federal action and stipulated to stay the matter for an additional six months. The Court subsequently granted the parties' stipulation and
stay request and ordered the parties to file an updated status report in April 2010.

        In October 2009, following a voluntary mediation and subsequent negotiations related to all of the above-described derivative litigation, the parties reached
an agreement in principle to settle all claims in the federal and state derivative litigation. In March 2010, the district court granted final approval of the proposed
settlement and issued its Final Judgment and Order of Dismissal. In May 2010, all appeal rights expired. The details of the settlement are set forth in the
settlement papers filed with the court.

Other Litigation and Government Reviews and Investigations

        In addition to the foregoing matters, from time to time, the Company may become involved in various claims, lawsuits and legal proceedings that arise in the
ordinary course of business. However, litigation is subject to inherent uncertainties, and an adverse result in these or other matters may arise from time to time
that may harm the Company's business. The Company is currently not aware of any such legal proceedings or claims that it believes will have, individually or in
the aggregate, a material adverse affect on our business, financial condition, operating results or cash flows.

Item 4.    [Removed and Reserved.] 
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PART II 

Item 5.    Market For Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Market Information

        Our Common Stock is listed on the NASDAQ Global Select Market and is traded under the symbol "KTOS".

        The following table sets forth the high and low sales prices for our Common Stock for the periods indicated, as reported by NASDAQ.

Holders of Record

        On February 18, 2011 the last sale price of our Common Stock as reported by NASDAQ was $14.27 per share. On February 18, 2011, there were 322
shareholders of record of our Common Stock.

Dividend Policy

        We have not declared any cash dividends since becoming a public company. We currently intend to retain any future earnings to finance the growth and
development of the business and, therefore, do not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future. In addition, our credit agreement restricts our
ability to pay dividends. Any future determination to pay cash dividends will be at the discretion of our board of directors and will be dependent upon the future
financial condition, results of operations, capital requirements, general business conditions and other relevant factors as determined by our board of directors.

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans

        The information required by Item 201(d) of Regulation S-K will be included in the definitive proxy statement for our 2011 annual meeting of stockholders or
an amendment to this Annual Report to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after our fiscal year ended December 26, 2010, and is incorporated into this Annual
Report by reference.
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  High  Low  
Year Ended December 26, 2010:        
 Fourth Quarter  $ 12.37 $ 10.35 
 Third Quarter  $ 12.00 $ 9.36 
 Second Quarter  $ 15.56 $ 9.82 
 First Quarter  $ 15.00 $ 9.27 
Year Ended December 27, 2009:        
 Fourth Quarter  $ 11.90 $ 6.01 
 Third Quarter  $ 9.20 $ 6.60 
 Second Quarter  $ 9.40 $ 6.50 
 First Quarter  $ 14.00 $ 5.80 
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Performance Graph

        The following performance graph and related information shall not be deemed "soliciting material" or to be "filed" with the SEC, nor shall such information
be incorporated by reference into any future filing under the Securities Act or Exchange Act, except to the extent that we specifically incorporate it by reference
into such.

        The following performance graph is a comparison of the five year cumulative stockholder return on our common stock against the cumulative total return of
the Russell 2000 Stock Index, and an old peer group composed of ATS Corporation, Dynamic Research Corporation, NCI Inc., VSE Corporation, and WPCS
International, Inc. as well as a new peer group comprised of Aerovironment Inc., Caci International Inc., General Dynamics Corp., L3 Communications
Holdings Inc., Lockheed Martin Corp., Mantech International Corp., NCI Inc., SAIC Inc., SRA International Inc., and WPCS International Inc., for the period
commencing December 31, 2005 and ending December 26, 2010. The performance graph assumes an initial investment of $100 in our common stock and in each
of the Russell 2000 Stock Index and peer groups. The comparison also assumes that all dividends are reinvested and all returns are market-cap weighted. The
historical information set forth below is not necessarily indicative of future performance.

COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*
Among Kratos Defense & Security Solutions, Inc, the Russell 2000 Index,

an Old Peer Group and a New Peer Group 

* $100 invested on 12/31/05 in stock or index, including reinvestment of dividends through the fiscal year ending December 26, 2010.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities; Use of Proceeds from Registered Securities

        None.

Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers

        None.
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Item 6.    Selected Financial Data 

        The following selected consolidated financial data should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and related notes thereto and
with "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" which are incorporated in Item 7 or included elsewhere in this
Annual Report. Our historical results are not necessarily indicative of operating results to be expected in the future.
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December 31,

2006  
December 31,

2007  
December 28,

2008  
December 27,

2009  
December 26,

2010  
  (All amounts except per share data in millions)  
Consolidated Statements of Operations Data:                 
 Revenues  $ 138.2 $ 180.7 $ 286.2 $ 334.5 $ 408.5 
 Gross profit   26.2  29.7  58.2  69.3  90.0 
 Operating income (loss)   (25.9)  (23.6)  (93.2)  (27.0)  23.1 
 Provision (benefit) for income taxes   14.5  1.3  (0.7)  1.0  (12.7)
 Income (loss) from continuing operations   (41.2)  (27.2)  (104.0)  (38.3)  14.6 
 Loss from discontinued operations   (16.7)  (13.6)  (7.1)  (3.2)  (0.1)
 Net income (loss)  $ (57.9) $ (40.8) $ (111.1) $ (41.5) $ 14.5 
Income (loss) from continuing operations per

common share                 
 Basic  $ (5.56) $ (3.67) $ (11.18) $ (2.76) $ 0.88 
 Diluted  $ (5.56) $ (3.67) $ (11.18) $ (2.76) $ 0.87 
Loss from discontinued operations per common

share                 
 Basic  $ (2.26) $ (1.84) $ (0.77) $ (0.23) $ (0.01)
 Diluted  $ (2.26) $ (1.84) $ (0.77) $ (0.23) $ (0.01)
Net income (loss) per common share                 
 Basic  $ (7.82) $ (5.51) $ (11.95) $ (2.99) $ 0.87 
 Diluted  $ (7.82) $ (5.51) $ (11.95) $ (2.99) $ 0.86 
Weighted average shares:                 
 Basic   7.4  7.4  9.3  13.9  16.6 
 Diluted   7.4  7.4  9.3  13.9  16.9 

  
December 31,

2006  
December 31,

2007  
December 28,

2008  
December 27,

2009  
December 26,

2010  
  (All amounts in millions)  
Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:                 
 Cash and cash equivalents  $ 5.6 $ 8.9 $ 3.7 $ 9.9 $ 10.8 
 Working capital   (3.8)  23.4  35.0  37.1  65.8 
 Total assets   337.7  335.3  312.4  241.6  536.1 
 Short-term debt   51.4  2.7  6.1  4.7  0.6 
 Long-term debt   —  74.0  76.9  51.6  226.1 
 Total stockholders' equity  $ 187.1 $ 167.2 $ 146.9 $ 124.9 $ 169.9 
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Item 7.    Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations 

        This report contains forward-looking statements. These statements relate to future events or our future financial performance. In some cases, you can
identify forward-looking statements by terminology such as "may," "will," "should," "expect," "plan," "anticipate," "believe," "estimate," "predict," "potential" or
"continue," the negative of such terms or other comparable terminology. These statements are only predictions. Actual events or results may differ materially.
Factors that may cause our results to differ include, but are not limited to: changes in the scope or timing of our projects; changes or cutbacks in spending by the
DoD which could cause delays or cancellations of key government contracts; the timing, rescheduling or cancellation of significant customer contracts and
agreements, or consolidation by or the loss of key customers; failure to successfully consummate acquisitions or integrate acquired operations; failure to
establish and maintain important relationships with government entities and agencies and other government contractors which could limit our ability to bid
successfully for new business; and competition in the marketplace which could reduce revenues and profit margins.

        Although we believe that the expectations reflected in the forward- looking statements are reasonable, we cannot guarantee future results, levels of activity,
performance or achievements. Moreover, neither we, nor any other person, assume responsibility for the accuracy and completeness of the forward-looking
statements. We are under no obligation to update any of the forward-looking statements after the filing of this Annual Report to conform such statements to actual
results or to changes in our expectations.

        Certain of the information set forth herein, including costs and expenses that exclude the impact of stock-based compensation expense, amortization expense
of purchased intangibles, the stock option investigation and related costs recovered in 2008, and the discussion of net debt, may be considered non-GAAP
financial measures. We believe this information is useful to investors because it provides a basis for measuring the operating performance of our business and our
cash flow, excluding the effect of certain expenses that would normally be included in the most directly comparable measures calculated and presented in
accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles ("GAAP"). Our management uses these non-GAAP financial measures along with the most directly
comparable GAAP financial measures in evaluating our operating performance, capital resources and cash flow. Non-GAAP financial measures should not be
considered in isolation from, or as a substitute for, financial information presented in compliance with GAAP, and non-financial measures we report may not be
comparable to similarly titled amounts reported by other companies.

        The following discussion should be read in conjunction with our audited consolidated financial statements and the related notes and other financial
information appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report and other reports and filings made with the SEC. Readers are also urged to carefully review and consider
the various disclosures made by us which attempt to advise interested parties of the factors which affect our business, including without limitation the disclosures
made under this Item 7 and Item 1A—Risk Factors.

Overview

        We are a specialized national security business providing mission critical products, services and solutions for United States national security priorities. Our
core capabilities are sophisticated engineering, manufacturing and system integration offerings for national security platforms and programs. Our principal
services are related to, but are not limited to, Command, Control, Communications, Computing, Combat Systems, Intelligence, Surveillance and Reconnaissance
("C5ISR"); related cybersecurity, cyberwarfare, information assurance and situational awareness solutions; weapons systems lifecycle support and sustainment;
military weapon range operations and technical services; missile, rocket and weapons system testing and evaluation; missile and rocket mission launch services,
primarily for Ballistic Missile Defense; public safety, critical infrastructure security and surveillance systems; modeling and simulation; unmanned aerial vehicle
systems; and advanced network engineering and information technology services. We offer our customers products, solutions, services
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and expertise to support their mission-critical needs by leveraging our skills across our core offering areas.

        Our primary end customers are United States Federal Government agencies, including the Department of Defense, classified agencies, intelligence agencies,
other National Security agencies and Homeland Security related agencies. We believe our stable client base, strong client relationships, broad array of contract
vehicles, considerable employee base possessing national security clearances, extensive list of past performance qualifications, and significant management and
operational capabilities position us for continued growth.

        We provide products, solutions and services for a wide range of established, deployed and operating national security platforms, including, but not limited to:
Aegis Ballistic Missile Defense systems, M1 Abrams tanks, Bradley fighting vehicles, F-5 Tiger, HiMARS, Chaparral and Hawk missile systems, Kiowa AH-60
helicopters, DDG-1000 Zumwalt destroyers, attack and missile submarines, certain intelligence surveillance and reconnaissance systems and various unmanned
systems.

Industry Background

Department of Defense Drives Strategic Priorities for the Company

        The delivery and execution of our mission-critical engineering and support services are driven by the priorities of the U.S. Federal Government and
primarily the DoD. The strategic priorities of the DoD are based in large part on the Quadrennial Defense Review ("QDR"), a legislatively-mandated review of
DoD strategy and priorities. These priorities are currently focused on mission critical capabilities of the U.S. armed forces and providing the support infrastructure
necessary to sustain these forces in a time of heightened warfare readiness and deployment.

        The DoD's budget for the 2012 fiscal year is $671 billion, a decrease of 5% from fiscal year 2011. The top 28 programs account for approximately
$64 billion in funding and require aggregate funding that is nearly 14% higher than what was set aside for them in the fiscal year 2010 budget which closed on
September 30, 2010. The increase in the top 28 programs represents a significant opportunity to key federal government contractors in support of the DoD's war
fighter, information technology, and other operational priorities. We believe there will be significant market opportunities for providers of system sustainment, IT
and engineering services and solutions to federal government agencies over the next several years, particularly those in the defense and homeland security
communities.

        As of February 25, 2011, the Congress has not approved the President's fiscal year ("FY") 2011 budget request. Consequently, the U.S. government,
including the Department of Defense, is operating under a continuing resolution ("CR"), which funds the Pentagon at FY 2010 funding levels through early
March 2011. We anticipate that Congress will further consider the FY 2011 defense spending bill in conjunction with the expiration of the current CR. This
consideration would likely result in either an extension of the CR, thereby keeping FY 2011 funding at FY 2010 levels, or the passage of a 2011 funding bill.

Focus on Federal Government Transformation

        The federal government and the DoD in particular, is in the midst of a significant transformation that is driven by the federal government's need to address
the changing nature of global threats. A significant aspect of this transformation is the use of C5ISR, and information technology to increase the federal
government's effectiveness and efficiency. The result is increased federal government spending on information technology to upgrade networks and transform the
federal government from separate, isolated organizations into larger, enterprise level, network-centric organizations capable of sharing information broadly and
quickly. While the transformation initiative is driven by the need to prepare for new world threats, adopting these IT transformation initiatives will also improve
efficiency and reduce infrastructure costs across all federal government agencies.
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        An additional aspect of the military transformation includes significantly enhancing military readiness in areas such as missile defense, weapons system
sustainment and extension, and the overall strengthening of intelligence and security. For example, the objective of the DoD as it relates to missile defense is to
continue to develop, test, and field missile defense systems to protect America, its allies and deployed forces.

        While the real rate of growth in the top line defense budget may be slowing for the first time since September 11, 2001, the U.S. Government's budgetary
process continues to give us good visibility with respect to future spending and the threat areas that the government is addressing. We believe that our business is
aligned with mission critical national security priorities particularly in the area of missile defense, C5ISR, cyber security and information assurance and that our
current contracts and strong backlog provide us with good insight regarding our future cash flows.

Current Reporting Segments

        We operate in two principal business segments: Kratos Government Solutions and Public Safety & Security. We organize our business segments based on the
nature of the services offered. Transactions between segments are generally negotiated and accounted for under terms and conditions similar to other government
and commercial contracts and these intercompany transactions are eliminated in consolidation. The consolidated financial statements in this Annual Report are
presented in a manner consistent with our operating structure. For additional information regarding our operating segments, see Note 14 of Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements. From a customer and solutions perspective, we view our business as an integrated whole, leveraging skills and assets wherever possible.

Kratos Government Solutions Segment

        Our KGS segment provides products, solutions and services primarily for mission critical National Security priorities. KGS customers primarily include
National Security related agencies, the Department of Defense, intelligence agencies and classified agencies. Our work includes weapon systems sustainment,
lifecycle support and extension; C5ISR services, including related cybersecurity, cyberwarfare, information assurance and situational awareness solutions;
military range operations and technical services; missile, rocket, and weapons systems test and evaluation; mission launch services; modeling and simulation;
UAV products and technology; advanced network engineering and information technology services; and public safety, security and surveillance systems
integration. We produce products, solutions and services related to certain C5ISR platforms, unmanned system platforms, weapons systems, national security
related assets and warfighter systems. The results of our recent acquisitions of Southside, DEI and Gichner are included in this segment.

Public Safety & Security Segment

        Our PSS segment provides independent integrated solutions for advanced homeland security, public safety, critical information, security and surveillance
systems for government and commercial applications. Our solutions include designing, installing and servicing building technologies that protect people, critical
infrastructure, assets, information and property and make facilities more secure and efficient. We provide solutions in such areas as the design, engineering and
operation of command and control centers, the design, engineering, deployment and integration of access control, building automation and control,
communications, digital and closed circuit television security and surveillance, fire and life safety, maintenance and services and product support services. We
provide solutions for customers in the critical infrastructure, power generation, power transport, nuclear energy, financial, information technology, healthcare,
education, transportation and petro-chemical industries, as well as certain government and military customers. For example, we provide biometrics and other
access control technologies to customers such as pipelines, electrical grids, municipal port authorities, power
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plants, communication centers, large data centers, government installations and other commercial enterprises. The results of our recent acquisition of HBE are
included in this segment.

        On June 24, 2009, as a result of the continued operating losses in the Southeast division of the PSS segment (the "Southeast Division"), our board of
directors approved a plan to sell and dispose of the Southeast Division. In accordance with ASC Topic 205, Presentation of Financial Statements ("Topic 205"),
this business unit was classified as held for sale and reported in discontinued operations in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. We recorded a
$2.0 million impairment charge in the second quarter of 2009 and an additional $0.2 million in the second quarter of 2010 related to management's estimate of the
fair value of the business. On August 2, 2010, we divested this division for approximately $0.1 million cash consideration and the assumption of certain
liabilities.

Strategic Acquisitions

Henry Bros. Electronics, Inc.

        On December 15, 2010, we acquired Henry Bros. Electronics, Inc. in a cash merger for a purchase price of $56.6 million, of which $54.9 million was paid in
cash and $1.7 million reflects the fair value of options to purchase common stock of HBE that were assumed by us and converted into options to purchase our
common stock upon completion of the merger. Upon completion of the merger, holders of HBE common stock received $8.20 in cash for each share of HBE
common stock held by them immediately prior to the closing of the merger. In addition, upon completion of the merger, all options to purchase HBE common
stock were assumed by us (the "Assumed Options") and converted into options to purchase our common stock, entitling the holders thereof to receive 0.7715
shares of our common stock for each share of HBE common stock underlying the Assumed Options. The Assumed Options will be exerciseable for an aggregate
of approximately 0.4 million shares of our common stock.

        HBE is a leading provider of homeland security solutions, products, and system integration services, including the design, engineering and operation of
command, control and surveillance systems for the protection of strategic assets and critical infrastructure in the U.S. HBE also has particular expertise in the
design, engineering, deployment and operation of specialized surveillance, thermal imaging, analytics, radar, and biometrics technology based security systems.
Representative HBE programs and customers include DoD agencies, nuclear power generation facilities, state government and municipality related agencies,
major national airports, major harbors, railways, tunnel systems, energy centers, power plants, and related infrastructure.

Southside Container & Trailer, LLC.

        On December 7, 2010, we acquired Southside for $13.7 million of which $12.2 million in cash was paid at closing, $0.3 million is being held as security for
SCT's indemnification obligations as set forth in the Purchase Agreement and approximately $1.2 million of which represents the acquisition date fair value of
additional performance based consideration. The potential undiscounted amount of all future contingent consideration that may be payable by us under the
Purchase Agreement is $3.5 million. Southside is a privately-held provider of national security related command and control center, law enforcement, military
aviation and data center products, shelters and solutions for the United States Department of Defense, National Security agencies and related customers.
Southside also provides products and solutions for specialized war fighter and critical asymmetric warfare related missions.

DEI Services Corporation

        On August 9, 2010, we acquired DEI Services Corporation, in a cash merger valued at approximately $14.0 million, of which $9.0 million was paid in cash
at closing and approximately $5.0 million of which represented the acquisition date fair value of additional performance-based consideration, of which
$0.4 million was achieved and paid in September 2010. Pursuant to the terms of
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the DEI Agreement upon achievement of certain cash receipts, revenue, earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, and amortization ("EBITDA") and backlog
amounts in 2010, 2011 and 2012, we will be obligated to pay the former stockholders of DEI certain additional contingent consideration. The potential
undiscounted amount of all future contingent consideration that may be payable by us under the DEI Agreement, subsequent to December 26, 2010, is between
zero and $8.0 million. The contingent consideration will be reduced in the event certain anticipated cash receipts are not collected within agreed upon time
periods, which could decrease the future payments by approximately $6.0 million.

        Founded in 1996 and headquartered in Orlando, Florida, DEI designs, manufactures and markets full-scale training simulation products. In addition to the
engineering and construction of physical simulators for air and ground military vehicles, DEI provides instructional design, courseware creation, learning
application programming and other supporting services. Among DEI's most successful products are training and simulation solutions for fixed-wing aircraft
(including the Tiger, Harrier and Prowler aircraft), rotor-wing aircraft (including Blackhawk, Chinook and Sea Stallion helicopters) and Ground Combat Vehicles
(including M1 Abrams Main Battle Tank and M2 Bradley Fighting Vehicle).

Gichner Holdings, Inc.

        On May 19, 2010, we acquired Gichner pursuant to the Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of April 12, 2010, by and between us and the stockholders of
Gichner (the "Purchase Agreement"), in a cash for stock transaction valued at approximately $133.0 million. Gichner has manufacturing and operating facilities
in Dallastown and York, Pennsylvania and Charleston, South Carolina, and is a manufacturer of tactical military products, combat support facilities, subsystems,
modular systems and shelters primarily for the DoD and leading defense system providers. Representative programs for which Gichner provides products and
solutions include the MQ—1C Sky Warrior, Gorgon Stare, MQ—8B Fire Scout and RQ—7 Shadow Unmanned Aerial Vehicles, the Command Post Platform and
Joint Light Tactical Vehicles, Combat Tactical Vehicles, DDG-1000 Modular C5 Compartments and the Persistent Threat Detection System ISR Platform.

        Upon completion of the acquisition, we deposited $8.1 million of the purchase price into an escrow account as security for Gichner's indemnification
obligations as set forth in the Purchase Agreement. In addition, the Purchase Agreement provides that the purchase price will be (i) increased on a dollar for dollar
basis if the working capital on the closing date (as defined in the Purchase Agreement) exceeds $17.5 million or (ii) decreased on a dollar for dollar basis if the
working capital is less than $17.1 million. Kratos and Altus Capital Partners, Inc., the seller's representative under the Purchase Agreement (the "Seller's
Representative") have agreed to a working capital adjustment of $0.3 million owed to us. The Seller's Representative is disputing an additional working capital
adjustment of $0.9 million to which we believe we are entitled.

Digital Fusion, Inc.

        On December 24, 2008, we acquired DFI. DFI provides C4ISR and technical engineering services, UAV products and technology and has significant
engineering, modeling and simulation capabilities. The acquisition of DFI provided us with new customers and an expanded contract vehicle portfolio, in addition
to expanding the range of service offerings to our existing customers. Principal customers of DFI include the Army Aviation and Missile Research, Development
and Engineering Center (AMRDEC), Army Space and Missile Defense Command/Army Forces Strategic Command (ARSTRAT), NASA Marshall Space Flight
Center, and certain classified customers.

        We acquired DFI in a stock for stock transaction valued at approximately $37.0 million, including transaction costs of $0.9 million. We issued 2.3 million
shares to DFI shareholders and assumed outstanding DFI options, which resulted in the assumption of options to acquire approximately
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1.0 million shares of our common stock. The value of the purchase price related to the common stock issued was derived from the number of shares of our
common stock issued of 2.3 million, based on 12.8 million shares of DFI common stock outstanding and the exchange ratio of 0.17933 for each DFI share, at a
price of $12.70 per share, the average closing price of our common stock for the two days prior to, including, and the two days subsequent to the public
announcement of the merger on November 24, 2008. The fair value of the options assumed that were allocated to goodwill based upon the Black-Scholes pricing
model was $7.0 million. The fair value of unvested options which are related to future service will be expensed as the service is performed.

SYS Technologies

        On June 28, 2008, we acquired SYS. SYS provided a range of C4ISR and net-centric solutions to federal, state, and local governments as well as other
customers. The combination of SYS and Kratos created a broad, complementary set of offerings, and positioned the organization to deliver proven capabilities to
a wider spectrum of customers in the areas of highly-specialized engineering and IT solutions and services, specifically in the areas of weapon systems life cycle
support and extension, military range operations, missile and weapon system testing, and C4ISR.

        The purchase price of $55.9 million included direct transaction costs of $2.4 million and restructuring costs of $2.6 million to be paid by us. The value of the
purchase price related to the common stock issued was derived from the number of shares of our common stock issued of 2.5 million, based on 20.1 million
shares of SYS common stock outstanding and the exchange ratio of 0.12582 for each SYS share, at a price of $20.22 per share, the average closing price of our
common stock on the announcement date and for the two days prior to and two days subsequent to the public announcement of the merger on February 21, 2008.

        During the due diligence process related to the acquisition of SYS, senior management identified three business units of SYS which were non-core to Kratos'
base national PSS businesses. In accordance with Topic 205, these business units were classified as held for sale and reported in discontinued operations. In the
quarter ended March 29, 2009, all three of the businesses were sold for an aggregate cash consideration of approximately $0.4 million.

Key Financial Statement Concepts

        As of December 26, 2010, we consider the following factors to be important in understanding our financial statements.

        KGS' business with the U.S. Government and prime contractors is generally performed under cost reimbursable, fixed-price or time and materials contracts.
Cost reimbursable contracts for the government provide for reimbursement of costs plus the payment of a fee. Some cost reimbursable contracts include incentive
fees that are awarded based on performance on the contract. Under time and materials contracts, we are reimbursed for labor hours at negotiated hourly billing
rates and reimbursed for travel and other direct expenses at actual costs plus applied general and administrative expenses. In accounting for our long-term
contracts for production of products and services provided to the federal government and provided to our PSS customers under fixed price contracts, we utilize
both cost-to-cost and units produced measures under the percentage-of-completion method of accounting under the provisions of FASB ASC Topic 605, Revenue
Recognition ("Topic 605"). Under the units produced measure of the percentage-of-completion method of accounting, sales are recognized as the units are
accepted by the customer generally using sales values for units in accordance with the contract terms. We estimate profit as the difference between total estimated
revenue and total estimated cost of a contract and recognize that profit over the life of the contract based on deliveries or as computed on the basis of the
estimated final average unit costs plus profit. We classify contract revenues as product
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sales or service revenues depending upon the predominant attributes of the relevant underlying contracts.

        We consider the following factors when determining if collection of a receivable is reasonably assured: comprehensive collection history; results of our
communications with customers; the current financial position of the customer; and the relevant economic conditions in the customer's country. If we have had no
prior experience with the customer, we review reports from various credit organizations to ensure that the customer has a history of paying its creditors in a
reliable and effective manner. If the financial condition of our customers were to deteriorate, and adversely affect their financial ability to make payments,
additional allowances would be required. Additionally, on certain contracts whereby we perform services for a prime/general contractor, a specified percentage of
the invoiced trade accounts receivable may be retained by the customer until we complete the project. We periodically review all retainages for collectability and
record allowances for doubtful accounts when deemed appropriate, based on our assessment of the associated risks.

        We monitor our policies and procedures with respect to our contracts on a regular basis to ensure consistent application under similar terms and conditions as
well as compliance with all applicable government regulations. In addition, costs incurred and allocated to contracts with the U.S. Government are routinely
audited by the Defense Contract Audit Agency.

        We manage and assess the performance of our businesses based on our performance on individual contracts and programs obtained generally from
government organizations with consideration given to the Critical Accounting Principles and Estimates. Due to the Federal Acquisition Regulation rules that
govern our business, most types of costs are allowable, and we do not focus on individual cost groupings (such as cost of sales or general and administrative
costs) as much as we do on total contract costs, which are a key factor in determining contract operating income. As a result, in evaluating our operating
performance, we look primarily at changes in sales and service revenues, and operating income, including the effects of significant changes in operating income.
Changes in contract estimates are reviewed on a contract-by-contract basis, and are revised periodically throughout the life of the contract such that adjustments
to profit resulting from revisions are made cumulative to the date of the revision in accordance with GAAP. Significant management judgments and estimates,
including the estimated costs to complete the project, which determine the project's percent complete, must be made and used in connection with the revenue
recognized in any accounting period. Material differences may result in the amount and timing of our revenue for any period if management makes different
judgments or utilizes different estimates.

Results of Operations

Comparison of Results for the Year Ended December 27, 2009 to the Year ended December 26, 2010

        Revenues.    Revenues by operating segment for the years ended December 27, 2009 and December 26, 2010 are as follows (in millions):

        Revenues increased $74.0 million from $334.5 million in 2009 to $408.5 million in 2010. This increase was primarily due to the acquisitions of Gichner and
DEI and to a lesser extent by the acquisitions of Southside and HBE. Gichner and DEI contributed aggregate revenues of $104.8 million, and Southside and HBE
contributed combined revenues of $1.9 million.
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  2009  2010  $ change  % change  
Kratos Government Solutions Segment  $ 304.3 $ 372.2 $ 67.9  22.3%
Public Safety & Security Segment   30.2  36.3  6.1  20.2%
           

 Total revenues  $ 334.5 $ 408.5 $ 74.0  22.1%
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        Product sales which are all from the KGS segment increased $103.2 million from $20.5 million for the year ended December 27, 2009 to $123.7 million for
the year ended December 26, 2010. As a percentage of total revenue, product revenues were 6.1% for the year ended December 27, 2009 as compared to 30.3%
for the year ended December 26, 2010. This increase was primarily related to an air defense weapon system munitions contract we were awarded during the first
quarter of 2010 and the acquisitions of Gichner and DEI. Service revenue decreased by $29.2 million from $314.0 million for the year ended December 27, 2009
to $284.8 million for the year ended December 26, 2010. The decrease in service revenue was a result of the planned reductions of lower margin pass through
work and to a lesser extent expected reductions of small business set aside contract work from companies we previously acquired and in-sourcing of our
employees by the U.S. Government in certain of our businesses in the KGS segment. The increase in revenue in the PSS segment is a result of an increase in
security integration projects for critical infrastructure such as pipelines, power productions facilities and data centers, as well as revenue from the acquisition of
HBE.

        As described in the section "Critical Accounting Principles and Estimates" and in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, we utilize both the cost-to-
cost and units produced measures under the percentage-of-completion method of accounting for recognizing revenue as provided for in Topic 605. When revenue
is calculated using the percentage-of-completion method, total costs incurred to date are compared to total estimated costs to complete the contract. These
estimates are reviewed monthly on a contract-by-contract basis, and are revised periodically throughout the life of the contract such that adjustments to profit
resulting from revisions are made cumulative to the date of the revision. Significant management judgments and estimates, including the estimated costs to
complete projects, which determine the project's percentage of completion, must be made and used in connection with the revenue recognized in any accounting
period. Material differences may result in the amount and timing of our revenue for any period if management makes different judgments or utilizes different
estimates. During the reporting periods contained herein, we did experience revenue and margin adjustments of certain projects based on the aforementioned
factors, but the effect of such adjustments, both positive and negative, when evaluated in total were determined to be immaterial to the consolidated financial
statements.

        Cost of revenues.    Cost of revenues increased from $265.2 million for the year ended December 27, 2009 to $318.5 million for the year ended
December 26, 2010. The $53.3 million increase in cost of revenues was primarily a result of the acquisition of Gichner and DEI and to a lesser extent by the
acquisitions of Southside and HBE partially offset by reductions in revenue and reduced costs as a result of increased margins due to planned reductions of lower
margin pass though work in our KGS segment. Gichner and DEI incurred combined cost of revenues of $85.4 million and Southside and HBE incurred combined
cost of revenues of $1.2 million. Gross margin increased from 20.7% for the year ended December 27, 2009 to 22.0% for the year ended December 26, 2010.
This was primarily the result of the increase in margin on service revenue from 20.4% to 24.3% for the year ended December 27, 2009 and December 26, 2010,
respectively. This increase was due primarily to the planned reductions of lower margin pass through work. Gross margins on product sales decreased for the year
ended December 26, 2010 as compared to December 27, 2009 from 25.9% to 16.7%, respectively, as a result of the Gichner acquisition and the associated
product mix. Margins in the PSS segment increased from 29.5% for the year ended December 27, 2009 to 32.0% for the year ended December 26, 2010 as a
result of performance improvements and revenue growth.

        Selling, general and administrative expenses.    Selling, general and administrative expenses ("SG&A") increased $10.2 million from $52.8 million to
$63.0 million for the years ended December 27, 2009 and December 26, 2010, respectively. The increase of $10.2 million was primarily due to an increase in
costs of $12.5 million from the acquisitions of Gichner, DEI, Southside, and HBE. Included in the SG&A expenses for 2009 and 2010 are amortization of
purchased intangibles of $5.7 million and $9.2 million, respectively. The increase in amortization year over year was primarily a result of the Gichner and DEI
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acquisitions. As a percentage of revenues, selling, general and administrative expenses decreased from 15.8% in 2009 to 15.4% in 2010. Excluding the impact of
the amortization of purchased intangibles, SG&A expenses decreased from 14.1% to 13.2% of revenues for 2009 and 2010, respectively, reflecting leverage on
increased revenues.

        Research and development expenses.    Research and development ("R&D") expenses were $1.8 million for the year ended December 27, 2009 and
$2.2 million for the year ended December 26, 2010.

        Recovery of unauthorized issuance of stock options, stock option investigation and related fees and litigation settlement.    In October 2009, we reached an
agreement with the plaintiffs to settle the outstanding 2004 and 2007 derivative lawsuits. The benefit in 2009 of $0.2 million is a result of the reduction in our
estimated accrual related to this litigation, offset by expenses related to government inquiries by the Department of Justice ("DOJ"), which were completed in
2009, related to our historical stock option granting practices. In September 2010, we reached a settlement with one of our D&O insurance carriers to cover costs
related to our completed stock option and DOJ investigations. The settlement received, net of legal expenses, was $1.4 million.

        Impairment of goodwill.    During the first quarter of 2009, we determined that a triggering event had occurred in accordance with Topic 350. This resulted in
an impairment charge of $41.3 million during the first quarter of 2009. The impairment charge was primarily driven by adverse equity market conditions that
caused a decrease in market multiples and our average stock price as of February 28, 2009, compared with the impairment test performed as of December 28,
2008. In our analysis, we use the income approach and validate its reasonableness by considering our market capitalization based upon an average of our stock
price for a period prior to and subsequent to the date we performed our analysis. The average market price of our stock as of February 28, 2009 was $7.80 which
equates to a 39% drop in our average stock price and corresponding market capitalization from December 28, 2008 which had an average stock price of $12.90.
We reconcile the fair value of our reporting units which is calculated using the income approach to our market capitalization. As a result of this reconciliation, it
was noted that investors were requiring a higher rate of return, and therefore, our discount factor which is based upon an estimated market participant weighted
average cost of capital (WACC) increased 300 basis points from 14% in our year end impairment test in 2008 as compared to 17% in our 2009 first quarter
interim impairment test. This change was the key factor contributing to the $41.3 million goodwill impairment charge that we recorded in the first quarter of
2009.

        Our forecasts of growth rates and operating margins had not changed as of February 28, 2009 as compared to the forecasts which were used as of
December 28, 2008. Our historical growth rates and operating results are not indicative of our future growth rates and operating results as a consequence of our
transformation from a commercial wireless service provider to a U.S. government defense contractor. The decline in revenues, which was expected by us, is
primarily due to the impact of the conversion of our work as a prime contractor under certain legacy small business awards to that of a subcontractor. This change
resulted in an award of an overall smaller portion of the entire project as the contracts were recompeted and the original term of the small business contracts were
completed. The conversion of work as a prime to a subcontractor related to legacy small business contracts awarded to acquired companies is not uncommon in
the government defense contractor industry for companies that have been acquisitive. Certain of the contract awards that were legacy small business awards to
businesses which we acquired may result in a reduction of revenues when the contracts are completed and recompeted and awarded to us as a subcontractor rather
than as a prime contractor. We believe that the expected impact to our revenues will not be material related to this conversion. Our projected growth rates take
into consideration this anticipated impact on small business awards.

        Our contracts are long-term in nature and are supported by significant backlog. Because our contracts are of a long-term nature, a majority of our receivables
are with agencies within the U. S.
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government or we are a subcontractor to a customer whose receivables are with the agencies within the U.S. government, we are not subject to significant short-
term changes in operating cash flow. Moreover, because of the nature of our current business, we do not have significant capital expenditure requirements. In
addition, we did not assume a recovery of the global or national economy in our cash flow projections in our analysis as of December 28, 2008 or in our analysis
as of February 28, 2009. The charge does not impact our normal business operations.

        Impairments and adjustments to the liability for unused office space.    The expense of $0.6 million for the year ended December 27, 2009, was a result of a
change in our excess facility accrual due to the consolidation of space at our corporate headquarters following the sale of the SYS commercial businesses and a
cancellation of a sublease of one of our tenants due to financial difficulties.

        Merger and acquisition expenses.    Merger and acquisition expenses were $3.1 million for the year ended December 26, 2010, primarily related to our
acquisitions of Gichner, DEI, Southside, and HBE. We had no acquisition expenses for the year ended December 27, 2009.

        Other expense, net.    For the year ended December 27, 2009, net other expense was $10.3 million compared to net other expense of $21.2 million for the
year ended December 26, 2010. The increase in other expense of $10.9 million is primarily related to an increase in interest expense of $3.9 million as a result of
the write-off of deferred financing fees associated with our prior credit facilities and an increase in interest expense as a result of the $225.0 million in notes
issued in May 2010, primarily to fund the acquisition of Gichner, partially offset by a decrease of $1.0 million in other expense primarily related to the non-cash
charges to mark our interest rate derivatives to market.

        Provision (benefit) for income taxes.    The provision for income taxes decreased from a provision of $1.0 million on a loss of $37.3 million before income
taxes for the year ended December 27, 2009 to a benefit of $12.7 million on income before income taxes of $1.9 million for the year ended December 26, 2010.
The provision for the year ended December 27, 2009 was primarily due to current state taxes. The benefit for the year ended December 26, 2010 was primarily
related to the acquisitions of Gichner and DEI. In accordance with FASB ASC Topic 805 Business Combinations ("Topic 805"), we established deferred tax
liabilities of approximately $18.2 million for the increase in the financial statement basis of the acquired assets of Gichner, and DEI, respectively. As a result of
our ability to recognize deferred tax assets for certain of these deferred tax liabilities, we released the valuation allowances against our deferred tax assets and
recognized an income tax benefit of $13.6 million.

        Loss from discontinued operations.    Loss from discontinued operations improved from a loss of $3.2 million to a loss of $0.1 million for the year ended
December 27, 2009 and December 26, 2010, respectively. In 2009, $2.0 million of the loss was related to the impairment of assets related to the Southeast
Division recorded to reflect management's estimate of the fair value of this business. In 2010, the loss was primarily due to a reduction in liabilities as a result of
the final settlement of sales and use tax liabilities related to our discontinued wireless deployment business partially offset by losses in the Southeast Division.
Revenues generated by these businesses were approximately $5.9 million and $2.2 million for the year ended December 27, 2009 and December 26, 2010,
respectively. Excluding the impairment charge, losses before taxes were $1.8 million for the year ended December 27, 2009 and $0.9 million for the year ended
December 26, 2010. For the year ended December 27, 2009 and December 26, 2010, we recognized a tax benefit of $0.6 million and $0.8 million, respectively,
primarily related to the expiration of the statute of limitations for certain domestic and foreign tax contingencies. In August 2010, we divested our Southeast
Division for approximately $0.1 million cash consideration and the assumption of certain liabilities.
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        The following table presents the results of discontinued operations (in millions):

        See Note 9 to the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for a further discussion of discontinued operations.

Comparison of Results for the Year Ended December 28, 2008 to the Year ended December 27, 2009

        Revenues.    Revenues by operating segment for the years ended December 28, 2008 and December 27, 2009 are as follows (in millions):

        Revenues increased $48.3 million from $286.2 million in 2008 to $334.5 million in 2009. The increase of $57.6 million in our Kratos Government Solutions
segment was partially due to the acquisitions of DFI on December 24, 2008 and SYS on June 28, 2008 which resulted in an increase in revenue of $88.6 million.
This increase in revenue was partially offset by reductions due to the substantial completion of two weapons systems contracts, the planned reductions of acquired
small business set aside contract work, pass through work and other contract work in the Kratos Government Solutions segment. The PSS segment was negatively
impacted by an adverse economic environment as a result of delays in capital improvement projects and the construction of new buildings.

        Product sales decreased $6.2 million from $26.7 million for the year ended December 28, 2008 to $20.5 million for the year ended December 27, 2009. As a
percentage of total revenue, product revenues were 9.3% for the year ended December 28, 2008 as compared to 6.1% for the year ended December 27, 2009. This
decrease was primarily related to the substantial completion of two weapons systems contracts.

        As described in the section "Critical Accounting Principles and Estimates" and in the notes to consolidated financial statements, we utilize both the cost-to-
cost and units produced measures under the percentage-of-completion method of accounting for recognizing revenue as provided for in Topic 605. When revenue
is calculated using the percentage-of-completion method, total costs incurred to date are compared to total estimated costs to complete the contract. These
estimates are reviewed monthly on a contract-by-contract basis, and are revised periodically throughout the life of the contract such that adjustments to profit
resulting from revisions are made cumulative to the date of the revision. Significant management judgments and estimates, including the estimated costs to
complete projects, which determine the project's percent complete, must be made and used in connection with the revenue recognized in any accounting period.
Material differences may result in the amount and timing of our revenue for any period if management makes different judgments or utilizes different estimates.
During the reporting periods contained herein, we did experience revenue and margin adjustments of certain projects based on the aforementioned factors, but the
effect of such adjustments, both positive and negative, when evaluated in total were determined to be immaterial to the consolidated financial statements.
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Year ended
December 27,

2009  

Year ended
December 26,

2010  
Revenue  $ 5.9 $ 2.2 
Loss before taxes   (3.8)  (0.9)
Benefit for income taxes   (0.6)  (0.8)
Net loss  $ (3.2) $ (0.1)

  2008  2009  $ change  % change  
Kratos Government Solutions Segment  $ 246.7 $ 304.3 $ 57.6  23.3%
Public Safety & Security Segment   39.5  30.2  (9.3)  (23.5)%
           

 Total revenues  $ 286.2 $ 334.5 $ 48.3  16.9%
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        Cost of revenues.    Cost of revenues increased $37.2 million or 16.3% from $228.0 million for the year ended December 28, 2008 to $265.2 million for the
year ended December 27, 2009 primarily due to the increase in total revenues. The increase was primarily attributable to cost of revenues of approximately
$74.5 million related to the DFI and SYS acquisitions, partially offset by reduced costs related to the reductions in revenues described above. Gross margin during
the year ended December 27, 2009 of 20.7% increased slightly from a 2008 gross margin of 20.3%.

        Selling, general and administrative expenses.    Selling, general and administrative expenses ("SG&A") increased 8.0% from $48.9 million to $52.8 million
for the years ended December 28, 2008 and December 27, 2009, respectively. The increase of $3.9 million was partially due to an increase in costs of $7.3 million
from the acquisitions of DFI and SYS, offset by a decrease in corporate and other expenses in our commercial divisions due to the implementation of cost
reduction initiatives. Included in the selling, general and administrative expenses for 2008 and 2009 are amortization of purchased intangibles of $4.9 million and
$5.7 million, respectively. The increase in amortization year over year was primarily a result of the DFI and SYS acquisitions. As a percentage of revenues,
selling, general and administrative expenses decreased from 17.1% in 2008 to 15.8% in 2009. Excluding the impact of the amortization of purchased intangibles,
SG&A expenses decreased from 15.4% to 14.1% of revenues for 2008 and 2009, respectively, reflecting the leverage on increased revenues and the
implementation of cost reduction initiatives.

        Research and development expenses.    Research and development expenses increased from $0.9 million for the year ended December 28, 2008 to
$1.8 million for the year ended December 27, 2009 as a result of R&D expenses incurred by DFI and SYS which were acquired on December 24, 2008 and
June 28, 2008, respectively.

        Recovery of unauthorized issuance of stock options, stock option investigation and related fees and litigation settlement.    In 2008, we recovered
$4.5 million, through insurance reimbursements, of costs and losses related to the stock option investigation in 2007. In September 2009, we reached an
agreement with the plaintiffs to settle the outstanding 2004 and 2007 derivative lawsuits. The benefit in 2009 of $0.2 million is a result of the reduction in our
estimated accrual related to this litigation, offset by expenses related to government inquiries by the DOJ, which was completed in 2009, related to our historical
stock option granting practices.

        Impairment of goodwill.    In December 2008, we concluded that the decision to exit three businesses obtained with the SYS acquisition and included with
our KGS reporting segment met the criteria to be classified as held for sale and was a triggering event under Topic 350 that required a review of goodwill and
intangible assets with indefinite lives. Because the three business units were never integrated into the KGS reporting unit, and the benefits of the acquired
goodwill were never realized by the rest of the reporting unit, the goodwill of the disposed businesses was not adjusted based upon the relative fair values of the
businesses disposed and businesses retained.

        Because of the timing of the disposals mentioned above, the required impairment test of the KGS goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives was
included with our required annual impairment test of goodwill. The annual impairment test for goodwill was performed using a discounted cash flow ("DCF")
analysis supported by comparative market multiples to determine the fair values of our segments versus their book values. The test as of December 28, 2008,
indicated that the book values for the KGS segment, excluding DFI (which was purchased on December 24, 2008), exceeded the fair values of these businesses
and resulted in our recording a non-cash charge totaling $105.8 million in our KGS segment for the impairment of goodwill.

        The impairment charge is primarily driven by adverse equity market conditions that caused a decrease in market multiples and our average stock price as of
December 28, 2008, compared with the impairment test performed as of December 31, 2007. In our analysis, we use the income approach and
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validate its reasonableness by considering our market capitalization based upon an average of our stock price for a period prior to and subsequent to the date we
perform our analysis. The average market price of our stock as of December 28, 2008 was $12.90 which equates to a 45% drop in our average stock price and
corresponding market capitalization from December 31, 2007 which had an average stock price of $23.50. We reconcile the fair value of our reporting units
which is calculated using the income approach to our market capitalization. As a result of this reconciliation, it was noted that investors were requiring a higher
rate of return, and therefore, our discount factor which is based upon an estimated market participant WACC increased 250 basis points from 11.5% in our year
end impairment test in 2007 compared to 14% in our year end impairment test in 2008. This change was the key factor contributing to the $105.8 million
impairment charge that we recorded in the fourth quarter of 2008.

        During the first quarter of 2009, we determined that a triggering event had occurred in accordance with Topic 350. This resulted in an impairment charge of
$41.3 million during the first quarter of 2009. The impairment charge was primarily driven by adverse equity market conditions that caused a decrease in market
multiples and our average stock price as of February 28, 2009, compared with the impairment test performed as of December 28, 2008. In our analysis, we use the
income approach and validate its reasonableness by considering our market capitalization based upon an average of our stock price for a period prior to and
subsequent to the date we performed our analysis. The average market price of our stock as of February 28, 2009 was $7.80 which equates to a 39% drop in our
average stock price and corresponding market capitalization from December 28, 2008 which had an average stock price of $12.90. We reconcile the fair value of
our reporting units which is calculated using the income approach to our market capitalization. As a result of this reconciliation, it was noted that investors were
requiring a higher rate of return, and therefore, our discount factor which is based upon an estimated market participant WACC increased 300 basis points from
14% in our year end impairment test in 2008 as compared to 17% in our 2009 first quarter interim impairment test. This change was the key factor contributing to
the $41.3 million goodwill impairment charge that we recorded in the first quarter of 2009.

        Our forecasts of growth rates and operating margins had not changed as of February 28, 2009 as compared to the forecasts which were used as of
December 28, 2008. Our historical growth rates and operating results are not indicative of our future growth rates and operating results as a consequence of our
transformation from a commercial wireless service provider to a U.S. government defense contractor. The decline in revenues, which was expected by us, is
primarily due to the impact of the conversion of our work as a prime contractor under certain legacy small business awards to that of a subcontractor. This change
resulted in an award of an overall smaller portion of the entire project as the contracts were recompeted and the original term of the small business contracts were
completed. The conversion of work as a prime to a subcontractor related to legacy small business contracts awarded to acquired companies is not uncommon in
the government defense contractor industry for companies that have been acquisitive. Certain of the contract awards that were legacy small business awards to
businesses which we acquired may result in a reduction of revenues when the contracts are completed and recompeted and awarded to us as a subcontractor rather
than as a prime contractor. We believe that the expected impact to our revenues will not be material related to this conversion. Our projected growth rates take
into consideration this anticipated impact on small business awards.

        Our contracts are long-term in nature and are supported by significant backlog. Because our contracts are of a long-term nature, a majority of our receivables
are with agencies within the U. S. government or we are a subcontractor to a customer whose receivables are with the agencies within the U.S. government, we
are not subject to significant short-term changes in operating cash flow. Moreover, because of the nature of our current business, we do not have significant
capital expenditure requirements. In addition, we did not assume a recovery of the global or national economy in our cash flow projections in our analysis as of
December 28, 2008 or in our analysis as of February 28, 2009. The charge does not impact our normal business operations.
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        Impairment and adjustments to the liability for unused office space.    The expense of $0.3 million for the year ended December 28, 2008 was a result of a
change in estimate of our excess facility accrual for obligations under facility leases and a write-off of fees related to the withdrawal of our previously filed S-3
and S-4 registration statements, which were no longer useable as a result of a change in regulations. The expense of $0.6 million for the year ended December 27,
2009, was a result of a change in our excess facility accrual due to the consolidation of space at our corporate headquarters following the sale of the SYS
commercial businesses and a cancellation of a sublease of one of our tenants due to financial difficulties.

        Other expense, net.    For the year ended December 28, 2008, net other expense was $11.5 million compared to net other expense of $10.3 million for the
year ended December 27, 2009. The decrease in expense of $1.2 million for the year ended December 27, 2009 as compared to the year ended December 28,
2008 was primarily driven by a decrease in other expense of $1.6 million as a result of the non-cash charge to mark the derivative related to our credit facility to
market. This decrease in other expense was partially offset by an increase in interest expense of $0.7 million related to the acceleration of the amortization of
deferred financing costs due to a $17.5 million early extinguishment of the first lien term loan in October 2009. For additional information regarding this
extinguishment of debt, see Note 5 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

        Provision (benefit) for income taxes.    Our effective income tax rate for the year ended December 27, 2009 represented a negative 3% income tax provision
compared to a positive 1% income tax benefit for the year ended December 28, 2008. The tax provision for the year ended December 27, 2009 was primarily
related to current state income taxes of $1.0 million. The tax benefit of $0.7 million for the year ended December 28, 2008 was comprised of current state income
taxes of $1.3 million offset by a benefit of $2.0 million related to a reduction in deferred tax liabilities as a result of the goodwill impairment charge.

        Loss from discontinued operations.    Loss from discontinued operations decreased from a loss of $7.1 million for the year ended December 28, 2008 to a
loss of $3.2 million for the year ended December 27, 2009.

        In December 2008, we made the decision to exit three of our acquired SYS businesses that were not core to our stated strategy and that had been dilutive to
our profitability. The businesses divested or exited provided interactive video surveillance and information analysis products, digital broadcasting products and
incident response management systems. These actions were taken as part of our ongoing integration efforts of recently acquired companies and cost reduction
initiatives. In 2008, $4.5 million of the loss is related to asset impairments including goodwill. In 2009, $2.0 million of the loss was related to the impairment of
assets of the Southeast Division of PSS which reflected management's estimate of the fair value of the business.

        On June 24, 2009, as a result of the continued operating losses in the Southeast Division of our PSS segment, the board of directors approved a plan to sell
and dispose of the Southeast Division. In accordance with Topic 205, this business unit was classified as held for sale and reported in discontinued operations in
the accompanying consolidated financial statements. We recorded a $2.0 million impairment charge in the second quarter of 2009 related to management's
estimate of the fair value of the business. We continued to operate the Southeast Division while simultaneously seeking a buyer. The negative cash flow from
discontinued operations was primarily a result of this division's continuing business activities.

53



Table of Contents

        The following table presents the results of discontinued operations (in millions):

        See Note 9 to the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for a further discussion of discontinued operations.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

        As of December 26, 2010, we had consolidated cash and cash equivalents of $10.8 million, consolidated long-term and short-term debt, including capital
lease obligations, of $226.7 million, and consolidated stockholders' equity of $169.9 million. Our principal sources of liquidity are cash flows from operations and
borrowings under our credit facility. Our operating cash flow is used to finance trade accounts receivable, fund capital expenditures, our ongoing operations,
litigation and government inquiries, service our debt and make strategic acquisitions. Financing trade accounts receivable is necessary because, on average, our
customers do not pay us as quickly as we pay our vendors and employees for their goods and services. Cash from continuing operations is primarily derived from
our customer contracts in progress and associated changes in working capital components.

Cash provided by (used in) operating activities

        A summary of our net cash provided by (used in) operating activities from continuing operations from our consolidated statement of cash flows is as follows
(in millions):

        Cash provided by operating activities in 2010 includes $3.1 million in transaction costs paid related to our acquisitions in 2010. Our interest costs paid in
2010 were $15.4 million or an increase in interest costs paid of $7.7 million over the $7.7 million paid in 2009 due to the $225 million in 10% Senior Secured
Notes we issued on May 29, 2010 to fund our acquisition of Gichner. Cash provided by operating activities from continuing operations for 2009 increased by
$30.7 million from 2008 as a result of increased collections and a reduction in payments related to legal liabilities of $10.3 million. Days sales outstanding
decreased from 107 days (excluding the revenue and receivables of DFI) in 2008 to 95 days in 2009 to 76 days (excluding the revenue and accounts receivables
of HBE and Southside) in 2010. In 2008, we made payments of $4.8 million to fund a securities litigation settlement and approximately $5.5 million related to
our internal stock option investigation which was completed in 2007.
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  Year Ended  

  
December 28,

2008  
December 27,

2009  
Revenue  $ 13.1 $ 5.9 
Loss before taxes   (8.4)  (3.8)
Benefit for income taxes   (1.3)  (0.6)
Net loss  $ (7.1) $ (3.2)

  Year Ended  

  
December 28,

2008  
December 27,

2009  
December 26,

2010  
Net cash provided by (used in) operating

activities from continuing operations  $ (4.5) $ 26.2 $ 28.3 



Table of Contents

Cash used in investing activities

        Cash used in investing activities from continuing operations are summarized as follows (in millions):

        Cash paid for acquisitions and contingent acquisition consideration accounted for the most significant outlays for investing activities in the years 2008, 2009
and 2010 as a result of the implementation of our strategy to diversify our business while focusing on our core competencies. In 2010, we acquired four
companies in cash for equity transactions. On May 19, 2010, we acquired Gichner for $132.9 million, net of cash acquired of $0.1 million. On August 9, 2010, we
acquired DEI for $9.0 million, net of cash acquired of $0.0 million. We also paid $0.4 million in September 2010 related to contingent consideration for the DEI
acquisition as a result of a collection milestone that was achieved. Subsequent to December 26, 2010, there is a potential for an additional $8.0 million cash
payment to the selling shareholders of DEI conditioned upon the achievement by DEI of certain future performance goals and cash collection goals for 2011 and
2012. The contingent consideration will be reduced in the event certain anticipated cash receipts are not collected within agreed upon periods, which could
decrease the future payments by approximately $6.0 million. On December 7, 2010, we acquired Southside for $11.8 million in cash, net of cash acquired of
$0.4 million with the potential for an additional $3.5 million cash payment to the selling shareholders conditioned upon the achievement by Southside of certain
future performance goals and a holdback of $0.3 million, which was withheld for indemnification obligations. On December 15, 2010, we purchased HBE for
$52.9 million, net of cash acquired of $2.0 million.

        During the year ended December 27, 2009, we made $3.6 million in payments related to the final holdback payments for our Madison Research Corporation
("MRC") and Haverstick acquisitions and $1.1 million in payments related to transaction costs associated with the DFI acquisition. In addition, during 2009 we
made the final payment to Platinum Equity of $2.8 million related to the working capital adjustment.

        In 2008, our acquisitions were primarily funded with the issuance of stock; consequently the cash paid for acquisitions in 2008 relates to transaction costs
paid for Haverstick, SYS and DFI, less cash acquired from DFI and SYS of $6.3 million. In 2008, we also received $2.4 million in final payment of the note
related to the working capital adjustment for the sale of our domestic wireless engineering business to LCC International, Inc. which was offset by payments of
$2.5 million to Platinum Equity for the working capital adjustment related to the sale of our domestic wireless deployment business.

        Capital expenditures consist primarily of investment in machinery, computer hardware and software, and improvement of our physical properties in order to
maintain suitable conditions to conduct our business.
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  Year Ended  

  
December 28,

2008  
December 27,

2009  
December 26,

2010  
Investing activities:           
 Sale/maturity of short-term investments  $ 0.3 $ — $ — 
 Cash paid for contingent acquisition consideration   —  (3.6)  (0.4)
 Cash paid for acquisitions, net of cash acquired   (1.2)  (1.1)  (206.5)
 Proceeds/(payments) from the disposition of discontinued operations   (0.2)  (2.4)  0.1 
 Cash transferred (to) from restricted cash   (0.4)  —  (0.1)
 Capital expenditures   (0.8)  (0.4)  (2.3)
        

  Net cash used in investing activities from continuing operations  $ (2.3) $ (7.5) $ (209.2)
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Cash provided by (used in) financing activities

        Cash provided by (used in) financing activities from continuing operations are summarized as follows (in millions):

        During the year ended December 26, 2010, cash provided by financing activities was primarily related to the proceeds from the offering of 10% Senior
Secured Notes in the aggregate amount of $225.0 million on May 19, 2010. The proceeds were primarily used to finance the acquisitions of Gichner and DEI, as
well as, refinance our senior secured credit facility with KeyBank National Association ("KeyBank") and Bank of America, N.A.

        On October 12, 2010, we sold approximately 2.5 million shares of our common stock at a purchase price of $10.20 per share in an underwritten public
offering. We received gross proceeds of approximately $25.8 million. After deducting underwriting fees and other offering expenses, we received approximately
$24.7 million in net proceeds. We used the net proceeds from this transaction to fund the purchase price for the acquisition of HBE.

        On September 2, 2009, we completed the sale of 2.6 million shares of common stock at $7.20 per share in a registered direct public offering. The offering
provided gross proceeds of $18.7 million and net proceeds of $17.5 million. As a result of a settlement agreement we executed with certain lenders under our
$85 million credit facility (described below), on October 16, 2009, we made a payment of $17.5 million on the first lien term loan at par with no prepayment
penalty or make whole payment. On October 16, 2009, we also paid $0.5 million in fees to the lenders as a result of an amendment to the credit agreement
entered into in connection with the settlement agreement. See Note 5 to the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for a further discussion of the
Settlement Agreement and Third Amendment to the $85 million credit facility.

        During 2008, we utilized the $85 million credit facility to fund acquisition costs associated with the acquisitions of SYS and DFI.

        Cash used in discontinued operations are summarized as follows (in millions):
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  Year Ended  

  
December 28,

2008  
December 27,

2009  
December 26,

2010  
Financing activities:           
 Proceeds from issuance of common stock, net of issuance costs  $ — $ 17.5 $ 24.7 

 

Proceeds from exercise of restricted stock units, employee stock options, and
employee stock purchase plan   0.2  0.6  1.7 

 Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt   —  —  225.0 
 Payments of subordinated debt   —  (2.1)  (0.5)
 Borrowings under credit facility   7.9  22.5  61.9 
 Repayments under credit facility   (4.6)  (46.9)  (119.6)
 Repayment of capital lease obligations   (0.2)  (0.2)  (0.3)
 Debt issuance costs   (0.5)  (0.5)  (11.0)
        

  

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities from continuing
operations  $ 2.8 $ (9.1) $ 181.9 

  
 
 

 
 

 
 

  Year Ended  

  
December 28,

2008  
December 27,

2009  
December 26,

2010  
Operating cash flows  $ (1.2) $ (3.4) $ (0.1)
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Cash used in discontinued operations

        Operating cash flows used by discontinued operations are primarily due to the Southeast Division.

        In order to fund our acquisitions in 2010, we have issued equity as discussed above and increased our leverage through a series of financing transactions.

$225 Million May 2010 10% Senior Secured Note Offering

        On May 19, 2010, we issued the Original Notes in an unregistered offering pursuant to Rule 144A and Regulation S under the Securities Act. On August 11,
2010, we completed an exchange offer for the Original Notes pursuant to a registration rights agreement entered into in connection with the issuance of the
Original Notes. In the exchange offer, we offered to exchange the Original Notes for a like aggregate amount of 10% Senior Secured Notes due June 1, 2017
registered under the Securities Act. The Exchange Notes have substantially similar terms as the Original Notes, except that the Exchange Notes do not have
transfer restrictions or registration rights. The Exchange Notes are fully and unconditionally guaranteed, jointly and severally, on a senior secured basis by us and
each of our subsidiaries, as the guarantors thereof. We pay interest on the Exchange Notes semi-annually, in arrears, on June 1 and December 1 of each year,
which began on December 1, 2010.

        The Exchange Notes are secured by a lien on substantially all of our assets and the assets of the guarantors thereunder, subject to certain exceptions and
permitted liens. The holders of the Exchange Notes have a first priority lien on substantially all of our assets and the guarantors, except accounts receivable,
inventories, deposit accounts, securities accounts, cash, securities and general intangibles (other than intellectual property) where the holders of the Exchange
Notes have a second priority lien to the $35.0 million credit facility described below.

        The Exchange Notes include customary covenants and events of default as well as a consolidated fixed charge ratio of 2.0 for the incurrence of additional
indebtedness. Negative covenants include, among other things, limitations on additional debt, liens, negative pledges, investments, dividends, stock repurchases,
asset sales and affiliate transactions. Events of default include, among other events, non-performance of covenants, breach of representations, cross-default to
other material debt, bankruptcy, insolvency, material judgments and changes in control. As of December 26, 2010, we were in compliance with the covenants
contained in the Exchange Notes.

        On or after June 1, 2014, we may redeem some or all of the Exchange Notes at 105% of the aggregate principal amount of such notes through June 1, 2015,
102.5% of the aggregate principal amount of such notes through June 1, 2016 and 100% of the aggregate principal amount of such notes thereafter, plus accrued
and unpaid interest to the date of redemption. Prior to June 1, 2013, we may redeem up to 35% of the aggregate principal amount of the Exchange Notes at 110%
of the aggregate principal amount of the Exchange Notes, plus accrued and unpaid interest to the redemption date, with the net cash proceeds of certain equity
offerings. In addition, we may, at our option, redeem some or all of the Exchange Notes at any time prior to June 1, 2014, by paying a "make whole" premium,
plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to the date of redemption.

$35 Million Credit Facility

        Concurrent with the completion of the offering of the Original Notes, on May 19, 2010, we entered into a Credit and Security Agreement (the "Credit
Agreement") with certain lenders and with KeyBank, as administrative agent, lead arranger and sole book runner, for a four year senior secured revolving credit
facility in the amount of $25.0 million (the "Revolver"). The Revolver is secured by a lien on substantially all of our assets and the assets of the guarantors
thereunder, subject to certain exceptions and permitted liens. The Revolver has a first priority lien on accounts receivable, inventories, deposit accounts, securities
accounts, cash, securities and general intangibles (other than
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intellectual property). On all other assets, the Revolver has a second priority lien to the Exchange Notes.

        The Revolver is available for four years and may be increased to $45.0 million. Any increase in the Revolver is subject to the consent of KeyBank and
compliance with covenants in the Exchange Notes. The amounts of borrowings that may be made under the Revolver are based on a borrowing base and are
comprised of specified percentages of eligible receivables, eligible unbilled receivables and eligible inventory. If the amount of borrowings outstanding under the
Revolver exceeds the borrowing base then in effect, we are required to repay such borrowings in an amount sufficient to eliminate such excess. The Revolver
includes $10.0 million of availability for letters of credit and $5.0 million of availability for swingline loans.

        We may borrow funds under the Revolver at a base rate based either on LIBOR or a base rate established by KeyBank. Base rate borrowings bear interest at
an applicable margin of 1.25% to 2.0% over the base rate (which will be the greater of the prime rate or 0.5% over the federal funds rate, with a floor of 1.0%
over one month LIBOR). LIBOR rate borrowings will bear interest at an applicable margin of 3.25% to 4.0% over the LIBOR rate. The applicable margin for
base rate borrowings and LIBOR borrowings will depend on the average monthly revolving credit availability. The Revolver also has a commitment fee of 0.75%
to 1.0%, depending on the average monthly revolving credit availability.

        Borrowings under the Revolver are subject to mandatory prepayment upon the occurrence of certain events, including the issuance of certain securities, the
incurrence of certain debt and the sale or other disposition of certain assets. The Revolver includes customary affirmative and negative covenants and events of
default, as well as a financial covenant relating to a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio of 1.25. Negative covenants include, among other limitations,
limitations on additional debt, liens, negative pledges, investments, dividends, stock repurchases, asset sales and affiliate transactions. Events of default include,
among other events, non-performance of covenants, breach of representations, cross-default to other material debt, bankruptcy and insolvency, material judgments
and changes in control.

        On December 13, 2010, we entered into a First Amendment Agreement (the "Amendment Agreement"), with certain lenders and with KeyBank, as
administrative agent, lead arranger and sole book runner, which amended the Credit Agreement. Among other things, the Amendment Agreement: (i) increased
the amount of the senior secured revolving line of credit from $25 million to $35 million; (ii) modified the definitions of certain terms contained in the Credit
Agreement; (iii) amended certain borrowing covenants under the Credit Agreement to (a) increase the acceptable amount of additional Indebtedness (as defined in
the Credit Agreement) attributable to Senior Notes, unsecured Subordinated Indebtedness (both as defined in the Credit Agreement) and other unsecured
Indebtedness from $25 million to $100 million and (b) exempt certain performance based contingent obligations related to prior acquisitions from the borrowing
restrictions; and (iv) updated certain schedules to the Credit Agreement. As of December 26, 2010, there were no outstanding borrowings on the Revolver and
$2.4 million was outstanding on letters of credit resulting in net availability of $32.6 million. As of December 26, 2010, we were in compliance with the
covenants contained in the Revolver.

$60 Million Credit Facility

        Prior to May 19, 2010, we had a revolving credit facility with KeyBank, as administrative agent and lender, in the aggregate principal amount of
$60.0 million, which was secured by our assets and the assets of our subsidiaries. This Second Credit Facility was entered into on March 3, 2010 and was
comprised of a (i) $35.0 million term loan facility and (ii) $25.0 million revolving line of credit. Bank of America, N.A., was syndication agent and lender, and
KeyBanc Capital Markets and Banc of America
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Securities LLC, acted as co-lead arrangers and book runners. All rates were subject to a LIBOR floor of 2.75% and a "prime rate" floor of 5.25%. On May 19,
2010, the outstanding balance of $54.5 million was paid in full. As a result of the refinance, we recorded an interest charge of approximately $1.7 million in the
second quarter of 2010 relating to the write-off of previously deferred financing costs.

$85 Million Credit Facility

        During the fiscal years ended December 28, 2008 and December 27, 2009, we had a credit facility of $85.0 million with KeyBank, as administrative agent.
This First Credit Facility provided for (i) two term loans consisting of a first lien term note of $50.0 million and a second lien term note of $10.0 million and (ii) a
first lien $25.0 million revolving line of credit. The First Credit Facility was secured by our assets and the assets of our subsidiaries. KeyBank held the revolving
line of credit and the second lien term note. Field Point III, Ltd. and SPF CDO I, Ltd., both affiliates of Silverpoint, held the first lien term note.

        On March 3, 2010, the outstanding balance of $55.4 million was paid in full as a result of the refinance described above. Approximately $25.0 million of the
proceeds were used to pay in full the remaining balance on the first lien term loan under the First Credit Facility held by Silverpoint, at par, with no prepayment
penalties, pursuant to the Settlement Agreement that we entered into with Silverpoint in October 2009. As a result of the refinance, we recorded an interest charge
of approximately $2.2 million in the first quarter of 2010 relating to the write-off of previously deferred financing costs.

Notes Acquired in Acquisition of SYS

        During 2010, convertible notes of approximately $1.0 million which were acquired as a result of the SYS acquisition were paid in full. In August of 2010,
we paid-off approximately $0.5 million of the notes plus accrued interest in cash. Holders of approximately $0.5 million of the notes elected to have their notes
converted into approximately 45,000 shares of our common stock.

Payments in Connection with Acquisitions and Divestitures

        In connection with our business acquisitions, we have agreed to make additional future payments to sellers based on final purchase price adjustments and the
expiration of certain indemnification obligations. Pursuant to the provisions of Topic 805, such amounts are recorded at fair value on the acquisition date.

        The DEI Agreement provides that upon achievement of certain cash receipts, revenue, earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, and amortization
("EBITDA") and backlog amounts in 2010, 2011 and 2012, we shall pay the former stockholders of DEI certain additional contingent consideration. We have
paid $0.4 million related to contingent consideration and the potential amount of contingent consideration that may be payable by us in the future under the DEI
Agreement is between zero and $8.0 million. The contingent consideration will be reduced in the event certain anticipated cash receipts are not collected within
agreed upon time periods. As of December 26, 2010, $2.6 million of these cash receipts have been collected and future payments could be reduced by
approximately $6.0 million if the final cash receipt is not collected.

        The SCT Agreement provides that upon achievement of certain EBITDA amounts in 2011, 2012 and 2013, we shall pay the former stockholders of SCT
certain additional performance-based consideration. The potential undiscounted amount of all future contingent consideration that may be payable by us under the
SCT Agreement is between zero and $3.5 million.
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        There were no contingent liabilities associated with the acquisition of HBE other than contingent liabilities of $0.4 million associated with HBE's acquisition
of Professional Security Technologies LLC ("PST") in September, 2010. The agreement with PST provides that the former shareholders of PST receive a 5%
payment for achievement of revenue amounts from certain customers for the period from June 1, 2010 through December 31, 2012.

        In 2009, we paid approximately $3.6 million for the final cash holdback amounts subject to indemnity rights due to MRC and Haverstick. As of
December 27, 2009, all obligations related to purchase price holdbacks and indemnification obligations have been paid in full. In July 2007, we sold our
deployment services business of our Wireless Network Services segment to Platinum Equity. On July 16, 2008, we came to an agreement with Platinum Equity
on a working capital adjustment of $5.0 million. In connection with that resolution, the earn-out arrangement provided for in the definitive agreement was
terminated. The adjustment was to be paid in installments with the first amount of $2.5 million due on July 31, 2008 and payments of $0.5 million due monthly
thereafter until paid in full in December 2008. We did not make the scheduled $2.5 million payment due as of July 31, 2008. Payments of $1.0 million were made
in August and September of 2008, with an additional $0.5 million paid in December 2008. In March of 2009, we paid another $1.5 million and on August 4,
2009, we paid $1.3 million in full settlement of all amounts due to Platinum Equity.

Pending Acquisition of Herley

        On February 7, 2011, we entered into the Merger Agreement to acquire Herley, through a tender offer by one of our indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries for
all of Herley's outstanding common stock and a subsequent merger between such subsidiary and Herley. Herley is a leading provider of microwave technologies
for use in command and control systems, flight instrumentation, weapons sensors, radar, communication systems, and electronic warfare systems. Herley has
served the defense industry since 1965 by designing and manufacturing microwave devices for use in high-technology defense electronics applications. Herley's
products represent key components in the national security efforts of the U.S., as they are employed in mission-critical electronic warfare, electronic attack,
electronic warfare threat and radar simulation, command and control network, and cyber warfare/cybersecurity applications.

        The boards of directors of Kratos and Herley have approved the Merger Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereby. On February 25, 2011 and
pursuant to the terms of the Merger Agreement, Merger Sub commenced a tender offer ("Offer") to purchase all issued and outstanding shares of Herley Common
Stock, at a price of $19.00 per share in cash, without any interest thereon. The Offer will remain open for 20 business days, subject to periods of extension
through June 30, 2011 if the conditions to the Offer have not been satisfied at the end of any Offer period (subject to the parties' termination rights under the
Merger Agreement).

        The consummation of the Offer is subject to customary closing conditions, including, among other things, the expiration of all applicable waiting periods
under the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, as amended, and, subject to the terms of the Merger Agreement, any other applicable
competition laws and the valid tender of shares of Herley Common Stock representing at least a majority of the total outstanding shares of Herley Common
Stock, calculated on a fully diluted basis, and other offer conditions set forth in Annex A to the Merger Agreement.

        Upon completion of the Offer, and subject to the satisfaction or waiver of the conditions set forth in the Merger Agreement, Merger Sub will be merged with
and into Herley, with Herley surviving as a wholly-owned subsidiary of Kratos. At the effective time of the Merger (the "Effective Time"), each outstanding share
of Herley Common Stock, other than shares of Herley Common Stock owned by Merger Sub, Kratos or any of its subsidiaries or Herley or any of its subsidiaries
immediately prior to the Effective Time, or by stockholders who have validly exercised their appraisal rights under Delaware
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law, will be canceled and converted into the right to receive an amount in cash equal to the Offer Price payable to the holder thereof, on the terms and subject to
the conditions set forth in the Merger Agreement. In addition, at the Effective Time, (i) at the election of the holder thereof, each in-the-money option to purchase
Herley Common Stock will be canceled and exchanged for a cash payment equal to: (a) the excess, if any, of the Offer Price over the per share exercise price of
such in-the-money option, multiplied by (b) the number of shares subject to such in-the-money option; (ii) all other options to purchase Herley Common Stock
shall be assumed by us and shall thereafter represent an option to purchase a number of shares of Kratos common stock, with such number of shares of Kratos
common stock subject to and the exercise price applicable to such option being appropriately adjusted based on an exchange ratio equal to the fraction obtained
by dividing the Offer Price by the average closing sales price for one share of Kratos common stock on the NASDAQ Global Select Market for the ten
(10) trading-day period ending on the first business day immediately preceding the date of the Merger Agreement; and (iii) each restricted stock award granted
under any compensation plan or arrangement of Herley and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time shall be cancelled at the Effective Time in
exchange for the merger consideration payable in respect of such stock.

        The closing of the Merger is subject to, among other conditions, the adoption of the Merger Agreement by holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of
Herley Common Stock, if required by applicable law. However, the Merger Agreement also provides that, subject to certain conditions and limitations, Merger
Sub will have an irrevocable option (the "Top-Up Option"), exercisable after the completion of the Offer, to acquire a number of shares of Herley Common Stock
equal to the lesser of (i) the lowest number of shares that, when added to the number of shares of Herley Common Stock owned by us or Merger Sub at the time
of the exercise of the Top-Up Option, will constitute one share more than 90% of the number of shares of Herley Common Stock that will be outstanding after
giving effect to the exercise of the Top-Up Option, at a price per share equal to the Offer Price, and (ii) the aggregate number of shares held as treasury shares by
Herley and the number of additional shares that Herley is authorized to issue under its certificate of incorporation. The Top-Up Option is intended to expedite the
timing of the completion of the Merger by permitting the Merger to occur without a meeting of the Herley stockholders pursuant to the "short-form merger"
provisions of the Delaware General Corporation Law.

        Kratos, Herley and Merger Sub have made customary representations, warranties and covenants in the Merger Agreement. Herley's covenants include,
among other things, covenants regarding the operation of the business prior to the closing and covenants prohibiting Herley from soliciting, providing information
to third parties in connection with or entering into discussions concerning, proposals relating to alternative business combination transactions, except in limited
circumstances relating to unsolicited proposals that would reasonably constitute, or would reasonably be expected to lead to, a proposal superior to the
transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement.

        The Merger Agreement contains certain termination rights for each of Herley and Kratos. In addition, upon the termination of the Merger Agreement under
specified circumstances, Herley will be required to pay Kratos a termination fee in an amount equal to $9.4 million.

Underwritten Public Offering

        On February 11, 2011, we sold approximately 4.9 million shares of our common stock at a purchase price of $13.25 per share in an underwritten public
offering (the "2011 Offering"). We received gross proceeds of approximately $64.8 million. After deducting underwriting and other offering expenses, we
received approximately $61.1 million in net proceeds. We expect to use the net proceeds from this transaction to partially fund the purchase price for the
acquisition of Herley. To the extent that the net proceeds are not applied to the acquisition of Herley, we intend to use the proceeds for
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general corporate purposes, including funding of potential strategic acquisitions and other general corporate purposes.

Financing Transactions

        We estimate our cash requirements in connection with the acquisition of Herley to be approximately $316 million. On February 7, 2011, in connection with
the Offer, we entered into a commitment letter (the "Commitment Letter") with Jefferies Group, Inc., Key Capital Corporation and OPY Credit Corp.
(collectively, the "Committing Parties"), pursuant to which the Committing Parties have committed to provide debt financing of up to an aggregate of
$307.5 million for the Offer. The amount of the commitment is subject to reduction by the amount of net proceeds that was raised in the 2011 Offering; provided
that the maximum amount of such reduction shall not exceed $40 million. The commitment of the Committing Parties under the Commitment Letter is subject to
customary conditions, including the absence of any material adverse effect on the financial condition of Herley or our ability to consummate the transactions
described in the Commitment Letter. We intend to commence a private offering to eligible purchasers, subject to market and other conditions, of up to
$325 million in aggregate principal amount of senior secured notes due 2017 (the "New Notes").

        In connection with the offering of the New Notes, we have received the consent of the holders of a majority of our existing 10% Senior Secured Notes due
2017 (referred to elsewhere in this Annual Report as the Exchange Notes) and have entered into a supplemental indenture related to the Exchange Notes in which
such holders agreed to permit us to issue the New Notes in an aggregate principal amount not to exceed $325 million in connection with the acquisition of Herley
and for general corporate purposes irrespective of whether such New Notes may be issued in compliance with the minimum consolidated fixed charge coverage
ratio test contained in the limitation of incurrence of additional indebtedness covenant in the indenture governing the Exchange Notes. In addition, we have
entered into an amendment to the Credit Agreement with KeyBank pursuant to which KeyBank has agreed to waive any restrictions in the Credit Agreement with
respect to the acquisition of Herley and the issuance of the New Notes. Wilmington Trust FSB and KeyBank also entered into an amendment to the existing
intercreditor agreement to make certain changes to such agreement so as to permit the consummation of the acquisition of Herley.

Off Balance Sheet Arrangements

        We have no off-balance sheet arrangements as defined in Regulation S-K, Item 303(a)(4)(ii).

62



Table of Contents

Contractual Obligations and Commitments

        The following table summarizes our currently existing contractual obligations and other commitments at December 26, 2010, and the effect such obligations
could have on our liquidity and cash flow in future periods (in millions):

        On February 11, 2008, we entered into three derivative financial instruments with KeyBank to reduce our exposure to its variable interest rates on its
outstanding debt. These instruments initially hedged $70.0 million of its LIBOR-based floating rate debt with the amounts hedged decreasing over time. The
derivatives mature on March 31, 2011 and result in an average fixed rate of 3.16% for the term of the agreements. Initially, we designated these instruments as
cash flow hedges. In March 2008, as a result of the amendment to our credit facility, which included a LIBOR floor rate of 4.25%, we determined that these
instruments were no longer highly effective as a hedge. The net gain (loss) associated with the derivatives for the years ended December 28, 2008, December 27,
2009 and December 26, 2010 was a $1.7 million loss, a $0.1 million gain and a $1.0 million gain, respectively. Future gains and losses on these derivative
instruments will continue to be recognized in our Consolidated Statement of Operations.

        As of December 26, 2010 we have $2.4 million of standby letters of credit outstanding. Our letters of credit are related to our prior workers compensation
program, our performance bond program for work performed in the PSS segment and for our work overseas. Additional information regarding our financial
commitments at December 26, 2010 is provided in the notes to our consolidated financial statements. See "Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements", Note 15
for further details.
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  Payments due/forecast by Period  
  Total  2011  2012 - 2013  2014 - 2015  2016 and After  
Debt, net of interest(1)  $ 225.0 $ — $ — $ — $ 225.0 
Capital leases(4)   2.6  0.9  1.4  0.3  — 
Estimated interest on debt(2)   144.4  22.5  45.0  45.0  31.9 
Purchase orders(3)   46.2  33.2  13.0  —  — 
Operating leases(4)   26.3  6.0  6.9  4.3  9.1 
Unrecognized tax benefits, including interest and

penalties(5)   1.3  0.2  0.5  —  0.6 
            

 Total commitments and recorded liabilities  $ 445.8 $ 62.8 $ 66.8 $ 49.6 $ 266.6 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

(1) Our Senior Secured Notes of $225 million are due June 1, 2017. See "Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements" Note 5 for further
details. 

(2) Includes interest payments based on current interest rates for variable rate debt and fixed rate debt based upon our swap arrangements. See
"Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements" Note 5 for further details. 

(3) Purchase orders include commitments in which a written purchase order has been issued to a vendor, but the goods have not been received
or services have not been performed. 

(4) See "Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements" Note 6 for further details. 

(5) The obligations shown in the above table represent certain uncertain tax positions in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 740 Income Taxes
("Topic 740"). The years for which the uncertain tax positions will reverse have been estimated in scheduling the obligations in the table
above. See "Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements" Note 8 for further details.
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Other Liquidity Matters

        We intend to fund our cash requirements with cash flows from operating activities, and borrowings under our Revolver. We believe these sources should be
sufficient to meet our cash needs for at least the next 12 months. As discussed in Part II, Item 1A, "Risk Factors" section of this Annual Report, our quarterly and
annual operating results have fluctuated in the past and may vary in the future due to a variety of factors, many of which are external to our control. If the
conditions in our industry deteriorate, if the federal government extends the Continuing Resolution or there is a shut down by the government of all non essential
federal government services or our customers cancel or postpone projects or if we are unable to sufficiently increase our revenues or further reduce our expenses,
we may experience, in the future, a significant long-term negative impact to our financial results and cash flows from operations. In such a situation, we could fall
out of compliance with our financial and other covenants which, if not waived, could limit our liquidity and capital resources.

Critical Accounting Principles and Estimates

        We have identified the following critical accounting policies that affect our more significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our
consolidated financial statements. The preparation of our financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, stockholders' equity, revenues and expenses, and
related disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities. On a periodic basis, as deemed necessary, we evaluate our estimates, including those related to revenue
recognition, allowance for doubtful accounts, valuation of long-lived assets including identifiable intangibles and goodwill, accounting for income taxes including
the related valuation allowance, accruals for partial self-insurance, contingencies and litigation, contingent acquisition consideration and stock-based
compensation. We explain these accounting policies in the notes to the audited consolidated financial statements and at relevant sections in this discussion and
analysis. These estimates are based on the information that is currently available and on various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances. Actual results could vary from those estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

        Revenue recognition.    We generate almost all of our revenue from three different types of contractual arrangements: cost-plus-fee contracts, time-and-
materials contracts, and fixed-price contracts. Revenue on cost-plus-fee contracts is recognized to the extent of allowable costs incurred plus an estimate of the
applicable fees earned. We consider fixed fees under cost-plus-fee contracts to be earned in proportion to the allowable costs incurred in performance of the
contract. We recognize the relevant portion of the expected fee to be awarded by the customer at the time such fee can be reasonably estimated, based on factors
such as our prior award experience and communications with the customer regarding performance, including any interim performance evaluations rendered by
the customer. Revenue on time-and-material contracts is recognized to the extent of billable rates times hours delivered for services provided, to the extent of
material cost for products delivered to customers, and to the extent of expenses incurred on behalf of the customers.

        We have three basic categories of fixed price contracts: fixed unit price, fixed price level of effort, and fixed price completion. Revenue recognition methods
on fixed-price contracts will vary depending on the nature of the work and the contract terms. Revenues on fixed-price service contracts are recorded as work is
performed in accordance with Staff Accounting Bulletin 104 "Revenue Recognition" ("SAB 104"). SAB 104 generally requires revenue to be deferred until all of
the following have occurred: (1) there is a contract in place, (2) delivery has occurred, (3) the price is fixed or determinable, and (4) collectability is reasonably
assured. Revenues on fixed-price contracts that require delivery of specific items may be recorded based on a price per unit as units are delivered. Revenue for
fixed price contracts in which we are paid a specific amount to provide services for a stated period of time is recognized ratably over the service period.
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        A portion of our fixed price completion contracts are within the scope of Topic 605. For these contracts revenue is recognized using the percentage-of-
completion method based on the ratio of total costs incurred to date compared to estimated total costs to complete the contract. Estimates of costs to complete
include material, direct labor, overhead, and allowable indirect expenses for our government contracts. These cost estimates are reviewed and, if necessary,
revised monthly on a contract-by-contract basis. If, as a result of this review, we determine that a loss on a contract is probable, then the full amount of estimated
loss is charged to operations in the period it is determined that it is probable a loss will be realized from the full performance of the contract. In certain instances
in which it is impractical to estimate the final outcome of the project margin, but it is certain that we will not incur a loss on the project, we may record revenue
equal to cost incurred, at zero margin. In the event that our cost incurred to date may be in excess of our funded contract value, we may defer those costs until the
associated contract value has been funded by the customer. Once the final estimate of the outcome of the project margin is determined, we will record revenue
using the percentage-of-completion method of accounting based on the ratio of total costs incurred to date compared to the estimated total costs to complete the
project.

        In accounting for our long-term contracts for production of products provided to the federal government, we utilize both cost-to-cost and units produced
measures under the percentage-of-completion method of accounting under the provisions of Topic 605. Under the units produced measure of the percentage-of-
completion method of accounting, sales are recognized as the units are accepted by the customer generally using sales values for units in accordance with the
contract terms. We estimate profit as the difference between total estimated revenue and total estimated cost of a contract and recognizes that profit over the life
of the contract based on units produced or as computed on the basis of the estimated final average unit costs plus profit. We classify contract revenues as product
sales or service revenues depending upon the predominant attributes of the relevant underlying contracts. Significant management judgments and estimates,
including but not limited to the estimated costs to complete projects, must be made and used in connection with the revenue recognized in any accounting period.
A cancellation, schedule delay, or modification of a fixed-price contract which is accounted for using the percentage-of-completion method may adversely affect
our gross margins for the period in which the contract is modified or cancelled. Under certain circumstances, a cancellation or negative modification could result
in us having to reverse revenue that we recognized in a prior period, thus significantly reducing the amount of revenues we recognize for the period in which the
adjustment is made. Correspondingly, a positive modification may positively affect our gross margins. In addition, a schedule delay or modifications can result in
an increase in estimated cost to complete the project, which would also result in an impact to our gross margin. Material differences may result in the amount and
timing of our revenue for any period if management made different judgments or utilized different estimates.

        It is our policy to review any arrangement containing software or software deliverables and services against the criteria contained in FASB ASC Topic 985
Software ("Topic 985"), and related technical practice aids. Under the provisions of Topic 985, we review the contract value of software deliverables and services
and determine allocations of the contract value based on Vendor Specific Objective Evidence ("VSOE"). All software arrangements requiring significant
production, modification, or customization of the software are accounted for in conformity with Topic 605.

        Our contracts may include the provision of more than one of our services. In these situations, we apply the guidance of Topic 605. Accordingly, for
applicable arrangements, revenue recognition includes the proper identification of separate units of accounting and the allocation of revenue across all elements
based on relative fair values, with proper consideration given to the guidance provided by other authoritative literature.
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        Under certain of our contractual arrangements, we may also recognize revenue for out-of-pocket expenses in accordance with Topic 605. Depending on the
contractual arrangement, these expenses may be reimbursed with or without a fee.

        Under certain of our contracts, we provide supplier procurement services and materials for our customers. We record revenue on these arrangements on a
gross or net basis in accordance with Topic 605. Depending on the specific circumstances of the arrangement we consider the following criteria, among others, for
recording revenue on a gross or net basis:

(1) Whether we act as a principal in the transaction; 

(2) Whether we take title to the products; 

(3) Whether we assume risks and rewards of ownership, such as risk of loss for collection, delivery or returns; 

(4) Whether we serve as an agent or broker, with compensation on a commission or fee basis; and 

(5) Whether we assume the credit risk for the amount billed to the customer subsequent to delivery.

        For our federal contracts, we follow U.S. government procurement and accounting standards in assessing the allowability and the allocability of costs to
contracts. Due to the significance of the judgments and estimation processes, it is likely that materially different amounts could be recorded if we used different
assumptions or if the underlying circumstances were to change. We closely monitor compliance with, and the consistent application of, our critical accounting
policies related to contract accounting. Business operations personnel conduct periodic contract status and performance reviews. When adjustments in estimated
contract revenues or costs are required, any significant changes from prior estimates are included in earnings in the current period. Also, regular and recurring
evaluations of contract cost, scheduling and technical matters are performed by management personnel who are independent from the business operations
personnel performing work under the contract. Costs incurred and allocated to contracts with the U.S. government are scrutinized for compliance with regulatory
standards by our personnel, and are subject to audit by the DCAA.

        From time to time, we may proceed with work based on client direction prior to the completion and signing of formal contract documents. We have a formal
review process for approving any such work. Revenue associated with such work is recognized only when it can be reliably estimated and realization is probable.
We base our estimates on previous experiences with the client, communications with the client regarding funding status, and our knowledge of available funding
for the contract or program.

        Allowance for doubtful accounts.    We maintain an allowance for doubtful accounts for estimated losses resulting from the potential inability of certain
customers to make required future payments on amounts due to us. Management determines the adequacy of this allowance by periodically evaluating the aging
and past due nature of individual customer accounts receivable balances and considering the customer's current financial situation as well as the existing industry
economic conditions and other relevant factors that would be useful towards assessing the risk of collectability. If the future financial condition of our customers
were to deteriorate, resulting in their inability to make specific required payments, additions to the allowance for doubtful accounts may be required. In addition,
if the financial condition of our customers improves and collections of amounts outstanding commence or are reasonably assured, then we may reverse previously
established allowances for doubtful accounts. Changes to estimates of contract value are recorded as adjustments to revenue and not as a component of the
allowance for doubtful accounts. We write off accounts receivable when they become
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uncollectible and payments subsequently received on such receivables are credited to the allowance for doubtful accounts.

        Long-lived and Intangible Assets.    We account for long-lived assets in accordance with the provisions of FASB ASC Topic 360 Property, Plant, and
Equipment ("Topic 360"). Topic 360 addresses financial accounting and reporting for the impairment or disposal of long-lived assets. This Statement requires that
long-lived assets be reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable.
Recoverability is measured by comparing the carrying amount of an asset to the expected future net cash flows generated by the asset. If it is determined that the
asset may not be recoverable and if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its estimated fair value, an impairment charge is recognized to the extent of the
difference. Topic 360 requires companies to separately report discontinued operations, including components of an entity that either have been disposed of (by
sale, abandonment or in a distribution to owners) or classified as held for sale. Assets to be disposed of are reported at the lower of the carrying amount or fair
value less costs to sell.

        In accordance with Topic 360, we assess the impairment of identifiable intangibles and long-lived assets whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. Factors we consider important which could individually or in combination trigger an impairment review
include the following:

• significant underperformance relative to expected historical or projected future operating results; 

• significant changes in the manner of our use of the acquired assets or the strategy for our overall business; 

• significant negative industry or economic trends; 

• significant decline in our stock price for a sustained period; and 

• our market capitalization relative to net book value.

        If we determined that the carrying value of intangibles and long-lived assets may not be recoverable based upon the existence of one or more of the above
indicators of impairment, we would record an impairment equal to the excess of the carrying amount of the asset over its estimated fair value.

        Goodwill and Purchased Intangibles.    The purchase price of an acquired business is allocated to the underlying tangible and intangible assets acquired and
liabilities assumed based upon their respective fair market values, with the excess recorded as goodwill. Such fair market value assessments require judgments
and estimates that can be affected by contract performance and other factors over time, which may cause final amounts to differ materially from original
estimates. For acquisitions completed through December 26, 2010, adjustments to fair value assessments are recorded to goodwill over the purchase price
allocation period (typically not exceeding twelve months). Adjustments related to income tax uncertainties through December 26, 2010, were also recorded to
goodwill.

        We have established certain accruals in connection with indemnities and other contingencies from our acquisitions. These accruals and subsequent
adjustments have been recorded during the purchase price allocation period for acquisitions. The accruals were determined based upon the terms of the purchase
or sales agreements and, in most cases, involve a significant degree of judgment. Management has recorded these accruals in accordance with its interpretation of
the terms of the purchase or sale agreements, known facts, and an estimation of probable future events based on management's experience.

        We perform our impairment test for goodwill in accordance with Topic 350. We assess goodwill for impairment at the reporting unit level, which is defined
as an operating segment or one level below an
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operating segment, referred to as a component. We determine our reporting units by first identifying our operating segments, and then assess whether any
components of these segments constitute a business for which discrete financial information is available and where segment management regularly reviews the
operating results of that component. We aggregate components within an operating segment that have similar economic characteristics. For our annual and
interim impairment assessments, we identified our reporting units to be our operating segments which are the KGS and PSS segments.

        We perform impairment tests for goodwill as of the last day of our fiscal year, or when evidence of potential impairment exists. When it is determined that
impairment has occurred, a charge to operations is recorded. In order to test for potential impairment, we use the income approach, specifically DCF method, to
derive the fair value of each of our reporting units and in order to validate the reasonableness of the income approach, we consider the market approach, which
estimates the fair value of our reporting units based upon comparable market prices to validate the reasonableness of the implied multiples from the income
approach. We also consider our market capitalization based upon an average of our stock price prior to and subsequent to the date we perform our analysis and
reconcile the fair value of our reporting units to our market capitalization assuming a control premium. As of December 26, 2010, the fair value of the KGS and
PSS reporting units substantially exceeded their carrying value and were not at risk of failing step one of the goodwill impairment test.

        In applying the income approach to our impairment test for goodwill, we make assumptions about the amount and timing of future expected cash flows;
terminal growth rates, appropriate discount rates, and the control premium a controlling shareholder could be expected to pay:

• The timing of future cash flows within our DCF analysis is based on our most recent forecasts and other estimates. Our historical growth rates and
operating results are not indicative of our projected growth rates and operating results as a consequence of our acquisitions and divestitures and the
transformation of the Company from a commercial wireless service provider to a U.S. government defense contractor. The decline in revenues on
a pro forma basis after considering recent acquisitions, which was expected by us, is primarily due to the impact of the conversion of our work as a
prime contractor under certain legacy small business awards to that of a subcontractor. This change resulted in an award of an overall smaller
portion of the entire project as the contracts were recompeted and the original term of the small business contracts were completed. The
conversion of work as a prime to a subcontractor related to legacy small business contracts awarded to the acquired companies is not uncommon
in the government defense contractor industry for companies that have been acquisitive. Our projected growth rates take into consideration this
anticipated impact on small business awards. 

• The current economic conditions have negatively impacted our PSS reporting unit's projected growth rates and cash flows as customers have
delayed or cancelled capital expenditures related to the systems we provide. However, this reporting unit has no goodwill, it is significantly
smaller than our Government Solutions segment and our goodwill impairment analysis is not materially affected by changes in the expected cash
flows for this reporting unit. Current economic conditions have not significantly impacted our estimates of cash flows in our Government
Solutions reporting unit which primarily provides services to the federal government and the DoD. Our contracts are long term in nature and are
supported by significant backlog. Because our contracts are of a long term nature, a majority of our receivables are with agencies within the U. S.
government or we are a subcontractor to a customer whose receivables are with the agencies within the U.S. government, we are not subject to
significant short term changes in operating cash flow. As a result of our current business model, we do not have significant capital expenditure
requirements.
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• The terminal growth rate is used to calculate the value of cash flows beyond the last projected period in our DCF analysis and reflects our best
estimates for stable, perpetual growth of our reporting units. 

• We use estimates of market participant WACC as a basis for determining the discount rates to apply to our reporting units' future expected cash
flows. The significant assumptions within our WACC are: (a) equity risk premium, (b) beta, (c) size premium adjustments, (d) cost of debt, and
(e) capital structure assumptions. In addition, we use a company specific risk adjustment which is a subjective adjustment that, by its very nature
does not include market related data, but instead examines the prospects of the reporting unit relative to the broader industry to determine if there
are specific factors which may make it more "risky" relative to the industry. 

• We use an estimated control premium in reconciling the aggregate value of our reporting units to our market capitalization. As discussed in Topic
350, control premiums may effectively cause a company's aggregate fair value of its reporting unit(s) to exceed its current market capitalization
due to the ability of a controlling shareholder to benefit from synergies and other intangible assets that arise from such control. As a result, the
measurement of fair value of an entity with a collection of assets and liabilities that operate together to produce cash flows is different from the
fair value measurement of that entity's individual securities, hence, the reason a control premium is paid.

        To test the sensitivity of our results to other outcomes that were reasonably likely to occur, we sensitized our forecasts for changes to revenue growth rates
and operating margins, discount rates and long-term growth rates. None of these sensitized forecasts resulted in different conclusions with respect to goodwill
impairment.

        Our methodology for evaluating goodwill and intangibles for impairment is consistent with the methodology we have used in prior periods.

        As a result of the assumptions used in our analyses, several factors could result in impairment of our $226.4 million goodwill and $89.1 million long-lived
intangibles in future periods, including but not limited to:

• a decline in our stock price and resulting market capitalization, if we determine the decline is sustained and is indicative of a reduction in the fair
value below the carrying value of our government solutions reporting unit; 

• decreases in available government funding, including budgetary constraints affecting federal government spending generally, or specific
departments or agencies; 

• changes in federal government programs or requirements, including the increased use of small business providers; and 

• our failure to reach our internal forecasts could impact our ability to achieve our forecasted levels of cash flows and reduce the estimated
discounted value of our reporting units.

        It is not possible at this time to determine if an impairment charge would result from these factors, or, if it does, whether such charge would be material.

        Accounting for income taxes and tax contingencies.    Topic 740 provides the accounting treatment for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in an
enterprise's financial statements. Topic 740 prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition and measurement
of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. Topic 740 also provides guidance on derecognizing, classification, interest and penalties, accounting
in interim periods, disclosure and transition.
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        As part of the process of preparing our consolidated financial statements we are required to estimate our provision for income taxes in each of the tax
jurisdictions in which we conduct business. This process involves estimating our actual current tax expense in conjunction with the evaluation and measurement
of temporary differences resulting from differing treatment of certain items for tax and accounting purposes. These temporary differences result in the
establishment of deferred tax assets and liabilities, which are recorded on a net basis and included in our Consolidated Balance Sheet. We then assess on a
periodic basis the probability that our net deferred tax assets will be recovered and, therefore realized from future taxable income and to the extent we believe that
recovery is not more likely than not, a valuation allowance is established to address such risk resulting in an additional related provision for income taxes during
the period.

        Significant management judgment is required in determining our provision for income taxes, our deferred tax assets and liabilities, tax contingencies,
unrecognized tax benefits, and any required valuation allowance, including taking into consideration the probability of the tax contingencies being incurred.
Management assesses this probability based upon information provided to us by our tax advisors, our legal advisors and similar tax cases. If at a later time our
assessment of the probability of these tax contingencies changes, our accrual for such tax uncertainties may increase or decrease.

        We have a valuation allowance at December 26, 2010, due to management's overall assessment of risks and uncertainties related to our future ability to
realize and, hence, utilize certain deferred tax assets, primarily consisting of net operating losses, carry forward temporary differences and future tax deductions
resulting from certain types of stock option exercises, before they expire.

        The 2010 effective tax rate at December 26, 2010 for annual and interim reporting periods could be impacted if uncertain tax positions that are not
recognized at December 26, 2010 are settled at an amount which differs from our estimate. Finally, during 2010 and thereafter, if we are impacted by a change in
the valuation allowance as of December 26, 2010 resulting from a change in judgment regarding the realizability of deferred tax assets beyond December 26,
2010, such effect will be recognized in the interim period in which the change occurs.

        Accrual for partial self-insurance.    We maintain an accrual for our health and workers' compensation partial self-insurance, which is a component of total
accrued expenses in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Management determines the adequacy of these accruals based on a monthly evaluation of our historical
experience and trends related to both medical and workers compensation claims and payments, information provided to us by our insurance broker, industry
experience and average lag period in which claims are paid. If such information indicates that our accruals require adjustment, we will, correspondingly, revise
the assumptions utilized in our methodologies and reduce or provide for additional accruals as deemed appropriate. We also carry stop-loss insurance that
provides coverage limiting our total exposure related to each medical and workers compensation claim incurred, as defined in the applicable insurance policies.
The medical and workers compensation limits per claim are $50,000 and $250,000, respectively.

        Contingencies and litigation.    We are currently involved in certain legal proceedings. We estimate a range of liability related to pending litigation where the
amount and range of loss can be estimated. We record our estimate of a loss when the loss is considered probable and estimable. Where a liability is probable and
there is a range of estimated loss and no amount in the range is more likely than any other number in the range, we record the minimum estimated liability related
to the claim in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 450 Contingencies. As additional information becomes available, we assess the potential liability related to our
pending litigation and revise our estimates. Revisions in our estimates of potential liability could materially impact our results of operations. See Part I, Item 3
"Legal Proceedings" for additional information.
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        Stock-based Compensation.    We account for stock-based compensation arrangements in accordance with the provisions of FASB ASC Topic 718
Compensation—Stock Compensation ("Topic 718") which requires the measurement and recognition of compensation expense for all stock-based payment
awards to employees and directors based on estimated fair values.

        The valuation provisions of Topic 718 apply to new awards and to awards that are outstanding on the effective date and subsequently modified or cancelled.
We use the Black-Scholes option pricing model to estimate the fair value of our stock options at the grant date. The Black-Scholes option pricing model was
developed for use in estimating the fair value of traded options which have no vesting restrictions and are fully transferable. Our employee stock options are
generally subject to vesting restrictions and are generally not transferable.

        Option pricing models require the input of highly subjective assumptions including the expected stock price volatility over the term of the award, the
expected life of an option and the number of awards ultimately expected to vest. Changes in these assumptions can materially affect the fair value estimates of an
option. Furthermore, the estimated fair value of an option does not necessarily represent the value that will ultimately be realized by an employee. We used
historical data to estimate the expected forfeiture rate, intrinsic and historical data to estimate the expected price volatility, and a weighted-average expected life
formula to estimate the expected option life. The risk-free rate is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant for the estimated life of the
option.

        Estimates of stock-based compensation expenses are significant to our consolidated financial statements, but these expenses are based on option valuation
models and will never result in the payment of cash by us. For this reason, and because we do not view stock-based compensation as related to our operational
performance, we exclude estimated stock-based compensation expense when evaluating the business performance of our operating segments.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncement

        In October 2009, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") 2009-13, Multiple-Deliverable
Revenue Arrangements. The new standard changes the requirements for establishing separate units of accounting in a multiple element arrangement and requires
the allocation of arrangement consideration to each deliverable based on the relative selling price. The selling price for each deliverable is based on vendor-
specific objective evidence ("VSOE") if available, third-party evidence if VSOE is not available or estimated selling price if neither VSOE or third-party evidence
is available. ASU 2009-13 is effective for revenue arrangements entered into in fiscal years beginning on or after June 15, 2010. We do not expect that the
provisions of the new guidance will have a material effect on our consolidated financial statements.

        In January 2010, the FASB issued ASU No. 2010-06, Improving Disclosures about Fair Value Measurements, which, among other things, amends ASC Topic
820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures ("Topic 820") to require entities to separately present purchases, sales, issuances, and settlements in their
reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements (i.e., to present such items on a gross basis rather than on a net basis), and which clarifies existing disclosure
requirements provided by Topic 820 regarding the level of disaggregation and the inputs and valuation techniques used to measure fair value for measurements
that fall within either Level 2 or Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. ASU. 2010-06 is effective for interim and annual periods beginning after December 15, 2009,
except for the disclosures about purchases, sales, issuances, and settlements in the roll forward of activity in Level 3 fair value measurements which are effective
for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2010 and for interim periods within those fiscal years. Our adoption of this standard had no impact on our
consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

        In February 2010, the FASB issued ASU 2010-09, Subsequent Events Topic 855, Amendments to Certain Recognition and Disclosure Requirements. The
amendments to the FASB Accounting Standards
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Codification™ included in the ASU, among other things, eliminate the requirement that an "SEC filer" (as defined) disclose the date through which subsequent
events have been evaluated in both issued and revised financial statements. This does not change the requirement that SEC filers evaluate subsequent events
through the date the financial statements are issued.

        In December 2010, the FASB issued ASU 2010-29, Business Combinations Topic 805, Disclosure of Supplementary Pro Forma Information for Business
Combinations (the "Update"). The amendments in this Update specify that if a public entity presents comparative financial statements, the entity should disclose
revenue and earnings of the combined entity as though the business combination(s) that occurred during the current year had occurred as of the beginning of the
comparable prior annual reporting period only. The amendment also expands the supplemental pro forma disclosures under Topic 805 to include a description of
the nature and amount of material, nonrecurring pro forma adjustments directly attributable to the business combination included in the reported pro forma
revenue and earnings. The amendments in this Update are effective prospectively for business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after the
beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning on or after December 15, 2010. Early adoption is permitted and we adopted these amendments for the
acquisitions completed in the year ended December 26, 2010.

Item 7A.    Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk 

        We are exposed to market risk in connection with changes in interest rates, primarily in connection with two outstanding interest rate swaps, which do not
qualify for cash flow hedge accounting, and balance under our revolving line of credit with KeyBank. Based on our average outstanding balance during the year
ended December 26, 2010, a 1% change in the LIBOR rate would impact our financial position and results of operations by approximately $0.4 million over the
next year.

        Cash and cash equivalents as of December 26, 2010 were $10.8 million and are primarily invested in money market interest bearing accounts. A hypothetical
10% adverse change in the average interest rate on our money market cash investments would have had no material effect on net income for the year ended
December 26, 2010.

Item 8.    Financial Statements and Supplementary Data 

        Our consolidated financial statements and supplementary data required by this item are set forth at the pages indicated in Item 15(a)(1) and 15(a)(2),
respectively.

Item 9.    Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure 

        None.

Item 9A.    Controls and Procedures 

        We maintain disclosure controls and procedures, as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) promulgated under the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934,
as amended ("Exchange Act"), designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in our reports filed under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed,
summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission's rules and forms, and that such information is
accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely
decisions regarding required disclosure. In designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures, management recognized that any controls and
procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives, and management
necessarily was required to apply its judgment in evaluating the cost benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures.
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        As required by Rule 13a-15(e) promulgated under the Exchange Act, we carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of our
management, including our Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls
and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based on the foregoing, our Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer
concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective at the reasonable assurance level as of December 26, 2010.

Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

        Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term is defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f). Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Principal Executive Officer and Principal
Financial Officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based on the framework in Internal Control—
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO Framework). Based on this evaluation, our
management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting is effective as of December 26, 2010.

        Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with
the policies and procedures may deteriorate.

        Management's assessment over our internal control over financial reporting has been audited by Grant Thornton LLP, an independent registered public
accounting firm, as stated in their report appearing below, which expresses an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial
reporting as of December 26, 2010.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

        There were no changes in our internal control over financial accounting and reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) of the Exchange Act)
during the fourth quarter of the fiscal year ended December 26, 2010 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal
control over financial reporting.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 

Board of Directors and Stockholders
Kratos Defense & Security Solutions, Inc.

        We have audited Kratos Defense & Security Solutions, Inc.'s internal control over financial reporting as of December 26, 2010, based on criteria established
in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). The Company's
management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over
financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting (Management's Report). Our responsibility
is to express an opinion on the Company's internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. Our audit of, and opinion on, the Company's internal
control over financial reporting does not include internal control over financial reporting of Gichner Holdings, Inc., DEI Services Corporation, Southside
Container & Trailer, LLC and Henry Bros. Electronics, Inc., wholly owned subsidiaries, whose financial statements reflect total assets and revenues constituting
57 and 26 percent, respectively, of the related consolidated financial statement amounts as of and for the year ended December 26, 2010. As indicated in
Management's Report, Gichner Holdings, Inc., DEI Services Corporation, Southside Container & Trailer, LLC and Henry Bros. Electronics, Inc. were acquired
during 2010 and therefore, management's assertion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting excluded internal control over
financial reporting of Gichner Holdings, Inc., DEI Services Corporation, Southside Container & Trailer, LLC and Henry Bros. Electronics, Inc.

        We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material
respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and
evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary
in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

        A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company's internal control over
financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of
financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in
accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of
unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

        Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with
the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

        In our opinion, Kratos Defense & Security Solutions, Inc. maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of
December 26, 2010, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by COSO.
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        We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the accompanying consolidated
balance sheets of Kratos Defense & Security Solutions, Inc. as of December 27, 2009 and December 26, 2010, and the related consolidated statements of
operations, stockholders' equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 26, 2010 and our report dated March 1, 2011 expressed
an unqualified opinion.

/s/ Grant Thornton LLP

San Diego, California
March 1, 2011
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Item 9B.    Other Information 

        None

PART III 

Item 10.    Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance. 

        The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the Registrant's Proxy Statement or Form 10-K/A, which we will file with the SEC
within 120 days after the end of fiscal 2010.

Item 11.    Executive Compensation. 

        The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the Registrant's Proxy Statement or Form 10-K/A, which we will file with the SEC
within 120 days after the end of fiscal 2010.

Item 12.    Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters. 

        The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the Registrant's Proxy Statement or Form 10-K/A, which we will file with the SEC
within 120 days after the end of fiscal 2010.

Item 13.    Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence. 

        The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the Registrant's Proxy Statement or Form 10-K/A, which we will file with the SEC
within 120 days after the end of fiscal 2010.

Item 14.    Principal Accountant Fees and Services. 

        The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the Registrant's Proxy Statement or Form 10-K/A, which we will file with the SEC
within 120 days after the end of fiscal 2010.

PART IV 

Item 15.    Exhibits and Financial Statements Schedules. 

(a)(1) Financial Statements

        The Consolidated Financial Statements of Kratos Defense & Security Solutions and Report of Grant Thornton LLP, Independent Registered Public
Accounting Firm, are included in a separate section of this Annual Report beginning on page F-1.

(a)(2) Financial Statement Schedules

        Schedules not listed above have been omitted because they are not applicable or are not required or the information required to be set forth therein is
included in the consolidated financial statements or the notes thereto.
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a)(3) Exhibits
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Incorporated by

Reference   

Exhibit
Number  Exhibit Description  Form  

Filing Date/
Period End

Date  Exhibit  

Filed-
Furnished
Herewith

 2.1 Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated October 5, 2010, by and among
Kratos Defense & Security Solutions, Inc., Hammer Acquisition Inc. and
Henry Bros. Electronics, Inc. Certain schedules and exhibits referenced
in the Stock Purchase Agreement have been omitted in accordance with
Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K. A copy of any omitted schedule
and/or exhibit will be furnished supplementally to the Securities and
Exchange Commission upon request.

 8-K  10/07/10  2.1  

 2.2 Amendment to the Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated November 13,
2010, by and among Kratos Defense & Security Solutions, Inc., Hammer
Acquisition Inc. and Henry Bros. Electronics,  Inc.

 8-K  11/15/10  2.1  

 2.3 Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of April 12, 2010, by and between
Kratos Defense & Security Solutions, Inc. and the Stockholders of
Gichner Holdings, Inc. Certain schedules and exhibits referenced in the
Stock Purchase Agreement have been omitted in accordance with
Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K. A copy of any omitted schedule
and/or exhibit will be furnished supplementally to the Securities and
Exchange Commission upon request.

 8-K  04/12/10  2.1  

 2.4 Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of November 21, 2008, by and
among Kratos Defense & Security Solutions, Inc., Dakota Merger
Sub, Inc. and Digital Fusion, Inc. Certain exhibits and schedules
referenced in the Agreement and Plan of Merger have been omitted in
accordance with Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K. A copy of the
omitted exhibits and schedules will be furnished supplementally to the
Securities and Exchange Commission upon request.

 8-K  11/24/08  2.1  

 2.5 Agreement and Plan of Merger and Reorganization, dated February 20,
2008 by and among Kratos Defense & Security Solutions, Inc., White
Shadow, Inc. and SYS. Certain schedules and exhibits referenced in the
Stock Purchase Agreement have been omitted in accordance with
Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K. A copy of any omitted schedule
and/or exhibit will be furnished supplementally to the Securities and
Exchange Commission upon request.

 8-K  02/22/08  2.1  

 3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation.  10-Q  09/30/01  4.1  
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Reference   

Exhibit
Number  Exhibit Description  Form  

Filing Date/
Period End

Date  Exhibit  

Filed-
Furnished
Herewith

 3.2 Certificate of Ownership and Merger of Kratos Defense & Security
Solutions, Inc. into Wireless Facilities, Inc.

 8-K  09/12/07  3.1  

 3.3 Certificate of Amendment to Amended and Restated Certificate of
Incorporation of Kratos Defense & Security Solutions.

 10-Q  09/27/09  3.1  

 3.4 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Kratos Defense & Security
Solutions, Inc.

 8-K  05/17/10  3.1  

 3.5 Certificate of Designations, Preferences and Rights of Series A Preferred
Stock.

 10-Q  09/30/01  4.2  

 3.6 Certificate of Designations, Preferences and Rights of Series B Preferred
Stock (included as Exhibit A to the Preferred Stock Purchase Agreement
dated as of May 16, 2002 among the Company, Meritech Capital Partners
II L.P., Meritech Capital Affiliates II L.P., MCB Entrepreneur Partners
II L.P., Oak Investment Partners X, Limited Partnership, Oak X Affiliates
Fund, Limited Partnership, Oak Investment Partners IX, L.P, Oak
Affiliates Fund, L.P, Oak IX Affiliates Fund-A, L.P, and the KLS Trust
dated July 14, 1999).

 8-K/A  06/05/02  4.1  

 3.7 Certificate of Designation of Series C Preferred Stock.  8-K  12/17/04  3.1  

 4.1 Specimen Stock Certificate.         *

 4.2 Rights Agreement, dated as of December 16, 2004, between Kratos
Defense & Security Solutions, Inc. and Wells Fargo, N.A.

 8-K  12/17/04  4.1  

 4.3 Indenture, dated as of May 19, 2010, by and among Kratos Defense &
Security Solutions, Inc., the Guarantors set forth therein and Wilmington
Trust FSB, as Trustee and Collateral Agent (including the Form of 10%
Senior Secured Notes due 2017 as an exhibit thereto).

 8-K  05/25/10  4.1  

 10.1 Underwriting Agreement, dated October 5, 2010, by and between Kratos
Defense & Security Solutions, Inc., and B. Riley & Co., LLC.

 8-K  10/7/10  1.1  

 10.2# Form of Indemnity Agreement by and between Kratos Defense &
Security Solutions, Inc. and certain officers and directors.

 S-1  08/18/99  10.10  

 10.3# 2000 Nonstatutory Stock Option Plan.  10-Q  09/30/00  10.2  
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Reference   

Exhibit
Number  Exhibit Description  Form  

Filing Date/
Period End

Date  Exhibit  

Filed-
Furnished
Herewith

 10.4# Form of Stock Option Agreement and Grant Notice used in connection
with the 2000 Nonstatutory Stock Option Plan.

 10-Q  09/30/00  10.3  

 10.5# Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Plan.  10-K  12/31/05  10.44  

 10.6# 2005 Equity Incentive Plan.  S-8  08/01/05  99.1  

 10.7# Form of Stock Option Agreement pursuant to the 2005 Equity Incentive
Plan.

 S-8  08/01/05  99.2  

 10.8# Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement and Form of Notice of Grant
under the 2005 Equity Incentive Plan.

 8-K  01/17/07  99.3  

 10.9# Amended and Restated Executive Employment Agreement, dated as of
August 4, 2008, by and between Kratos Defense & Security
Solutions, Inc. and Eric DeMarco.

 10-Q  06/29/08  10.3  

 10.10# Amended and Restated Severance and Change of Control Agreement,
dated as of August 4, 2008, by and between Kratos Defense & Security
Solutions, Inc. and Deanna Lund.

 10-Q  06/29/08  10.4  

 10.11# Amended and Restated Severance and Change of Control Agreement,
dated as of August 4, 2008, by and between Kratos Defense & Security
Solutions, Inc. and Laura Siegal.

 10-Q  06/29/08  10.5  

 10.12# Employment Agreement, dated as of July 1, 2006, by and between SYS
Technologies and Ben Goodwin.

        *

 10.13# Severance and Change of Control Agreement, dated as of August 2,
2010, by and between Kratos Defense & Security Solutions, Inc. and
Deborah Butera.

        *

 10.14# Employment Agreement, dated as of August 4, 2010, by and between
Kratos Government Solutions, Inc. and Richard Selvaggio.

        *

 10.15# Employment Agreement, dated as of July 22, 2010, by and between
Kratos Government Solutions, Inc. and David Carter.

        *

 10.16# Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated as of January 1,
2011, by and between Kratos Government Solutions, Inc. and Phil Carrai.

        *
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Reference   

Exhibit
Number  Exhibit Description  Form  

Filing Date/
Period End

Date  Exhibit  

Filed-
Furnished
Herewith

 10.17 Settlement Agreement and General Release of Claims, dated as of
October 16, 2009, among Kratos Defense & Security Solutions, Inc.,
KeyBank National Association, Field Point III, Ltd., and SPF
CDO I, Ltd.

 10-Q  09/27/09  10.1  

 10.18 Sublease Agreement, dated as of December 17, 2009, by and between
Amylin Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (Sublessor) and Kratos Defense & Security
Solutions, Inc. (Sublessee).

 10-K  12/27/09  10.26  

 10.19 Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of May 19, 2010, by and among
Kratos Defense & Security Solutions, Inc., the Guarantors set forth
therein, Jefferies & Company, Inc., B. Riley & Co., LLC, Imperial
Capital, LLC, Keybanc Capital Markets Inc. and Noble International
Investments, Inc.

 8-K  05/25/10  10.4  

 10.20 Security Agreement, dated as of May 19, 2010, by and among Kratos
Defense & Security Solutions, Inc., the Guarantors set forth therein, and
Wilmington Trust FSB, as Collateral Agent.

 8-K  05/25/10  10.2  

 10.21 Intercreditor Agreement, dated as of May 19, 2010, by and among Kratos
Defense & Security Solutions, Inc., the Guarantors set forth therein,
Wilmington Trust FSB, as Indenture Agent and KeyBank National
Association, as Credit Facility Agent.

 8-K  05/25/10  10.3  

 10.22 Purchase Agreement, dated as of May 12, 2010, by and among Kratos
Defense & Security Solutions, Inc., the Guarantors set forth therein,
Jefferies & Company, Inc., B. Riley & Co., LLC, Imperial Capital, LLC,
Keybanc Capital Markets Inc. and Noble International Investments, Inc.

 8-K  05/25/10  10.1  

 10.23 Credit and Security Agreement, dated as of May 19, 2010, among Kratos
Defense & Security Solutions, Inc., as Borrower, the Lenders named
therein, and KeyBank National Association, as Lead Arranger, Sole Book
Runner and Administrative Agent.

 8-K  05/25/10  10.5  
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Reference   

Exhibit
Number  Exhibit Description  Form  

Filing Date/
Period End

Date  Exhibit  

Filed-
Furnished
Herewith

 10.24 Credit Agreement, dated as of March 3, 2010, among Kratos Defense &
Security Solutions, Inc., KeyBank National Association, as
Administrative Agent and Lender, Bank of America, N.A., as
Syndication Agent and Lender and the other financial institutions parties
thereto with Keybanc Capital Markets and Banc of America
Securities, LLC, as Co-Lead Arrangers and Book Runners.

 8-K  03/08/10  10.1  

 10.25 First Amendment Agreement, dated as of December 13, 2010, by and
among Kratos Defense & Security Solutions, Inc., as Borrower, the
Lenders named therein, and KeyBank National Association, as Lead
Arranger, Sole Book Runner and Administrative Agent.

 8-K  12/16/10  10.1  

 10.26 Stipulation and Agreement of Settlement of Derivative Claims, dated as
of January 5, 2010.

 10-K  12/27/09  10.6  

 21.1 List of Subsidiaries.         *

 23.1 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.         *

 31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002.

        *

 31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002.

        *

 32.1 Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 for Eric M. DeMarco.

        *

 32.2 Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 for Deanna Lund.

        *

# Indicates a management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement required to be filed as an exhibit to this form.
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SIGNATURES 

        Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Date: March 1, 2011

        Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant
and in the capacities and on the date indicated:
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By:
 

/s/ ERIC M. DEMARCO

Eric M. DeMarco
President and Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)

Signature  Title  Date

     
/s/ ERIC M. DEMARCO

Eric M. DeMarco

 President, Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)

 March 1, 2011

/s/ DEANNA H. LUND

Deanna H. Lund

 Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

 March 1, 2011

/s/ LAURA L. SIEGAL

Laura L. Siegal

 Vice President and Corporate Controller (Principal
Accounting Officer)

 March 1, 2011

/s/ SCOTT ANDERSON

Scott Anderson  Director  March 1, 2011

/s/ BANDEL CARANO

Bandel Carano  Director  March 1, 2011

/s/ SCOT JARVIS

Scot Jarvis  Director  March 1, 2011

/s/ JANE E. JUDD

Jane E. Judd  Director  March 1, 2011

/s/ SAM LIBERATORE

Sam Liberatore  Director  March 1, 2011

/s/ WILLIAM HOGLUND

William Hoglund  Director  March 1, 2011
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 

Board of Directors and Stockholders
Kratos Defense & Security Solutions, Inc.

        We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Kratos Defense & Security Solutions, Inc. as of December 27, 2009 and December 26,
2010, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders' equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 26,
2010. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements
based on our audits.

        We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles
used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

        In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Kratos Defense &
Security Solutions, Inc. as of December 27, 2009 and December 26, 2010, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the
period ended December 26, 2010 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

        We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), Kratos Defense & Security
Solutions, Inc.'s internal control over financial reporting as of December 26, 2010, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) and our report dated March 1, 2011 expressed an unqualified
opinion.

/s/ Grant Thornton LLP

San Diego, California
March 1, 2011
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KRATOS DEFENSE & SECURITY SOLUTIONS, INC. 

Consolidated Balance Sheets 

December 27, 2009 and December 26, 2010 

(in millions, except par value and number of shares) 

See accompanying notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

F-3

  2009  2010  
Assets        
Current assets:        
 Cash and cash equivalents  $ 9.9 $ 10.8 
 Restricted cash   0.4  8.5 
 Accounts receivable, net   78.6  125.8 
 Inventoried costs, net of progress payments   1.9  25.9 
 Income taxes receivable   1.0  2.7 
 Prepaid expenses   2.2  7.1 
 Other current assets   2.8  2.9 
 Current assets of discontinued operations   2.0  0.5 
      

  Total current assets   98.8  184.2 
Property and equipment, net   4.3  28.4 
Goodwill   110.2  226.4 
Intangibles, net   26.5  89.1 
Deferred tax asset   0.4  — 
Other assets   1.0  8.0 
Non-current assets of discontinued operations   0.4  — 
      

  Total assets  $ 241.6 $ 536.1 
  

 
 

 
 

Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity        
Current liabilities:        
 Accounts payable  $ 18.8 $ 45.6 
 Accrued expenses   9.0  21.4 
 Accrued compensation   15.7  21.7 
 Billings in excess of costs and earnings on uncompleted contracts   5.4  17.2 
 Deferred income tax liability   0.4  — 
 Acquisition related holdback payments   —  8.1 
 Other current liabilities   2.8  1.7 
 Income taxes payable   0.2  — 
 Current portion of long-term debt   4.5  — 
 Current portion of capital lease obligations   0.2  0.6 
 Current liabilities of discontinued operations   4.7  2.1 
      

  Total current liabilities   61.7  118.4 
Long-term debt, net of current portion   50.9  225.0 
Capital lease obligations   0.7  1.1 
Deferred income tax liability   —  11.7 
Other long-term liabilities   2.8  8.6 
Non-current liabilities of discontinued operations   0.6  1.4 
      

  Total liabilities   116.7  366.2 
Commitments and contingencies        
Stockholders' equity:        

 

Preferred stock, 5,000,000 shares authorized Series B Convertible Preferred Stock, $.001 par value,
10,000 shares outstanding at December 27, 2009 and December 26, 2010 (liquidation preference
$5.0 million at December 26, 2010)   —  — 

 

Common stock, $.001 par value, 195,000,000 shares authorized; 15,784,591 and 18,616,023 shares
issued and outstanding at December 27, 2009 and December 26, 2010, respectively   —  — 

 Additional paid-in capital   523.0  553.5 
 Accumulated deficit   (398.1)  (383.6)
      

  Total stockholders' equity   124.9  169.9 
      

  Total liabilities and stockholders' equity  $ 241.6 $ 536.1 
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KRATOS DEFENSE & SECURITIES SOLUTIONS, INC. 

Consolidated Statements of Operations 

Years ended December 28, 2008, December 27, 2009, and December 26, 2010 

(in millions, except per share amounts) 

See accompanying notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

F-4

  2008  2009  2010  
Service revenues  $ 259.5 $ 314.0 $ 284.8 
Product sales   26.7  20.5  123.7 
        

  Total revenues   286.2  334.5  408.5 
        

Cost of service revenues   206.3  250.0  215.5 
Cost of product sales   21.7  15.2  103.0 
        

  Total costs   228.0  265.2  318.5 
        

  Gross profit   58.2  69.3  90.0 
Selling, general and administrative expenses   48.9  52.8  63.0 
Research and development expenses   0.9  1.8  2.2 
Recovery of unauthorized issuance of stock options, stock option investigation and related

fees, and litigation settlement   (4.5)  (0.2)  (1.4)
Impairment of goodwill   105.8  41.3  — 
Impairments and adjustments to the liability for unused office space   0.3  0.6  — 
Merger and acquisition expenses   —  —  3.1 
        

  Operating income (loss) from continuing operations   (93.2)  (27.0)  23.1 
        

Other expense:           
 Interest expense, net   (10.0)  (10.4)  (22.3)
 Other income (expense), net   (1.5)  0.1  1.1 
        

  Total other expense, net   (11.5)  (10.3)  (21.2)
        

Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes   (104.7)  (37.3)  1.9 
Provision (benefit) for income taxes from continuing operations   (0.7)  1.0  (12.7)
        

Income (loss) from continuing operations   (104.0)  (38.3)  14.6 
Loss from discontinued operations   (7.1)  (3.2)  (0.1)
        

  Net income (loss)  $ (111.1) $ (41.5) $ 14.5 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

Basic income (loss) per common share:           
 Income (loss) from continuing operations  $ (11.18) $ (2.76) $ 0.88 
 Loss from discontinued operations   (0.77)  (0.23)  (0.01)
        

  Net income (loss) per common share:  $ (11.95) $ (2.99) $ 0.87 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

Diluted income (loss) per common share:           
 Income (loss) from continuing operations  $ (11.18) $ (2.76) $ 0.87 
 Loss from discontinued operations   (0.77)  (0.23)  (0.01)
        

  Net income (loss) per common share:  $ (11.95) $ (2.99) $ 0.86 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

Weighted average common shares outstanding:           
 Basic   9.3  13.9  16.6 
 Diluted   9.3  13.9  16.9 
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Convertible

Preferred Stock

           
 

 Common Stock
       

 

 

Additional
Paid-In
Capital  

Accumulated
Deficit  

Total
Stockholders'

Equity

 

  Shares  Amount  Shares  Amount  
Balance, December 31, 2007   — $ —  7.9 $ — $ 412.7 $ (245.5) $ 167.2 

 

Issuance of common stock for exercise
of stock options   —  —  —  —  0.2  —  0.2 

 Common stock issued for acquisitions   —  —  4.8  —  80.2  —  80.2 

 

Paid-in capital for contingent
acquisition consideration   —  —  —  —  7.0  —  7.0 

 

Adjustment for initial adoption of FASB
ASC 740 Income Taxes   —  —  0.1  —  2.3  —  2.3 

 Stock-based compensation   —  —  —  —  1.1  —  1.1 
 Net loss and total comprehensive loss   —  —  —  —  —  (111.1)  (111.1)
                

Balance, December 28, 2008   —  —  12.8  —  503.5  (356.6)  146.9 
                

 

Issuance of common stock for
employee stock purchase plan   —  —  0.1  —  0.4  —  0.4 

 Common stock issued for acquisitions   —  —  —  —  0.1  —  0.1 
 Stock options issued for acquisitions   —  —  2.6  —  17.5  —  17.5 

 

Paid in capital and common stock
issued for contingent consideration   —  —  0.3  —  (0.2)  —  (0.2)

 Stock-based compensation   —  —  —  —  1.7  —  1.7 
 Net loss and total comprehensive loss   —  —  —  —  —  (41.5)  (41.5)
                

Balance, December 27, 2009   —  —  15.8  —  523.0  (398.1)  124.9 
                

 

Issuance of common stock for
employee stock purchase plan,
options and warrants   —  —  0.3  —  1.7  —  1.7 

 Issuance of common stock   —  —  2.5  —  24.7  —  24.7 

 

Fair value of options assumed for HBE
acquisition   —  —  —  —  1.7  —  1.7 

 Stock-based compensation   —  —  —  —  1.9  —  1.9 
 Conversion of convertible notes   —  —  —  —  0.5  —  0.5 

 

Net income and total comprehensive
income   —  —  —  —  —  14.5  14.5 

                

Balance, December 26, 2010   — $ —  18.6 $ — $ 553.5 $ (383.6) $ 169.9 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 



Table of Contents

KRATOS DEFENSE & SECURITY SOLUTIONS, INC. 

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 

Years ended December 28, 2008, December 27, 2009, and December 26, 2010 

(in millions) 

See accompanying notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

F-6

  2008  2009  2010  
Operating activities:           
 Net income (loss)  $ (111.1) $ (41.5) $ 14.5 
 Less: Loss from discontinued operations   (7.1)  (3.2)  (0.1)
        

 Income (loss) from continuing operations   (104.0)  (38.3)  14.6 

 

Adjustments to reconcile income (loss) from continuing operations to net cash provided by
(used in) operating activities from continuing operations:           

  Depreciation and amortization   7.3  8.3  12.9 
  Deferred income taxes   (2.0)  —  (14.4)
  Accrual for litigation settlement   —  (0.5)  — 
  Goodwill impairment charges   105.8  41.3  — 
  Asset impairment charges   0.2  —  — 
  Disposal of property and equipment   0.4  —  — 
  Amortization of deferred financing costs   —  0.7  5.0 
  Provision for doubtful accounts   1.1  0.4  0.4 
  Stock-based compensation   1.1  1.7  1.9 
  Mark to market on swaps   1.7  (0.1)  (1.0)
  Change in accrual for unused office space   —  0.6  — 
  Changes in assets and liabilities, net of acquisitions:           
   Accounts receivable   (2.9)  17.4  2.9 
   Prepaid expenses   4.2  1.3  (2.9)
   Other assets   5.5  4.8  6.1 
   Accounts payable   (9.6)  1.8  8.7 
   Accrued expenses   (2.0)  (4.0)  (9.4)
   Accrued compensation   (2.8)  1.4  3.4 
   Billings in excess of costs and earnings on uncompleted contracts   (2.1)  (3.9)  3.2 
   Accrual for contingent acquisition consideration   0.7  (0.1)  — 
   Income tax receivable and payable   0.5  0.5  (0.3)
   Accrual for unused office space   (0.7)  (1.6)  (0.8)
   Other liabilities   (6.9)  (5.5)  (2.0)
        

    Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities from continuing operations   (4.5)  26.2  28.3 
        

Investing activities:           
 Sale/maturity of short-term investments   0.3  —  — 
 Cash paid for contingent acquisition consideration   —  (3.6)  (0.4)
 Cash paid for acquisitions, net of cash acquired   (1.2)  (1.1)  (206.5)
 Proceeds/(payments) from the disposition of discontinued operations   (0.2)  (2.4)  0.1 
 Cash transferred to restricted cash   (0.4)  —  (0.1)
 Capital expenditures   (0.8)  (0.4)  (2.3)
        

    Net cash used in investing activities from continuing operations   (2.3)  (7.5)  (209.2)
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  2008  2009  2010  
Financing activities:           
 Proceeds from issuance of common stock, net of issuance costs  $ — $ 17.5 $ 24.7 

 

Proceeds from exercise of restricted stock units, employee stock options, and employee stock
purchase plan   0.2  0.6  1.7 

 Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt   —  —  225.0 
 Payments of subordinated debt   —  (2.1)  (0.5)
 Borrowings under credit facility   7.9  22.5  61.9 
 Repayments under credit facility   (4.6)  (46.9)  (119.6)
 Repayment of capital lease obligations   (0.2)  (0.2)  (0.3)
 Debt issuance costs   (0.5)  (0.5)  (11.0)
        

  Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities from continuing operations   2.8  (9.1)  181.9 
        

Net cash flows from continuing operations   (4.0)  9.6  1.0 
Cash flows from discontinued operations           
 Operating cash flows   (1.2)  (3.4)  (0.1)
        

  Net cash flows from discontinued operations   (1.2)  (3.4)  (0.1)
        

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents   (5.2)  6.2  0.9 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year   8.9  3.7  9.9 
        

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year  $ 3.7 $ 9.9 $ 10.8 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:           
 Cash paid during the year for interest  $ 8.7 $ 7.7 $ 15.4 
 Net cash paid during the year for income taxes  $ 1.3 $ 0.3 $ 0.9 
Non-cash investing and financing activities:           
 Common stock and stock options issued for acquisitions  $ 87.2 $ — $ 24.7 
 Paid-in capital for contingent acquisition consideration  $ 2.3 $ (0.3) $ — 
 Liability for contingent cash consideration  $ — $ — $ 5.8 
Supplemental disclosures of non-cash investing and financing transactions:           
 Fair value of assets acquired in acquisitions  $ 116.8 $ — $ 304.9 
 Liabilities assumed in acquisitions  $ 23.9 $ — $ 87.6 
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

December 26, 2010 

Note 1. Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(a)   Description of Business

        Kratos Defense & Security Solutions, Inc. ("Kratos" or the "Company") is a specialized national security business providing mission critical products,
services and solutions for United States national security priorities. Kratos' core capabilities are sophisticated engineering, manufacturing and system integration
offerings for national security platforms and programs. The Company's principal services are related to, but are not limited to, Command, Control,
Communications, Computing, Combat Systems, Intelligence, Surveillance and Reconnaissance ("C5ISR"); related cybersecurity, cyberwarfare, information
assurance and situational awareness solutions; weapons systems lifecycle support and sustainment; military weapon range operations and technical services;
missile, rocket and weapons system testing and evaluation; missile and rocket mission launch services, primarily for Ballistic Missile Defense; public safety,
critical infrastructure security and surveillance systems; modeling and simulation; unmanned aerial vehicle systems ("UAVs"); and advanced network engineering
and information technology services. Kratos offers its customers products, solutions, services and expertise to support their mission-critical needs by leveraging
our skills across our core offering areas.

        Kratos derives a substantial portion of its revenue from contracts performed for United States Federal Government agencies, including the Department of
Defense, classified agencies, intelligence agencies, other National Security agencies and Homeland Security related agencies. The Company believes its stable
client base, strong client relationships, broad array of contract vehicles, considerable employee base possessing national security clearances, extensive list of past
performance qualifications, and significant management and operational capabilities position us for continued growth. The Company's employees are strategically
located throughout the U.S. and at key military installations, and almost half of its approximately 2,900 employees have national security clearances. These
security clearances, along with the Company's past performance qualifications, are a requirement for the Company's contract vehicles and customer engagements.

        The Company operates in two principal business segments: Kratos Government Solutions ("KGS") and Public Safety and Security ("PSS"). The Company
organizes its business segments based on the nature of the services offered. Transactions between segments are generally negotiated and accounted for under
terms and conditions similar to other government and commercial contracts and these intercompany transactions are eliminated in consolidation. The financial
statements in this Annual Report are presented in a manner consistent with its operating structure. For additional information regarding the Company's operating
segments, see Note 14 of the notes to the consolidated financial statements. From a customer and solutions perspective, Kratos views its business as an integrated
whole, leveraging skills and assets wherever possible.

(b)   Principles of Consolidation

        The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Kratos and its wholly-owned subsidiaries for which all inter-company transactions have been
eliminated in consolidation. Kratos and its subsidiaries are collectively referred to herein as the "Company."
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KRATOS DEFENSE & SECURITY SOLUTIONS, INC.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

December 26, 2010

Note 1. Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

(c)   Fiscal Year

        Fiscal years end on the last Sunday of the year and interim fiscal periods end on the last Sunday of the last month of each calendar quarter. The fiscal years
ended on December 28, 2008, December 27, 2009 and December 26, 2010, and all years contained 52 calendar weeks.

(d)   Reclassifications

        Certain amounts in the December 27, 2009 consolidated balance sheet and consolidated statements of cash flows for the years ended December 28, 2008,
and December 27, 2009, have been reclassified to conform to the December 26, 2010 presentation.

(e)   Use of Estimates

        The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S. ("U.S. GAAP") requires management to
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Such estimates include revenue recognition, allowance for
doubtful accounts, valuation of long-lived assets including identifiable intangibles and goodwill, accounting for income taxes including the related valuation
allowance on the deferred tax asset and uncertain tax positions, accruals for partial self-insurance, contingencies and litigation and contingent acquisition
consideration and stock-based compensation. In the future, the Company may realize actual results that differ from the current reported estimates and if the
estimates that the Company has used change in the future, such changes could have a material impact on the Company's consolidated financial position, results of
operations and cash flows.

(f)    Reverse Stock Split

        On September 10, 2009, the Company completed a 1-for-10 reverse split of its common stock. All common stock, stock options, and warrants to purchase
common stock and earnings per share amounts have been retroactively restated as if the reverse stock split occurred at the beginning of the periods presented.

(g)   Revenue Recognition

        The Company generates almost all of its revenue from three different types of contractual arrangements: cost-plus-fee contracts, time-and-materials
contracts, and fixed-price contracts. Revenue on cost-plus-fee contracts is recognized to the extent of allowable costs incurred plus an estimate of the applicable
fees earned. The Company considers fixed fees under cost-plus-fee contracts to be earned in proportion to the allowable costs incurred in performance of the
contract and recognizes the relevant portion of the expected fee to be awarded by the customer at the time such fee can be reasonably estimated, based on factors
such as its prior award experience and communications with the customer regarding performance, including any interim performance evaluations rendered by the
customer. Revenue on time-and-material contracts is recognized to the extent of billable rates times hours
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KRATOS DEFENSE & SECURITY SOLUTIONS, INC.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

December 26, 2010

Note 1. Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

delivered for services provided, to the extent of material cost for products delivered to customers, and to the extent of expenses incurred on behalf of the
customers.

        The Company has three basic categories of fixed price contracts: fixed unit price, fixed price-level of effort, and fixed price-completion. Revenue recognition
methods on fixed-price contracts will vary depending on the nature of the work and the contract terms. Revenues on fixed-price service contracts are recorded as
work is performed in accordance with Accounting Standards Code ("ASC") Topic 605 Revenue Recognition ("Topic 605"), specifically Topic 605-10-S99, which
generally requires revenue to be deferred until all of the following have occurred: (1) there is a contract in place, (2) delivery has occurred, (3) the price is fixed or
determinable, and (4) collectability is reasonably assured. Revenues on fixed-price contracts that require delivery of specific items may be recorded based on a
price per unit as units are delivered. Revenue for fixed price contracts in which the Company is paid a specific amount to provide services for a stated period of
time is recognized ratably over the service period.

        On a portion of the fixed price-completion contracts revenue is recognized in accordance with Topic 605 using the percentage-of-completion method based
on the ratio of total costs incurred to date compared to estimated total costs to complete the contract. Estimates of costs to complete include material, direct labor,
overhead, and allowable indirect expenses for government contracts. These cost estimates are reviewed and, if necessary, revised monthly on a contract-by-
contract basis. If, as a result of this review, management determines that a loss on a contract is probable, then the full amount of estimated loss is charged to
operations in the period it is determined that it is probable a loss will be realized from the full performance of the contract. As of December 27, 2009 and
December 26, 2010, the provisions for losses on contracts was $0.0 and $1.7 million, respectively.

        In certain instances in which it is impractical to estimate the final outcome of the project margin, but it is certain that the Company will not incur a loss on
the project, the Company may record revenue equal to cost incurred, at zero margin. In the event that the cost incurred to date may be in excess of the funded
contract value, the Company may defer those costs until the associated contract value has been funded by the customer. Once the final estimate of the outcome of
the project margin is determined, the Company will record revenue using the percentage-of-completion method of accounting based on the ratio of total costs
incurred to date compared to the estimated total costs to complete the project.

        In accounting for the Company's long-term contracts for production of products provided to the federal government, the Company utilizes both cost-to-cost
and units produced measures under the percentage-of-completion method of accounting under the provisions of Topic 605. Under the units produced measure of
the percentage-of-completion method of accounting, sales are recognized as the units are accepted by the customer generally using sales values for units in
accordance with the contract terms. The Company estimates profit as the difference between total estimated revenue and total estimated cost of a contract and
recognizes that profit over the life of the contract based on units produced or as computed on the basis of the estimated final average unit costs plus profit. The
Company classifies contract revenues as product sales or service revenues depending upon the predominant attributes of the relevant underlying contracts.

        Significant management judgments and estimates, including but not limited to the estimated costs to complete projects, must be made and used in connection
with the revenue recognized in any
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

December 26, 2010

Note 1. Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

accounting period. A cancellation, schedule delay, or modification of a fixed-price contract which is accounted for using the percentage-of-completion method
may adversely affect the Company's gross margins for the period in which the contract is modified or cancelled. Under certain circumstances, a cancellation or
negative modification could result in the Company having to reverse revenue that was recognized in a prior period, thus significantly reducing the amount of
revenues recognized for the period in which the adjustment is made. Correspondingly, a positive modification may positively affect gross margins. In addition, a
schedule delay or modifications can result in an increase in estimated cost to complete the project, which would also result in an impact to gross margins. Material
differences may result in the amount and timing of the Company's revenue for any period if management made different judgments or utilized different estimates.

        It is the Company's policy to review any arrangement containing software or software deliverables and services against the criteria contained in ASC Topic
985 Software ("Topic 985"). Under the provisions of Topic 985, the Company reviews the contract value of software deliverables and services and determines
allocations of the contract value based on Vendor Specific Objective Evidence ("VSOE") or fair value for each of the elements. All software arrangements
requiring significant production, modification, or customization of the software are accounted for in conformity with Topic 605.

        The Company's contracts may include the provision of more than one of its services. In these situations, the Company applies the guidance of Topic 605.
Accordingly, for applicable arrangements, revenue recognition includes the proper identification of separate units of accounting and the allocation of revenue
across all elements based on relative fair values.

        Under certain of the Company's contractual arrangements, the Company may also recognize revenue for out-of-pocket expenses in accordance with Topic
605. Depending on the contractual arrangement, these expenses may be reimbursed with or without a fee.

        Under certain of its contracts, the Company provides supplier procurement services and materials for its customers. The Company records revenue on these
arrangements on a gross or net basis in accordance with Topic 605, depending on the specific circumstances of the arrangement. The Company considers the
following criteria, among others, for recording revenue on a gross or net basis:

(1) Whether the Company acts as a principal in the transaction; 

(2) Whether the Company takes title to the products; 

(3) Whether the Company assumes risks and rewards of ownership, such as risk of loss for collection, delivery or returns; 

(4) Whether the Company serves as an agent or broker, with compensation on a commission or fee basis; and 

(5) Whether the Company assumes the credit risk for the amount billed to the customer subsequent to delivery.

        For federal contracts, the Company follows U.S. government procurement and accounting standards in assessing the allowability and the allocability of costs
to contracts. Due to the significance of the judgments and estimation processes, it is likely that materially different amounts could be
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

December 26, 2010

Note 1. Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

recorded if different assumptions were used or if the underlying circumstances were to change. The Company closely monitors compliance with, and the
consistent application of its critical accounting policies related to contract accounting. Business operations personnel conduct periodic contract status and
performance reviews. When adjustments in estimated contract revenues or costs are required, any significant changes from prior estimates are included in
earnings in the current period. Also, regular and recurring evaluations of contract cost, scheduling and technical matters are performed by management personnel
who are independent from the business operations personnel performing work under the contract. Costs incurred and allocated to contracts with the U.S.
government are scrutinized for compliance with regulatory standards by the Company's personnel, and are subject to audit by the Defense Contract Audit Agency.

        From time to time, the Company may proceed with work based on client direction prior to the completion and signing of formal contract documents. The
Company has a formal review process for approving any such work. Revenue associated with such work is recognized only when it can be reliably estimated and
realization is probable. The Company bases its estimates on previous experiences with the client, communications with the client regarding funding status, and its
knowledge of available funding for the contract or program. As of December 27, 2009 and December 26, 2010, approximately $6.8 million and $4.4 million,
respectively, of the Company's unbilled accounts receivable balance were under an authorization to proceed or work order from its customers where a formal
purchase order had not yet been received.

        Shipping and Handling Costs.    Costs incurred for shipping and handling are included in cost of product sales at the time the related revenue is recognized.
Amounts billed to a customer for shipping and handling are reported as revenue.

(h)   Inventoried costs

        Inventoried costs are stated at the lower of cost or market. Cost is determined using the average cost or first-in, first-out method and is applied consistently
within an operating entity. Inventoried costs primarily relate to work in process under fixed-price contracts using costs as the basis of the percentage-of-
completion calculation under the units produced method of revenue recognition. These costs represent accumulated contract costs less the portion of such costs
allocated to delivered items. Accumulated contract costs include direct production costs, factory and engineering overhead and production tooling costs. Pursuant
to contract provisions of U.S. government contracts, such customers may have title to, or a security interest in, inventories related to such contracts as a result of
advances, performance-based payments, and progress payments. The Company reflects those advances and payments as an offset against the related inventory
balances.

        The Company regularly reviews inventory quantities on hand, future purchase commitments with its suppliers, and the estimated utility of its inventory. If
the Company's review indicates a reduction in utility below carrying value, it reduces its inventory to a new cost basis.

(i)    Derivative Instruments

        In managing interest rate risk exposure, the Company entered into interest rate swap agreements. An interest rate swap is a contractual exchange of interest
payments between two parties. A standard
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December 26, 2010

Note 1. Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

interest rate swap involves the payment of a fixed rate times a notational amount by one party in exchange for a floating rate times the same notational amount
from another party. As interest rates change, the difference to be paid or received is accrued and recognized as interest expense or income over the life of the
agreement. These instruments are not entered into for trading purposes. Counterparties to the Company's interest rate swap agreements are major financial
institutions. In accordance with ASC Topic 815 Derivatives and Hedging, the Company recognizes interest rate swap agreements on the consolidated balance
sheet at fair value. The interest rate swap agreements are marked to market with changes in fair value recognized in either other comprehensive income (loss) or
in the carrying value of the hedged portions of fixed rate debt, as applicable ("Hedge Accounting").

        Hedge Accounting is discontinued when it is determined that a derivative instrument is not highly effective as a hedge. Hedge Accounting is also
discontinued when: (1) the derivative instrument expires; is sold, terminated or exercised; or is no longer designated as a hedge instrument because it is unlikely
that a forecasted transaction will occur; (2) a hedged firm commitment no longer meets the definition of a firm commitment; or (3) management determines that
designation of the derivative as a hedging instrument is no longer appropriate.

        When Hedge Accounting is discontinued, the derivative instrument will be either terminated, continue to be carried on the balance sheet at fair value, or
redesignated as the hedging instrument in either a cash flow or fair value hedge, if the relationship meets all applicable hedging criteria. Any asset or liability that
was previously recorded as a result of recognizing the value of a firm commitment will be removed from the balance sheet and recognized as a gain or loss in
current period earnings. Any gains or losses that were accumulated in other comprehensive income from hedging a forecasted transaction will be recognized
immediately in current period earnings, if it is probable that the forecasted transaction will not occur. See Note 10 for additional information with respect to
derivative instruments.

(j)    Research and Development

        Costs incurred in research and development activities are expensed as incurred in accordance with ASC Topic 730 Research and Development.

(k)   Income Taxes

        The Company records deferred tax assets and liabilities for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying
amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases and operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be realized. The effect on
deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date.

        The Company maintains a valuation allowance on the deferred tax assets for which it is more likely than not that the Company will not realize the benefits of
these tax assets in future tax periods. The valuation allowance is based on estimates of future taxable income by tax jurisdiction in which the
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Note 1. Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Company operates, the number of years over which the deferred tax assets will be recoverable, and scheduled reversals of deferred tax liabilities.

        In accordance with the recognition standards established by ASC Topic 740 Income Taxes ("Topic 740"), the Company makes a comprehensive review of its
portfolio of uncertain tax positions regularly. In this regard, an uncertain tax position represents the Company's expected treatment of a tax position taken in a
filed tax return, or planned to be taken in a future tax return or claim, which has not been reflected in measuring income tax expense for financial reporting
purposes. Until these positions are sustained by the taxing authorities, the Company has not recognized the tax benefits resulting from such positions and reports
the tax effects as a liability for uncertain tax positions in its consolidated statements of financial position.

(l)    Stock-Based Compensation

        The Company accounts for stock-based compensation in accordance with ASC Topic 718 Compensation-Stock Compensation ("Topic 718"). All of the
Company's stock compensation plans are considered equity plans under Topic 718, and compensation expense recognized is net of estimated forfeitures over the
vesting period. The Company issues stock options, and stock awards under its existing plans. The fair value of stock options is estimated on the date of grant
using a Black-Scholes option-pricing model and is expensed on a straight-line basis over the remaining vesting period of the options, which is generally zero to
four years. The fair value of stock awards is determined based on the closing market price of the Company's common stock on the grant date and is adjusted at
each reporting date based on the amount of shares ultimately expected to vest. Compensation expense for stock awards is expensed over the vesting period,
usually five to ten years. The Company has no awards with market or performance conditions. Compensation expense for stock issued under the Company's
employee stock purchase plan is estimated on the beginning date of the offering period using a Black-Scholes option-pricing model and is expensed on a straight-
line basis over the period of the offering, which is generally 6 months.

        For the years ended December 28, 2008, December 27, 2009 and December 26, 2010, there was no incremental tax benefit from stock options exercised in
the period. The Company recorded cash received from the exercise of stock options of $0.2 million in 2009 and $1.0 million in 2010. No stock options were
exercised in 2008. The following table shows the amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements for 2008, 2009 and 2010 for stock-based
compensation expense related to stock
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Note 1. Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

options, stock awards and to stock options offered under the Company's employee stock purchase plan (in millions).

(m)  Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

        The Company maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts for estimated losses resulting from the inability of its customers to make required payments,
which results in bad debt expense. Management periodically determines the adequacy of this allowance by evaluating the comprehensive risk profiles of all
individual customer receivable balances including, but not limited to, the customer's financial condition, credit agency reports, financial statements and overall
current economic conditions. Additionally, on certain contracts whereby the Company performs services for a prime/general contractor, a specified percentage of
the invoiced trade accounts receivable may be retained by the customer until the project is completed. The Company periodically reviews all retainages for
collectability and records allowances for doubtful accounts when deemed appropriate, based on its assessment of the associated credit risks. Changes to estimates
of contract value are recorded as adjustments to revenue and not as a component of the allowance for doubtful accounts. Individual accounts receivable are
written off to the allowance for doubtful accounts when the Company becomes aware of a specific customer's inability to meet its financial obligation, and all
collection efforts are exhausted.

        The following table outlines the balance of the Company's Allowance for Doubtful Accounts for 2008, 2009 and 2010. The table identifies the additional
provisions each year as well as the write-offs that utilized the allowance (in millions).
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Year ended
December 28,

2008  

Year ended
December 27,

2009  

Year ended
December 26,

2010  
Cost of revenues  $ 0.0 $ 0.0 $ 0.0 
Selling, general and administrative expenses   1.1  1.7  1.9 
        

 

Total cost of employee stock-based compensation included in operating
income (loss) from continuing operations, before income tax   1.1  1.7  1.9 

Amount charged to loss from discontinued operations   0.0  0.0  0.0 
        

 Total charged against operations  $ 1.1 $ 1.7 $ 1.9 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

Impact on net income (loss) per common share:           
 Basic  $ (0.12) $ (0.13) $ (0.11)
 Diluted  $ (0.12) $ (0.13) $ (0.11)

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts  

Balance at
Beginning of

Year  Provisions  
Write-offs/
Recoveries  

Balance at
End of
Year  

Year ended December 28, 2008  $ 0.6 $ 1.1 $ (0.6) $ 1.1 
Year ended December 27, 2009  $ 1.1 $ 0.4 $ (0.7) $ 0.8 
Year ended December 26, 2010  $ 0.8 $ 0.4 $ (0.5) $ 0.7 
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(n)   Cash and Cash Equivalents

        The Company's cash equivalents consist of its highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less when purchased by the Company.

        The Company has restricted cash accounts of approximately $0.4 million at December 27, 2009 and $8.5 million at December 26, 2010, which are required
to collateralize a credit card program, a seller escrow account related to the acquisition of Gichner Holdings, Inc. ("Gichner"), and a deposit relating to the run out
of a now terminated self-insured workers compensation program.

(o)   Property and Equipment, Net

        Property and equipment, net owned by the Company is depreciated over the estimated useful lives of individual assets. Costs incurred for computer software
developed or obtained for internal use are capitalized and classified in computer equipment. Equipment and facilities acquired under capital leases are amortized
over the shorter of the lease term or the estimated useful life of the asset. Improvements, which significantly improve and extend the useful life of an asset, are
capitalized and depreciated over the shorter of the lease period or the estimated useful life. Expenditures for maintenance and repairs are charged to operations as
incurred.

        These assets are depreciated using the straight-line method, with the following lives:

(p)   Leases

        The Company uses its incremental borrowing rate in the assessment of lease classification as capital or operating and defines the initial lease term to include
renewal options determined to be reasonably assured. The Company conducts operations primarily under operating leases.

        Most lease agreements for real property contain incentives for tenant improvements, rent holidays, or rent escalation clauses. For incentives for tenant
improvements, the Company records a deferred rent liability and amortizes the deferred rent over the term of the lease as a reduction to rent expense. For rent
holidays and rent escalation clauses during the lease term, the Company records minimum rental expenses on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. For
purposes of recognizing lease incentives, the Company uses the date of initial possession as the commencement date, which is generally when the Company is
given the right of access to the space and begins to make improvements in preparation for intended use.
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  Years
Buildings and improvements  15 - 39
Machinery and equipment   3 - 10
Computer equipment and software   1 - 10
Vehicles, furniture, and office equipment  5
Leasehold improvements  Shorter of useful life or length of lease
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(q)   Acquisitions

        The Company accounts for business combinations using the acquisition method of accounting as prescribed by ASC Topic 805 Business Combinations
("Topic 805"). The Company allocates the purchase price of its acquisitions to the tangible and intangible assets, and liabilities including certain contingent
liabilities acquired based upon their estimated fair values. The excess of purchase price over those fair values is recorded as goodwill. Acquisition-related
expenses and restructuring costs are recognized separately from the business combination and are expensed as incurred. Prior to fiscal 2009, the Company
accounted for business combinations using the purchase method of accounting. Under the purchase method, the total purchase price, including transaction costs,
was allocated to the acquired assets and liabilities based on their estimated fair value as of the date of acquisition.

(r)   Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, Net

        In accordance with the provisions of ASC Topic 350 Intangibles—Goodwill and Other ("Topic 350"), the Company performs impairment tests for goodwill
as of the last day of each fiscal year, or when evidence of potential impairment exists. When it is determined that impairment has occurred, a charge to operations
is recorded. Goodwill and other purchased intangible asset balances are included in the identifiable assets of the business segment to which they have been
assigned. Any goodwill impairment, as well as the amortization of other purchased intangible assets, is charged against the respective business segments'
operating income.

        In accordance with Topic 350, the Company classifies intangible assets into three categories: (1) intangible assets with finite lives subject to amortization,
(2) intangible assets with indefinite lives not subject to amortization, and (3) goodwill. The Company tests intangible assets with finite lives for impairment if
conditions exist that indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable. Such conditions may include an economic downturn in a geographic market or a change
in the assessment of future operations. The Company records an impairment charge when the carrying value of the finite lived intangible asset is not recoverable
by the cash flows generated from the use of the asset.

        The Company determines the useful lives of identifiable intangible assets after considering the specific facts and circumstances related to each intangible
asset. Factors considered when determining useful lives include the contractual term of any agreement, the history of the asset, the Company's long-term strategy
for the use of the asset, any laws or other local regulations which could impact the useful life of the asset, and other economic factors, including competition and
specific market conditions. Intangible assets that are deemed to have finite lives are amortized, generally on a straight-line basis, over their useful lives, ranging
from 1 to 12 years.

(s)   Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and Long-Lived Assets to Be Disposed Of

        Long-lived assets and certain identifiable intangibles are reviewed for impairment in accordance with ASC Topic 360 Property, Plant, and Equipment,
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability of assets to be held and used is
measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of the assets to future net cash flows (undiscounted and without interest) expected to be generated by the asset.
If such assets are considered to be impaired, the impairment to be recognized is measured by the amount by which the
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carrying amount of the assets exceeds the fair value of the assets. Assets to be disposed of are reported at the lower of the carrying amount or fair value less costs
to sell.

(t)    Fair Value of Financial Instruments

        ASC Topic 825 Financial Instruments requires that fair values be disclosed for the Company's financial instruments. The carrying amounts of cash and cash
equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable, accrued expenses, billings in excess of costs and earnings on uncompleted contracts, and income taxes
payable, approximate fair value due to the short-term nature of these instruments. The fair value of the Company's long-term debt and capital lease obligations is
estimated based on the quoted market prices for the same or similar issues or on the current rates offered to the Company for debt of the same remaining
maturities.

(u)   Concentrations and Uncertainties

        The Company maintains cash balances at various financial institutions and such balances commonly exceed the $250,000 insured amount by the Federal
Deposit Insurance Corporation. The Company has not experienced any losses in such accounts and management believes that the Company is not exposed to any
significant credit risk with respect to such cash and cash equivalents.

        Financial instruments, which subject the Company to potential concentrations of credit risk, consist principally of the Company's billed and unbilled
accounts receivable. The Company's accounts receivable result from sales to customers within the federal government, state and local agencies and with
commercial customers in various industries. The Company performs ongoing credit evaluations of its commercial customers. Credit is extended based on
evaluation of the customer's financial condition and collateral is not required. Accounts receivable are recorded at the invoiced amount and do not bear interest.
See Note 13 for a discussion of the Company's significant customers.

        On May 19, 2010, the Company issued 10% Senior Secured Notes in the aggregate principal amount of $225.0 million (the "Original Notes") in an
unregistered offering pursuant to Rule 144A and Regulation S under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act"), of which $133.0 million was
used to finance the acquisition of Gichner (See Note 3). On August 11, 2010, the Company completed an exchange offer for the Original Notes pursuant to a
registration rights agreement entered into in connection with the issuance of the Original Notes. In the exchange offer, the Company offered to exchange the
Original Notes for a like aggregate amount of 10% Senior Secured Notes due June 1, 2017 registered under the Securities Act (the "Exchange Notes"). The
Exchange Notes have substantially similar terms as the Original Notes, except that the Exchange Notes do not have transfer restrictions or registration rights. The
Exchange Notes are fully and unconditionally guaranteed, jointly and severally, on a senior secured basis by the Company and each of its subsidiaries, as the
guarantors thereof. The Company will pay interest on the Exchange Notes semi-annually, in arrears, on June 1 and December 1 of each year, beginning
December 1, 2010. As of December 26, 2010, the principal amount of $225.0 million is outstanding under the Exchange Notes. In addition, the Company has
$32.6 million available under its senior secured revolving credit agreement. See Note 5 for a complete description of the Exchange Notes and the Company's
revolving credit facility.
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        The Company intends to fund its cash requirements with cash flows from operating activities and borrowings under its existing revolving credit facility, and
management believes these sources of liquidity should be sufficient to meet the Company's cash needs for at least the next 12 months. The Company's quarterly
and annual operating results have fluctuated in the past and may vary in the future due to a variety of factors, many of which are external to its control. If the
conditions in its industry deteriorate or its customers cancel or postpone projects or if the Company is unable to sufficiently increase its revenues or further reduce
its expenses, the Company may experience, in the future, a significant long-term negative impact to its financial results and cash flows from operations. In such a
situation, the Company could fall out of compliance with its financial and other covenants which, if not waived, could limit its liquidity and capital resources.

(v)   Debt Issuance Costs

        Fees paid to obtain debt financing or amendments under such debt financing are treated as debt issuance costs and are capitalized and amortized over the
expected term of the related debt. These payments are shown as a financing activity in the consolidated statements of cash flows and are included in other current
assets and other assets in the consolidated balance sheets.

(w)  Interest Expense, Net

        Interest expense, net in the consolidated statements of operations is summarized in the following table (in millions):

(x)   Recent Accounting Pronouncements

        Other than as described below, no new accounting pronouncement issued or effective during the fiscal year has had or is expected to have a material impact
on the consolidated financial statements.

        In October 2009, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") 2009-13, Multiple-Deliverable
Revenue Arrangements ("ASU 2009-13"). The new standard changes the requirements for establishing separate units of accounting in a multiple element
arrangement and requires the allocation of arrangement consideration to each deliverable based on the relative selling price. The selling price for each deliverable
is based on VSOE if available, third-party evidence if VSOE is not available, or estimated selling price if neither VSOE or third-party evidence is available. ASU
2009-13 is effective for revenue arrangements entered into in fiscal years beginning on or after June 15, 2010. The Company does not expect that the provisions
of the new guidance will have a material effect on its consolidated financial statements.
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  2008  2009  2010  
Interest expense incurred primarily on the Company's

Exchange Notes and previous credit facilities  $ (10.3) $ (10.6) $ (22.4)
Miscellaneous interest income   0.3  0.2  0.1 
        

Interest expense, net  $ (10.0) $ (10.4) $ (22.3)
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        In January 2010, the FASB issued ASU No. 2010-06, Improving Disclosures about Fair Value Measurements ("ASU 2010-06"), which, among other things,
amends Topic 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures ("Topic 820") to require entities to separately present purchases, sales, issuances, and settlements in
their reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements (i.e., to present such items on a gross basis rather than on a net basis), and which clarifies existing
disclosure requirements provided by Topic 820 regarding the level of disaggregation and the inputs and valuation techniques used to measure fair value for
measurements that fall within either Level 2 or Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. ASU 2010-06 is effective for interim and annual periods beginning after
December 15, 2009, except for the disclosures about purchases, sales, issuances, and settlements in the roll forward of activity in Level 3 fair value measurements
which are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2010 and for interim periods within those fiscal years. The Company's adoption of this standard
had no impact on its consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

        In February 2010, the FASB issued ASU 2010-09, Subsequent EventsTopic 855, Amendments to Certain Recognition and Disclosure Requirements. The
amendments to the FASB Accounting Standards Codification™ included in the ASU, among other things, eliminate the requirement that an "SEC filer" (as
defined) disclose the date through which subsequent events have been evaluated in both issued and revised financial statements. This does not change the
requirement that SEC filers evaluate subsequent events through the date the financial statements are issued.

        In December 2010, the FASB issued ASU 2010-29, Business CombinationsTopic 805, Disclosure of Supplementary Pro Forma Information for Business
Combinations (the "Update"). The amendments in this Update specify that if a public entity presents comparative financial statements, the entity should disclose
revenue and earnings of the combined entity as though the business combination(s) that occurred during the current year had occurred as of the beginning of the
comparable prior annual reporting period only. The amendments also expand the supplemental pro forma disclosures under Topic 805 to include a description of
the nature and amount of material, nonrecurring pro forma adjustments directly attributable to the business combination included in the reported pro forma
revenue and earnings. The amendments in this Update are effective prospectively for business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after the
beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning on or after December 15, 2010. Early adoption is permitted and the Company adopted these amendments
for the acquisitions completed in the year ended December 26, 2010.

Note 2. Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Goodwill

        The Company performs its annual impairment test for goodwill in accordance with Topic 350 as of the last day of each fiscal year or when evidence of
potential impairment exists.

        The Company assesses goodwill for impairment at the reporting unit level, which is defined as an operating segment or one level below an operating
segment, referred to as a component. The Company determines its reporting units by first identifying its operating segments, and then assessing whether any
components of these segments constitute a business for which discrete financial information is available and where segment management regularly reviews the
operating results of that component. The Company aggregates components within an operating segment that have similar economic
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characteristics. For the annual and, if necessary, interim impairment assessment the Company identified its reporting units to be its operating segments which are
Kratos Government Solutions and Public Safety and Security.

        The Company's testing approach utilizes a discounted cash flow ("DCF") analysis corroborated by comparative market multiples to determine the fair value
of its businesses for comparison to their corresponding book values because there are no observable inputs available (Level 3 hierarchy as defined by Topic 820).
The Company also considers its market capitalization based upon an average of the stock price prior to and subsequent to the date the analysis is performed and
reconciles the fair value of the Company's reporting units to the Company's market capitalization assuming a control premium. If the book value exceeds the
estimated fair value for a business, a potential impairment is indicated and Topic 350 prescribes the approach for determining the impairment amount, if any.

        In December 2008, the Company concluded that the decision to exit three businesses acquired with the SYS merger and included in the KGS reporting
segment met the criteria to be classified as held for sale. The Company also concluded this was a triggering event under Topic 350 that required a review of the
Company's goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives. Because the three business units were never integrated into the KGS reporting unit, and as such,
the benefits of the acquired goodwill were never realized by the rest of the reporting unit, the goodwill of the disposed businesses was not adjusted based upon the
relative fair values of the businesses disposed and businesses retained. An impairment charge of $3.3 million related to the separately assigned goodwill of these
businesses was recorded as part of the loss from discontinued operations (see Note 3 and 9).

        Because of the timing of the disposals mentioned above, the required impairment test of the KGS goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives was
included with the Company's required annual impairment test of goodwill. The annual impairment test for goodwill was performed using a DCF analysis
supported by comparative market multiples to determine the fair values of the Company's segments versus their book values. The test as of December 28, 2008,
indicated that the book values for the KGS segment, excluding Digital Fusion, Inc. ("DFI"), which was purchased on December 24, 2008, exceeded the fair
values of these businesses and resulted in the Company recording a charge totaling $105.8 million in its KGS segment for the impairment of goodwill.

        The impairment charge was primarily driven by adverse equity market conditions that caused a decrease in market multiples and the Company's average
stock price as of December 28, 2008, compared with the impairment test performed as of December 31, 2007. In the analysis, the Company used the income
approach and validated its reasonableness by considering its market capitalization based upon an average of its stock price for a period prior to and subsequent to
the date the analysis was performed. The average market price of the Company's stock as of December 28, 2008 was $12.90 which equated to a 45% drop in the
average stock price and corresponding market capitalization from December 31, 2007 which had an average stock price of $23.50. The Company reconciled the
fair value of its reporting units which was calculated using the income approach to its market capitalization. As a result of this reconciliation, it was noted that
investors were requiring a higher rate of return, and therefore, the discount factor which was based upon an estimated market participant weighted average cost of
capital ("WACC") increased 250 basis points from 11.5% in the year end impairment test in 2007 compared to 14% in the year end impairment test in 2008. This
change was the key factor contributing to the $105.8 million impairment charge that was recorded in the fourth quarter of 2008.
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        Given the significant decline in the stock market in general and specifically the Company's stock price and market capitalization in 2009, which declined
39% from an average stock price of $12.90 per share as of December 28, 2008 to $7.80 per share as of February 28, 2009, the Company performed an impairment
test for goodwill in accordance with Topic 350 as of February 28, 2009. The test indicated that the book value for the KGS segment exceeded the fair values of
these businesses and resulted in the Company recording a charge totaling $41.3 million in the KGS segment in the first quarter of 2009, for the impairment of
goodwill. The impairment charge was primarily driven by adverse equity market conditions that caused a decrease in current market multiples and the Company's
average stock price as of February 28, 2009, compared with the test performed as of December 28, 2008. The Company's forecasts of growth rates and operating
margins had not changed as of February 28, 2009 as compared to the forecasts which were used as of December 28, 2008. The Company reconciles the fair value
of its reporting units, which is calculated using the income approach to the Company's market capitalization. As a result of this reconciliation, it was noted that
investors were requiring a higher rate of return, and therefore, the discount factor which is based upon an estimated market participant WACC increased 300 basis
points from 14% in the Company's year-end impairment test in 2008 as compared to 17% in the Company's 2009 first quarter interim impairment test. This
change was the key factor contributing to the $41.3 million goodwill impairment charge that was recorded in the first quarter of 2009.

        The 2009 and 2010 annual tests did not result in any impairment charge as there was an increase in market multiples and market capitalization compared to
the 2008 annual test and the February 28, 2009 interim test. If an event occurs or circumstances change that would more likely than not reduce the fair value of a
reporting unit below its carrying value, the Company will evaluate goodwill for impairment between annual tests in accordance with Topic 350.

        The changes in the carrying amounts of goodwill for the years ended December 27, 2009 and December 26, 2010, are as follows (in millions):

        The accumulated impairment losses as of December 27, 2009 and December 26, 2010 were $165.4 million; $147.1 million associated with the KGS segment
and $18.3 million associated with the PSS segment.

Purchased Intangible Assets

        As of December 27, 2009 and December 26, 2010, the value of indefinite-lived intangible assets which are related to trade names were none and
$24.5 million, respectively.
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Public
Safety &
Security  

Kratos
Government

Solutions  Goodwill  
Balance as of December 28, 2008  $ — $ 152.2 $ 152.2 
 Acquisitions and purchase accounting adjustments   —  (0.7)  (0.7)
 Impairment of Government Solutions goodwill   —  (41.3)  (41.3)
        

Balance as of December 27, 2009   —  110.2  110.2 
 Additions due to business combinations   32.4  83.8  116.2 
        

Balance as of December 26, 2010  $ 32.4 $ 194.0 $ 226.4 
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        The following tables set forth information for finite-lived intangible assets subject to amortization (in millions):

        The aggregate amortization expense for finite-lived intangible assets was $4.9 million, $5.7 million and $9.2 million for the years ended December 28, 2008,
December 27, 2009, and December 26, 2010, respectively. The increase in intangible assets in 2010 was a result of the Company's acquisitions (see Note 3).

        Information about estimated amortization expense for intangible assets subject to amortization for the five years succeeding December 26, 2010, is as
follows (in millions):

Note 3. Acquisitions

Acquisitions Accounted for Under the Acquisition Method

Henry Bros. Electronics, Inc.

        On December 15, 2010, the Company acquired Henry Bros. Electronics, Inc. ("HBE") in a cash merger for a purchase price of $56.6 million, of which
$54.9 million was paid in cash and $1.7 million reflects the fair value of options to purchase common stock of HBE that were assumed by the Company and
converted into options to purchase Kratos common stock upon completion of the merger. Upon completion of the merger, holders of HBE common stock received
$8.20 in cash for each share of HBE common stock held by them immediately prior to the closing of the merger. In addition, upon completion of the merger, all
options to purchase HBE common stock were assumed by
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  As of December 27, 2009  As of December 26, 2010  

  
Gross
Value  

Accumulated
Amortization  

Net
Value  

Gross
Value  

Accumulated
Amortization  

Net
Value  

Acquired intangible assets:                    
 Customer relationships  $ 22.1 $ (6.5) $ 15.6 $ 41.5 $ (10.0) $ 31.5 
 Contracts and backlog   17.4  (9.8)  7.6  24.5  (13.9)  10.6 
 Developed technology and technical know-how   3.1  (0.5)  2.6  22.1  (1.9)  20.2 
 Trade names   1.2  (0.5)  0.7  1.2  (0.6)  0.6 
 Favorable lease   —  —  —  1.8  (0.1)  1.7 
              

  Total  $ 43.8 $ (17.3) $ 26.5 $ 91.1 $ (26.5) $ 64.6 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
Amortization

Expense  
2011  $ 12.1 
2012   9.7 
2013   8.9 
2014   7.5 
2015   6.6 
Thereafter   19.8 
    

 $ 64.6 
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the Company (the "Assumed Options") and converted into options to purchase Kratos common stock, entitling the holders thereof to receive 0.7715 shares of
Kratos common stock for each share of HBE common stock underlying the Assumed Options. The Assumed Options will be exerciseable for an aggregate of
approximately 0.4 million shares of Kratos common stock. The fair value of unvested options which are related to future service will be expensed as the service is
performed over the weighted average vesting period of 2.5 years.

        HBE is a leading provider of homeland security solutions, products, and system integration services, including the design, engineering and operation of
command and control systems for the protection of strategic assets and critical infrastructure in the U. S. HBE also has particular expertise in the design,
engineering, deployment and operation of specialized surveillance, thermal imaging, analytics, radar, and biometrics technology based security systems.
Representative HBE programs and customers include DoD agencies, nuclear power generation facilities, state government and municipality related agencies,
major national airports, major harbors, railways, tunnel systems, energy centers, power plants, and related infrastructure. HBE is part of Kratos' PSS business
segment.

        HBE has been in business for over 50 years and has established relationships with manufacturing partners, industry colleagues, and customers demanding
some of the most sophisticated security solutions available. The Company has a national footprint that includes offices in New York, New Jersey, Virginia,
Maryland, Texas, Arizona, Colorado and California. The combination of the Company's existing PSS businesses with one of the leading homeland security
solutions and high end security system design and engineering services providers in the industry today strategically strengthens the Company's overall capabilities
and enhances its customer offerings and overall contract portfolio.

        The excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed in the acquisition was
allocated to goodwill. The value of the goodwill represents the value the Company expects to be created by enabling it to strategically expand its strengths in the
areas of homeland security solutions and will also enable the Company to realize significant cross selling opportunities, and increase its sales of higher margin,
fixed price products.

        The HBE transaction has been accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting which requires, among other things, that the assets acquired and
liabilities assumed be recognized at their fair
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values as of the merger date. The following table summarizes the estimated fair values of major assets acquired and liabilities assumed (in millions):

        The goodwill recorded in this transaction is not tax deductible.

        As of December 15, 2010, the expected fair value of accounts receivable approximated the historical cost. The gross accounts receivable was $28.6 million,
of which $0.9 million is not expected to be collectible.

        There were no contingent liabilities associated with the acquisition of HBE other than contingent liabilities of $0.4 million associated with HBE's acquisition
of Professional Security Technologies LLC ("PST") in September, 2010. The agreement with PST provides that the former shareholders of PST receive a 5%
payment for achievement of revenue amounts from certain customers for the period from June 1, 2010 through December 31, 2012.

        Revenue of $1.8 million and income before taxes of $0.2 million for HBE have been included in the consolidated statement of operations for the year ended
December 26, 2010.

Southside Container & Trailer, LLC

        On December 7, 2010, the Company acquired Southside Container & Trailer, LLC ("Southside" or "SCT") for $13.7 million of which $12.2 million in cash
was paid at closing, $0.3 million is being held as security for SCT's indemnification obligations as set forth in the Purchase Agreement and approximately
$1.2 million of which represents the acquisition date fair value of additional performance based consideration. Southside is a privately-held provider of national
security related command and control center, law enforcement, military aviation and data center products, shelters and solutions for the Department of Defense,
National Security agencies and related customers. Southside also provides products and solutions for specialized war fighter and critical asymmetric warfare
related missions. Southside is part of the KGS segment.

        Founded in 2002 and headquartered in Walterboro, South Carolina, Southside designs, engineers, manufactures and delivers various products, shelters and
solutions used primarily by the war fighter and
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Cash  $ 2.0 
Accounts receivable   27.7 
Inventory   1.2 
Deferred tax assets   1.0 
Other assets   1.2 
Property and equipment   1.8 
Intangible assets   18.6 
Goodwill   32.4 
    

 Total assets   85.9 
Current liabilities   (21.8)
Deferred tax liabilities   (6.8)
Long-term liabilities   (0.7)
    

 Net assets acquired  $ 56.6 
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first responder in fulfilling their respective national security missions. Representative end customers and program locations include the United States Army,
Marine Corps, Special Operations Command, Space and Naval Warfare Systems Center, Fort Bragg, Fort Lewis, Fort Bliss, Fort McGregor, Fort Irwin, Fort
Stewart, the Border Patrol and the National Guard. Southside is known for its superior design, engineering, and construction and its on schedule and on budget
delivery of cost effective products and solutions that meet critical and special mission national security and asymmetric warfare requirements.

        The SCT Agreement provides that upon achievement of certain earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, and amortization ("EBITDA") amounts in 2011,
2012 and 2013, the Company shall pay the former stockholders of SCT certain additional performance-based consideration ("SCT Contingent Consideration").
The potential undiscounted amount of all future SCT Contingent Consideration that may be payable by the Company under the SCT Agreement is between zero
and $3.5 million.

        The fair value of the SCT Contingent Consideration of $1.2 million was estimated by applying the income approach, which is based on significant inputs
that are not observable in the market, which Topic 820 refers to as Level 3 inputs. Key assumptions include a discount rate of 6.1%, a market participant cost of
debt at the date of acquisition, and probability-adjusted levels for EBITDA. Any change in the fair value of the SCT Contingent Consideration subsequent to
December 7, 2010, including changes from events after such date, will be recognized in earnings in the period the estimated fair value changes. The SCT
Contingent Consideration as of December 26, 2010 is reflected in long-term liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet.

        The excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed in the acquisition was
allocated to goodwill. The value of the goodwill represents the value the Company expects to be created by enabling it to strategically expand its products and
solutions that meet critical and special mission national security and asymmetric warfare requirements. It will also enable the Company to realize significant cross
selling opportunities, and increase its sales of higher margin, fixed price products.

        The Southside transaction has been accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting which requires, among other things, that the assets acquired
and liabilities assumed be recognized at their fair values as of the merger date. The following table summarizes the estimated fair values of major assets acquired
and liabilities assumed (in millions):

        The goodwill recorded in this transaction is tax deductible.
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Cash  $ 0.4 
Accounts receivable   0.2 
Other current assets   0.5 
Property and equipment   2.8 
Intangible assets   3.6 
Goodwill   6.9 
    

 Total assets   14.4 
Current liabilities   (0.7)
    

 Net assets acquired  $ 13.7 
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        As of December 7, 2010, the expected fair value of accounts receivable approximated the historical cost. The gross accounts receivable was $0.2 million, all
of which is expected to be collectible.

        Revenue of $0.1 million and a loss before taxes of $0.0 million for SCT have been included in the consolidated statement of operations for the year ended
December 26, 2010.

DEI Services Corporation

        On August 9, 2010, the Company acquired DEI Services Corporation ("DEI"), in a cash merger valued at approximately $14.0 million, of which $9.0 million
was paid in cash at closing and approximately $5.0 million of which represented the acquisition date fair value of additional performance-based consideration, of
which $0.4 million was achieved and paid in September 2010. DEI is part of the KGS segment.

        Founded in 1996 and headquartered in Orlando, Florida, DEI designs, manufactures and markets full-scale training simulation products. In addition to the
engineering and construction of physical simulators for air and ground military vehicles, DEI provides instructional design, courseware creation, learning
application programming and other supporting services. Among DEI's most successful products are training and simulation solutions for fixed-wing aircraft
(including the Tiger, Harrier and Prowler aircraft), rotor-wing aircraft (including Blackhawk, Chinook and Sea Stallion helicopters) and Ground Combat Vehicles
(including the M1 Abrams Main Battle Tank and M2 Bradley Fighting Vehicle).

        Pursuant to the terms of that the applicable agreement and plan of merger (the "DEI Agreement"), upon achievement of certain cash receipts, revenue,
EBITDA and backlog amounts in 2010, 2011 and 2012, the Company will be obligated pay certain additional contingent consideration (the "DEI Contingent
Consideration"). The potential undiscounted amount of all future DEI Contingent Consideration that may be payable by the Company under the DEI Agreement
is between zero and $12.3 million. The DEI Contingent Consideration will be reduced in the event certain anticipated cash receipts are not collected within agreed
upon time periods, which could decrease the future payments by approximately $8.6 million.

        The fair value of the DEI Contingent Consideration of $5.0 million was estimated by applying the income approach, which is based on significant inputs that
are not observable in the market, which Topic 820 refers to as Level 3 inputs. Key assumptions include a discount rate of 5.8%, a market participant cost of debt
at the date of acquisition, and probability-adjusted levels of cash receipts, revenue, EBITDA and backlog. Any change in the fair value of the DEI Contingent
Consideration subsequent to August 9, 2010, including changes from events after such date, such as changes in the meeting of performance goals, will be
recognized in earnings in the period the estimated fair value changes. The balance of the DEI Contingent Consideration as of December 26, 2010 of $4.6 million
is reflected in long term liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet.

        The excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed in the acquisition was
allocated to goodwill. The value of the goodwill represents the value the Company expects to be created by enabling it to strategically expand the Company's
workforce learning, performance and training solutions to support the warfighter as well as its other defense, security and government customers.
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        The DEI transaction has been accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting which requires, among other things, that the assets acquired and
liabilities assumed be recognized at their fair values as of the merger date. The following table summarizes the estimated fair values of major assets acquired and
liabilities assumed as part of the DEI transaction (in millions):

        The goodwill recorded in this transaction is not tax deductible.

        As of August 9, 2010, the expected fair value of accounts receivable approximated the historical cost. The gross accounts receivable was $6.9 million, all of
which is expected to be collectible.

        Revenue of $6.7 million and income before taxes of $0.1 million for DEI have been included in the consolidated statement of operations for the year ended
December 26, 2010.

Gichner Holdings, Inc.

        On May 19, 2010, the Company acquired Gichner pursuant to the Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of April 12, 2010, by and between the Company and
the stockholders of Gichner, in a cash for stock transaction valued at approximately $133.0 million. Gichner has manufacturing and operating facilities in
Dallastown and York, Pennsylvania and Charleston, South Carolina, and is a manufacturer of tactical military products, combat support facilities, subsystems,
modular systems and shelters primarily for the DoD and leading defense system providers. Representative programs for which Gichner provides products and
solutions include the MQ—1C Sky Warrior, Gorgon Stare, MQ—8B Fire Scout and RQ—7 Shadow Unmanned Aerial Vehicles, the Command Post Platform and
Joint Light Tactical Vehicle Tactical Combat Vehicles, DDG-1000 Modular C5 Compartments and the Persistent Threat Detection System ISR Platform. Gichner
is part of the KGS segment.

        The excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed in the acquisition was
allocated to goodwill. The value of the goodwill represents the value the Company expects to be created by enabling it to strategically expand its strengths in the
areas of weapons system sustainment, C5ISR, military preset/reset and foreign military sales ("FMS"). It will also enable the Company to realize significant cross
selling opportunities, pursue new and larger contracts and increase its sales of higher margin, fixed price products.
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Cash  $ — 
Accounts receivable   6.9 
Inventory   1.0 
Other current assets   0.1 
Property and equipment   0.9 
Intangible assets   3.4 
Goodwill   8.5 
Other assets   0.1 
    

Total assets   20.9 
Current liabilities   (5.2)
Long-term liabilities   (0.3)
Deferred tax liabilities   (1.4)
    

Net assets acquired  $ 14.0 
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        Upon completion of the Gichner transaction, the Company deposited $8.1 million of the purchase price into an escrow account as security for Gichner's
indemnification obligations as set forth in the Purchase Agreement. In addition, the Purchase Agreement provides that the purchase price will be (i) increased on a
dollar for dollar basis if the working capital on the closing date (as defined in the Purchase Agreement) exceeds $17.5 million or (ii) decreased on a dollar for
dollar basis if the working capital is less than $17.1 million. The Company and Altus Capital Partners, Inc., the seller's representative under the Purchase
Agreement (the "Seller's Representative") have agreed to a working capital adjustment of $0.3 million owed to Kratos. The Seller's Representative is disputing an
additional working capital adjustment of $0.9 million to which the Company believes it is entitled.

        The Gichner transaction has been accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting which requires, among other things, the assets acquired and
liabilities assumed be recognized at their fair values as of the merger date. The following table summarizes the estimated fair values of major assets acquired and
liabilities assumed as part of the Gichner transaction. (in millions):

        The goodwill recorded in this transaction is not tax deductible.

        As of May 19, 2010, the expected fair value of accounts receivable approximated the historical cost. The gross accounts receivable was $15.6 million, of
which $0.4 million is not expected to be collectible.

        Gichner has two primary areas of contingent liabilities: environmental and uncertain tax liabilities. Additionally, Gichner is involved in various commercial
disputes and employment matters. The majority of the contingent liabilities have been recorded at fair value in the allocation of acquired assets and liabilities or
purchase price, aside from those pertaining to uncertainty in income taxes which are an exception to the fair value basis of accounting; however certain
environmental matters that are inherently legal contingencies in nature are recorded at the probable and estimable amount. As of the acquisition date
approximately $0.2 million has been recorded for probable and estimable environmental and employment litigation.

        Revenue of $98.1 million and income before taxes of $4.8 million for Gichner have been included in the consolidated statement of operations for the year
ended December 26, 2010.
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Cash  $ 0.1 
Accounts receivable   15.2 
Inventoried costs, net of progress payments   24.2 
Other current assets   8.7 
Property and equipment   19.0 
Intangible assets   46.3 
Goodwill   68.4 
Other assets   1.8 
    

Total assets   183.7 
Current liabilities   (29.7)
Other liabilities   (21.0)
    

Net assets acquired  $ 133.0 
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        In accordance with Topic 805, the allocation of the purchase price for the Company's acquisitions of Gichner, DEI, Southside, and HBE are subject to
adjustment during the measurement period after the respective closing dates when additional information on asset and liability valuations becomes available. The
Company has not finalized its valuation of certain assets and liabilities recorded in connection with the Gichner, DEI, SCT, and HBE transactions, including,
intangible assets, environmental liabilities and deferred taxes. Thus, the provisional measurements recorded are subject to change and any changes will be
recorded as adjustments to the fair value of those assets and liabilities and residual amounts will be allocated to goodwill. The final valuation adjustments may
also require adjustment to the consolidated statements of operations.
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        The following tables summarize the fair value of identifiable intangible assets acquired during the fiscal year ended December 26, 2010 (in millions) and the
weighted average amortization period of each class of intangible for the Gichner, DEI, Southside, and HBE transactions.
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HBE  
Gross
Value  

Estimated
Weighted
Average

Amortization
Period

(in years)  
Trade name  $ 15.8  Indefinite 
Customer contracts   2.8  3 
       

 Total  $ 18.6    
  

 
    

SCT  
Gross
Value  

Estimated
Weighted
Average

Amortization
Period

(in years)  
Customer relationships  $ 3.4  7 
Funded backlog   0.2  1 
       

 Total  $ 3.6    
  

 
    

DEI  
Gross
Value  

Estimated
Weighted
Average

Amortization
Period

(in years)  
Customer relationships  $ 1.6  5.4 
Backlog   1.8  2.4 
       

 Total  $ 3.4    
  

 
    

Gichner  
Gross
Value  

Estimated
Weighted
Average

Amortization
Period

(in years)  
Customer relationships  $ 14.4  9.1 
Funded backlog   2.4  1.0 
Technical know-how   19.0  10.0 
Favorable operating lease   1.8  11.3 
Trade names   8.7  Indefinite 
       

 Total  $ 46.3    
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Acquisitions Accounted for Under the Purchase Method

Digital Fusion, Inc.

        On December 24, 2008, the Company acquired DFI in a stock for stock transaction for approximately $37.0 million. DFI provides Command, Control,
Communications, Computing, Intelligence, Surveillance, and Reconnaissance (C4ISR) and technical engineering services, Unmanned Aerial Vehicle (UAV)
products and technology and has significant engineering, modeling and simulation capabilities. The acquisition of DFI provided Kratos with new customers and
an expanded contract vehicle portfolio, in addition to expanding the range of service offerings to existing Kratos customers. Principal customers of DFI include
the Army Aviation and Missile Research, Development and Engineering Center (AMRDEC), Army Space and Missile Defense Command/Army Forces Strategic
Command (ARSTRAT), NASA Marshall Space Flight Center, and certain classified customers. The aforementioned factors are the primary reason for the
acquisition and the amount subsequently assigned to goodwill.

        The purchase price of $37.0 million included direct transaction costs of $0.9 million. The Company issued 2.3 million shares to DFI shareholders and
assumed DFI options which were exercisable for approximately 1.0 million shares of Kratos common stock. The value of the purchase price related to the
common stock issued was derived from the number of shares of Kratos common stock issued of 2.3 million, based on 12.8 million shares of DFI common stock
outstanding and the exchange ratio of 0.17933 for each DFI share, at a price of $12.70 per share, the average closing price of Kratos shares of common stock on
the announcement date and for the two days prior to and two days subsequent to the public announcement of the merger on November 24, 2008. The Company
assumed DFI options valued at the exchange ratio of 0.17933 for each DFI option. The fair value of the assumed options that was allocated to goodwill based
upon the Black-Scholes pricing model was $7.0 million. The fair value of unvested options which are related to future service will be expensed as the service is
performed over the weighted average vesting period of 1.2 years. The results of operations of DFI are included in the accompanying consolidated financial
statements for the year ended December 27, 2009 and December 26, 2010.
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        The following summarizes the allocation of the purchase price, including transaction costs of $0.9 million, to the fair value of the assets acquired and
liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition (in millions):

        The goodwill recorded in this transaction was not tax deductible with the exception of approximately $3.6 million which was tax deductible to DFI.

        No revenue or income for DFI was included in the consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 28, 2008.

SYS Technologies

        On June 28, 2008, the Company acquired 100% of the voting equity interests of San Diego-based SYS Technologies (SYS). SYS provides a range of C4ISR
and net-centric solutions to federal, state, local and other customers. The combination of SYS and Kratos created a broad, complementary set of offerings, and
positioned the organization to deliver proven capabilities to a wider spectrum of customers in the areas of highly-specialized engineering and IT solutions and
services, specifically in the areas of weapon systems life cycle support and extension, military range operations, missile and weapon system testing, and C4ISR.
The amount of goodwill assigned in the allocation of purchase price is primarily attributable to the aforementioned advantages of this acquisition.

        The purchase price of $55.9 million included direct transaction costs of $2.4 million and estimated restructuring costs of $2.6 million to be paid by Kratos.
The value of the purchase price related to the common stock issued was derived from the number of shares of Kratos common stock issued of 2.5 million, based
on 20.1 million shares of SYS common stock outstanding and the exchange ratio of 0.12582 for each SYS share, at a price of $20.22 per share, the average
closing price of Kratos common stock on the announcement date and for the two days prior to and two days subsequent to the public announcement of the merger
on February 21, 2008.

        The consolidated statements of operations for the years ended December 28, 2008, December 27, 2009 and December 26, 2010, includes the results of SYS's
operations from the date of acquisition, June 28, 2008.
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Cash  $ 2.3 
Accounts receivable, net   10.0 
Other current assets   0.1 
Property and equipment, net   1.0 
Intangible assets   9.3 
Goodwill   23.8 
Other assets   0.4 
    

Total assets   46.9 
Current liabilities   (9.0)
Other liabilities   (0.9)
    

Net assets acquired  $ 37.0 
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        The following summarizes the allocation of the purchase price, including transaction costs of $2.4 million, to the fair value of the assets acquired and
liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition (in millions):

        The goodwill recorded in this transaction was not tax deductible with the exception of approximately $6.7 million which was tax deductible to SYS.

        Revenue of $34.7 million and a loss before taxes of $3.9 million for SYS were included in the consolidated statement of operations for the year ended
December 28, 2008.

Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information

        The following tables summarize the supplemental statements of operations information on an unaudited pro forma basis as if the acquisitions of Gichner,
DEI, Southside, and HBE had occurred on December 29, 2008, and include adjustments that were directly attributable to the transactions or were not expected to
have a continuing impact on the Company. Included in the pro forma adjustments for 2010 are transaction expenses of $10.1 million which are directly
attributable to the transactions. There are no material, nonrecurring pro forma adjustments directly attributable to the business combinations included in the
reported pro forma revenue and earnings for 2009. The pro forma results are for illustrative purposes only for the applicable period and do not purport to be
indicative of the actual results which would have occurred had the transaction been completed as of the beginning of the
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Cash  $ 4.0 
Accounts receivable, net   13.6 
Other current assets   1.7 
Property and equipment, net   1.4 
Intangible assets   8.9 
Goodwill   40.1 
Other assets   0.2 
    

Total assets   69.9 
Current liabilities   (13.2)
Other liabilities   (0.8)
    

Net assets acquired  $ 55.9 
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period, nor are they indicative of results of operations which may occur in the future (all amounts, except per share amounts are in millions):

        The total shares issued on October 12, 2010 related to the HBE acquisition were 2.5 million and as a result 0.5 million shares were included in the 2010 As
Reported basic and diluted shares outstanding.

Contingent Acquisition Consideration

        In connection with business acquisitions prior to 2010, Madison Research Corporation ("MRC") and Haverstick Consulting Inc. ("Haverstick"), and the
current year's acquisitions of DEI and Southside, the Company agreed to make additional future payments to sellers contingent upon achievement of specific
performance-based milestones by the acquired entities. Pursuant to the provisions of Topic 805 such amounts are accrued, and therefore, recorded by the
Company when the contingency is resolved beyond a reasonable doubt and the additional consideration becomes payable. For acquisitions in 2010, the estimated
fair value of contingent acquisition consideration is recorded as a liability assumed in the related initial purchase price allocation.
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2010

As Reported  

Pro forma
Adjustments
(unaudited)  

2010
Pro forma

(unaudited)  
Pro forma revenue  $ 408.5 $ 148.7 $ 557.2 
Pro forma net income   14.6  (10.2)  4.4 
Basic shares outstanding or issued for acquisition   16.6  2.0  18.6 
Diluted shares outstanding or issued for

acquisition   16.9  2.0  18.9 
Basic pro forma net income per share  $ 0.88 $ (0.64) $ 0.24 
Diluted pro forma net income per share  $ 0.87 $ (0.64) $ 0.23 

  
2009

As Reported  

Pro forma
Adjustments
(unaudited)  

2009
Pro forma

(unaudited)  
Pro forma revenue  $ 334.5 $ 234.1 $ 586.6 
Pro forma net loss   (38.3  (12.4)  (50.7)
Shares outstanding or issued for acquisition   13.9  2.5  16.4 
Basic and diluted pro forma net loss per share  $ (2.76) $ (0.33) $ (3.09)
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        A summary of contingent acquisition consideration as of December 27, 2009 and December 26, 2010 is summarized in the following table (in millions):

        The contingent consideration as of December 26, 2010 of $5.8 million is reflected in long-term liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet.

Note 4. Balance Sheet Details

        The detail of certain assets in the consolidated balance sheets consists of the following (in millions).

Cash and cash equivalents

        The Company's cash equivalents consist of overnight cash sweep accounts that are invested on a daily basis. As of December 26, 2010, the Company had no
short-term investments. The cash and cash equivalents at December 27, 2009 and December 26, 2010 were as follows:

        Net unrealized and realized gains recorded during the years ended December 27, 2009 and December 26, 2010 were immaterial.
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  Haverstick  MRC  DEI  Southside  Total  
Balance as of December 28, 2008  $ 8.9 $ 2.5 $ — $ — $ 11.4 
 Issuance of stock   (7.4)  —  —  —  (7.4)
 Principal and interest cash payments   (1.2)  (2.4)  —  —  (3.6)
 Post acquisition adjustments and interest accruals   (0.3)  (0.1)  —  —  (0.4)
            

Balance as of December 27, 2009   —  —  —  —  — 
            

 

Fair value of contingent acquisition consideration assumed in
acquisitions   —  —  5.0  1.2  6.2 

 Cash payments   —  —  (0.4)  —  (0.4)
            

Balance as of December 26, 2010  $ — $ — $ 4.6 $ 1.2 $ 5.8 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  December 27, 2009  December 26, 2010  

  

Amortized
Cost
Basis  

Fair Value
Basis  

Amortized
Cost
Basis  

Fair Value
Basis  

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 9.9 $ 9.9 $ 10.8 $ 10.8 
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Accounts receivable, net

        Receivables including amounts due under long-term contracts, are summarized as follows:

        Unbilled receivables represent the balance of recoverable costs and accrued profit, comprised principally of revenue recognized on contracts for which
billings have not been presented to the customer because the amounts were earned but not contractually billable as of the balance sheet date. Retainages
receivable are $4.1 million as of December 27, 2009 and $4.9 million as of December 26, 2010 and are included in accounts receivable, net in the consolidated
balance sheets.

U.S. Government contract receivables (included in accounts receivable, net)

Inventoried costs, net of progress payments
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December 27,

2009  
December 26,

2010  
Billed, current  $ 42.8 $ 85.0 
Unbilled, current   36.6  41.5 
      

 Total current accounts receivable   79.4  126.5 
Allowance for doubtful accounts   (0.8)  (0.7)
      

 Total current accounts receivable, net   78.6  125.8 
Unbilled, long-term (included in other long term assets)   0.3  0.3 
      

  Total accounts receivable, net  $ 78.9 $ 126.1 
  

 
 

 
 

  
December 27,

2009  
December 26,

2010  
Billed  $ 18.8 $ 22.4 
Unbilled   22.8  17.0 
      

 Total U.S. Government contract receivables  $ 41.6 $ 39.4 
  

 
 

 
 

  
December 27,

2009  
December 26,

2010  
Raw materials  $ — $ 16.5 
Work in process   —  7.9 
Finished goods   —  1.1 
Supplies and other   1.9  5.8 
Less: U.S. Government advances, performance-based

payments, and progress payments   —  (5.4)
      

 Total inventoried costs, net  $ 1.9 $ 25.9 
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Property and equipment, net

        Depreciation expense was $2.4 million, $2.6 million and $3.7 million for the years ended December 28, 2008, December 27, 2009, and December 26, 2010,
respectively.

Note 5. Debt

$225 Million May 2010 10% Senior Secured Note Offering

        On May 19, 2010, the Company issued the Original Notes in an unregistered offering pursuant to Rule 144A and Regulation S under the Securities Act. On
August 11, 2010, the Company completed an exchange offer for the Original Notes pursuant to a registration rights agreement entered into in connection with the
issuance of the Original Notes. In the exchange offer, the Company offered to exchange the Original Notes for a like aggregate amount of 10% Senior Secured
Notes due June 1, 2017 registered under the Securities Act. The Exchange Notes have substantially similar terms as the Original Notes, except that the Exchange
Notes do not have transfer restrictions or registration rights. The Exchange Notes are fully and unconditionally guaranteed, jointly and severally, on a senior
secured basis by the Company and each of its subsidiaries, as the guarantors thereof. The Company pays interest on the Exchange Notes semi-annually, in arrears,
on June 1 and December 1 of each year, which began on December 1, 2010.

        The Exchange Notes are secured by a lien on substantially all of the Company's assets and the assets of the guarantors thereunder, subject to certain
exceptions and permitted liens. The holders of the Exchange Notes have a first priority lien on substantially all assets of the Company and the guarantors, except
accounts receivable, inventories, deposit accounts, securities accounts, cash, securities and general intangibles (other than intellectual property) where the holders
of the Exchange Notes have a second priority lien to the $35.0 million revolving credit facility described below.

        The Exchange Notes include customary covenants and events of default as well as a consolidated fixed charge ratio of 2.0 for the incurrence of additional
indebtedness. Negative covenants include, among other things, limitations on additional debt, liens, negative pledges, investments, dividends, stock repurchases,
asset sales and affiliate transactions. Events of default include, among other events, non-performance of covenants, breach of representations, cross-default to
other material debt,
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December 27,

2009  
December 26,

2010  
Land and buildings  $ — $ 9.1 
Computer equipment and software   7.6  10.0 
Machinery and equipment   —  12.1 
Furniture and office equipment   5.1  6.2 
Facility under capital lease   0.9  1.0 
Leasehold improvements   2.2  4.2 
      

 Property and equipment   15.8  42.6 
Accumulated depreciation and amortization   (11.5)  (14.2)
      

 Total property and equipment, net  $ 4.3 $ 28.4 
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Note 5. Debt (Continued)

bankruptcy, insolvency, material judgments and changes in control. As of December 26, 2010, the Company was in compliance with the covenants contained in
the Exchange Notes.

        On or after June 1, 2014, the Company may redeem some or all of the Exchange Notes at 105% of the aggregate principal amount of such notes through
June 1, 2015, 102.5% of the aggregate principal amount of such notes through June 1, 2016 and 100% of the aggregate principal amount of such notes thereafter,
plus accrued and unpaid interest to the date of redemption. Prior to June 1, 2013, the Company may redeem up to 35% of the aggregate principal amount of the
Exchange Notes at 110% of the aggregate principal amount of the Exchange Notes, plus accrued and unpaid interest to the redemption date, with the net cash
proceeds of certain equity offerings. In addition, the Company may, at its option, redeem some or all of the Exchange Notes at any time prior to June 1, 2014, by
paying a "make whole" premium, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to the date of redemption.

$35 Million Credit Facility

        Concurrent with the completion of the offering of the Original Notes, on May 19, 2010, the Company entered into a Credit and Security Agreement (the
"Credit Agreement") with certain lenders and with KeyBank National Association ("KeyBank"), as administrative agent, lead arranger and sole book runner, for a
four year senior secured revolving credit facility in the amount of $25.0 million (the "Revolver"). The Revolver is secured by a lien on substantially all of the
Company's assets and the assets of the guarantors thereunder, subject to certain exceptions and permitted liens. The Revolver has a first priority lien on accounts
receivable, inventories, deposit accounts, securities accounts, cash, securities and general intangibles (other than intellectual property). On all other assets, the
Revolver has a second priority lien to the Exchange Notes.

        The Revolver is available for four years and may be increased to $45.0 million. The increases in the Revolver are subject to the consent of KeyBank and
compliance with covenants in the Exchange Notes. The amounts of borrowings that may be made under the Revolver are based on a borrowing base and are
comprised of specified percentages of eligible receivables, eligible unbilled receivables and eligible inventory. If the amount of borrowings outstanding under the
Revolver exceeds the borrowing base then in effect, then the Company is required to repay such borrowings in an amount sufficient to eliminate such excess. The
Revolver includes $10.0 million of availability for letters of credit and $5.0 million of availability for swingline loans.

        The Company may borrow funds under the Revolver at a base rate based either on LIBOR or a base rate established by KeyBank. Base rate borrowings bear
interest at an applicable margin of 1.25% to 2.0% over the base rate (which will be the greater of the prime rate or 0.5% over the federal funds rate, with a floor of
1.0% over one month LIBOR). LIBOR rate borrowings will bear interest at an applicable margin of 3.25% to 4.0% over the LIBOR rate. The applicable margin
for base rate borrowings and LIBOR borrowings will depend on the average monthly revolving credit availability. The Revolver also has a commitment fee of
0.75% to 1.0%, depending on the average monthly revolving credit availability.

        Borrowings under the Revolver are subject to mandatory prepayment upon the occurrence of certain events, including the issuance of certain securities, the
incurrence of certain debt and the sale or other disposition of certain assets. The Revolver includes customary affirmative and negative
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covenants and events of default, as well as a financial covenant relating to a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio of 1.25. Negative covenants include, among
other limitations, limitations on additional debt, liens, negative pledges, investments, dividends, stock repurchases, asset sales and affiliate transactions. Events of
default include, among other events, non-performance of covenants, breach of representations, cross-default to other material debt, bankruptcy and insolvency,
material judgments and changes in control.

        On December 13, 2010, the Company entered into a First Amendment Agreement (the "Amendment Agreement"), with certain lenders and KeyBank, as
administrative agent, lead arranger and sole book runner, which amended the "Credit Agreement". Among other things, the Amendment Agreement: (i) increased
the amount of the senior secured revolving line of credit from $25 million to $35 million; (ii) modified the definitions of certain terms contained in the Credit
Agreement; (iii) amended certain borrowing covenants under the Credit Agreement to (a) increase the acceptable amount of additional Indebtedness (as defined in
the Credit Agreement) attributable to Senior Notes, unsecured Subordinated Indebtedness (both as defined in the Credit Agreement) and other unsecured
Indebtedness from $25 million to $100 million and (b) exempt certain performance based contingent obligations related to prior acquisitions from the borrowing
restrictions; and (iv) updated certain schedules to the Credit Agreement. As of December 26, 2010, there were no outstanding borrowings on the Revolver and
$2.4 million was outstanding on letters of credit resulting in net availability of $32.6 million. As of December 26, 2010, the Company was in compliance with the
covenants contained in the Revolver.

$60 Million Credit Facility

        Prior to May 19, 2010, the Company had a revolving credit facility with KeyBank, as administrative agent and lender, in the aggregate principal amount of
$60.0 million, which was secured by the assets of the Company and its subsidiaries. This Second Credit Facility was entered into on March 3, 2010 and was
comprised of (i) $35.0 million term loan facility and (ii) $25.0 million revolving line of credit. Bank of America, N.A., was syndication agent and lender, and
KeyBanc Capital Markets and Banc of America Securities LLC, acted as co-lead arrangers and book runners. All rates were subject to a LIBOR floor of 2.75%
and a "prime rate" floor of 5.25%. On May 19, 2010, the outstanding balance of $54.5 million was paid in full. As a result of the refinance, the Company recorded
an interest charge of approximately $1.7 million in the second quarter of 2010 relating to the write-off of previously deferred financing costs.

$85 Million Credit Facility

        During the fiscal years ended December 28, 2008 and December 27, 2009, the Company had a credit facility of $85.0 million with KeyBank, as
administrative agent. This First Credit Facility provided for (i) two term loans consisting of a first lien term note of $50.0 million and a second lien term note of
$10.0 million and (ii) a first lien $25.0 million revolving line of credit. The First Credit Facility was secured by the assets of the Company and its subsidiaries.
KeyBank held the revolving line of credit and the second lien term note. Field Point III, Ltd. and SPF CDO I, Ltd., both affiliates of Silverpoint, held the first lien
term note.
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        On March 3, 2010, the outstanding balance of $55.4 million was paid in full as a result of the refinance described above. Approximately $25.0 million of the
proceeds were used to pay in full the remaining balance on the first lien term loan under the First Credit Facility held by Silverpoint, at par, with no prepayment
penalties, pursuant to the Settlement Agreement that the Company entered into with Silverpoint in October 2009. As a result of the refinance, the Company
recorded an interest charge of approximately $2.2 million in the first quarter of 2010 relating to the write-off of previously deferred financing costs.

Notes Acquired in Acquisition of SYS

        During 2010, convertible notes of approximately $1.0 million which were acquired as a result of the SYS acquisition were paid in full. In August of 2010,
the Company paid-off approximately $0.5 million of the notes plus accrued interest in cash and holders of approximately $0.5 million of the notes elected to have
their notes converted into approximately 45,000 shares of the Company's common stock.

        Future maturities of long-term debt for each of the years ending 2011 through 2015 are zero.

Note 6. Lease Commitments

        The Company leases certain facilities and equipment under operating and capital leases having terms expiring at various dates through 2022. Future
minimum lease payments under capital and operating leases as of December 26, 2010 are as follows (in millions):
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Year  
Capital
Leases  

Net
Operating

Leases  
2011  $ 0.9 $ 6.0 
2012   0.8  4.0 
2013   0.6  2.9 
2014   0.3  2.2 
2015   —  2.1 
Thereafter   —  9.1 
      

 Total future minimum lease payments  $ 2.6 $ 26.3 
     

 
 

Less amount representing interest   0.9    
       

 Present value of capital lease obligations   1.7    
Less current portion   0.6    
       

 Long-term capital lease obligations  $ 1.1    
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        The following is an analysis of the leased property under capital leases by major class:

        Amortization expense related to capital leases was $0.2 million, $0.2 million and $0.3 million for the years ended December 28, 2008, December 27, 2009
and December 26, 2010, respectively.

        Gross rent expense under operating leases for the years ended December 28, 2008, December 27, 2009, and December 26, 2010 was $6.4 million,
$7.3 million, and $6.8 million, respectively. Total sublease income for the years ended December 28, 2008, December 27, 2009, and December 26, 2010, totaling
$0.4 million, $0.2 million, and $0.2 million, respectively, has been netted against rent expense.

        Based on management's assessment of assumptions considering existing market conditions, sublease rental rates and recoverability of operating lease
expenses for the Company's vacant properties and due to the Company's actions to consolidate facilities, the Company periodically reevaluates its accrual for
unused office space. As a result, in 2008, the Company recorded a $0.1 million excess facility accrual due to the consolidation of space that occurred as the
Company integrated its 2008 acquisitions. In addition, in 2009, the Company consolidated additional space at its Corporate Headquarters which resulted in an
additional excess facility accrual of $0.6 million.

        The accrual for loss on unused office space was $1.2 million, $0.7 million, and $0.1 million as of December 28, 2008, December 27, 2009 and December 26,
2010, respectively. The Company estimates that the remaining accrual will be paid through 2012. These amounts are included in impairments and adjustments to
the liability for unused office space on the Company's statements of operations and in other current liabilities and other liabilities in the consolidated balance
sheet. The lease on certain office facilities includes scheduled base rent increases over the term of the lease. The total amount of the base rent payments is being
charged to expense on the straight-line method over the term of the lease. In addition to the base rent payment, the Company pays a monthly allocation of the
building's operating expenses. The Company has recorded deferred rent, included in accrued expenses and other liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets, of
$0.4 million, $0.1 million, and $1.2 million at December 28, 2008, December 27, 2009 and December 26, 2010, respectively, to reflect the excess of rent expense
over cash payments since inception of the respective lease.

Note 7. Net Income (Loss) Per Common Share

        The Company calculates net income (loss) per share in accordance with ASC Topic 260, Earnings Per Share ("Topic 260"). Under Topic 260, basic net
income (loss) per common share is calculated by
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December 27,

2009  
December 26,

2010  
Classes of Property        
Facilities  $ 1.0 $ 1.0 
Vehicles   —  0.8 
Office equipment   0.2  0.5 
      

Total   1.2  2.3 
Less: Accumulated amortization   0.3  0.6 
      

 $ 0.9 $ 1.7 
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dividing net income (loss) by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the reporting period. Diluted net income (loss) per common
share reflects the effects of potentially dilutive securities.

        The Company has two classes of participating securities: common shares and preferred shares, representing 99% and 1% of outstanding shares, respectively.
The preferred shareholders have the ability to participate in dividends with common shareholders according to a predetermined formula (one for one) based upon
the conversion of preferred shares to common shares. For the year ended December 28, 2008 and December 27, 2009, the preferred shares were not included in
the computation of basic loss per share because the participating securities do not have a contractual obligation to share in the losses of the Company. Basic and
diluted income per share are calculated using the two-class method in accordance with Topic 260. Components of basic and diluted income (loss) per share were
as follows:

        The following shares were excluded from the calculation of diluted income per share because their inclusion would have been anti-dilutive.
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(In millions, except earnings per share)  
December 28,

2008  
December 27,

2009  
December 26,

2010  
Net income (loss) from continuing operations  $ (104.0) $ (38.3) $ 14.6 
Less net income from continuing operations allocated to preferred shareholders   —  —  (0.1)
        

Net income (loss) from continuing operations allocated to common
shareholders (A)  $ (104.0) $ (38.3) $ 14.5 

  
 
 

 
 

 
 

Weighted average outstanding shares of common stock (B)   9.3  13.9  16.5 
Weighted average shares from preferred stock   —  —  0.1 
        

Basic weighted average outstanding shares of common stock and participating
securities   9.3  13.9  16.6 

Dilutive effect of employee stock options and awards   —  —  0.3 
        

Common stock and common stock equivalents(C)   9.3  13.9  16.9 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

Net income (loss) from continuing operations per common share:           
Basic (A/B)  $ (11.18) $ (2.76) $ 0.88 
Diluted (A/C)  $ (11.18) $ (2.76) $ 0.87 

  2008  2009  2010  
Anti-dilutive weighted shares from stock options excluded from

calculation   1.8  1.6  1.2 
Anti-dilutive weighted shares from preferred stock excluded from

calculation   0.1  0.1  — 
Anti-dilutive weighted shares from convertible notes   0.1  0.1  — 
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        The following table summarizes the activity related to the Company's unrecognized tax benefits (in millions):

        Included in the balance of unrecognized tax benefits at December 26, 2010, are $12.4 million of tax benefits that, if recognized, would affect the effective tax
rate. Included in this amount is $8.9 million that would become a deferred tax asset if the tax benefit were recognized. As such, this benefit may be impacted by a
corresponding valuation allowance depending upon the Company's consolidated financial position at the time the benefits are recognized.

        The Company recognizes interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits in its provision for income taxes. For the years ended December 28,
2008, December 27, 2009 and December 26, 2010, the Company recorded $0.1 million, $0.1 million and $0.1 million, respectively, in interest or penalties. These
amounts are netted by a benefit for interest and penalties related to the reversal of prior positions as noted above of $0.5 million, $0.2 million, and $0.4 million for
the years ended December 28, 2008, December 27, 2009, and December 26, 2010, respectively. As of December 28, 2008, December 27, 2009, and December 26,
2010 the Company had recorded total interest and penalties of $0.8 million, $0.7 million, and $0.5 million, respectively.

        The Company believes that it is reasonably possible that as much as $2.7 million of unrecognized tax benefits will expire within 12 months of December 26,
2010 due to the expiration of various applicable statutes of limitations and possible settlement of a pending income tax refund claim.

        The Company is subject to taxation in the U.S. and various state tax jurisdictions. The Company's tax years for 2000 and forward are subject to examination
by the U.S. and state tax authorities due to the existence of net operating loss carryforwards. Generally, the Company's tax years for 2002 and forward are subject
to examination by various foreign tax authorities.

F-44

  Total  
Balance at December 31, 2007  $ 13.9 
 Increases related to prior periods   — 
 Decreases related to current year tax positions   — 
 Expiration of applicable statutes of limitations   (1.0)
 Foreign currency translation   (0.1)
    

Balance at December 28, 2008   12.8 
    

 Increases related to prior periods   — 
 Decreases related to current year tax positions   — 
 Expiration of applicable statutes of limitations   (0.3)
 Foreign currency translation   0.1 
    

Balance at December 27, 2009   12.6 
    

 Increases related to prior periods (acquired entities)   0.3 
 Increases related to current year tax positions   0.2 
 Expiration of applicable statutes of limitations   (0.7)
 Foreign currency translation   — 
    

Balance at December 26, 2010  $ 12.4 
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        In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets, management considers on a periodic basis, whether it is more likely than not that some portion or all of
the deferred tax assets will not be realized. As such, management has determined that it is appropriate to maintain a full valuation allowance against its deferred
tax assets, with the exception of an amount equal to its deferred tax liabilities which can be expected to reverse. Management will continue to evaluate the
necessity to maintain a valuation allowance against its deferred tax asset.

        The provision (benefit) for income taxes from continuing operations for the years ended December 28, 2008, December 27, 2009, and December 26, 2010
are comprised of the following (in millions):

        A reconciliation of total income tax provision (benefit) to the amount computed by applying the statutory federal income tax rate of 35% to loss from
continuing operations before income tax provision (benefit) for the years ended December 28, 2008, December 27, 2009 and December 26, 2010 is as follows (in
millions):
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  2008  2009  2010  
Current:           
 Federal  $ 0.0 $ 0.0 $ 0.1 
 State   1.3  1.0  1.6 
        

  Total current   1.3  1.0  1.7 
Deferred:           
 Federal   (1.7)  0.0  (12.6)
 State   (0.3)  0.0  (1.8)
        

  Total deferred   (2.0)  0.0  (14.4)
        

Total  $ (0.7) $ 1.0 $ (12.7)
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

  2008  2009  2010  
Income tax expense (benefit) at federal statutory rate  $ (36.6) $ (13.1) $ 0.6 
State taxes, net of federal tax benefit and valuation allowance   1.3  1.0  1.9 
Increase (decrease) in federal valuation allowance   1.9  1.7  (2.3)
Nondeductible expense   0.1  0.1  0.2 
Increase in reserve for uncertain tax positions   —  —  (0.2)
Transaction costs   —  —  0.7 
Impact of purchase accounting   —  —  (13.6)
Nondeductible goodwill impairment charges   32.6  11.3  — 
        

 Total  $ (0.7) $ 1.0 $ (12.7)
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        The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities as of December 27, 2009 and December 26, 2010
are as follows (in millions):

        At December 26, 2010, the Company had federal tax loss carryforwards of $202.3 million and various state tax loss carryforwards of $188.6 million
including net operating losses resulting from stock options of approximately $14.4 million for federal and state, which if recognized would result in additional
paid-in capital. The federal tax loss carryforwards expire beginning in 2020 through 2029, and the various state tax loss carryforwards expire beginning in 2012
through 2030. Federal and state tax laws impose restrictions on the utilization of net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards in the event of an "ownership
change" for tax purposes as defined by Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code. In March 2010 an "ownership change" occurred which will limit the utilization
of the loss carryforwards. As a result, the Company's federal annual utilization of NOL carryforwards will be limited to $28.1 million for five years and
$11.6 million per year thereafter. For the quarter and year ended December 26, 2010, there was no impact of such limitations on the income tax provision since
the amount of taxable income did not exceed the annual limitation amount. In addition, future equity offerings or acquisitions that have equity as a component of
the purchase price could also result in an "ownership change". If and when any other "ownership change" occurs, utilization of the NOL or other tax attributes
may be further limited. As discussed elsewhere, deferred tax assets relating to the
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  2009  2010  
Deferred tax assets:        
 Allowance for doubtful accounts  $ 0.8 $ 0.7 
 Sundry accruals   2.1  3.4 
 Vacation accrual   1.8  2.3 
 Stock-based compensation   10.5  4.1 
 Property and equipment, principally due to differences in depreciation   2.2  0.1 
 Investments   2.8  2.3 
 Net operating loss carryforwards   75.9  71.9 
 Capital loss carryforward   1.5  — 
 Tax credit carryforwards   0.3  0.3 
 Deferred revenue   0.2  0.2 
 Reserves and other   2.9  6.1 
      

  101.0  91.4 
 Valuation allowance   (96.2)  (70.5)
      

  Total deferred tax assets, net of allowance   4.8  20.9 
      

Deferred tax liabilities:        
 Unearned revenue   (0.8)  (0.1)
 Other intangibles   (2.6)  (28.1)
 Property and equipment, principally due to differences in depreciation   (1.4)  (2.4)
      

  Total deferred tax liabilities   (4.8)  (30.6)
      

  Net deferred tax asset (liability)  $ 0.0 $ (9.7)
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net operating loss and credit carryforwards are offset by a full valuation allowance. In addition, utilization of state tax loss carryforwards is dependent upon
sufficient taxable income apportioned to the states.

        In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets, management considers, on a periodic basis, whether it is more likely than not that some portion or all of
the deferred tax assets will not be realized. During fiscal 2010, the Company recorded a net decrease in its valuation allowance of $25.7 million. Of this amount, a
$13.6 million decrease relates to current year acquisitions, and a $12.1 million decrease is related to a decrease in the deferred tax asset which does not impact the
tax provision.

Note 9. Discontinued Operations

        In 2007, the Company entered into a definitive agreement with an affiliate of Platinum Equity to sell the Company's wireless deployment business. In
accordance with the acquisition agreement the Company came to an agreement with Platinum Equity on a working capital adjustment of $5.0 million. The
adjustment was to be paid in installments with the first amount of $2.5 million due on July 31, 2008 and payments of $0.5 million monthly thereafter until paid in
full in December 2008. The Company did not make the scheduled $2.5 million payment due as of July 31, 2008. Payments of $1.0 million were made in August
and September of 2008, with an additional $0.5 million paid in December 2008. In March of 2009, the Company paid $1.5 million of the working capital
adjustment. On August 4, 2009, the Company paid $1.3 million in full settlement of all amounts due to Platinum Equity.

        During the due diligence process related to the acquisition of SYS, senior management identified three business units of SYS which were non-core to Kratos'
base national security and public security businesses. These businesses provided video surveillance and information analysis products, digital broadcasting
products and incident response management systems. In December 2008, after evaluating these businesses further, a decision was made to dispose of and sell all
three business units. In accordance with ASC Topic 205, Presentation of Financial Statements ("Topic 205"), these business units were classified as held for sale
and reported in discontinued operations as of and for the year ended December 28, 2008. The Company recorded a $4.5 million impairment charge in the fourth
quarter of 2008 primarily related to the impairment of goodwill allocated to these businesses. In the first quarter of 2009, all three of the businesses were sold for
an aggregate cash consideration of approximately $0.4 million.

        In addition, the plan to sell these businesses included a comprehensive assessment of personnel, relocation of personnel, facility consolidation and exit
strategies for certain lines of business. The plan provided for approximately $2.0 million of restructuring costs associated with personnel, and additional costs of
$0.6 million for facilities consolidation. The restructuring costs are primarily associated with the businesses sold and are accounted for in discontinued operations
in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. As of December 26, 2010, approximately $1.8 million of severance costs and $0.6 million of facilities
costs have been paid. In addition, the liability related to severance costs was reduced by approximately $0.1 million, to reflect a revised estimate, which was
recognized in the net loss of discontinued operations. The remaining liabilities for severance and facilities are $0.1 million and $0.0 million, respectively, and are
included in current liabilities of discontinued operations in the
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consolidated balance sheet. The following table shows a reconciliation of the beginning accrual to the remaining balance as of December 26, 2010 (in millions):

        On June 24, 2009, as a result of the continued operating losses in the Southeast division of the PSS segment (the "Southeast Division"), the Company's board
of directors approved a plan to sell and dispose of the Southeast Division. In accordance with Topic 205, this business unit was classified as held for sale and
reported in discontinued operations in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. The Company recorded a $2.0 million impairment charge in the
second quarter of 2009 and an additional $0.2 million in the second quarter of 2010 related to management's estimate of the fair value of the business. On
August 2, 2010, the Company divested its Southeast Division for approximately $0.1 million cash consideration and the assumption of certain liabilities.

        The following table presents the results of discontinued operations including gain and loss on disposals which is included in loss before taxes (in millions):
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  Severance  
Lease

Termination  Total  
Original accrual recorded in 2008  $ 2.0 $ 0.6 $ 2.6 
Payments in 2008   (0.2)  (0.4)  (0.6)
Payments in 2009   (0.9)  (0.1)  (1.0)
Payments in 2010   (0.7)  (0.1)  (0.8)
        

Adjustments   (0.1)  —  (0.1)
        

Balance December 26, 2010  $ 0.1 $ — $ 0.1 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

  

Year ended
December 28,

2008  

Year ended
December 27,

2009  

Year ended
December 26,

2010  
Revenue  $ 13.1 $ 5.9 $ 2.2 
Loss before taxes   (8.4)  (3.8)  (0.9)
Benefit for income taxes   (1.3)  (0.6)  (0.8)
Net loss  $ (7.1) $ (3.2) $ (0.1)
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        Following is a summary of the assets and liabilities of discontinued operations as of December 27, 2009 and December 26, 2010 (in millions) for each of the
operations:

Note 10. Fair Value Measurement

        The Company adopted Topic 820 as of January 1, 2008, with the exception of the application of the statement to non-recurring nonfinancial assets and
nonfinancial liabilities. Non-recurring nonfinancial assets and nonfinancial liabilities for which it has not applied the provisions of Topic 820 include those
measured at fair value in goodwill impairment testing, indefinite lived intangible assets measured at fair value for impairment testing, asset retirement obligations
initially measured at fair value, and those initially measured at fair value in a business combination.

        Topic 820 establishes a valuation hierarchy for disclosure of the inputs to valuation used to measure fair value. This hierarchy prioritizes the inputs into three
broad levels as follows. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. Level 2 inputs are quoted prices for
similar assets and liabilities in active markets or inputs that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly through market corroboration, for
substantially the full term of the financial instrument. Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs based on the Company's own assumptions used to measure assets
and liabilities at fair value. A financial asset or liability's classification within the hierarchy is determined based on the lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement.

        The only asset or liability carried and measured at fair value on a recurring basis is an interest rate swap agreement not qualified as a hedging instrument
carried in other current liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet. Gains and losses resulting from marking to market the interest rate swap are recorded in other
income (expenses), net in the consolidated statement of operations. The total gain or loss on the interest rate swap as of December 27, 2009 and December 26,
2010, was a gain of
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December 27,

2009  
December 26,

2010  
Accounts receivable, net  $ 2.4 $ 0.3 
Other current assets (liabilities)   (0.4)  0.2 
      

Current assets of discontinued operations  $ 2.0 $ 0.5 
  

 
 

 
 

Non-current assets of discontinued operations  $ 0.4 $ — 
  

 
 

 
 

Accounts payable  $ 0.5 $ — 
Accrued expenses   2.8  1.7 
Unrecognized tax benefits   1.1  — 
Other current liabilities   0.3  0.4 
      

Current liabilities of discontinued operations  $ 4.7 $ 2.1 
  

 
 

 
 

Non-current unrecognized tax benefits  $ 0.4 $ 0.6 
Other noncurrent liabilities   0.2  0.8 
      

Non-current liabilities of discontinued operations  $ 0.6 $ 1.4 
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$0.1 million and $1.0 million, respectively. The following table provides the fair value measurement of the interest rate swap (in millions):

        The significant Level 2 observable inputs utilized to value the Company's derivative financial instruments are based upon calculations provided by an
investment advisor and are validated with the use of a nationally recognized financial reporting service.

        Carrying amounts and the related estimated fair values of the Company's financial instruments not measured at fair value on a recurring basis at
December 27, 2009 and December 26, 2010 are presented in the following table. The carrying value of all other financial instruments, including cash and cash
equivalents and short-term debt, approximated their estimated fair values at December 27, 2009 and December 26, 2010.

        Long-Term Debt—The fair value of the long-term debt was calculated using present value techniques based on interest rates available for debt with terms
and due dates similar to the Company's existing debt arrangements and the Company's current scheduled principal payments (Level 2, significant other
observable inputs).

Note 11. Stockholders' Equity

(a)   Common Stock

        On October 12, 2010, the Company sold approximately 2.5 million shares of its common stock at a purchase price of $10.20 per share in an underwritten
public offering. The Company received gross proceeds of approximately $25.8 million. After deducting underwriting fees and other offering expenses, the
Company received approximately $24.7 million in net proceeds. The Company used the net proceeds from this transaction to fund the purchase price for the
acquisition of HBE.

        On September 10, 2009, the Company completed a 1-for-10 reverse split of its common stock which was approved at the Company's Annual Meeting on
June 4, 2009. The reverse split reduced the number of shares of the Company's common stock outstanding from 156,274,383 to 15,627,031. Proportional
adjustments were made to the Company's stock options and other equity incentive awards, equity compensation plans, and convertible notes. The total number of
authorized shares of the Company's capital stock was not affected by the reverse stock split.
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Total

Carrying Value  

Quoted prices
in active markets

(Level 1)  

Significant
other observable

inputs
(Level 2)  

Significant
unobservable

inputs
(Level 3)  

December 26, 2010  $ 0.3 $ — $ 0.3 $ — 
December 27, 2009  $ 1.4 $ — $ 1.4 $ — 

  2009  2010  

$ in millions  
Carrying
Amount  

Fair
Value  

Carrying
Amount  

Fair
Value  

Long-term debt  $ 55.4 $ 54.1 $ 225.0 $ 247.2 
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        On September 2, 2009, the Company sold 2.6 million shares of its common stock to institutional investors at a purchase price of $7.20 in a registered direct
public offering. The Company received gross proceeds of $18.7 million. After deducting placement agent fees and other offering expenses, the Company received
$17.5 million in net proceeds. The Company used the net proceeds from this transaction to repay existing indebtedness.

        In connection with the SYS June 2008 acquisition, the Company issued approximately 64,000 warrants to purchase common stock at per share prices
ranging from $17.88 per share to $31.79 per share. The expiration dates of the warrants are from June 2010 to September 2012.

(b)   Preferred Stock

        There was no issuance, redemption or conversion of the Series B Convertible Preferred Stock in the most recent fiscal years ended December 28, 2008,
December 27, 2009 and December 26, 2010. At December 26, 2010, the total liquidation preference equaled $5.0 million. In accordance with Topic 260, the
Company's Series B Preferred Stock was considered a participating security for purposes of computing basic earnings per share.

(c)   Stock Option Plans and Restricted Stock Unit Plans

        The board of directors may grant options or restricted stock units to selected employees, directors and consultants to the Company to purchase shares of the
Company's common stock at a price not less than the fair market value of the stock at the date of grant. In July 2004, the board of directors resolved that all future
stock option grants under all of the Company's stock option plans would be non-statutory stock options, until such further determination by the board of directors.
In February 2005, the board of directors approved the 2005 Equity Incentive Plan (the 2005 Plan). The 2005 Plan was subsequently approved by a majority of the
Company's stockholders on May 18, 2005. If any shares covered by an award under the 2005 Plan are not purchased or are forfeited, or if an award otherwise is
terminated, cancelled or retired, such shares are again made available for awards under the 2005 Plan. The 2000 Non-statutory Stock Option Plan, the 1999
Equity Incentive Plan and all prior plans have expired and shares that were not purchased, have been forfeited, or are subject to awards that have terminated and
are not available for grant under those or any other plan. As of December 26, 2010, there are approximately 1,018,501 shares reserved for issuance for future
grant under the 2005 Plan. The board of directors of the Company may amend or terminate the 2005 Plan at any time. Certain amendments, including an increase
in the share reserve, require stockholder approval. Generally, options and restricted stock units outstanding vest over periods not exceeding ten years. Options are
exercisable for up to ten years from the grant date.

        Henry Bros. Electronics Stock Option Plans.    HBE's stock option and stock incentive plans acquired in connection with the Company's acquisition of HBE
were terminated on December 15, 2010, and no further grants may be made under these plans after such date. Award grants that were outstanding under these
plans on December 15, 2010 will continue to be governed by their existing terms and may be exercised for shares of the Company's common stock at any time
prior to the expiration of the option term or any earlier termination of those options in connection with the option holder's cessation of service with the Company.
Stock options granted under these plans were incentive stock options, may generally be exercised from one to ten years after the date of grant and generally vest
equally over
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three to five years. Certain of these options had change in control provisions that accelerated the vesting of the options.

        Digital Fusion Inc. Stock Option and Stock Incentive Plans.    DFI's stock option and stock incentive plans acquired in connection with the Company's
acquisition of DFI were terminated on December 24, 2008, and no further grants may be made under these plans after such date. Award grants that were
outstanding under these plans on December 24, 2008 will continue to be governed by their existing terms and may be exercised for shares of the Company's
common stock at any time prior to the expiration of the ten-year option term or any earlier termination of those options in connection with the option holder's
cessation of service with the Company. Stock options granted under these plans included incentive stock options or non-statutory stock options. All non-statutory
options vest upon change in control and were 100% vested on December 24, 2008. With respect to incentive stock options, the qualified stock option plans
provide that the exercise price of each such option must be at least equal to 100% of the fair market value of its common stock on the date of grant. Stock options
granted under these plans may generally be exercised from one to ten years after the date of grant. Certain of these options had change in control provisions that
extended the exercise period for grants for two years from the transaction closing date. Awards granted under these plans generally vest equally over three years;
however, in connection with the Company's acquisition of DFI the plans were amended to include immediate vesting of all unvested grants upon any future
change in control of the Company. DFI also had certain options granted outside of its qualified stock option plans. These non-qualified "out of plan" stock options
expire 10 years from grant date.

        On January 10, 2007, the Compensation Committee of the board of directors approved a form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (the RSU Agreement) to
govern the issuance of restricted stock units ("RSU") to executive officers under the Company's 2005 Plan. Each RSU represents the right to receive a share of
common stock (a "Share") on the vesting date. Unless and until the RSUs vest, the Employee will have no right to receive Shares under such RSUs. Prior to
actual distribution of Shares pursuant to any vested RSUs, such RSUs will represent an unsecured obligation of the Company, payable (if at all) only from the
general assets of the Company. The RSUs that may be awarded to executive officers under the RSU Agreement will vest according to vesting schedules specified
in the notice of grant accompanying each grant. The Company recognizes compensation expense on a straight-line basis over the vesting periods based on the
market price of the Company's stock on the grant date. The awards granted in 2008, 2009, and 2010 had vesting periods ranging from 11 months to 10 years; 1 to
10 years; and 5 to 10 years, respectively. Some of the grants for these years have accelerated vesting occurring upon change of control or termination. Upon
exercise of the RSU, the Company issues new shares of common stock.

        The Company records compensation expense for employee stock options based on the estimated fair value of the options on the date of grant using the
Black-Scholes option-pricing model and the
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weighted average assumptions (annualized percentages) included in the following table. Awards with graded vesting are recognized using the straight-line method
with the following assumptions:
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  2008  2009  2010
Expected life:(1)       
 Stock options  5.3 years  10.0 years  1.4 years
Risk-free interest rate(2)  0.0% - 2.1%  2.8% - 3.7%  0.1% - 3.6%
Volatility(3)  38.8% - 70.3%  59.2% - 63.3%  28.4% - 73.8%
Forfeiture rate(4)  10.6%  19.9%  16.3%
Dividend yield(5)  —  —  —

(1) In 2008, all unvested options granted related to the acquisition of DFI. As historically, the majority of options granted were part of the
Company's now discontinued Wireless Network Services segment and not the Company's KGS segment, the Company did not have
historical information related to the expected term of the options granted to DFI. The Company used market information from the
Company's peers to estimate the expected life of these grants which was consistent with the methodology previously used by DFI. In
2009, no unvested options were granted and the expected life was equal to the life of the option. In 2010, all unvested options related to
the acquisition of HBE. HBE used the simplified method for calculating the expected life of the option and the Company used this method
for calculating the expected life of the options assumed. 

(2) The risk-free interest rate is based on U.S. Treasury yields in effect at the time of grant with a term equal to the expected term of the
options. 

(3) In 2008, 2009, and 2010, the Company estimated implied volatility based upon trailing volatility. 

(4) Forfeitures are estimated at the time of grant based upon historical information. Forfeitures will be revised, if necessary, in subsequent
periods if actual forfeitures differ from estimates. In 2008, the estimated forfeitures for the DFI options were based upon the historical
information of DFI option holders. In 2010, the estimated forfeitures for the HBE options were based upon the historical information of
HBE option holders. 

(5) The Company has no history or expectation of paying dividends on its common stock.
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        A summary of the status of the Company's stock option plan as of December 26, 2010 and of changes in options outstanding under the plan for the year
ended December 26, 2010 is as follows:

        As of December 26, 2010, there was $1.1 million of total unrecognized stock-based compensation expense related to nonvested shares which is expected to
be recognized over a remaining weighted-average vesting period of 1.7 years.

        During the years ended December 28, 2008, December 27, 2009, and December 26, 2010 the following values relate to the grants and exercises under the
Company's option plans:

        Additional information about stock options outstanding at December 26, 2010 with exercise prices less than and greater than $12.32 per share, the exercise
price at December 23, 2010, the last trading day of the period, follows:
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Number of

Shares  

Weighted-
Average

Exercise Price
per Share  

Weighted-
Average

Remaining
Contractual

Term
(in years)  

Aggregate
Intrinsic Value  

  (000's)      (000's)  
Options outstanding at December 27, 2009   1,428 $ 29.02  4.1 $ 1,949 
 Options granted   367 $ 6.02       
 Options exercised   (199) $ 7.87       
 Options forfeited or expired   (147) $ 49.85       
             

Options outstanding at December 26, 2010   1,449 $ 23.99  3.3 $ 4,419 
  

 
          

Options exercisable at December 26, 2010   1,290 $ 26.20  3.4 $ 3,413 

  2008  2009  2010  
Weighted average grant date fair value of options granted  $ 7.10 $ 5.69 $ 6.08 
Total intrinsic value of options exercised (in thousands)   — $ 105 $ 818 

  Exercisable  Unexercisable  Total  

Stock Options  

Number
of Shares

(000's)  

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Price  

Number
of Shares

(000's)  

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Price  

Number
of Shares

(000's)  

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Price  
Less than $12.32   521 $ 5.81  157 $ 5.91  678 $ 5.83 
Above $12.32   769 $ 40.04  2 $ 12.30  771 $ 39.97 
                 

Total outstanding   1,290 $ 26.20  159 $ 5.98  1,449 $ 23.99 
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        The following table summarizes the Company's Restricted Stock Unit activity:

        As of December 26, 2010, there was $8.7 million of total unrecognized stock-based compensation expense related to nonvested restricted stock units which
is expected to be recognized over a remaining weighted-average vesting period of 5.7 years. The fair value of RSU awards that vested in 2008, 2009, and 2010
was $0.3 million, $0.2 million, and $0.9 million, respectively.

(d)   Employee Stock Purchase Plan

        In August 1999, the board of directors approved the 1999 Employee Stock Purchase Plan ("Purchase Plan"). A total of 1,060,000 shares of Common Stock
have been authorized for issuance under the Purchase Plan. The Purchase Plan qualifies as an employee stock purchase plan within the meaning of Section 423 of
the Internal Revenue Service Code. The Purchase Plan commenced in November 1999 upon completion of the Company's initial public offering. On
November 16, 2005, the Compensation Committee of the board of directors elected to suspend all future offerings under the Purchase Plan effective January 1,
2006. On February 27, 2008, the Compensation Committee elected to reinstate offerings under the Purchase Plan effective April 1, 2008.

        Unless otherwise determined by the Compensation Committee of the board of directors, all employees are eligible to participate in the Purchase Plan so long
as they are employed by the Company (or a subsidiary designated by the board of directors) for at least 20 hours per week and were customarily employed by the
Company (or a subsidiary designated by the board of directors) for at least 5 months per calendar year.

        Employees who actively participate in the Purchase Plan are eligible to have up to 15% of their earnings for each purchase period withheld pursuant to the
Purchase Plan. The amount that is withheld is used at various purchase dates within the offering period to purchase shares of Common Stock. The price paid for
Common Stock at each such purchase date is equal to the lower of 85% of the fair market value of the Common Stock at the commencement date of that offering
period or 85% of the fair market value of the Common Stock on the relevant purchase date. Employees are also able to end their participation in the offering at
any time during the offering period, and participation ends automatically upon termination of employment. From the Purchase Plan's inception through
December 26, 2010, the cumulative number of shares of Common Stock that have been issued under the Purchase Plan is 402,000 and approximately 657,000
shares were available for future issuance. During fiscal 2009 and 2010 approximately 50,000 and 88,000 shares were issued under the plans at an average price of
$9.73 and $8.08, respectively.
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Restricted
Stock Units

(000's)  

Weighted-
Average

Grant Date
Fair Value  

Nonvested balance at December 27, 2009   432 $ 19.12 
Grants   397 $ 11.39 
Vested   (61) $ 15.45 
Forfeitures   (13) $ 14.32 
       

Nonvested balance at December 26, 2010   755 $ 15.43 
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        The fair value of Kratos' Purchase Plan shares for 2010 was estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The assumptions and resulting fair
values of options granted for 2010 were as follows:

        As of December 26, 2010, there was no material unrecognized compensation expense related to the Employee Stock Purchase Plan.

(e)   Stockholder Rights Agreement

        On December 16, 2004, the Company entered into a Stockholder Rights Agreement (the "Rights Agreement"). Under the terms of the Rights Agreement,
initially, the rights ("Rights") will attach to all certificates representing shares of outstanding Company common stock and no separate rights certificates will be
distributed. Subject to the provisions of the Rights Agreement, the Rights will separate from the Company common stock and the distribution date will occur
upon the earlier of (i) ten business days following a public announcement that person or group of affiliated or associated persons has acquired or obtained the
right to acquire beneficial ownership of 15% or more of the then-outstanding common stock (an Acquiring Person), or (ii) ten business days (or such later date as
may be determined by action of the board of directors of the Company prior to such time as any person becomes an Acquiring Person following the
commencement of a tender offer or exchange offer that would result in a person or group becoming an Acquiring Person. An Acquiring Person does not include
certain persons specified in the Rights Agreement.

        On December 16, 2004, the Company's board of directors authorized and declared a dividend of one right (a Right) to purchase one one-hundredth of a share
of the Company's Series C Preferred Stock (Series C Preferred) for each outstanding share of common stock, par value $0.001, to stockholders of record as of the
close of business December 27, 2004. Each Right entitles the registered holder, subject to the terms of the Rights Agreement, to purchase from the Company one
one-hundredth of a share of Series C Preferred at a purchase price of $54.00, subject to adjustment.
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Offering
Periods

January 1 to
December 31,

2009  

Offering
Periods

January 1 to
December 31

2010
Expected term (in years)(1)  0.5  0.5
Risk-free interest rate(2)  0.27% - 0.33%  0.20% - 0.22%
Expected volatility(3)  61.5% - 121.0%  42.7% - 56.8%
Expected dividend yield(4)  0%  0%
Weighted average grant-date fair value per share  $4.39  $2.97

(1) The expected term is equivalent to the offering period. 

(2) The risk-free interest rate is based on U.S. Treasury yields in effect at the time of grant with a term equal to the expected
term. 

(3) The Company estimated implied volatility based upon trailing volatility. 

(4) The Company has no history or expectation of paying dividends on its common stock.
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        The Rights are not exercisable until the Distribution Date and will expire at the close of business on the tenth anniversary of the Rights Agreement unless
earlier redeemed or exchanged by the Company.

Note 12. Retirement Plans

        The Company provides eligible employees the opportunity to participate in defined-contribution savings plans (commonly known as 401(k) plans), which
permit contributions on a before-tax basis. Generally, salaried employees and certain hourly employees are eligible to participate in the plans. Under most plans,
the employee may contribute to various investment alternatives. In certain plans, the Company matches a portion of the employees' contributions. The Company's
contributions to these defined-contribution plans totaled $2.7 million in 2008, $6.0 million in 2009 and $5.9 million in 2010.

        On November 18, 2004, the board of directors adopted the Wireless Facilities, Inc. Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Plan, effective as of January 1,
2005 (the "Plan"). The Plan provides executive officers and other eligible highly compensated employees with the opportunity to enter into agreements to defer
up to eighty percent (80%) of their cash compensation derived from base salary, bonus awards and/or commissions. In addition, the Company may, in its sole and
absolute discretion, award any participant under the Plan an additional employer contribution. Deferrals are adjusted for gain or loss based on the performance of
one or more investment options selected by the participant from among investment funds chosen by the committee appointed to administer the Plan. Participants
may elect that distribution of deferred amounts be paid in the form of either a lump sum or in annual installments if the participant terminates employment as a
result of his or her retirement. However, all other distributions under the Plan will be made in a single lump sum. Distributions occur upon termination of service
or upon such other dates that may be elected by the participant in accordance with the terms of the Plan. The Company, in its sole discretion, may suspend or
terminate the Plan or revise or amend it in any respect whatsoever; provided, however, that no such action may reduce amounts credited to deferral accounts and
such accounts will continue to be owed to the participants or beneficiaries and will continue to be a liability of the Company.

Note 13. Significant Customers

        Revenue from the U.S. Government (which includes Foreign Military Sales) includes revenue from contracts for which Kratos is the prime contractor as
well as those for which the Company is a subcontractor and the ultimate customer is the U.S. Government. The KGS segment has substantial revenue from the
U.S. Government. Sales to the U.S. Government amounted to approximately $226.9 million, $288.2 million, and $354.0 million, or 79.3 percent, 86.2 percent,
and 86.7 percent, of total revenue for the years ended December 28, 2008, December 27, 2009, and December 26, 2010, respectively.

Note 14. Segment Information

        The Company operates in two principal business segments: Kratos Government Solutions and Public Safety and Security. The KGS segment provides
products, solutions and services primarily for mission critical National Security priorities. KGS customers primarily include National Security related agencies,
the Department of Defense, intelligence agencies and classified agencies. The PSS segment
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provides independent integrated solutions for advanced homeland security, public safety, critical infrastructure, security and surveillance systems for government
and commercial applications. PSS customers are in the critical infrastructure, power generation, power transport, nuclear energy, financial, information
technology, healthcare, education, transportation and petro-chemical industries, as well as certain government and military customers.

        The Company organizes its business segments based on the nature of the products and services offered. Transactions between segments are generally
negotiated and accounted for under terms and conditions similar to other government and commercial contracts and these intercompany transactions are
eliminated in consolidation. This presentation is consistent with the Company's operating structure. Certain income and charges that are not allocated to segments
in the Company's management reports because they are not considered in evaluating the segments' operating performance are categorized as reconciling items in
the table below.

        Revenues, operating income (loss) and assets disclosed below provided by the Company's segments for the years ended December 28, 2008, December 27,
2009, and December 26, 2010, are as follows (in millions):

        Amounts related to corporate activities were impacted by the following items in 2008, 2009 and 2010.

        In 2008, there was a benefit of $4.5 million in corporate activities due to insurance reimbursements of costs and losses related to the stock option
investigation in 2007 as well as recoveries from the theft of stock options that had not previously been agreed to be covered.

        In 2009, the Company reached an agreement with the plaintiffs to settle the outstanding 2004 and 2007 derivative lawsuits. This resulted in a benefit in 2009
of $0.2 million as a result of the reduction in the estimated accrual related to this litigation offset by expenses related to government inquiries by the
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  2008  2009  2010  
Revenues:           
 Kratos Government Solutions  $ 246.7 $ 304.3 $ 372.2 
 Public Safety & Security   39.5  30.2  36.3 
        

  Total revenues  $ 286.2 $ 334.5 $ 408.5 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

Depreciation and amortization:           
 Kratos Government Solutions  $ 6.4 $ 7.5 $ 12.3 
 Public Safety & Security   0.9  0.8  0.6 
        

  Total depreciation and amortization  $ 7.3 $ 8.3 $ 12.9 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

Operating income (loss) from continuing operations:           
 Kratos Government Solutions  $ (97.3) $ (23.6) $ 25.1 
 Public Safety & Security   0.6  (1.4)  1.8 
 Corporate activities   3.5  (2.0)  (3.8)
        

  Total operating income (loss) from continuing operations  $ (93.2) $ (27.0) $ 23.1 
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Department of Justice ("DOJ") related to the Company's historical stock option granting practices which was completed in 2009. In addition, in 2009, there was
an expense of $0.6 million for the year ended December 27, 2009, which was a result of a change in the Company's excess facility accrual due to the
consolidation of space at its corporate headquarters following the sale of the SYS commercial businesses and a cancellation of a sublease of one of its tenants due
to financial difficulties.

        In 2010, the Company reached a settlement with one of its directors and officers insurance carriers to cover costs related to its completed stock options and
DOJ investigations. The settlement received, net of legal expenses was a $1.4 million benefit. This benefit was offset by expenses of $3.1 million related to
merger and acquisition activities.

        In 2009, the KGS segment had goodwill impairment charges of $41.3 million.

Note 15. Commitments and Contingencies

        The Company periodically evaluates all pending or threatened contingencies and any commitments, if any, that are reasonably likely to have a material
adverse effect on its operations or financial position. The Company assesses the probability of an adverse outcome and determines if it is remote, reasonably
possible or probable as defined in accordance with the provisions of ASC Topic 450 Contingencies ("Topic 450"). If information available prior to the issuance of
the Company's financial statements indicates that it is probable that an asset had been impaired or a liability had been incurred at the date of the Company's
financial statements, and the amount of the loss, or the range of probable loss can be reasonably estimated, then such loss is accrued and charged to operations. If
no accrual is made for a loss contingency because one or both of the conditions pursuant to Topic 450 are not met, but the probability of an adverse outcome is at
least reasonably possible, the Company will disclose the nature of the contingency and provide an estimate of the possible loss or range of loss, or state that such
an estimate cannot be made.

        The Company has health plans which are self-insured and also has liabilities related to its self insured worker's compensation plans for its discontinued
wireless business. The liabilities related to the health plans are a component of total accrued expenses and the liabilities related to the worker's compensation
plans are a component of current liabilities of discontinued operations in the consolidated balance sheets. Management determines the adequacy of these accruals
based on an evaluation of the Company's historical experience and trends related to both medical and workers compensation claims and payments, information
provided to the Company by the Company's insurance broker, industry experience and the average lag period in which claims are paid. If such information
indicates that the Company's accruals require adjustment, the Company will, correspondingly, revise the
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  2009  2010  
Assets:        
 Kratos Government Solutions  $ 217.8 $ 406.7 
 Public Safety & Security   9.4  97.4 
 Discontinued Operations   2.4  0.5 
 Corporate activities   12.0  31.5 
      

  Total assets  $ 241.6 $ 536.1 
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assumptions utilized in the Company's methodologies and reduce or provide for additional accruals as deemed appropriate.

        As of December 28, 2008, December 27, 2009, and December 26, 2010, the accrual for the Company's partial self-insurance programs approximated
$0.4 million, $0.3 million and $0.9 million for its health insurance and $0.3 million, $0.3 million and $0.3 million for its workers' compensation insurance,
respectively. The Company also carries stop-loss insurance that provides coverage limiting the Company's total exposure related to each medical and workers
compensation claim incurred, as defined in the applicable insurance policies. The medical annual claim limits are $50,000 and the workers compensation claim
limits are $250,000 - $350,000 depending upon the plan year. In 2008, 2009, and 2010, no claims exceeded the limits for workers compensation. In 2008, 2009
and 2010, the Company had none, two, and four claims, respectively, which exceeded the limits for medical insurance.

Note 16. Legal Matters

IPO Securities Litigation

        Beginning in June 2001, the Company and certain of its officers and directors were named as defendants in several parallel class action shareholder
complaints filed in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of New York, now consolidated under the caption, In re Wireless Facilities, Inc. Initial Public
Offering Securities Litigation, Case 01-CV-4779. In the amended complaint, the plaintiffs allege that the Company, certain of its officers and directors, and the
underwriters of the Company's initial public offering (IPO) violated section 11 of the Securities Act of 1933 and section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934 based on allegations that the Company's registration statement and prospectus failed to disclose material facts regarding the compensation to be received by,
and the stock allocation practices of, the IPO underwriters. The plaintiffs seek unspecified monetary damages and other relief. Similar complaints were filed in
the same court against hundreds of other public companies (Issuers) that conducted IPOs of their common stock in the late 1990s and 2000. These complaints
have been consolidated into an action captioned In re Initial Public Offering Securities Litigation, 21 MC 92 (the IPO Cases).

        In June 2004, the Issuers (including the Company) executed a partial settlement agreement with the plaintiffs that would have, among other things, resulted
in the dismissal with prejudice of all claims against the Issuers and their officers and directors and the assignment of certain potential Issuer claims to the
plaintiffs. On February 15, 2005, the district court issued a decision certifying a class action for settlement purposes and granting preliminary approval of the
settlement subject to modification of certain bar orders contemplated by the settlement. On August 31, 2005, the court reaffirmed class certification of the
settlement class and preliminary approval of the modified settlement in a comprehensive Order. On February 24, 2006, the court dismissed litigation filed against
certain underwriters in connection with certain claims to be assigned under the settlement. On April 24, 2006, the district court held a Final Fairness Hearing to
determine whether to grant final approval of the settlement, and the court reserved decision at that time. While the partial settlement was pending approval, the
plaintiffs continued to litigate against the underwriter defendants. The district court directed that the litigation proceed within a number of "focus cases" rather
than all of the 310 cases that had been consolidated. The Company's case is not one of these focus cases. On October 13, 2004, the district court certified the
focus cases as class actions. The underwriter defendants appealed that
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ruling and on December 5, 2006, the Second Circuit Court of Appeals reversed the district court's class certification decision. On April 6, 2007, the Second
Circuit denied plaintiffs' rehearing petition, but clarified that the plaintiffs could seek to certify a more limited class in the district court. In light of the Second
Circuit opinion, liaison counsel for all issuer defendants, including the Company, informed the district court that the settlement could not be approved because the
defined settlement class, like the litigation class, could not be certified. On June 24, 2007, the district court entered an order terminating the proposed settlement.

        Plaintiffs filed second consolidated amended complaints in the six focus cases on August 14, 2007, and, on September 27, 2007, again moved for class
certification. On November 12, 2007, certain of the defendants in the focus cases moved to dismiss the second consolidated amended class action complaints. On
March 26, 2008, the district court denied the motions to dismiss except as to section 11 claims raised by those plaintiffs who sold their securities for a price in
excess of the initial offering price and those who purchased outside the previously certified class period. The motion for class certification was withdrawn without
prejudice on October 10, 2008. On April 2, 2009, a stipulation and agreement of settlement among the plaintiffs, issuer defendants and underwriter defendants
was submitted to the Court for preliminary approval. The Court granted the plaintiffs' motion for preliminary approval and preliminarily certified the settlement
classes on June 10, 2009. The settlement fairness hearing was held on September 10, 2009. On October 6, 2009, the Court entered an opinion granting final
approval to the settlement and directing that the Clerk of the Court close the IPO Cases. Notices of appeal of this decision have been filed. Due to the inherent
uncertainties of litigation and because the settlement remains subject to appeal, the ultimate outcome of the matter is uncertain, however, the Company believes
that any settlement amount will be covered by its directors and officers insurance policy.

2004 and 2007 Derivative Securities Litigation

        In August 2004, following the Company's announcement on August 4, 2004 that it intended to restate its financial statements for the fiscal years ended
December 31, 2000, 2001, 2002 and 2003, the Company and certain of its current and former officers and directors were named as defendants (Defendants) in
several securities class action lawsuits filed in the United States District Court for the Southern District of California. These actions were filed on behalf of those
who purchased, or otherwise acquired, the Company's common stock between April 26, 2000 and August 4, 2004. The lawsuits generally alleged that, during that
time period, Defendants made false and misleading statements to the investing public about the Company's business and financial results, causing its stock to
trade at artificially inflated levels. Based on these allegations, the lawsuits alleged that Defendants violated the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and the plaintiffs
sought unspecified damages. On January 13, 2009, following a motion by the parties, the Court granted final approval of the settlement of these claims, issued its
final judgment on the matter, and entered an order dismissing the case with prejudice.

        In 2004, two derivative lawsuits were filed in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of California against certain of the Company's current and
former officers and directors: Pedicini v. Wireless Facilities, Inc., Case 04CV1663; and Roth v. Wireless Facilities, Inc., Case 04CV1810. These actions were
consolidated into a single action in In re Wireless Facilities, Inc. Derivative Litigation,
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Lead Case No 04CV1663-JAH. These lawsuits contain factual allegations that are substantially similar to those made in the class action lawsuits, but the plaintiffs
in these lawsuits assert claims for breach of fiduciary duty, gross mismanagement, abuse of control, waste of corporate assets, violation of Sarbanes Oxley Act
section 304, unjust enrichment and insider trading. The plaintiffs in these lawsuits seek unspecified damages and equitable and/or injunctive relief. The lead
plaintiff filed a consolidated complaint on March 21, 2005. On May 3, 2005, the defendants filed motions to dismiss this action, to stay this action pending the
resolution of the consolidated non-derivative securities case pending in the Southern District of California, and to dismiss the complaint against certain non-
California resident defendants. Pursuant to a request by the court, the defendants' motions were withdrawn without prejudice pending a decision on defendants'
motion to dismiss the complaint against the non-California resident defendants. On March 20, 2007, the court ruled that it lacked personal jurisdiction over five of
the six non-California defendants and dismissed them from the federal derivative complaint. On March 27, 2007, plaintiffs filed an amended derivative complaint
setting forth all of the same allegations from the original complaint and adding allegations regarding the Company's stock option granting practices. The amended
complaint names all of the original defendants (including those dismissed for lack of jurisdiction) as well as nine new defendants. On July 2, 2007, the non-
California resident defendants moved to dismiss the complaint for lack of personal jurisdiction. On October 17, 2007, the court took the motion under submission
without oral argument. On February 26, 2008, the court again ruled that it lacked personal jurisdiction over five of the six non-California defendants and
dismissed them from the amended federal derivative complaint. Plaintiffs subsequently moved the court for certification and entry of final judgment of the court's
order dismissing the non-residents for lack of personal jurisdiction so that the plaintiffs may seek immediate appellate review of the matter. On July 10, 2008, the
court granted plaintiffs' motion for certification, which was not opposed by defendants. On August 12, 2008, the plaintiffs filed a notice of appeal of the personal
jurisdictional order. In light of the proposed settlement of all derivative litigation, discussed below, the court has stayed all other matters except as necessary to
document and consummate the proposed settlement, pending final approval of the proposed settlement. Similarly, the appellate court has stayed all matters related
to plaintiffs' notice of appeal of the personal jurisdictional order pending district court approval of the proposed settlement.

        In August and September 2004, two virtually identical derivative lawsuits were filed in California Superior Court for San Diego County against certain of the
Company's current and former officers and directors. These actions contain factual allegations similar to those of the federal lawsuits, but the plaintiffs in these
cases assert claims for violations of California's insider trading laws, breaches of fiduciary duty, abuse of control, gross mismanagement, waste of corporate assets
and unjust enrichment. The plaintiffs in these actions seek unspecified damages, equitable and/or injunctive relief and disgorgement of all profits, benefits and
other compensation obtained by defendants. These lawsuits have been consolidated into one action—In re Wireless Facilities, Inc. Derivative Litigation,
California Superior Court, San Diego County, Lead Case GIC 834253. The plaintiffs filed a Consolidated Shareholder Derivative Complaint on October 14, 2004.
This action has been stayed pending a decision in federal court on a motion to dismiss the federal derivative lawsuit. In October 2009, the parties notified the
Court of the status of the federal action and stipulated to stay the matter for an additional six months. The Court subsequently granted the parties' stipulation and
stay request and ordered the parties to file an updated status report in April 2010.
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        In October 2009, following a voluntary mediation and subsequent negotiations related to all of the above-described derivative litigation, the parties reached
an agreement in principle to settle all claims in the federal and state derivative litigation. In March 2010, the district court granted final approval of the proposed
settlement and issued its Final Judgment and Order of Dismissal. In May 2010, all appeal rights expired. The details of the settlement are set forth in the
settlement papers filed with the court.

Other Litigation and Government Reviews and Investigations

        In addition to the foregoing matters, from time to time, the Company may become involved in various claims, lawsuits and legal proceedings that arise in the
ordinary course of business. However, litigation is subject to inherent uncertainties, and an adverse result in these or other matters may arise from time to time
that may harm the Company's business. The Company is currently not aware of any such legal proceedings or claims that it believes will have, individually or in
the aggregate, a material adverse affect on the Company's business, financial condition, operating results or cash flows.

Note 17. Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

        The following financial information reflects all normal and recurring adjustments that are, in the opinion of management, necessary for a fair statement of
the results of the interim periods. Summarized quarterly data for the years ended December 27, 2009 and December 26, 2010, is as follows (in millions, except
per share data):

Quarterly Results in 2009

        In the first quarter of 2009, the Company recorded a non-cash impairment charge of the carrying value of its goodwill of $41.3 million as a result of adverse
equity market conditions and the resulting decline in current market multiples and the Company's stock price.

        During 2009, the Company reached an agreement with the plaintiffs to settle the outstanding 2004 and 2007 derivative lawsuits. The Company had
previously accrued $0.7 million related to the estimated settlement of this matter and in the third quarter of 2009, the Company recorded a reduction to the
estimated settlement of $0.5 million as a result of the settlement agreement.
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First

Quarter  
Second
Quarter  

Third
Quarter  

Fourth
Quarter  

Fiscal year 2009              
Revenues  $ 82.6 $ 90.6 $ 86.1 $ 75.2 
Gross profit  $ 17.2 $ 17.4 $ 17.7 $ 17.0 
Operating income (loss) from continuing

operations  $ (38.7) $ 3.8 $ 4.5 $ 3.4 
Provision (benefit) for income taxes  $ 0.3 $ 0.3 $ (0.1) $ 0.5 
Net income (loss)  $ (42.1) $ (2.5) $ 2.7 $ 0.4 
Net income (loss) per common share:              
Basic  $ (3.29) $ (0.19) $ 0.19 $ 0.03 
Diluted  $ (3.29) $ (0.19) $ 0.19 $ 0.02 



Table of Contents

KRATOS DEFENSE & SECURITY SOLUTIONS, INC.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

December 26, 2010

Note 17. Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited) (Continued)

        In the fourth quarter of 2009, there was $0.7 million in interest expense related to the acceleration of the amortization of deferred financing costs due to the
$17.5 million early extinguishment of the first lien term loan in October 2009.

        As a result of the impact of the issuance of 2.6 million shares in September 2009 on the Company's quarterly and yearly weighted average basic and diluted
shares outstanding, the sum of 2009 quarterly income (loss) per share does not equal the Company's 2009 loss per share.

Quarterly Results in 2010

        The quarterly increases in revenues and expenses are a result of the Company's acquisitions. See Note 3.

        During the second, third and fourth quarters, the Company incurred $1.1 million, $0.4 million and $1.6 million, respectively of expenses related to the
Company's acquisitions during those quarters.

        In the second and third quarters the benefit for income taxes of $12.2 million and $1.3 million, respectively, was a result of the release of valuation
allowances against the Company's deferred tax assets as a result of deferred tax liabilities that were established as the result of the Company's acquisitions.

        In the third quarter of 2010, the Company reached a settlement with one of its directors and officers insurance carriers to cover costs related to its completed
stock options and DOJ investigations. The settlement received, net of legal expenses was a $1.4 million benefit.

        As a result of the impact of the issuance of 2.5 million shares in October 2010 on the Company's quarterly and yearly weighted average basic and diluted
shares outstanding, the sum of 2010 quarterly income (loss) per share does not equal the Company's 2010 income per share.

Note 18. Subsequent Events

Pending Acquisition of Herley Industries, Inc.

        On February 7, 2011, the Company entered into a merger agreement (the "Merger Agreement") to acquire Herley Industries, Inc., ("Herley"), through a
tender offer by one of its indirect
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First

Quarter  
Second
Quarter  

Third
Quarter  

Fourth
Quarter  

Fiscal year 2010              
Revenues  $ 68.7 $ 99.1 $ 119.9 $ 120.8 
Gross profit  $ 16.5 $ 21.4 $ 25.8 $ 26.3 
Operating income (loss) from continuing

operations  $ 3.6 $ 4.5 $ 8.4 $ 6.6 
Provision (benefit) for income taxes  $ 0.3 $ (11.7) $ (1.1) $ (0.2)
Net income  $ 0.2 $ 10.7 $ 3.2 $ 0.4 
Net income per common share:              
 Basic  $ 0.02 $ 0.67 $ 0.20 $ 0.02 
 Diluted  $ 0.02 $ 0.65 $ 0.19 $ 0.02 
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wholly-owned subsidiaries ("Merger Sub") for all of Herley's outstanding common stock and a subsequent merger between such subsidiary and Herley. Herley is
a leading provider of microwave technologies for use in command and control systems, flight instrumentation, weapons sensors, radar, communication systems,
and electronic warfare systems. Herley has served the defense industry since 1965 by designing and manufacturing microwave devices for use in high-technology
defense electronics applications. Herley's products represent key components in the national security efforts of the U.S., as they are employed in mission-critical
electronic warfare, electronic attack, electronic warfare threat and radar simulation, command and control network, and cyber warfare/cybersecurity applications.

        On February 25, 2011 and pursuant to the terms of the Merger Agreement, Merger Sub commenced a tender offer (the "Offer") to purchase all of Herley's
issued and outstanding shares of common stock, par value $0.10 per share (the "Herley Common Stock"), at a price of $19.00 per share in cash, without any
interest thereon (the "Offer Price"). The Offer will remain open for 20 business days, subject to periods of extension through June 30, 2011 if the conditions to the
Offer have not been satisfied at the end of any Offer period (subject to the parties' termination rights under the Merger Agreement).

        The consummation of the Offer is subject to customary closing conditions, including, among other things, the expiration of all applicable waiting periods
under the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, as amended, and, subject to the terms of the Merger Agreement, any other applicable
competition laws and the valid tender of shares of Herley Common Stock representing at least a majority of the total outstanding shares of Herley Common
Stock, calculated on a fully diluted basis, and other offer conditions set forth in Annex A to the Merger Agreement.

        Upon completion of the Offer, and subject to the satisfaction or waiver of the conditions set forth in the Merger Agreement, Merger Sub will be merged with
and into Herley, with Herley surviving as a wholly-owned subsidiary of Kratos (the "Merger"). At the effective time of the Merger (the "Effective Time"), each
outstanding share of Herley Common Stock, other than shares of Herley Common Stock owned by Merger Sub, Kratos or any of its subsidiaries or Herley or any
of its subsidiaries immediately prior to the Effective Time, or by stockholders who have validly exercised their appraisal rights under Delaware law, will be
canceled and converted into the right to receive an amount in cash equal to the Offer Price payable to the holder thereof, on the terms and subject to the conditions
set forth in the Merger Agreement. In addition, at the Effective Time, (i) at the election of the holder thereof, each in-the-money option to purchase Herley
Common Stock will be canceled and exchanged for a cash payment equal to: (a) the excess, if any, of the Offer Price over the per share exercise price of such in-
the-money option, multiplied by (b) the number of shares subject to such in-the-money option; (ii) all other options to purchase Herley Common Stock shall be
assumed by Kratos and shall thereafter represent an option to purchase a number of shares of Kratos common stock, with such number of shares of Kratos
common stock subject to and the exercise price applicable to such option being appropriately adjusted based on an exchange ratio equal to the fraction obtained
by dividing the Offer Price by the average closing sales price for one share of Kratos common stock on the NASDAQ Global Select Market for the ten
(10) trading-day period ending on the first business day immediately preceding the date of the Merger Agreement; and (iii) each restricted stock award granted
under any compensation plan or arrangement of Herley and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time
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shall be cancelled at the Effective Time in exchange for the merger consideration payable in respect of such stock.

        The closing of the Merger is subject to, among other conditions, the adoption of the Merger Agreement by holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of
Herley Common Stock, if required by applicable law. However, the Merger Agreement also provides that, subject to certain conditions and limitations, Merger
Sub will have an irrevocable option (the "Top-Up Option"), exercisable after the completion of the Offer, to acquire a number of shares of Herley Common Stock
equal to the lesser of (i) the lowest number of shares that, when added to the number of shares of Herley Common Stock owned by Kratos or Merger Sub at the
time of the exercise of the Top-Up Option, will constitute one share more than 90% of the number of shares of Herley Common Stock that will be outstanding
after giving effect to the exercise of the Top-Up Option, at a price per share equal to the Offer Price, and (ii) the aggregate number of shares held as treasury
shares by Herley and the number of additional shares that Herley is authorized to issue under its certificate of incorporation. The Top-Up Option is intended to
expedite the timing of the completion of the Merger by permitting the Merger to occur without a meeting of the Herley stockholders pursuant to the "short-form
merger" provisions of the Delaware General Corporation Law.

        Kratos, Herley and Merger Sub have made customary representations, warranties and covenants in the Merger Agreement. Herley's covenants include,
among other things, covenants regarding the operation of the business prior to the closing and covenants prohibiting Herley from soliciting, providing information
to third parties in connection with or entering into discussions concerning, proposals relating to alternative business combination transactions, except in limited
circumstances relating to unsolicited proposals that would reasonably constitute, or would reasonably be expected to lead to, a proposal superior to the
transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement.

        The Merger Agreement contains certain termination rights for each of Herley and Kratos. In addition, upon the termination of the Merger Agreement under
specified circumstances, Herley will be required to pay Kratos a termination fee in an amount equal to $9.4 million.

Underwritten Public Offering

        On February 11, 2011, the Company sold approximately 4.9 million shares of its common stock at a purchase price of $13.25 per share in an underwritten
public offering (the "2011 Offering"). The Company received gross proceeds of approximately $64.8 million. After deducting underwriting and other offering
expenses, the Company received approximately $61.1 million in net proceeds. The Company expects to use the net proceeds from this transaction to partially
fund the purchase price for the acquisition of Herley. To the extent that the net proceeds are not applied to the acquisition of Herley the Company intends to use
the proceeds for general corporate purposes, including funding of potential strategic acquisitions and other general corporate purposes.

Financing Transactions

        The Company estimates its cash requirements in connection with the acquisition of Herley to be approximately $316 million. On February 7, 2011, in
connection with the Offer, the Company entered into a commitment letter (the "Commitment Letter") with Jefferies Group, Inc., Key Capital
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Corporation and OPY Credit Corp. (collectively, the "Committing Parties"), pursuant to which the Committing Parties have committed to provide debt financing
of up to an aggregate of $307.5 million for the Offer. The amount of the commitment is subject to reduction by the amount of net proceeds that was raised in the
2011 Offering; provided that the maximum amount of such reduction shall not exceed $40 million. The commitment of the Committing Parties under the
Commitment Letter is subject to customary conditions, including the absence of any material adverse effect on the financial condition of Herley or the Company's
ability to consummate the transactions described in the Commitment Letter. The Company intends to commence a private offering to eligible purchasers, subject
to market and other conditions, of up to $325 million in aggregate principal amount of senior secured notes due 2017 (the "New Notes").

        In connection with the offering of the New Notes, the Company has received the consent of the holders of a majority of its existing 10% Senior Secured
Notes due 2017 (referred to elsewhere in this Annual Report as the "Exchange Notes") and has entered into a supplemental indenture related to the Exchange
Notes in which such holders agreed to permit the Company to issue the New Notes in an aggregate principal amount not to exceed $325 million in connection
with the acquisition of Herley and for general corporate purposes irrespective of whether such New Notes may be issued in compliance with the minimum
consolidated fixed charge coverage ratio test contained in the limitation of incurrence of additional indebtedness covenant in the indenture governing the
Exchange Notes. In addition, the Company has entered into an amendment to the Credit Agreement with KeyBank pursuant to which KeyBank has agreed to
waive any restrictions in the Credit Agreement with respect to the acquisition of Herley and the issuance of the New Notes. Wilmington Trust FSB and KeyBank
also entered into an amendment to the existing intercreditor agreement to make certain changes to such agreement so as to permit the consummation of the
acquisition of Herley.
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COMMON INCORPORATED
UNDER THE LAWS OF THE STATE
OF DELAWARE SEE REVERSE
SIDE FOR CERTAIN DEFINITIONS
CUSIP 50077B 20 7 THIS
CERTIFIES THAT is the owner of
FULLY PAID AND NON-
ASSESSABLE COMMON SHARES,
$0.001 PAR VALUE, OF KRATOS
DEFENSE & SECURITY
SOLUTIONS, INC. transferable on
the books of the Corporation by the
holder hereof in person or by Attorney
upon surrender of this certificate
properly endorsed. This certificate is
not valid until countersigned and
registered by the Transfer Agent and
Registrar. IN WITNESS WHEREOF,
the said Corporation has caused this
certificate to be signed by facsimile
signatures of its duly authorized
officers. Dated: SECRETARY
PRESIDENT COUNTERSIGNED
AND REGISTERED: WELLS
FARGO BANK, N.A. TRANSFER
AGENT AND REGISTRAR BY
AUTHORIZED SIGNATURE KRA
AMERICAN FINANCIAL
PRINTING INCORPORATED –
MINNEAPOLIS THIS
CERTIFICATE IS TRANSFERABLE
IN SOUTH SAINT PAUL, MN.

 

THE BOARD OF THIS CORPORATION
HAS THE AUTHORITY TO CREATE
AND DETERMINE THE RELATIVE
RIGHTS AND PREFERENCES OF
CLASSES OR SERIES OF SHARES OF
CAPITAL STOCK OTHER THAN
COMMON STOCK. THIS
CORPORATION WILL FURNISH TO
ANY SHAREHOLDER UPON WRITTEN
REQUEST SENT TO ITS PRINCIPAL
EXECUTIVE OFFICES, AND WITHOUT
CHARGE, A FULL STATEMENT OF THE
BOARD’S AUTHORITY TO CREATE
AND DETERMINE THE RELATIVE
RIGHTS AND PREFERENCES OF
CLASSES OR SERIES OF SHARES OF
CAPITAL STOCK AS WELL AS THE
DESIGNATIONS, PREFERENCES,
LIMITATIONS AND RELATIVE RIGHTS
OF THE SHARES OF EACH CLASS OR
SERIES THEN OUTSTANDING OR
AUTHORIZED TO BE ISSUED. The
following abbreviations, when used in the
inscription on the face of this certificate,
shall be construed as though they were
written out in full according to applicable
laws or regulations: TEN COM – as tenants
in common UTMA – ____________
Custodian ____________ (Cust) (Minor)
TEN ENT – as tenants by entireties under
Uniform Transfers to Minors JT TEN – as
joint tenants with right of survivorship Act
________________________________ and
not as tenants in common (State) Additional
abbreviations may also be used though not
in above list. For value received _____
hereby sell, assign, and transfer unto
(PLEASE PRINT OR TYPEWRITE
NAME AND ADDRESS INCLUDING ZIP
CODE OF ASSIGNEE) Shares of the
capital stock represented by the within
Certificate, and do hereby irrevocably
constitute and appoint Attorney to transfer
the said stock on the books of the within-
named Corporation with full power of
substitution in the premises. Dated
________________ X X NOTICE: THE
SIGNATURE TO THIS ASSIGNMENT
MUST CORRESPOND WITH THE
NAME AS WRITTEN UPON THE FACE
OF THE CERTIFICATE IN EVERY
PARTICULAR WITHOUT ALTERATION
OR ENLARGEMENT OR ANY CHANGE
WHATEVER. SIGNATURE
GUARANTEED ALL GUARANTEES
MUST BE MADE BY A FINANCIAL
INSTITUTION (SUCH AS A BANK OR
BROKER) WHICH IS A PARTICIPANT
IN THE SECURITIES TRANSFER
AGENTS MEDALLION PROGRAM
(“STAMP”), THE NEW YORK STOCK
EXCHANGE, INC. MEDALLION
SIGNATURE PROGRAM (“MSP”), OR
THE STOCK EXCHANGES
MEDALLION PROGRAM (“SEMP”)
AND MUST NOT BE DATED.
GUARANTEES BY A NOTARY PUBLIC
ARE NOT ACCEPTABLE. PLEASE
INSERT SOCIAL SECURITY OR OTHER
IDENTIFYING NUMBER OF ASSIGNEE
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EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT
 

This EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (“Agreement”), effective July 1, 2006, is entered into by and between SYS Technologies, a California
corporation, with its principal office at 5050 Murphy Canyon Road, Suite 200, San Diego, California 92123 (“Company”), and Ben Goodwin, (“Employee”),
collectively the “Parties.” The Parties hereto desire to enter into an employment arrangement and in order to accomplish that purpose and in consideration of
the terms, covenants and conditions hereinafter set forth, the Parties hereby enter into this Agreement.

 
SECTION 1

 
EMPLOYMENT; TERM; DUTIES

 
1.1                                 Employment. Upon the terms and conditions hereinafter set forth, the Company employs Employee, and Employee hereby accepts

employment, as President and Chief Operating Officer, Public Safety, Security, and Industrial Systems Group.
 
1.2                                 Term. Employee’s employment hereunder shall be for a term (the “Term”) commencing on the date this Agreement is effective and ending

on June 30, 2008, unless the Agreement terminates sooner pursuant to Section 4 below; provided, however, that the Agreement shall renew automatically for
successive periods of one (1) year unless the Company or Employee provides written notice to the other Party of a desire to change, modify, amend or
terminate the Agreement at least thirty (30) days prior to the then-current expiration date of the Agreement. If the Company elects not to renew this
Agreement at the conclusion of the Term, Employee will be eligible for severance benefits pursuant to and in accordance with subsections 4.2 or 4.4.

 
1.3                                 Duties. During the Term, Employee shall perform such duties for the Company as are prescribed by applicable job specifications, the

Bylaws of the Company and such other or additional duties, consistent with such Bylaws, as may be assigned to him/her from time to time by the Chief
Executive Officer (“CEO”), or the Board of Directors of the Company. Employee shall devote his/her best efforts, attention and energies to the performance
of his/her duties hereunder. This employment is full-time and exclusive. Employee may not work for any other compan y or enterprise during the Term of this
Agreement such that such employment would conflict or interfere with his/her obligations to the Company under this Agreement. Employee must advise the
CEO in writing prior to undertaking any employment in addition to his/her employment with the Company.

 
SECTION 2

 
COMPENSATION

 
2.1                                 Base Salary. For all services rendered by Employee hereunder and all covenants and conditions undertaken by both Parties pursuant to this

Agreement, the Company shall pay, and Employee shall accept, as compensation, an annual base salary (“Base Salary”) of Two Hundred Thousand Dollars
($200,000). This Base Salary shall be payable in accordance with the normal payroll practices of Company, less required deductions pursuant to state and
federal law, and less any amounts to be deducted pursuant to agreement between the Parties.

 
2.2                                 Incentive Compensation. The Employee shall also be paid such bonuses and/or other compensation as may be determined from time to time

by the CEO, or the Board of Directors as they, in their sole discretion, may determine based upon the performance of the employee and/or of the Company.
 
2.3                                 Performance and Salary Review. Employee’s performance will be reviewed periodically, usually on an annual basis. Adjustments to salary

or other compensation, if any, will be made by the CEO, or the Board of Directors as is then appropriate.
 

 
SECTION 3

 
BENEFITS/BUSINESS EXPENSES

 
3.1                                 Benefits. During the Term, Employee shall be entitled to participate in such life, health, accident, disability and hospitalization insurance

plans, pension plans and retirement plans as the Company makes available to the employees of the Company as a group.
 
3.2                                 Business Expenses. Employee will be reimbursed for all reasonable, out-of-pocket business expenses incurred in the performance of his/her

duties on behalf of Company. To obtain reimbursement, expenses must be submitted promptly with appropriate supporting documentation in accordance with
Company’s policies and procedures.

 
SECTION 4

 
TERMINATION; RESIGNATION; CHANGE OF CONTROL; DEATH; DISABILITY

 
4.1                                 Termination of Employment With Cause. If (a) Employee fails to meet the performance standards established for his/her position and does

not remedy such shortcomings within 30 days after written notice from the Company of such failure; or (b) Employee breaches any material provision of this
Agreement; or (c) Employee has been convicted of any felony; or (d) Employee commits any act of fraud, misappropriation of funds or embezzlement; or
(e) Employee fails to report to work for three (3) consecutive business days without inform ing his/her superior; or (f) Employee commits any act, or fails to
take any action, the effect of which is to bring the Company into disrepute with any of its customers, including, but not limited to a material violation of the
Company Code of Ethics, the Company shall have the right, upon written notice to the Employee, to immediately terminate his/her employment
(“Termination With Cause”) hereunder, without any further liability or obligation to him/her hereunder or otherwise in respect of his/her employment, other
than its obligation to pay unpaid Base Salary and unused personal time accrued as of the date of termination.

 
4.2                                 Termination of Employment Without Cause. Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary herein, the Company may at any time, in its

sole and absolute discretion and for any or no reason, terminate the employment of the Employee hereunder; PROVIDED, that if such termination is not a
Termination With Cause, as defined by subsection 4.1, and such termination is not caused by the death or Disability of the Employee, the Company shall pay
and/or provide the Employee as follows:



 
4.2.1                        All accrued but unpaid Base Salary.
 
4.2.2                        Reimbursement of normal incidental employee expenses as of the date of the termination as and when such amount is due and

payable hereunder in accordance with subsection 3.2.
 
4.2.3                        Company shall pay twelve (12) severance payments (“Severance Payments”) payable monthly to Employee equivalent to one-

twelfth (1/12) of the Base Salary in effect as of the date of such termination (the “Termination Date”) for a period of twelve months from the Date of
Termination (the “Severance Period”), provided that Employee and the Company execute an appropriate mutual general release before Employee has any
entitlement to the Severance Payments. Company will also pay the premiums on the COBRA insurance coverages during the Severance Period, provided that
Employee qualifies for such coverages and timely elects COBRA cove rage. The Company may, at its option, pay for and acquire insurance which will
provide the Severance Payments and such benefits during the Severance Period.

 
4.2.4                        All stock options issued to Employee or earned but not yet issued prior to the Termination Date shall immediately become fully

vested.
 

 
4.2.5                        Accrued but unused personal leave shall be paid out in accordance with legal requirements. No personal leave or other benefits

shall continue to accrue during the Severance Period.
 
4.2.6                        Notwithstanding the foregoing, if any amounts due to Employee pursuant to this Agreement are determined to be “Parachute

Payments” as such term is defined in Section 280G of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), and the regulations promulgated
thereunder, then the total compensation paid to Employee pursuant to this Agreement, together with any other payment or the value of any benefit received or
to be received by Employee which is treated as a Parachute Payment shall not exceed 2.99 times Employee’s Base Amount (as such term is defined in
Section 280G of the Code). In the event a reduction of the paym ents set forth in this Agreement is required pursuant to this Section, Employee may select the
compensation which will be reduced in order to fall within the 2.99 times Base Amount limitation.

 
4.3                                 Resignation.
 

4.3.1                        If Employee resigns (except as set forth in subsections 4.3.2 or 4.4 below), this Agreement shall immediately terminate and the
Company shall have no further liability or obligation to Employee hereunder, including any severance payments, or otherwise in respect of his/her
employment, other than its obligation to pay unpaid Base Salary and unused personal leave accrued as of the date of resignation.

 
4.3.2                        Resignation with Cause. If Employee resigns his/her employment because (a) his/her position or duties are modified by the

Company to such an extent that his/her duties are substantially no longer consistent with the position for which he/she was employed pursuant to this
Agreement, or (b) there has been a material breach by the Company of a material term of this Agreement which continues uncured following fourteen (14)
days after written notice by Employee to the Company of such breach, then Employee will be entitled to the severance benefits set forth in subsection 4.2,
consistent with the terms of said provision.

 
4.4                                 Change In Control. In the event of a Change in Control (as that term is defined below), Company shall immediately take all necessary

measures, consistent with the Company’s Stock Option Plans, to accelerate the vesting of any unvested options held by the Employee under such Plans so that
such options will be treated as vested options during the Change in Control. In addition, employment separation, as provided in this section, that occurs as a
result of a Change in Control shall result in Severance Payments on the same terms set forth in subsection 4 .2 above, except that the Severance Period shall
be eighteen (18) months. Such Change In Control Severance Payments will be made in the event of:

 
(a)                                  Employee’s involuntary dismissal or discharge by the Company, other than pursuant to subsections 4.1, 4.3.1, or 4.5, or
 
(b)                                 Employee’s voluntary resignation, other than pursuant to subsection 4.3, following (i) a change in his/her position with

the Company (or Parent or Subsidiary employing Employee) which materially reduces his/her duties and responsibilities or the level of management to which
he/she reports, (ii) a reduction in Employee’s level of compensation as of the date of the Change in Control (including base salary and fringe benefits), or
(iii) a relocation of Employee’s place of employment by more than fifty (50) miles, provided and only if such change, reduction, or relocation is effecte d by
the Company without Employee’s express consent.

 
4.4.1                        For purposes of this Agreement, a “Change in Control” shall mean: (i) the acquisition, by one person or a group, of stock of the

Company that causes such person or group to own more than 50% of the total fair market value or total voting power of the stock of such Company;
(ii) either: (1) the acquisition, by one person or a group, of ownership of 35% or more of the total voting power of the stock of the Company; or (2) the
replacement of a majority of the members of the Board with directors whose appointment or election is not endorsed by the existing Board; AND (iii) the
acquisition of assets from the Company that have a t otal gross fair market value of 40% or more of the total gross fair market value of all assets of the
Company prior to the acquisition.
 

 
4.5                                 Termination Due to Death or Disability. This Agreement will immediately terminate upon Employee’s death. This Agreement will

terminate upon Employee’s Disability (as defined below), when consistent with state and federal law. In the event of Employee’s termination due to death or
Disability, Employee, or Employee’s heirs, personal representatives or estate, as the case may be, will be entitled to receive only the standard entitlements and
those benefits available under any applicable Company plan or insurance policy, subject to such pl an or policy requirements, along with accrued unpaid Base
Salary and personal time. All other Company obligations to Employee pursuant to this Agreement will become automatically terminated and completely
extinguished. In addition, neither Employee nor Employee’s heirs, personal representatives or estate will be entitled to receive Severance Payments or other
benefits described in subsection 4.2 above.

 
4.5.1                        For the purpose of this Agreement only, the Company will not deem this Agreement terminated due to Employee’s Disability

unless: (i) he or she is unable to engage in any substantial gainful activity by reason of any medically determinable physical or mental impairment that can be
expected to result in death or can be expected to last for a continuous period of not less than 12 months; (ii) he or she is, by reason of any medically



determinable physical or mental impairment that can be expected to result in death or can be expected to last for a continuous period of not less than 12
months, receiving income replacement benefits for a period of no t less than three months under an accident and health plan covering employees of the
Company; or (iii) the Employee is determined to be totally disabled by the Social Security Administration. For purposes of this Section 4.5.1(i) and (ii),
whether Employee satisfies the definition of Disabled shall be determined in good faith by the Board of Directors of the Company.

 
4.6                                 Catch-Up Payments for Certain Key Employees. The Company shall delay any payments required under this Section 4 for six months

following Employee’s termination if Employee is deemed a “key employee,” as that term is defined under Code Section 409A. If payments under Section 4
are delayed, then on the day following the end of the six-month period the Company shall make a catch-up payment equal to the total amount of such
payments that would have been made during the six-month period but for the application of Code Section  ;409A, plus interest calculated at the one-year
Treasury Bill rate.

 
SECTION 5

 
INVENTIONS; CONFIDENTIAL/TRADE SECRET INFORMATION; NON-DISCLOSURE; UNFAIR COMPETITION; CONFLICT OF

INTEREST
 

5.1                                 Inventions. All processes, technologies and inventions relating to the business of the Company (collectively, “Inventions”), including new
contributions, improvements, ideas, discoveries, trademarks and trade names, conceived, developed, invented, made or found by the Employee, alone or with
others, during his/her employment by the Company, whether or not patentable and whether or not conceived, developed, invented, made or found on the
Company’s time or with the use of the Company’s facilities or materials, shall be the property of th e Company and shall be promptly and fully disclosed by
Employee to the Company. The Employee shall perform all necessary acts (including, without limitation, executing and delivering any confirmatory
assignments, documents or instruments requested by the Company) to assign or otherwise to vest title to any such Inventions in the Company and to enable
the Company, at its expense, to secure and maintain domestic and/or foreign patents or any other rights for such Inventions. This Agreement and this
subsection does not apply to an Invention which qualifies fully as a nonassignable Invention under Section 2870 of the California Labor Code.

 
5.2                                 Confidential/Trade Secret Information/Non-Disclosure.
 

5.2.1                        Confidential/Trade Secret Information Defined. During the course of Employee’s employment, Employee will have access to
various confidential/trade secret information of the Company. “Confidential/trade secret information” is information that is not generally known to the public
and, as a result, is of economic benefit to the Company in the conduct of its business. Employee and the Company agree that the term “confidential/trade
secret” includes but is not limited to all information developed or obtained by the Company,
 

 
including its affiliates, and predecessors, and comprising the following items, whether or not such items have been reduced to tangible form (e.g., physical
writing, computer hard drive, disk, tape, etc.): all methods, techniques, processes, ideas, research and development, product designs, engineering designs,
plans, models, production plans, business plans, add-on features, trade names, service marks, slogans, forms, pricing structures, menus, business forms,
marketing programs and plans, layouts and designs, financial structures, operational methods and tactics, cost information, the identity of and/or contractual
arrangements with suppliers and/or vendors, accounting procedures, and any document, record or other information of the Company relating to the above.
Confidential/trade secret information includes not only information directly belonging to the Company which existed before the date of this Agr eement, but
also information developed by Employee for the Company, including its affiliates and its predecessors and/or their employees during the term of Employee’s
employment with the Company. It does not include any information which (a) was in the lawful and unrestricted possession of Employee prior to its
disclosure to Employee by the Company or its affiliates or predecessors, (b) is or becomes generally available to the public by lawful acts other than those of
Employee after receiving it, or (c) has been received lawfully and in good faith by Employee from a third party who is not and has never been an employee of
the Company or its affiliates or predecessors and who did not derive it from the Company or its affiliates or predecessors.

 
5.2.2                        Restriction on Use of Confidential/Trade Secret Information. Employee agrees that his/her use of confidential/trade secret

information is subject to the following restrictions for an indefinite period of time so long as the confidential/trade secret information has not become
generally known to the public:

 
(a)                                  Non-Disclosure. Employee agrees that he/she will not publish or disclose, or allow to be published or disclosed,

confidential/trade secret information to any person without the prior written authorization of the Company unless pursuant to Employee’s job duties to the
Company under this Agreement.

 
(b)                                 Non-Removal/Surrender. Employee agrees that he/she will not remove any confidential/trade secret information from the

offices of the Company or the premises of any facility in which the Company is performing services, except pursuant to his/her duties under this Agreement.
Employee further agrees that he/she shall surrender to the Company all documents and materials in his/her possession or control which contain
confidential/trade secret information and which are the property of the Company upon the termination of this Agreement, and that he/she shall no t thereafter
retain any copies of any such materials.

 
5.2.3                        Non-Solicitation of Customers/Prohibition Against Unfair Competition. Employee agrees that at no time after his/her employment

with the Company will he/she engage in competition with the Company while making any use of the Company’s confidential/trade secret information. In
addition, Employee agrees that, for the duration of the severance payments as provided for in Section 4.2 or 4.4, he/she will not directly or indirectly accept or
solicit, whether as an employee, independent contractor or in any other capacity, the business of any customer of the Company with whom Employee worked
or otherwise had access to the Company’s confidential/trade secret information pertaining to its business with that customer during the last two (2) years of
his/her employment with the Company.

 
5.3                                 Conflict of Interest. During Employee’s employment with Company, Employee must not engage in any work, paid or unpaid, that creates

an actual conflict of interest with Company. Such work shall include, but is not limited to, directly or indirectly competing with Company in any way, or
acting as an officer, director, employee, consultant, controlling or 5% stockholder, volunteer, lender, or agent of any business enterprise of the same nature as,
or which is in direct competition with the business in which Company is now engaged or in which Company bec omes engaged during Employee’s
employment with Company, as may be determined by the Board of Directors in its sole discretion. If the Board of Directors believes such a conflict exists
during Employee’s employment, the Board of Directors may ask Employee to choose to discontinue the other work or resign employment with Company. In
addition, Employee agrees not to refer any client or potential client of Company to competitors of Company without obtaining the Company’s prior written



consent during Employee’s employment. Any termination of Employee’s employment due to violation of this subsection is considered “With Cause” for the
purposes of section 4.1 above.
 

 
5.4                                 Non-Solicitation During Employment. Employee shall not during his/her employment interfere with or disrupt or attempt to disrupt

Employer’s business relationship with its customers or suppliers or solicit any of the employees of Employer to leave the employ of Employer.
 
5.5                                 Non-Solicitation of Employees. Employee agrees that, for the duration of the severance payments as provided for in Section 4.2 or 4.4,

he/she shall not, directly or indirectly, ask or encourage any of the Company’s employees to leave their employment with the Company or solicit any of the
Company’s employees for employment.

 
5.6                                 Breach of Provisions. If the Employee breaches any of the provisions of this Section 5, or in the event that any such breach is threatened by

the Employee, in addition to and without limiting or waiving any other remedies available to the Company at law or in equity, the Company shall be entitled
to immediate injunctive relief in any court, domestic or foreign, having the capacity to grant such relief, to restrain any such breach or threatened breach and
to enforce the provisions of this section 5. The Employee acknowledges and agrees that there is n o adequate remedy at law for any such breach or threatened
breach and, in the event that any action or proceeding is brought seeking injunctive relief, the Employee shall not use as a defense thereto that there is an
adequate remedy at law. In addition, if the Employee breaches any of the provisions of this section 5, any and all Severance Payments and benefit obligations
under this Agreement or otherwise will cease and be extinguished in their entirety and the Company will have no further obligations in that regard.

 
5.7                                 Reasonable Restrictions. The parties acknowledge that the foregoing restrictions, as well as the duration and the territorial scope thereof as

set forth in this section 5, are under all of the circumstances reasonable and necessary for the protection of the Company and its business.
 
5.8                                 Definition. For purposes of this section 5, the term “Company” shall be deemed to include any subsidiary or affiliate of the Company.
 

SECTION 6
 

MISCELLANEOUS
 

6.1                                 Binding Effect. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective legal
representatives, heirs, distributees, successors and assigns; PROVIDED, that the rights and obligations of the Employee hereunder shall not be assignable by
him/her.

 
6.2                                 Notices. Any notice provided for herein shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been given or made (a) when personally delivered

or (b) when sent by telecopier and confirmed within forty-eight (48) hours by letter mailed or delivered to the party to be notified at its or his/hers address set
forth herein; or three (3) days after being sent by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, (or by equivalent currier with delivery documentation
such as FEDEX or UPS) to the address of the other party set forth or to such other address as may be specified by notice given in accordance with this
section 6.2:
 

If to the Company: SYS Technologies 
5050 Murphy Canyon Road, Suite 200 
San Diego, CA 92123 
Tel: (858) 715-5500 
Fax: (858) 715-5510 
Attention: Sr. Vice President, Corp. Admin.

  
If to Employee: Name: Ben Goodwin 

Address: 
                                                          

 

 
 

                                       , CA
 

Tel: (    )     -    
 

Fax: (    )     -    
 

6.3                                 Severability. If any provision of this Agreement, or portion thereof, shall be held invalid or unenforceable by a court of competent
jurisdiction, such invalidity or unenforceability shall attach only to such provision or portion thereof, and shall not in any manner affect or render invalid or
unenforceable any other provision of this Agreement or portion thereof, and this Agreement shall be carried out as if any such invalid or unenforceable
provision or portion thereof were not contained herein. In addition, any such invalid or unenforceable provision o r portion thereof shall be deemed, without
further action on the part of the parties hereto, modified, amended or limited to the extent necessary to render the same valid and enforceable.

 
6.4                                 Waiver. No waiver by a party hereto of a breach or default hereunder by the other party shall be considered valid, unless expressed in a

writing signed by such first party, and no such waiver shall be deemed a waiver of any subsequent breach or default of the same or any other nature.
 
6.5                                 Entire Agreement. This Agreement sets forth the entire agreement between the Parties with respect to the subject matter hereof, and

supersedes any and all prior agreements between the Company and Employee, whether written or oral, relating to any or all matters covered by and contained
or otherwise dealt with in this Agreement. This Agreement does not constitute a commitment of the Company with regard to Employee’s employment,
express or implied, other than to the extent expressly provided for herein.

 
6.6                                 Amendment. No modification, change or amendment of this Agreement or any of its provisions shall be valid, unless in writing and signed

by the party against whom such claimed modification, change or amendment is sought to be enforced.
 



6.7                                 Authority. The Parties each represent and warrant that it/he or she has the power, authority and right to enter into this Agreement and to
carry out and perform the terms, covenants and conditions hereof.

 
6.8                                 Attorneys’ Fees. The Parties shall each be responsible for their own attorneys’ fees.
 
6.9                                 Titles. The titles of the sections of this Agreement are inserted merely for convenience and ease of reference and shall not affect or modify

the meaning of any of the terms, covenants or conditions of this Agreement.
 
6.10                           Applicable Law; Choice of Forum. Any proceeding between the parties arising out of or relating to this Agreement shall be brought in the

appropriate forum in San Diego County, California. This Agreement, and all of the rights and obligations of the parties in connection with the employment
relationship established hereby, shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the substantive laws of the State of California without giving effect to
principles relating to conflicts of law.

 
6.11                           Arbitration.
 

6.11.1                  Scope. To the fullest extent permitted by law, Employee and Company agree to the binding arbitration of any and all
controversies, claims or disputes between them arising out of or in any way related to this Agreement, the employment relationship between Company and
Employee and any disputes upon termination of employment, including but not limited to breach of contract, tort, discrimination, harassment, wrongful
termination, demotion, discipline, failure to accommodate, family and medical leave, compensation or benefits claims, constitutional claims; and any claims
for violation of any local, state or federal law, statute, regulation or o rdinance or common law. For the purpose of this agreement to arbitrate, references to
“Company” include all parent, subsidiary or related entities and their employees, supervisors, officers, directors, agents, pension or benefit plans, pension or
benefit plan sponsors, fiduciaries, administrators, affiliates and all successors and
 

 
assigns of any of them, and this agreement to arbitrate shall apply to them to the extent Employee’s claims arise out of or relate to their actions on behalf of
Company.

 
6.11.2                  Arbitration Procedure. To commence any such arbitration proceeding, the party commencing the arbitration must provide the other

party with written notice of any and all claims forming the basis of such right in sufficient detail to inform the other party of the substance of such claims. In
no event shall this notice for arbitration be made after the date when institution of legal or equitable proceedings based on such claims would be barred by the
applicable statute of limitations. The arbitration will be conducted in San Diego, California, by a single neutral arbitrator and in accordance with the then-
current rules for resolutio n of employment disputes of the American Arbitration Association (“AAA”). The parties are entitled to representation by an
attorney or other representative of their choosing. The arbitrator shall have the power to enter any award that could be entered by a judge of the trial court of
the State of California, and only such power, and shall follow the law. The award shall be binding and the Parties agree to abide by and perform any award
rendered by the arbitrator. The arbitrator shall issue the award in writing and therein state the essential findings and conclusions on which the award is based.
Judgment on the award may be entered in any court having jurisdiction thereof. Company shall bear the costs of the arbitration filing and hearing fees and the
cost of the arbitrator.

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the day and year first above written.

 
 

Dated: November 10, 2006
 

/s/ Ben Goodwin
 

 
 

Name: Ben Goodwin
    
   

SYS Technologies, Inc.
    
Dated: November 10, 2006

 

By: /s/ Rob Babbush
 

 
 

Name: Rob Babbush
   

Title:                                             Sr. Vice President, Corp. Admin.
 



Exhibit 10.13
 

SEVERANCE AND CHANGE OF CONTROL AGREEMENT
 

This SEVERANCE AND CHANGE OF CONTROL AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is effective as of August 2, 2010 by and between Kratos Defense &
Security Solutions, Inc., (the “Company”) and Deborah S. Butera (“Butera”), as approved by the Company’s Board Compensation Committee.

 
A.            Butera is presently employed as General Counsel of the Company.
 
B.            As consideration for Butera’s agreement to continue her duties and responsibilities, the Company desires to give Butera certain protection if she is

terminated from employment without Cause, or if there is a Change of Control of the Company, as defined and more particularly set forth below.
 
Therefore, in consideration of the promises and the mutual covenants contained below, and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt of

which is hereby acknowledged, the parties agree as follows:
 
1.              Vesting Upon Change of Control.  Upon the closing of a transaction that constitutes a Change of Control (as defined in paragraph 3(a) below), the

vesting of 50% of all stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock units and any other equity awards granted to Butera under the Company’s equity
incentive plans that as of the date of such Change of Control remain unvested shall accelerate, to the extent permissible by law, notwithstanding and in
addition to any existing vesting provisions set forth in the applicable equity award agreement and/or the Company equity incentive plan.  On the one year
anniversary of such Chan ge of Control or upon a Triggering Event (as defined in paragraph 3(b) below), whichever occurs sooner, the remaining unvested
portion of any outstanding equity awards shall immediately vest.

 
2.              Severance Payments.
 

(a)                                 If Butera (x) is terminated without Cause (as defined in paragraph 3(c) below) prior to a Change of Control or (y) is terminated as a result of
a Triggering Event (as defined in paragraph 3(b) below) after a Change of Control (as defined in paragraph 3(a) below), then Butera will be entitled to receive
in satisfaction of all obligations (other than as provided in paragraph 1 above) that the Company may have to Butera: (i) in the case of clause (x) hereof,
severance compensation equal to six (6) months of her base salary then in effect; or in the case of clause (y)  hereof, severance compensation equal to six
(6) months of her base salary plus her maximum potential bonus amount for six (6) months; in either case, less applicable taxes and withholding; and, if
needed by Butera, (ii) her then-current health insurance coverage, at the then current employee cost, during the six (6) month period following a termination
in the case of clause (x) or during the six (6) month period following a resignation in the case of clause (y).  Such benefits will be provided for the six
(6) month period following the date of Butera’s termination.  In addition in the event that Butera is terminated without Cause, the vesting of 100% of all stock
options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock units and any other equity awards granted to Butera under the Company’s equity incentive plans that as of
the date of such termination remain unvested shall accelerate, to the extent permissible by law, notwithstanding
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and in addition to any existing vesting provisions set forth in the applicable equity award agreement and/or the Company equity incentive plan.  The
foregoing severance compensation, health insurance coverage and acceleration of vesting will be conditioned upon Butera’s execution of a separation
agreement with a release of claims reasonably satisfactory to the Company and such cash severance compensation shall be paid in a single lump sum payment
within thirty (30) days following Butera’s execution of such separation agreement.

 
(b)                                 Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement to the contrary, if Butera is a “specified employee” within the meaning of

Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code (the “Code”) and the related guidance (“Section 409A”) at the time of Butera’s separation from service, then only
that portion of the severance and benefits set forth in paragraph 2(a) above, together with any other severance payments or benefits, that may be considered
deferred compensation under Section 409A, which (when considered together) do not exceed the Section 409A Limit (a s defined below) and which qualify
as separation pay under Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-1(b)(9)(iii), may be paid within the first six (6) months following Butera’s separation from
service in accordance with paragraph 2(a) above or (for payments or benefits not provided under this Agreement) with the payment schedule applicable to
each such other payment or benefit.  Otherwise, the portion of the severance and benefits provided under this Agreement, together with any other severance
payments or benefits that may be considered deferred compensation under Section 409A, that would otherwise be payable within the six (6) month period
following Butera’s separation from service will accrue during such six (6) month period and will be paid in a lump sum on the date six (6) months and one
(1) day following the date of Butera’s separation from service (or the next business day if such date is not a business day).  All remaining severance payments
and benefits will be payable in accordance with the payment schedule applicable to such payments or benefits.  For purposes of this Agreement,
“Section 409A Limit” means the lesser of two (2) times: (i) the sum of Butera’s annualized compensation based upon the annual rate of pay for services
provided to the Company for the taxable year of Butera preceding the taxable year of Butera’s separation from service from the Company as determined
under Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-1(b)(9)(iii)(A)(1) and any related Internal Revenue Service guidance; or (ii) the maximum amount that may be
taken into account under a qualified plan pursuant to Section 401(a)(17) of the Code for the year in which such separation from service occurs.

 
3.              Definition of Change of Control and Triggering Event.
 

(a)                                 A Change of Control means: (i) the acquisition by an individual person or entity or a group of individuals or entities acting in concert,
directly or indirectly, through one transaction or a series of transactions, of more than 50% of the outstanding voting securities of the Company; (ii) a merger
or consolidation of the Company with or into another entity after which the stockholders of the Company immediately prior to such transaction hold less than
50% of the voting securities of the surviving entity; (iii) any action or event that results in the Board of Directors consisting of fewer than a majority of
Incumbent Directors (“Incumbent Directors” shall mean directors who either (a) are directors of the Company as of the date hereof, or (B) are elected or
nominated for election, to the Board with affirmative votes of at least a majority of the Incumbent Directors at the time of such election or nomination); or
(iv) a sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company.
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(b)                                 A Triggering Event means (i) Butera’s termination from employment by the Company without Cause; (ii) a material change in the nature of
Butera’s role or job responsibilities so that Butera’s duties and responsibilities after the Change of Control, when considered in their totality as a whole, are
substantially different in nature from the job duties Butera performed immediately prior to the Change of Control; or (iii) the relocation of Butera’s principal
place of work to a location of more than thirty (30) miles from the location Butera was assigned to immediately prior to t he Change of Control and more than
30 miles farther from Butera’s principal residence immediately prior to the Change of Control; provided, however, in the case of a Triggering Event described
in clause (ii) or (iii) hereof, such condition shall not exist unless Butera provides written notice to the Company within ninety (90) days of its initial existence
and the Company does not cure such condition within thirty (30) days from the date it receives such notice from Butera.  In addition, no Triggering Event will
be deemed to have occurred unless Butera separates from service within twelve (12) months from the date such Triggering Event initially occurs.

 
(c)                                  “Cause” means (i) acts or omissions constituting gross negligence, recklessness or willful misconduct on the part of Butera with respect to

Butera’s obligations or otherwise relating to the business of the Company; (ii) Butera’s material breach of this Agreement or the Company’s standard form of
confidentiality agreement; (iii) Butera’s conviction or entry of a plea of nolo contendere for fraud, misappropriation or embezzlement, or any felony or crime
of moral turpitude; (iv) Butera’s failure to perform her duties and responsibilities as Gene ral Counsel to the reasonable satisfaction of the Board after being
provided with notice thereof and thirty (30) days opportunity to remedy such failure; and (v) Butera’s willful neglect of duties or performance. 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, a termination under subsection (v) shall not constitute a termination for “Cause” unless the Company has first given Butera
written notice of the offending conduct (such notice shall include a description of remedial actions that the Company reasonably deems appropriate to cure
such offending conduct) and a thirty (30) day opportunity to cure such offending conduct.  In the event the Company terminates Butera’s employment under
subsection (v), the Company agrees to participate in binding arbitration, if requested by Butera, to determine whether the cause for termination was willful
neglect of duties or poor performance as opposed to some other reason that does not constitute Cause under this Agreement.

 
4.              General Provisions.  Nothing in this Agreement is intended to change the at-will nature of Butera’s employment with the Company.  This Agreement

and Butera’s offer letter and the Proprietary Information and Innovations Agreement signed by Butera, constitute the entire agreement between Butera and the
Company with respect to Butera’s employment with the Company.  No amendment or modification of the terms or conditions of this Agreement shall be valid
unless in writing and signed by the parties.

 
5.              Compliance with Section 409A of the Code.  This Agreement is intended to comply with Section 409A of the Code (or any regulations or rulings

thereunder), and shall be construed and interpreted in accordance with such intent.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, the
Company, in the exercise of its sole discretion and without the consent of Butera, may amend or modify this Agreement in any manner in order to meet he
requirements of Section
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409A as amplified by any Internal Revenue Service or U.S. Treasury Department guidance.  Any provision of this Agreement that would cause the payment
of any benefit to fail to satisfy Section 409A shall have no force and effect until amended to comply with Code Section 409A (which amendment shall be
retroactive to the extent permitted by the Code or any regulations or rulings thereunder).  Butera is encouraged to consult a tax adviser regarding the potential
impact of Section 409A.

 
6.              Parachute Payment Excise Tax.
 

(a)                                 In the event that any payment or benefit (within the meaning of Section 280G(b)(2) of the Code) to Butera for Butera’s benefit, paid or
payable or distributed or distributable pursuant to the terms of this Agreement or otherwise in connection with, or arising out of, Butera’s employment with
the Company or a Change of Control (a “Payment” or “Payments”), would be subject to the excise tax imposed by Code Section 4999, or any interest or
penalties are incurred by Butera with respect to such excise tax (such excise tax, together with any such interest and penalties, are hereinafter collectively
referred to as the “Excise Tax”), then Butera will be entitled to receive an additional payment (a “Gross-Up Payment”) in an amount such that after payment
by Butera of all taxes (including any interest or penalties (other than interest and penalties imposed by reason of Butera’s failure to file timely a tax return or
pay taxes shown due on Butera’s return) imposed with respect to such taxes and the Excise Tax), including any Excise Tax imposed upon the Gross-Up
Payment, Butera retains an amount of the Gross-Up Payment equal to the Excise Tax imposed upon the Payments.

 
(b)                                 An initial determination as to whether a Gross-Up Payment is required pursuant to this Agreement and the amount of such Gross-Up

Payment shall be made by the Company.  The Company shall provide its determination (the “Determination”), together with detailed supporting calculations
and documentation, to Butera within fifteen (15) days of the date of Butera’s termination, if applicable, or such other time as requested by Butera (provided
Butera reasonably believes that any of the Payments may be subject to the Excise Tax).  If requested by Butera, the Company shall furnish Butera, at th e
Company’s expense, with an opinion reasonably acceptable to Butera from the Company’s accounting firm (or an accounting firm of equivalent stature
reasonably acceptable to Butera) that there is a reasonable basis for the Determination.  Any Gross-Up Payment determined pursuant to this paragraph 6 shall
be paid by the Company to Butera within five (5) days of receipt of the Determination.

 
(c)                                  As a result of the uncertainty in the application of Sections 4999 and 280G of the Code, it is possible that a Gross-Up Payment (or a portion

thereof) will be paid which should not have been paid (an “Excess Payment”) or a Gross-Up Payment (or a portion thereof) which should have been paid will
not have been paid (an “Underpayment”).

 
(d)                                 An Underpayment shall be deemed to have occurred (A) upon notice (formal or informal) to Butera from any governmental taxing authority

that Butera’s tax liability (whether in respect of Butera’s current taxable year or in respect of any prior taxable year) may be increased by reason of the
imposition of the Excise Tax on a Payment or Payments with respect to which the Company has failed to make a sufficient Gross-Up Payment, (B) upon a
determination by a court, or (C) by reason of determination by the Company (which shall include
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the position taken by the Company, together with its consolidated group, on its federal income tax return).  If an Underpayment occurs, Butera shall promptly
notify the Company and the Company shall promptly, but in any event at least five (5) days prior to the date on which the applicable government taxing
authority has requested payment, pay to Butera an additional Gross-Up Payment equal to the amount of the Underpayment plus any interest and penalties
(other than interest and penalties imposed by reason of Butera’s failure to file timely a tax return or pay taxes shown due on Butera’s return) imposed on the
Underpayment.



 
(e)                                  An Excess Payment shall be deemed to have occurred upon a Final Determination (as hereinafter defined) that the Excise Tax shall not be

imposed upon a Payment or Payments (or portion thereof) with respect to which Butera had previously received a Gross-Up Payment.  A “Final
Determination” shall be deemed to have occurred when Butera has received from the applicable government taxing authority a refund of taxes or other
reduction in Butera’s tax liability by reason of the Excise Payment and upon either (A) the date a determination is made by, or an agreement is entered into
with, the applicable governmental taxing authority which finally and conclusively binds Butera and such taxing authority, or in the event that a claim is
brought before a court of competent jurisdiction, the date upon which a final determination has been made by such court and either all appeals have been
taken and finally resolved or the time for all appeals has expired or (B) the statute of limitations with respect o Butera’s applicable tax return has expired.  If
an Excess Payment is determined to have been made, the amount of the Excess Payment shall be repaid by Butera to the Company unless, and only to the
extent that, the repayment would either reduce the amount on which Butera is subject to tax under Code Section 4999 or generate a refund of tax imposed
under Code Section 4999.

 
(f)                                   Notwithstanding anything contained in this Agreement to the contrary, in the event that, according to the Determination, an Excise Tax will

be imposed on any Payment or Payments, the Company shall pay to the applicable government taxing authorities, as Excise Tax withholding, the amount of
the Excise Tax that the Company has actually withheld from the Payment or Payments.

 
 

Deborah S. Butera
  
Dated: /s/ Deborah S. Butera
  
 

Kratos Defense & Security Solutions, Inc.
  
Dated: /s/ Eric DeMarco
 

By: Eric DeMarco, President and CEO
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Exhibit 10.14
 

EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT
 

THIS EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is entered into by and between Kratos Government Solutions, Inc., a Delaware
corporation (the “Company”) and Richard Selvaggio, an individual (“Executive”), effective as of August 4, 2010 (“Effective Date”).  For purposes of this
Agreement, the defined term “Company” is intended to include Madison Research Corporation (“MRC”).  Certain terms used in this Agreement denoted by
initial capital letters are defined in Section 17.

 
RECITALS

 
A.            Executive currently serves as Division President, Weapons Systems Solutions Division (“WSS”), and an officer of the Company and in

such capacities has obtained extensive and valuable knowledge and confidential information concerning the Company’s and WSS’ business and confidential
customer relationships.
 

B.            On terms more particularly set forth herein, the Company and Executive wish to extend Executive’s term of employment and clarify
certain other terms of Executive’s employment with Company.
 

NOW, THEREFORE, in the consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements set forth herein, the Company and Executive, intending to be
legally bound, hereby agree as follows:

 
AGREEMENT

 
1.     Employment.  The Company shall employ Executive as Division President of WSS (the “Position”), and Executive accepts such employment

and agrees to perform services for the Company, for the period and upon the other terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement.
 
2.     Term. The term of Executive’s employment hereunder shall be for a period commencing on the Effective Date and ending on December 31,

2013 (the “Term”), subject to earlier termination as hereinafter specified.  Upon expiration of the Term, the terms contained in this Agreement shall expire
and Executive’s employment will be in the nature of employment-at-will, unless otherwise agreed by the parties.

 
3.     Position and Duties.  During the term of this Agreement, Executive shall perform all duties and functions customarily performed by the

Position of a business of the size and nature similar to that of the Company, and such other related employment duties as the President of the Company or his
designee (the “Company President”) shall reasonably assign to him from time to time.  Executive shall perform his duties principally at the executive offices
of MRC, with such travel to such other locations from time to time as the Company President may reasonably require.  Except as may otherwise be approved
in advance by the Company President, and except during vacation periods and reasonable periods of absence due to sickness, personal injury or other
disability , Executive shall devote his full working time to the services required of him hereunder.  Executive shall use his reasonable best efforts, judgment
and energy to improve and advance the business and interest of the Company and its subsidiaries, if applicable, in a manner consistent with the duties of his
position and with the Company’s Code of Legal and Ethical Conduct.  Executive hereby confirms that he is under no contractual commitments inconsistent
with his obligations set forth in this Agreement, and that during his employment, he will not render or perform services, or
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enter into any contract to do so, for any other corporation, firm, entity or person which are inconsistent with the provisions of this Agreement.
 

4.     Compensation.
 

4.1          Base Salary.  As compensation for all services to be rendered by Executive under this Agreement, the Company shall pay to
Executive a base annual salary of Two Hundred Forty Thousand Dollars ($240,000.00) (the “Base Salary”), which shall be paid on a regular basis in
accordance with the Company’s customary payroll procedures and policies.  Executive will be eligible for annual increases to the Base Salary in accordance
with the Company’s then current compensation policies.

 
4.2          Restricted Stock Units.  Executive will be eligible for further grants of RSUs on an annual basis at the discretion of Kratos’

President and the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors.
 
4.3          Incentive Compensation. In addition to the Base Salary, and as incentive compensation for services rendered hereunder,

Executive may, at the sole and absolute discretion of the Company, be entitled to receive additional annual compensation of up to sixty percent (60%) of the
Base Salary (“Incentive Compensation”).

 
4.4          Participation in Benefit Plans.  Executive and eligible family members shall be included to the extent eligible thereunder in any

and all plans of the Company providing general benefits for the Company’s employees, including, but not limited to, any group life insurance, hospitalization,
disability, paid time off, medical, dental, pension, profit sharing, savings and stock bonus plans.  Executive’s participation in any such plan or program shall
be subject to the provisions, rules, and regulations applicable thereto.  Nothing in this Agreement shall impose on the Company any affirmative obligation to
establish any benefit plan.  The Company reserves the right to prospectively terminate or change benefit plans and programs it offers to its employees at any
time, pro vided, however, that the Company will not reduce or discontinue Executive’s benefits in place on the date hereof unless such reduction or
discontinuance is applied proportionately to all other employees of the Company.

 
4.5          Expenses.  In accordance with the Company’s policies established from time to time, the Company will promptly pay or

reimburse Executive for all reasonable and necessary out-of-pocket expenses incurred by him in the performance of his duties under this Agreement, subject
to the presentment of appropriate receipts or expense reports in connection with the Company’s policies and procedures. The following provisions shall be in
effect for any reimbursements (and in-kind benefits) to which the Executive otherwise becomes under this Agreement, in order to assure that such
reimbursements (and benefits) do not create a deferred compensation arrangement subject to Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended
(“Code”):

 



4.5.1       The amount of reimbursements (or in-kind benefits) to which Executive may become entitled in any one calendar year
shall  not affect the amount of expenses eligible for reimbursement (or in-kind benefits) hereunder in any other  calendar year.

 
4.5.2       Each reimbursement to which Executive becomes entitled shall be made by the Company as soon as administratively

practicable following the Executive’s submission
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of the supporting documentation, but in no event later than the close of business of the calendar year following the calendar year in which the reimbursable
expense is incurred.

 
4.5.3       Executive’s right to reimbursement (or in-kind benefits) cannot be liquidated or exchanged for any other benefit or

payment.
 

4.6          Taxes.  The Company may withhold from any benefits payable (including any Severance Payment, as defined below) under this
Agreement all federal, state, city or other taxes as shall be required pursuant to any law or governmental regulation or ruling.

 
5.     Annual Leave.  Executive shall earn paid time off and shall maintain paid time off balances in accordance with the Company’s standard

policies.
 
6.     Compensation upon Termination.  Executive shall be entitled to the following payments, if any, upon the termination of his employment by

the Company.
 

6.1          Misconduct or Cause.  In the event Executive is terminated by the Company for Misconduct pursuant to Section 11.1, Executive
shall not be entitled to any compensation other than Base Salary accrued through the date of termination, plus accrued but unused paid time off.

 
6.2          Resignation.  In the event Executive resigns from the Company voluntarily pursuant to Section 11.2, Executive shall be entitled to

receive Executive’s Base Salary accrued through the effective date of termination, plus accrued but unused paid time off. Should Executive resign his
employment upon thirty (30) days’ advance written notice, Company reserves the right to immediately relieve Executive of all job duties and provide
Executive with payment of thirty (30) days Base Salary in lieu of any portion of the notice period.

 
6.3          Without Cause.  In the event Executive is terminated by the Company or by Executive Without Cause pursuant to Section 11.3,

the Company shall pay to Executive (i) any Base Salary accrued through the date of termination, (ii) any accrued but unused paid time off; and (iii) continued
payment of the Base Salary for six (6) months (the “Severance Period”).  Subsection (iii) of this Section 6.3 shall be referred to as a “Severance Payment”. 
Except as otherwise provided herein, the Severance Payment shall be paid to Executive on a regular basis in accordance with the company’s regular payroll
procedures and policies.

 
6.4          Upon Change of Control.  In the event Executive is terminated Upon a Change of Control of the Company pursuant to

Section 11.4, the Company shall pay to Executive: (i) any Base Salary accrued through the date of termination, (ii) any accrued but unused paid time off; and
(iii) continued payment of the Base Salary for a period of twelve (12) months. Subsection (iii) of this Section 6.4 shall be referred to as a “Severance
Payment”. Except as otherwise provided herein, the Severance Payment shall be paid to Executive on a regular basis in accordance with the company’s
regular payroll procedures and policies.

 
6.5          Disability.  If Executive becomes physically, emotionally or mentally disabled during the terms of this Agreement and such

disability continues for a period of one hundred eighty (180) days, the Company may, to the extent permitted by applicable law after the expiration of such
period, terminate this Agreement by giving written notice to Executive.  For purpose of this Agreement, the term “disabled” shall be defined as Executive’s
inability through physical, emotional, or mental illness, to perform all of the duties which Executive is required to perform under this Agreement with or
without reasonable accommodation as such terms are defined
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under the Americans with Disabilities Act.  In the event that the Executive is terminated pursuant to this section, the Company shall pay to Executive
(i) Executive’s Base Salary through the date that he is terminated; (ii) any earned and accrued Incentive Compensation; and (iii) any accrued but unused paid
time off.
 

6.6          Release. The receipt of the Severance Payment or other benefits pursuant to this Section 6 will be subject to Executive  signing
and not revoking a release of claims agreement in a form reasonably acceptable to the Company, and such release becoming effective within forty-five (45)
days of Executive’s termination. No severance or other benefits will be paid or provided until the release of claims agreement becomes effective, and any
severance amounts or benefits otherwise payable between the date of Executive’s termination and the date such release becomes effective shall be paid on the
effective date of such release, subject to the delay in the following paragraph. If the termination occurs after November 15, no payments shall be made until
the first payroll of the follow ing calendar year following the effectiveness of the release, subject to the delay in the following paragraph.

 
6.7          Six Month Delay.  Notwithstanding any inconsistent provision of this Agreement, if Executive is a “specified employee” within

the meaning of Code Section 409A at the time of termination, then the portion of Executive’s Severance Payments, together with any other severance
payments or benefits that, in each case, may be considered deferred compensation under Code Section 409A that would otherwise be payable within the six
(6) month period following termination and exceeds the Section 409A Limit will accrue and be paid in a lump sum on the date six (6) months and one (1) day
following the date of termination (or the next business day if such date is not a business day) or, if earlier, the date of death, provided Executive has complied
with the requir ements for such payment.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, no actions taken pursuant to this Section 15 shall reduce the total amount
of payments and benefits owed to Executive and to be paid to Executive under this Agreement.  For purposes of this Section 15, “Section 409A Limit” will
mean the lesser of two (2) times: (i) Executive’s annualized compensation based upon the annual rate of pay paid to Executive during Company’s taxable year
preceding Company’s taxable year of Executive’s termination of employment as determined under Treasury Regulation 1.409A-1(b)(9)(iii)(A)(1) and any



Internal Revenue Service guidance issued with respect thereto; or (ii) the maximum amount that may be taken into account under a qualified plan pursuant to
Code Section 401(a)(17) for the year in which Executive’s termination from employment occurs.

 
7.     Proprietary Matter; Ownership.
 

7.1          Except as permitted or directed by the Company or as required by law, Executive shall not during the term of his employment or at
any time thereafter knowingly divulge, furnish, disclose or make accessible (other than in the ordinary course of the business of the Company) to anyone for
use in any way any confidential, secret, or proprietary knowledge or information of the Company or its Affiliates that is not in the public domain
(“Proprietary Matter”) which Executive has acquired or become acquainted with or will acquire or become acquainted with during his employment,
whether developed by himself or by others, including, but not limited to, any trade secrets, confidential or secret designs, processes, formulae, software or
computer programs, plans, devices, or material (whether or not patented or patentable, copyright ed or copyrightable) directly or indirectly useful in any
aspect of the business of the Company and its Affiliates, any confidential customer, distributor or supplier lists of the Company or its Affiliates, any
confidential or secret development or research work of the Company or its Affiliates, or other
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confidential, secret or non-public aspects of the business of the Company or its Affiliates.  Executive acknowledges that the Proprietary Matter constitutes a
unique and valuable asset of the Company or its Affiliate, acquired at great time and expense by the Company or such Affiliate, and that any disclosure or
other use of the Proprietary Matter other than for the sole benefit of the Company  or such Affiliate would be wrongful and could cause irreparable harm to
the Company or such Affiliate.  The foregoing obligations of confidentiality, however, shall not apply to any knowledge or information which is now
published or which subsequently becomes generally publicly known, other than as a direct or indirect result of the breach of this Agreement by Executive.
 

7.2          Executive agrees that he will fully inform and disclose to the Company from time to time all inventions, designs, improvements,
enhancements, developments and discoveries which he now has, or may hereafter have, during the Term which pertain or relate to the business of the
Company or to any experimental work carried on by the Company.  All such inventions, designs, improvements, enhancements, developments and
discoveries shall be the exclusive property of the Company.  Executive shall reasonably assist the Company in obtaining patents on all such inventions,
designs, improvements, enhancements, developments and discoveries deemed patentable by the Company and shall execute all documents (including
assignments and related affidavits) and do all things reasonably necessary to obtain such patents.  This provision shall not apply to any inventions for which
no equipment, supplies, facilities or trade secret information of the Company was used and which was developed on Executive’s own time without using any
of the Company’s equipment, supplies, facilities or trade secret information, except for those inventions which either: (a) related at the time of conception or
reduction to practice of the invention to the Company business, or actual or demonstrably anticipated research or development of the Company, or (b) result
from any work performed by Executive for the Company.

 
8.     Ventures.  If, during the term of this Agreement, Executive is engaged in or associated with the planning or implementing of any project,

program or venture directly related to the business of the Company and a third party or parties, all rights in the project, program or venture shall belong to the
Company and shall constitute a corporate opportunity belonging exclusively to the Company.  Except as expressly approved in writing by the Company,
Executive shall not be entitled to any interest in such project, program or venture or to any commission, finder’s fee or other compensation in connection
therewith, other than the compensation to be paid to Executive as provided in this Agreement.

 
9.     Noninterference With Business.
 

9.1          During the Restricted Period, Executive agrees not to directly or indirectly improperly contact any of the Company’s customers or
prospective customers with whom the Company was engaged in discussions or proposal negotiations.  For purposes of clarity of interpretation of this section
9, improper contact or other action shall be any contact or action which would give rise to a claim under the legal theory of tortious interference with contract
under the applicable statues or common law. Thus, subject to the above mentioned prohibitions against tortious interference  by the Executive, the Company
acknowledges the Executive’s right to contact, solicit, and otherwise interact with current or prospective customers of Kratos in pursuit of business
opportunities during the Restricted Period and thereafter.

 
9.2          During the Restricted Period, Executive agrees not to (a) directly or indirectly improperly contact any of the Company’s then

current customers or Prospective Customers with
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whom the Company is then engaged in discussions or proposal negotiations for the purpose of improperly diverting or taking away business from the
Company; or (b) otherwise interfere with, impair, disrupt or damage the Company’s relationship with any of its then current or Prospective Customers.
 

9.3          During the Restricted Period, Executive agrees not to knowingly directly or indirectly solicit, induce or attempt to induce any
employee, consultant or independent contractor to terminate or breach an employment, contractual or other relationship with the Company.

 
10.  Non-Disparagement.  Executive expressly agrees that during his employment by the Company and for two (2) years following the termination

of such employment for any reason, he will make no statement and take no actions of any kind, verbal or written, that directly or indirectly disparages the
Company or the Related Parties, injures their general reputation or interferes with the Company’s operations.

 
11.  Termination Prior to Expiration of the Term.
 

11.1        Termination for Misconduct or Cause.  The Company may terminate Executive’s employment at any time for “Misconduct” or
for “Cause” (each as defined in Section 17) immediately upon written notice to Executive.  Such written notice shall set forth with reasonable specificity the
Company’s basis for such termination.

 
11.2        Resignation.  Executive’s employment shall be terminated on the earlier of the date that is thirty (30) days following the

submission of Executive’s written resignation to the Company or the date such resignation is accepted by the Company.
 



11.3        Termination Without Cause.  The Company may terminate Executive’s employment Without Cause upon written notice to
Executive.  Termination “Without Cause” shall mean termination of employment by the Company on any basis other than termination of Executive’s
employment hereunder pursuant to Section 11.1.

 
11.4        Termination Upon Change of Control.  Termination “Upon Change of Control” shall mean the Company’s, or its legal

successor’s, termination of Executive’s employment Without Cause and within six months after the closing of a transaction that causes a Change of Control,
as defined in Section 17.3.

 
12.  Surrender of Records and Property.  Upon termination of his employment for any reason, Executive shall deliver promptly to the Company

all records, manuals, books, blank forms, documents, letters, licenses, briefings, memoranda, notes, notebooks, reports, data, tables, and calculations or copies
thereof, which are the property of the Company and which relate in any way to the business, customers, products, practices or techniques of the Company,
and all other property of the Company and Proprietary Matter, including, but not limited to, all documents which in whole or in part, contain any trade secrets
or confidential information of the Company, which in any of these cases are in his possession or under his control.  If Executive purchases any record book,
ledger, or similar item to be used for keeping records of or information regardi ng the business of the Company or its customers, Executive shall immediately
notify the Company, which shall then immediately reimburse Executive for the expense of such purchase.

 
13.  Assignment.  This Agreement shall not be assignable, in whole or in part, by either party without the written consent of the other party.

However, the Company may, without the
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consent of Executive, assign its rights and obligations under this Agreement to any corporation, firm or other business entity (i) owned or controlled by the
Company or to any entity which is or may own or control the Company, or (ii) with which the Company may merge into or consolidate, or (iii) to which the
Company may sell or transfer all or substantially all of its assets or to which fifty percent (50%) or more of the equity investment and of the voting control is
owned, directly or indirectly, by, or is under the common ownership with, the Company.
 

Upon such assignment by the Company, this Agreement shall be enforceable by the Executive and the Assignee respectively.  After any such
assignment by the Company, the Executive and the Company shall be discharged from all further liability hereunder to each other.

 
14.  Injunctive Relief.  Executive agrees that it would be difficult to compensate the Company fully for damages for any violation of the provisions

of this Agreement, including, without limitation, the provisions of Sections 7, 9, 10 and 12. Accordingly, Executive specifically agrees that the Company shall
be entitled to temporary and permanent injunctive relief to enforce the provisions of this Agreement. This provision with respect to injunctive relief shall not,
however, diminish the right of the Company to claim and recover damages in addition to injunctive relief.

 
15.  Arbitration.
 

15.1        Claims Covered.  The parties shall resolve by arbitration all statutory, contractual and/or common law claims or controversies
(“Claims”) that the Company may have against Executive, or that Executive may have against the Company or any of its officers, directors, employees or
agents in their capacity as such or otherwise.  Claims subject to arbitration include (i) claims for discrimination (including but not limited to, age, disability,
marital status, medical condition, national origin, race, religion, sex, sexual harassment or sexual orientation); (ii) claims for breach of any contract (express
or implied); (iii) claims for any federal, state or governmental law, statute, regulation or ordinance; and (iv) tort claims (including but not limited to, negligent
o r intentional injury, defamation and termination of employment in violation of public policy).

 
15.2        Claims Not Covered.  The arbitration of Claims shall not apply to (i) claims by Executive for workers’ compensation or

unemployment insurance; (ii) claims which even in the absence of these arbitration provisions could not have been litigated in court or before any
administrative proceeding under applicable federal, state or local law; (iii) claims for which arbitration is prohibited under the Fiscal Year 2010 Defense
Appropriations Act, and (iv) claims by the Company for injunctive and/or other equitable relief.

 
15.3        Procedures.  Claims shall be settled by arbitration by a single, neutral arbitrator in accordance with the employment arbitration

rules then in effect of Judicial Arbitration and Mediation Services (JAMS).  The arbitrator shall determine all questions of fact and law relating to any Claim,
including but not limited to, whether or not any such Claim is subject to the arbitration provisions contained herein.  The parties shall be permitted to engage
in such pre-hearing discovery as the arbitrator shall permit.  The arbitrator shall issue a written arbitration decision which shall include essential findings and
conclusions on which any award is based.  Judgment upon the award rendered by the arbitrator may be entered in any court having jurisdiction.  Each party
shall pay the fees of its own attorneys, the expenses of its witnesses and all other expenses connected with presenting its case, except insofar as such fees or
expenses are otherwise recoverable pursuant to a statutory claim or cause of action.  The Company shall bear the other costs of the arbitration, including the
cost of any record or transcript of the arbitration,
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administrative fees, the fee of the arbitrator, and all other fees and costs.
 

15.4        Remedies; Waiver of Jury Trial.  Executive understands that Executive is waiving the right to seek remedies in court, including
the right to a jury trial.  The arbitrator shall be empowered to award any relief which might have been available in a court of law or equity.

 
15.5        Required Notice and Statute of Limitations.  Arbitration shall be initiated by serving or mailing a written notice to the other

party within the applicable statutory limitations period.  Any notice to be sent to the Company shall be delivered to the Company President.  The notice shall
identify and describe the nature of all claims asserted and the facts upon which such claims are based.

 
16.  Miscellaneous.
 

16.1        Governing Law and Venue.  This Agreement is made under and shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws
of the State of Delaware, without regard to its conflicts of laws provisions, and all proceedings shall be brought in the courts or arbitral forums located in



Huntsville, Alabama, San Diego, California, or some other location as agreed by the parties.
 
16.2        Prior Agreements.  This Agreement contains the entire agreement of the parties relating to the subject matter hereof and

supersedes all prior agreements and understandings with respect to such subject matter, including, without limitation, the Employment Agreement entered
into by and between Company and Executive dated January 1, 2009. The parties have made no agreements, representations or warranties relating to the
subject matter of this Agreement which are not set forth herein.

 
16.3        Taxes.  The Company may withhold from any benefits payable under this Agreement all federal, state, city or other taxes as shall

be required pursuant to any law or governmental regulation or ruling.
 
16.4        Successors.  The terms of this Agreement and all rights of Executive hereunder shall inure to the benefit of, and be enforceable by,

Executive’s personal or legal representatives, executors, administrators, successors, heirs, distributees, devisees and legatees.
 
16.5        Amendments.  No amendment or modification of this Agreement shall be deemed effective unless made in writing signed by the

parties.
 
16.6        No Waiver.  No term or condition of this Agreement shall be deemed to have been waived nor shall there be any estoppel to

enforce any provisions of this Agreement, except by a statement in writing signed by the party against whom enforcement of the waiver or estoppel is sought. 
Any written waiver shall not be deemed a continuing waiver unless specifically stated, shall operate only as to the specific term or condition waived and shall
not constitute a waiver of such term or condition waived and shall not constitute a waiver of such term or condition for the future or as to any act other than
that specifically waived.

 
16.7        Severability.  To the extent any provision of this Agreement shall be considered by a court or arbitrator to be invalid or

unenforceable, the provision shall be considered deleted herefrom and the remainder of such provision and of this Agreement shall be unaffected and shall
continue in full force and effect.
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16.8        Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an original

and all which together shall be deemed to be one and the same instrument.
 
16.9        Notices.  All notices required or permitted hereunder shall be in writing and shall be deemed effectively given or received:

(a) upon personal delivery to the party to be notified, (b) when sent by confirmed facsimile if sent during normal business hours of the recipient upon
confirmed receipt, if not, then on the next business day, (c) five (5) business days after having been sent by registered or certified mail, return receipt
requested, postage prepaid, or (d) one (1) business day after deposit with a nationally recognized overnight courier, specifying next day delivery, with written
verification of receipt.  All communications shall be sent to the Company and Executive at their respective addresses as set forth on the signature page hereof
or at such other add ress as the Company or Executive may designate by ten (10) days advance written notice to the other party.

 
17.  Definition of Terms.  The following terms referred to in this Agreement shall have the following meanings:
 

17.1        Affiliate.  “Affiliate” with respect to any person or entity, means a person or entity that directly or indirectly through one or more
intermediaries controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with, such person or entity.

 
17.2        Cause.  Termination for “Cause” means termination due to any of the following reasons: (i) Executive’s willful violation of posted

policy or rules of the Company; (ii) Executive’s willful refusal to follow the lawful directions given by Executive’s direct supervisor or the President of the
Company from time to time or breach of any material covenant or obligation under this Agreement or other agreement with the Company; or (iii) Executive’s
breach of the duty of loyalty to the Company that causes or is reasonably likely to cause injury to the Company.

 
17.3        Change of Control.  “Change of Control” means, with respect to the Company’s parent company, Kratos Defense & Security

Solutions, Inc. (“Kratos”): (i) the sale or exchange in a single or series of related transactions by the stockholders of more than fifty percent (50%) of the
voting stock of Kratos; (ii) a merger or consolidation in which Kratos is a party; (iii) the sale, exchange, or transfer of all or substantially all of the assets of
Kratos (other than a sale, exchange or transfer to one or more subsidiaries of Kratos); or (iv) a liquidation or dissolution of Kratos.

 
17.4        Misconduct.  “Misconduct” means:
 

17.4.1     Commission of a felony or an act of fraud, embezzlement or other act of gross misconduct against the Company in the
performance of duties hereunder.

 
17.4.2     Misuse, misappropriation or disclosure of any of the Proprietary Matter, directly or indirectly, or use of it in any way,

except as required or permitted in the course of Executive’s employment.
 
17.4.3     Knowing misappropriation, concealment, or conversion of any money or property of the Company that causes or could

cause injury to the Company.
 
17.4.4     Reckless conduct which endangers or is reasonably likely to endanger the safety of persons or property during the course

of employment or while on Company premises.
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17.5        Related Parties.  “Related Parties” means each of the Company’s present and former directors, officers, employees, trustees,

agents, attorneys, insurers, shareholders, representatives, predecessors, successors and assigns, and if any, its parent corporations, subsidiaries, divisions,
related and affiliated companies and entities.



 
17.6        Restricted Period.  The Restricted Period is the Severance Period resulting from Executive’s termination due to Change of

Control or termination without Cause.
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Employment Agreement as of the Effective Date.
 

THE COMPANY: EXECUTIVE:
Kratos Government Solutions, Inc.

 

  
By: /s/ Eric DeMarco

 

/s/ Richard Selvaggio
Name: Eric DeMarco Richard Selvaggio
Title: President and CEO Title: Division President, WSS
 

Date: August 4, 2010
 
Address for Notice:

 

  
4820 Eastgate Mall

 

San Diego, CA 92121
 

Attn: President and CEO
 

 

Law Department
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Exhibit 10.15
 

EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT
 

THIS EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is entered into by and between Kratos Government Solutions, Inc., a Delaware
corporation (the “Company”) and David Carter, an individual (“Executive”), effective as of July 22, 2010 (“Effective Date”).  For purposes of this
Agreement, the defined term “Company” is intended to include DTI Associates, Inc. (“DTI”).  Certain terms used in this Agreement denoted by initial capital
letters are defined in Section 17.

 
RECITALS

 
A.            Executive is an officer of the Company and in such capacities has obtained extensive and valuable knowledge and confidential information

concerning the Company’s and its Defense Engineering Services Division’s (“DES”) business and confidential customer relationships.
 

NOW, THEREFORE, in the consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements set forth herein, the Company and Executive, intending to be
legally bound, hereby agree as follows:
 

AGREEMENT
 

1.     Employment.  The Company shall employ Executive as Division President of DES [Defense Engineering Solutions] (the “Position”), and
Executive accepts such employment and agrees to perform services for the Company, for the period and upon the other terms and conditions set forth in this
Agreement.

 
2.     Term. The term of Executive’s employment hereunder shall be for a period commencing on the Effective Date (the “Term”) and ending on

December 31, 2013, subject to earlier termination as hereinafter specified.  Upon expiration of the Term, this Agreement may be renewed upon agreement of
the parties for an additional term of one (1) year.

 
3.     Position and Duties.  During the term of this Agreement, Executive shall perform all duties and functions customarily performed by the

Position of a business of the size and nature similar to that of the Company, and such other related employment duties as the President of the Company or his
designee (the “President”) shall reasonably assign to him from time to time.  Executive shall perform his duties principally at the executive offices of DTI
Associates, Inc., with such travel to such other locations from time to time as the President may reasonably require.  Except as may otherwise be approved in
advance by the President, and except during vacation periods and reasonable periods of absence due to sickness, personal injury or other disability, Executive
shall devote his full working time to the services required of him hereunder.  Executive shall use his reasonable best efforts, judgment and energy to improve
and advance the business and interest of the Company and its subsidiaries, if applicable, in a manner consistent with the duties of his position and with the
Company’s Code of Legal and Ethical Conduct.  Executive hereby confirms that he is under no contractual commitments inconsistent with his obligations set
forth in this Agreement, and that during his employment, he will not render or perform services, or enter into any contract to do so, for any other corporation,
firm, entity or person which are inconsistent with the provisions of this Agreement.
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4.     Compensation.
 

4.1          Base Salary.  As compensation for all services to be rendered by Executive under this Agreement, the Company shall pay to
Executive a base annual salary of Two Hundred, Thirty-Five Thousand Dollars ($235,000.00) (the “Base Salary”), which shall be paid on a regular basis in
accordance with the Company’s customary payroll procedures and policies.  Executive will be eligible for annual increases to the Base Salary in accordance
with the Company’s then current compensation policies.

 
4.2          Incentive Compensation. In addition to the Base Salary, and as incentive compensation for services rendered hereunder,

Executive may, at the sole and absolute discretion of the Company, be entitled to receive additional annual compensation of up to sixty percent (60%) of the
Base Salary (“Incentive Compensation”).

 
4.3          Participation in Benefit Plans.  Executive and eligible family members shall be included to the extent eligible thereunder in any

and all plans of the Company providing general benefits for the Company’s employees, including, but not limited to, any group life insurance, hospitalization,
disability, paid time off, medical, dental, pension, profit sharing, savings and stock bonus plans.  Executive’s participation in any such plan or program shall
be subject to the provisions, rules, and regulations applicable thereto.  Nothing in this Agreement shall impose on the Company any affirmative obligation to
establish any benefit plan.  The Company reserves the right to prospectively terminate or change benefit plans and programs it offers to its employees at any
time, pro vided, however, that the Company will not reduce or discontinue Executive’s benefits in place on the date hereof unless such reduction or
discontinuance is applied proportionately to all other employees of the Company.

 
4.4          Expenses.  In accordance with the Company’s policies established from time to time, the Company will pay or reimburse

Executive for all reasonable and necessary out-of-pocket expenses incurred by him in the performance of the Position, subject to the presentment of
appropriate receipts or expense reports in connection with the Company’s policies and procedures.  The following provisions shall be in effect for any
reimbursements (and in-kind benefits) to which Executive otherwise becomes under this Agreement, in order to assure that such reimbursements (and
benefits) do not create a deferred compensation arrangement subject to Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (“Code”):

 
(a)           The amount of reimbursements (or in-kind benefits) to which Executive may become entitled in any one calendar year shall not

affect the amount of expenses eligible for reimbursement (or in-kind benefits) hereunder in any other calendar year.
 
(b)           Each reimbursement to which Executive becomes entitled shall be made by the Company as soon as administratively practicable

following Executive’s submission of the supporting documentation, but in no event later than the close of business of the calendar year following the calendar
year in which the reimbursable expense is incurred.

 
(c)             Executive’s right to reimbursement (or in-kind benefits) cannot be liquidated or exchanged for any other benefit or payment.



 
4.5          Taxes.  The Company may withhold from any benefits payable (including any Severance Payment, as defined below) under this

Agreement all federal, state, city or other
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taxes as shall be required pursuant to any law or governmental regulation or ruling.

 
5.     Annual Leave.  Executive shall earn paid time off and shall maintain paid time off balances in accordance with the Company’s standard

policies.
 
6.     Compensation upon Termination.  Executive shall be entitled to the following payments, if any, upon the termination of his employment by

the Company.
 

6.1          Misconduct or Cause.  In the event Executive is terminated by the Company for Misconduct pursuant to Section 11.1, Executive
shall not be entitled to any compensation other than Base Salary accrued through the date of termination, plus accrued but unused paid time off.

 
6.2          Resignation.  In the event Executive resigns from the Company voluntarily pursuant to Section 11.2, Executive shall be entitled to

receive Executive’s Base Salary accrued through the effective date of termination, plus accrued but unused paid time off. Should Executive resign his
employment upon thirty (30) days’ advance written notice, Company reserves the right to immediately relieve Executive of all job duties and provide
Executive with payment of thirty (30) days Base Salary in lieu of any portion of the notice period.

 
6.3          Without Cause.  In the event Executive is terminated by the Company or by Executive Without Cause pursuant to Section 11.3,

the Company shall pay to Executive (i) any Base Salary accrued through the date of termination, (ii) any accrued but unused paid time off; and (iii) continued
payment of the Base Salary for six (6) months (the “Severance Period”).  Subsection (iii) of this Section 6.3 shall be referred to as a “Severance Payment”. 
Except as otherwise provided herein, the Severance Payment shall be paid to Executive on a regular basis in accordance with the company’s regular payroll
procedures and policies.

 
6.4          Upon Change of Control.  In the event Executive is terminated Upon a Change of Control of the Company pursuant to

Section 11.4, the Company shall pay to Executive: (i) any Base Salary accrued through the date of termination, (ii) any accrued but unused paid time off; and
(iii) continued payment of the Base Salary for a period of twelve (12) months. Subsection (iii) of this Section 6.4 shall be referred to as a “Severance
Payment”. Except as otherwise provided herein, the Severance Payment shall be paid to Executive on a regular basis in accordance with the company’s
regular payroll procedures and policies.

 
6.5          Disability.  If Executive becomes physically, emotionally or mentally disabled during the terms of this Agreement and such

disability continues for a period of one hundred and twenty (120) days, the Company may, to the extent permitted by applicable law after the expiration of
such period, terminate this Agreement by giving written notice to Executive.  For purpose of this Agreement, the term “disabled” shall be defined as
Executive’s inability through physical, emotional, or mental illness, to perform all of the duties which Executive is required to perform under this Agreement
with or without reasonable accommodation as such terms are defined under the Americans with Disabilities Act.  In the event that the Executive is terminated
pursuant to this section, th e Company shall pay to Executive (i) Executive’s Base Salary through the date that he is terminated; (ii) any earned and accrued
Incentive Compensation; and (iii) any accrued but unused paid time off.

 
3

 
6.6          Release. The receipt of the Severance Payment or other benefits pursuant to this Section 6 will be subject to Executive  signing

and not revoking a release of claims agreement in a form reasonably acceptable to the Company, and such release becoming effective within forty-five (45)
days of Executive’s termination. No severance or other benefits will be paid or provided until the release of claims agreement becomes effective, and any
severance amounts or benefits otherwise payable between the date of Executive’s termination and the date such release becomes effective shall be paid on the
effective date of such release, subject to the delay in the following paragraph.  If the termination occurs after November 15, no payments shall be made until
the first payroll date of the following calendar year, after the release has become effective, subject to the delay in the following paragraph.

 
6.7          Delay of Payment   Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement whatsoever, the Company, in its sole discretion, shall have the

right to provide for the application and effects of Section 409A of the Code (relating to deferred compensation arrangements) and any related administrative
guidance issued by the Internal Revenue Service. Notwithstanding any inconsistent provision of this Agreement, if Executive is a “specified employee”
within the meaning of Section 409A of the Code at the time of Executive’s termination, then only that portion of the Severance Payment, together with any
other severance payments or benefits that, in each case, may otherwise be considered deferred compensation under Code Section 409A, which (a) do not
exceed the Sectio n 409A Limit (as defined below), and (b) which qualify as separation pay under Treasury Regulation Section 1. 409A-1(b)(9)(iii), may be
paid within the first six (6) months following Executive’s termination in accordance with -1(b)(9) this Section 6 or (for payments or benefits not provided
under this Agreement) with the payment schedule applicable to each such other payment or benefit. Otherwise, the portion of the Severance Payment,
together with any other severance payments or benefits that, in each case, may be considered deferred compensation under Section 409A, that would
otherwise be payable within the six (6) month period following Executive’s termination will accrue during that six (6) month period and will be paid in a
lump sum on the date six (6) months and one (1) day following the date of Executive’s termination (or the next business day if such date is not a business
day), provided Executive has complied with the requirements for such payment. For purposes of this Agreement, “Section 409A Limit” means the lesser of
two (2) times: (i)Executive’s “annualized compensation” as determined under Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-1(b)(9)(iii)(A)(1), or (ii) the maximum
amount that may be taken into account under a qualified plan pursuant to Section 401(a)(17) of the Code for the year of the termination, or such successor
limit as may apply. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, no actions taken pursuant to this section shall reduce the total amount of payments and benefits
owed to Executive and to be paid to Executive under this Agreement.

 
7.     Proprietary Matter; Ownership.
 

7.1          Except as permitted or directed by the Company or as required by law, Executive shall not during the term of his employment or at
any time thereafter knowingly divulge, furnish, disclose or make accessible (other than in the ordinary course of the business of the Company) to anyone for



use in any way any confidential, secret, or proprietary knowledge or information of the Company or its Affiliates that is not in the public domain
(“Proprietary Matter”) which Executive has acquired or become acquainted with or will acquire or become acquainted with during his employment,
whether developed by himself or by others, including, but not limited to, any trade secrets, confidential or secret designs, processes, formulae, software or
computer programs, plans, devices, or material (whether or not patented or patentable,
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copyrighted or copyrightable) directly or indirectly useful in any aspect of the business of the Company and its Affiliates, any confidential customer,
distributor or supplier lists of the Company or its Affiliates, any confidential or secret development or research work of the Company or its Affiliates, or other
confidential, secret or non-public aspects of the business of the Company or its Affiliates.  Executive acknowledges that the Proprietary Matter constitutes a
unique and valuable asset of the Company or its Affiliate, acquired at great time and expense by the Company or such Affiliate, and that any disclosure or
other use of the Proprietary Matter other than for the sole benefit of the Company  or such Affiliate would be wrongful and could cause irreparable harm to
the Company or such Affiliate.  The foregoing obligations of confidentiality, however, shall not apply to any knowledge or i nformation which is now
published or which subsequently becomes generally publicly known, other than as a direct or indirect result of the breach of this Agreement by Executive.

 
7.2          Executive agrees that he will fully inform and disclose to the Company from time to time all inventions, designs, improvements,

enhancements, developments and discoveries which he now has, or may hereafter have, during the Term which pertain or relate to the business of the
Company or to any experimental work carried on by the Company.  All such inventions, designs, improvements, enhancements, developments and
discoveries shall be the exclusive property of the Company.  Executive shall reasonably assist the Company in obtaining patents on all such inventions,
designs, improvements, enhancements, developments and discoveries deemed patentable by the Company and shall execute all documents (including
assignments and related affidavits) and do all things reasonably necessary to obtain such patents.  This provision shall not apply to any inventions for which
no equipment, supplies, facilities or trade secret information of the Company was used and which was developed on Executive’s own time without using any
of the Company’s equipment, supplies, facilities or trade secret information, except for those inventions which either: (a) related at the time of conception or
reduction to practice of the invention to the Company business, or actual or demonstrably anticipated research or development of the Company, or (b) result
from any work performed by Executive for the Company.

 
8.     Ventures.  If, during the term of this Agreement, Executive is engaged in or associated with the planning or implementing of any project,

program or venture directly related to the business of the Company and a third party or parties, all rights in the project, program or venture shall belong to the
Company and shall constitute a corporate opportunity belonging exclusively to the Company.  Except as expressly approved in writing by the Company,
Executive shall not be entitled to any interest in such project, program or venture or to any commission, finder’s fee or other compensation in connection
therewith, other than the compensation to be paid to Executive as provided in this Agreement.

 
9.     Noninterference With Business.
 

9.1          During the Restricted Period, Executive agrees not to directly or indirectly improperly contact any of the Company’s customers or
prospective customers with whom the Company was engaged in discussions or proposal negotiations during Executive’s employment.

 
9.2          During the Restricted Period, Executive agrees not to (a) directly or indirectly improperly contact any of the Company’s then

current customers or prospective customers with whom the Company is then engaged in discussions or proposal negotiations for the purpose of improperly
diverting or taking away business from the Company; or (b) otherwise
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interfere with, impair, disrupt or damage the Company’s relationship with any of its then current or prospective customers.

 
9.3          During the Restricted Period, Executive agrees not to knowingly directly or indirectly solicit, induce or attempt to induce any

employee, consultant or independent contractor to terminate or breach an employment, contractual or other relationship with the Company.
 

10.  Non-Disparagement.  Executive expressly agrees that during his employment by the Company and for two (2) years following the termination
of such employment for any reason, he will make no statement and take no actions of any kind, verbal or written, that directly or indirectly disparages the
Company or the Related Parties, injures their general reputation or interferes with the Company’s operations.

 
11.  Termination Prior to Expiration of the Term.
 

11.1        Termination for Misconduct or Cause.  The Company may terminate Executive’s employment at any time for “Misconduct” or
for “Cause” (each as defined in Section 17) immediately upon written notice to Executive.  Such written notice shall set forth with reasonable specificity the
Company’s basis for such termination.

 
11.2        Resignation.  Executive’s employment shall be terminated on the earlier of the date that is thirty (30) days following the

submission of Executive’s written resignation to the Company or the date such resignation is accepted by the Company.
 
11.3        Termination Without Cause.  The Company may terminate Executive’s employment Without Cause upon written notice to

Executive.  Termination “Without Cause” shall mean termination of employment by the Company on any basis other than termination of Executive’s
employment hereunder pursuant to 11.1.

 
11.4        Termination Upon Change of Control.  Termination “Upon Change of Control” shall mean the Company’s, or its legal

successor’s, termination of Executive’s employment Without Cause and within six months after the closing of a transaction that causes a Change of Control,
as defined in Section 17.3.

 
12.  Surrender of Records and Property.  Upon termination of his employment for any reason, Executive shall deliver promptly to the Company

all records, manuals, books, blank forms, documents, letters, licenses, briefings, memoranda, notes, notebooks, reports, data, tables, and calculations or copies
thereof, which are the property of the Company and which relate in any way to the business, customers, products, practices or techniques of the Company,



and all other property of the Company and Proprietary Matter, including, but not limited to, all documents which in whole or in part, contain any trade secrets
or confidential information of the Company, which in any of these cases are in his possession or under his control.  If Executive purchases any record book,
ledger, or similar item to be used for keeping records of or information regardi ng the business of the Company or its customers, Executive shall immediately
notify the Company, which shall then immediately reimburse Executive for the expense of such purchase.

 
13.  Assignment.  This Agreement shall not be assignable, in whole or in part, by either party without the written consent of the other party.

However, the Company may, without the
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consent of Executive, assign its rights and obligations under this Agreement to any corporation, firm or other business entity (i) owned or controlled by the
Company or to any entity which is or may own or control the Company, or (ii) with which the Company may merge into or consolidate, or (iii) to which the
Company may sell or transfer all or substantially all of its assets or to which fifty percent (50%) or more of the equity investment and of the voting control is
owned, directly or indirectly, by, or is under the common ownership with, the Company.

 
Upon such assignment by the Company, this Agreement shall be enforceable by the Executive and the Assignee respectively.  After any such

assignment by the Company, the Executive and the Company shall be discharged from all further liability hereunder to each other.
 
14.  Injunctive Relief.  Executive agrees that it would be difficult to compensate the Company fully for damages for any violation of the provisions

of this Agreement, including, without limitation, the provisions of Sections 7, 9, 10 and 12. Accordingly, Executive specifically agrees that the Company shall
be entitled to temporary and permanent injunctive relief to enforce the provisions of this Agreement. This provision with respect to injunctive relief shall not,
however, diminish the right of the Company to claim and recover damages in addition to injunctive relief.

 
15.  Arbitration.
 

15.1        Claims Covered.  The parties shall resolve by arbitration all statutory, contractual and/or common law claims or controversies
(“Claims”) that the Company may have against Executive, or that Executive may have against the Company or any of its officers, directors, employees or
agents in their capacity as such or otherwise.  Claims subject to arbitration include (i) claims for discrimination (including but not limited to, age, disability,
marital status, medical condition, national origin, race, religion, sex, sexual harassment or sexual orientation); (ii) claims for breach of any contract (express
or implied); (iii) claims for any federal, state or governmental law, statute, regulation or ordinance; and (iv) tort claims (including but not limited to, negligent
o r intentional injury, defamation and termination of employment in violation of public policy).

 
15.2        Claims Not Covered.  The arbitration of Claims shall not apply to (i) claims by Executive for workers’ compensation or

unemployment insurance; (ii) claims which even in the absence of these arbitration provisions could not have been litigated in court or before any
administrative proceeding under applicable federal, state or local law; and (iii) claims by the Company for injunctive and/or other equitable relief.

 
15.3        Procedures.  Claims shall be settled by arbitration by a single, neutral arbitrator in accordance with the employment arbitration

rules then in effect of Judicial Arbitration and Mediation Services (JAMS).  The arbitrator shall determine all questions of fact and law relating to any Claim,
including but not limited to, whether or not any such Claim is subject to the arbitration provisions contained herein.  The parties shall be permitted to engage
in such pre-hearing discovery as the arbitrator shall permit.  The arbitrator shall issue a written arbitration decision which shall include essential findings and
conclusions on which any award is based.  Judgment upon the award rendered by the arbitrator may be entered in any court having jurisdiction.  Each party
shall pay the fees of its own attorneys, the expenses of its witnesses and all other expenses connected with presenting its case, except insofar as such fees or
expenses are otherwise recoverable pursuant to a statutory claim or cause of action.  The Company shall bear
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the other costs of the arbitration, including the cost of any record or transcript of the arbitration, administrative fees, the fee of the arbitrator, and all other fees
and costs.

 
15.4        Remedies; Waiver of Jury Trial.  Executive understands that Executive is waiving the right to seek remedies in court, including

the right to a jury trial.  The arbitrator shall be empowered to award any relief which might have been available in a court of law or equity.
 
15.5        Required Notice and Statute of Limitations.  Arbitration shall be initiated by serving or mailing a written notice to the other

party within the applicable statutory limitations period.  Any notice to be sent to the Company shall be delivered to the Segment President.  The notice shall
identify and describe the nature of all claims asserted and the facts upon which such claims are based.

 
16.  Miscellaneous.
 

16.1        Governing Law and Venue.  This Agreement is made under and shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws
of the State of Delaware, without regard to its conflicts of laws provisions, and all proceedings shall be brought in the courts or arbitral forums located in
Northern Virginia (Washington, D.C. metropolitan area), San Diego, California, or some other location as agreed by the parties.

 
16.2        Prior Agreements.  This Agreement contains the entire agreement of the parties relating to the subject matter hereof and

supersedes all prior agreements and understandings with respect to such subject matter. The parties have made no agreements, representations or warranties
relating to the subject matter of this Agreement which are not set forth herein.

 
16.3        Taxes.  The Company may withhold from any benefits payable under this Agreement all federal, state, city or other taxes as shall

be required pursuant to any law or governmental regulation or ruling.
 
16.4        Successors.  The terms of this Agreement and all rights of Executive hereunder shall inure to the benefit of, and be enforceable by,

Executive’s personal or legal representatives, executors, administrators, successors, heirs, distributees, devisees and legatees.
 



16.5        Amendments.  No amendment or modification of this Agreement shall be deemed effective unless made in writing signed by the
parties.

 
16.6        No Waiver.  No term or condition of this Agreement shall be deemed to have been waived nor shall there be any estoppel to

enforce any provisions of this Agreement, except by a statement in writing signed by the party against whom enforcement of the waiver or estoppel is sought. 
Any written waiver shall not be deemed a continuing waiver unless specifically stated, shall operate only as to the specific term or condition waived and shall
not constitute a waiver of such term or condition waived and shall not constitute a waiver of such term or condition for the future or as to any act other than
that specifically waived.

 
16.7        Severability.  To the extent any provision of this Agreement shall be considered by a court or arbitrator to be invalid or

unenforceable, the provision shall be
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considered deleted herefrom and the remainder of such provision and of this Agreement shall be unaffected and shall continue in full force and effect.

 
16.8        Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an original

and all which together shall be deemed to be one and the same instrument.
 
16.9        Notices.  All notices required or permitted hereunder shall be in writing and shall be deemed effectively given or received:

(a) upon personal delivery to the party to be notified, (b) when sent by confirmed facsimile if sent during normal business hours of the recipient upon
confirmed receipt, if not, then on the next business day, (c) five (5) business days after having been sent by registered or certified mail, return receipt
requested, postage prepaid, or (d) one (1) business day after deposit with a nationally recognized overnight courier, specifying next day delivery, with written
verification of receipt.  All communications shall be sent to the Company and Executive at their respective addresses as set forth on the signature page hereof
or at such other add ress as the Company or Executive may designate by ten (10) days advance written notice to the other party.

 
17.  Definition of Terms.  The following terms referred to in this Agreement shall have the following meanings:
 

17.1        Affiliate.  “Affiliate” with respect to any person or entity, means a person or entity that directly or indirectly through one or more
intermediaries controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with, such person or entity.

 
17.2        Cause.  Termination for “Cause” means termination due to any of the following reasons: (i) Executive’s violation of posted policy

or rules of the Company; (ii) Executive’s willful refusal to follow the lawful directions given by Executive’s direct supervisor or the President of the
Company from time to time or breach of any material covenant or obligation under this Agreement or other agreement with the Company; or (iii) Executive’s
breach of the duty of loyalty to the Company that causes or is reasonably likely to cause injury to the Company.

 
17.3        Change of Control.  “Change of Control” means, with respect to the Company’s parent company, Kratos Defense & Security

Solutions, Inc. (“Kratos”): (i) the sale or exchange in a single or series of related transactions by the stockholders of more than fifty percent (50%) of the
voting stock of Kratos; (ii) a merger or consolidation in which Kratos is a party; (iii) the sale, exchange, or transfer of all or substantially all of the assets of
Kratos (other than a sale, exchange or transfer to one or more subsidiaries of Kratos); (iv) a change in the composition of the Board of Directors of Kratos
such that greater than fifty percent (50%) of its members as of the Effective Date are no longer serving on the Board of Directors of Kratos: or (v)  a
liquidation or dissolution of Kratos.

 
17.4        Misconduct.  “Misconduct” means:
 

17.4.1     Commission of a felony or an act of fraud, embezzlement or other act of gross misconduct against the Company in the
performance of duties hereunder.

 
17.4.2     Misuse, misappropriation or disclosure of any of the Proprietary Matter, directly or indirectly, or use of it in any way,

except as required or permitted in the
 
9

 
course of Executive’s employment.

 
17.4.3     Knowing misappropriation, concealment, or conversion of any money or property of the Company that causes or could

cause injury to the Company.
 
17.4.4     Reckless conduct which endangers or is reasonably likely to endanger the safety of persons or property during the course

of employment or while on Company premises.
 
17.4.5     A material violation of the Company’s Code of Legal and Ethical Conduct.
 

17.5        Related Parties.  “Related Parties” means each of the Company’s present and former directors, officers, employees, trustees,
agents, attorneys, insurers, shareholders, representatives, predecessors, successors and assigns, and if any, its parent corporations, subsidiaries, divisions,
related and affiliated companies and entities.

 
17.6        Restricted Period.  The Restricted Period is (a) the Severance Period resulting from Executive’s termination due to Change of

Control or termination without Cause; or (b) a period of one (1) year after Executive’s resignation or termination due to Misconduct or Cause.
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Employment Agreement as of the Effective Date.
 



THE COMPANY: EXECUTIVE:
Kratos Government Solutions, Inc.

  

    
By: /s/ Eric DeMarco

 

/s/ David Carter
Name: Eric DeMarco David Carter
Title: President and CEO Title: Division President, DES
 

Date: July 22, 2010
 
Address for Notice:

 

  
  
4820 Eastgate Mall

 

San Diego, CA 92121
 

Attn: President and CEO
 

 

Law Department
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Exhibit 10.16
 

AMENDED AND RESTATED EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT
 

THIS AMENDED AND RESTATED EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is entered into by and between Kratos Government
Solutions, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“Company”) and Phil Carrai, an individual (“Executive”), effective as of January 1, 2011 (“Effective Date”).  For
purposes of this Agreement, the defined term “Company” is intended to include SYS, d/b/a SYS Technologies, Inc. (“SYS”).

 
RECITALS

 
A.            Executive currently serves as Division President, Technology & Training Solutions Division  (“TTS”), and an officer of the Company, and

in such capacities has obtained extensive and valuable knowledge and confidential information concerning the Company’s and TTS’ business and confidential
customer relationships.
 

B.            The Company and Executive previously entered into an Agreement dated May 29, 2009 (the “2009 Agreement”).  On terms more
particularly set forth herein, the Company and Executive wish to amend and restate the 2009 Agreement, in order to extend Executive’s term of employment
and clarify certain other terms of Executive’s employment with Company.
 

AGREEMENT
 

NOW, THEREFORE, in the consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements set forth herein, Company and Executive, intending to be
legally bound, hereby agree as follows:

 
1.     Employment.  Company shall employ Executive as President of the TTS Division (the “Position”), and Executive accepts such employment

and agrees to perform services for Company, upon the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement.  Executive’s employment will be in the nature of
employment-at-will, unless otherwise agreed by the parties.

 
2.     Term.   This Agreement shall be for a term commencing on the Effective Date and ending on December 31, 2013 or upon the earlier

termination of Executive’s employment with Company for any reason (in either case, the “Term”), provided that any payments earned under this Agreement
prior to the end of the Term will continue to be paid under the terms and subject to the conditions of this Agreement.

 
3.     Position and Duties.  During the term of this Agreement, Executive shall perform all duties and functions customarily performed by the

Position of a business of the size and nature similar to that of Company, and such other related employment duties as the President of Company or his
designee (the “President”) shall reasonably assign to him from time to time.  Executive shall perform his duties principally at the offices of TTS, with such
travel to such other locations from time to time as the President may reasonably require.  Except as may otherwise be approved in advance by the President,
and except during vacation periods and reasonable periods of absence due to sickness, injury or other disability, Executive shall devote his full working time
to the services required of him hereunder.& #160; Executive shall use his reasonable best efforts, judgment and energy to improve and advance the business
and interest of Company and its subsidiaries, if applicable, in a manner consistent with the duties of the Position and Company’s Code of Legal and Ethical
Conduct.  Executive hereby confirms that he is under no contractual commitments inconsistent with his obligations set forth in this Agreement, and that
during his employment, he will not render or
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perform services, or enter into any contract to do so, for any other corporation, firm, entity or person which are inconsistent with the provisions of this
Agreement.

 
4.     Compensation.
 

4.1          Base Salary.  As compensation for all services to be rendered by Executive under this Agreement, Company shall pay to
Executive a base annual salary of Two Hundred Forty-Eight Thousand Dollars ($248,000.00) (the “Base Salary”), which shall be paid on a regular basis
while Executive remains employed with Company in accordance with Company’s customary payroll procedures and policies.  Executive will be eligible for
annual increases to the Base Salary in accordance with Company’s then current compensation policies.

 
4.2          Incentive Compensation.  In addition to the Base Salary, and as stated in the previous agreement dated May 29, 2009, Executive

shall be paid a total bonus of One Hundred Eighty-Seven Thousand Five Hundred Dollars ($187,500.00), to be paid in three (3) equal installments, less taxes
and other customary withholdings, on each of the following dates: April 1, 2011; July 1, 2011; and October 1, 2011. Also, as incentive compensation for
services rendered hereunder, Executive may, at the sole and absolute discretion of the Company, be entitled to receive additional annual compensation of up
to sixty percent (60%) of the Base Salary (“Incentive Compensation”).

 
4.3          Participation in Benefit Plans.  Executive and eligible family members shall be included to the extent eligible in any and all

Company plans providing general benefits for Company’s employees, including, but not limited to, any group life insurance, hospitalization, disability, paid
time off, medical, dental, pension, profit sharing, savings and stock bonus plans.  Executive’s participation in any such plan or program shall be subject to
provisions, rules, and regulations applicable thereto.  Nothing in this Agreement shall impose on Company any affirmative obligation to establish any benefit
plan. Company reserves the right to prospectively terminate or change benefit plans and programs it offers to its employees at any time, provided, that
Company will not reduce or discontinue Executive’s benefits in place on the date hereof unless such reduction or discontinuance is applied proportionately to
other Company employees.

 
4.4          Expenses.  In accordance with Company’s policies established from time to time, Company will pay or reimburse Executive for

all reasonable and necessary out-of-pocket expenses incurred by him in the performance of the Position, subject to the presentment of appropriate receipts or
expense reports in connection with Company’s policies and procedures. The following provisions shall be in effect for any reimbursements (and in-kind
benefits) to which Executive otherwise becomes under this Agreement, in order to assure that such reimbursements (and benefits) do not create a deferred
compensation arrangement subject to Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (“Code”):

 



4.4.1       The amount of reimbursements (or in-kind benefits) to which Executive may become entitled in any one calendar year
shall  not affect the amount of expenses eligible for reimbursement (or in-kind benefits) hereunder in any other  calendar year.

 
4.4.2       Each reimbursement to which Executive becomes entitled shall be made by the Company as soon as administratively

practicable following the Executive’s submission of the supporting documentation, but in no event later than the close of business of the calendar year
following the calendar year in which the reimbursable expense is incurred.
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4.4.3       Executive’s right to reimbursement (or in-kind benefits) cannot be liquidated or exchanged for any other benefit or

payment.
 

4.5          Taxes.  Company may withhold from any benefits payable (including any severance) under this Agreement all federal, state, city
or other taxes as shall be required pursuant to any law or governmental regulation or ruling.

 
4.6          Annual Leave.  Executive shall earn paid time off in accordance with Company’s standard policies.
 

5.     Compensation Upon Termination.
 

5.1          Termination of Employment with Cause.  If Executive commits an act, or fails to act, which such act or failure to act constitutes
Cause as defined in Section 5.6.1 below, Company shall have the right, upon written notice to Executive, to immediately terminate his/her employment
hereunder, without any further liability or obligation to him hereunder or otherwise in respect of his employment, other than Company’s obligation to pay
unpaid Base Salary and paid time off accrued but unused as of the date of termination (the “Termination Date”).

 
5.2          Termination of Employment without Cause.  Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary herein, Company may at any time,

in its sole and absolute discretion and for any or no reason, terminate the employment of Executive hereunder; provided, that if such termination is not a
termination with Cause, is not caused by the death or disability of Executive, and is not a termination following a Change of Control, Company shall pay
and/or provide Executive the following: (i) any Base Salary accrued through the date of termination, (ii) any accrued but unused paid time off; (iii) continued
payment of the Base Salary for a period of twelve (12) months, and (iv) any Incentive Compensation which is earned as of the date of termination pursuant to
the terms of any then existing Incentive Compensation Agreement.  Subsection (iii) of this Section 5.2 shall be referred to as a “Without Cause Severance
Payment.” The Without Cause Severance Payment shall be paid to Executive on a regular basis in accordance with the company’s regular payroll procedures
and policies.

 
5.3          Resignation. If Executive resigns, Executive’s employment shall terminate on the earlier of thirty (30) days from the date that

Executive submits his written resignation or the date on which Company accepts such resignation.  In such event, Company shall have no further liability or
obligation to Executive hereunder, including any severance payments, or otherwise in respect of his employment, other than Company’s obligation to pay
unpaid Base Salary and accrued but unused paid time off as of the effective date of Executive’s resignation.  If Executive resigns his employment upon thirty
(30) days’ advance written notice, Company reserves the right to immediately relieve Executive of all job duties and provide Executive with payment of thirty
(30) days Base Salary in li eu of any portion of the notice period.

 
5.4          Termination Due to Death or Disability.  This Agreement will immediately terminate upon Executive’s death.  This Agreement

will terminate upon Executive’s Disability (as defined in Section 5.6.3, when consistent with state and federal law, as applicable.  In the event of Executive’s
termination due to death or Disability, Executive, or his heirs, personal representatives or estate, as the case may be, will be entitled to receive only the
standard entitlements and those benefits available under any applicable Company plan or insurance policy, subject to such plan or policy requirements, along
with accrued unpaid Base Salary and paid time off.  All other Company
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obligations to Executive pursuant to this Agreement will become automatically terminated and completely extinguished.  In addition, neither Executive nor
his heirs, personal representatives or estate will be entitled to receive severance payments or other benefits described in this Section 5.

 
5.5          Termination Upon Change of Control.  In the event of a Change of Control of KDSS, if the event Executive is terminated Upon

a Change of Control of the Company pursuant to Section 5.6.2, the Company shall pay to Executive: (i) any Base Salary accrued through the date of
termination, (ii) any accrued but unused paid time off; and (iii) continued payment of the Base Salary for a period of twelve (12) months. Subsection (iii) of
this Section 5.5 shall be referred to as a “Change of Control Severance Payment.” Except as otherwise provided herein, the Change of Control Severance
Payment shall be paid to Executive on a regular basis in accordance with the company’s regular payroll procedures and policies.

 
5.6          Definitions.
 

5.6.1       For purposes of this Agreement, “Cause” shall mean (i) Executive breaching any material provision of this Agreement;
or (ii) Executive being indicted or convicted of any felony; or (iii) Executive committing any act of fraud, misappropriation of funds or embezzlement; or
(iv) Executive committing any act, or failing to take any action, the effect of which is to bring Company into disrepute with any of its customers, including,
but not limited to a material violation of Company’s Code of Legal and Ethical Conduct.

 
5.6.2       For purposes of this Agreement, a “Change of Control” shall mean with respect to Kratos Defense & Security

Solutions, Inc. (“KDSS”): (i) the sale or exchange in a single or series of related transactions by the stockholders of more than fifty percent (50%) of the
voting stock of KDSS; (ii) a merger or consolidation in which KDSS is a party; (iii) the sale, exchange, or transfer of all or substantially all of the assets of
KDSS (other than a sale, exchange or transfer to one or more subsidiaries of KDSS); or (iv) a liquidation or dissolution of KDSS. Termination “Upon
Change of Control” shall mean the Company’s, or its legal successor’s, termination of Executive’s employment without Cause and within six months after
the closing of a transaction tha t causes a Change of Control.

 



5.6.3       For purposes of this Agreement, “Disability” shall mean (i) Executive is unable to engage in any substantial gainful
activity by reason of any medically determinable physical or mental impairment that can be expected to result in death or can be expected to last for a
continuous period of not less than twelve (12) months; (ii) Executive is, by reason of any medically determinable physical or mental impairment that can be
expected to result in death or can be expected to last for a continuous period of not less than twelve (12) months, receiving income replacement benefits for a
period of not less than three months under an accident and health plan covering employees of Company; or (iii) Executive is determined to be totally disabled
by the Social Security Administration.  For purposes of this Section, whether Execut ive satisfies the definition of Disability shall be determined in good faith
by the Board of Directors of Company.

 
5.7          Release.  The payment of any severance to Executive under this Section 5 is contingent on Executive signing and not revoking a

customary and standard employee release agreement, and such release agreement becoming effective within forty-five (45) days of Executive’s Termination
Date.  No severance payment will be paid until the release agreement becomes effective, and any severance payment payable between the Termination Date
and the date such release agreement becomes effective shall be paid on the effective date of such release
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agreement, subject to the delay described in Section 6.  If the termination occurs after November 15, no payments shall be made until the first payroll date of
the calendar year following the effectiveness of the release agreement, subject to the delay described in Section 6.

 
6.     Six Month Delay.  Notwithstanding any inconsistent provision of this Agreement, if Executive is a “specified employee” within the meaning of

Code Section 409A at the time of termination, then the portion of Executive’s severance payments, together with any other severance payments or benefits
that, in each case, may be considered deferred compensation under Code Section 409A that would otherwise be payable within the six (6) month period
following termination and exceeds the Section 409A Limit will accrue and be paid in a lump sum on the date six (6) months and one (1) day following the
date of termination (or the next business day if such date is not a business day) or, if earlier, the date of death, provided Executive has complied with the
requirements for such payment.  N otwithstanding anything to the contrary, no actions taken pursuant to this Section 6 shall reduce the total amount of
payments and benefits owed to Executive and to be paid to Executive under this Agreement.  For purposes of this Section 6, “Section 409A Limit” will mean
the lesser of two (2) times: (i) Executive’s annualized compensation based upon the annual rate of pay paid to Executive during Company’s taxable year
preceding Company’s taxable year of Executive’s termination of employment as determined under Treasury Regulation 1.409A-1(b)(9)(iii)(A)(1) and any
Internal Revenue Service guidance issued with respect thereto; or (ii) the maximum amount that may be taken into account under a qualified plan pursuant to
Code Section 401(a)(17) for the year in which Executive’s termination from employment occurs.

 
7.     Proprietary Information Agreement.  The Proprietary Information Agreement signed by Executive on May 29, 2009 shall remain in full

force and effect.
 
8.     Arbitration.
 

8.1          Claims Covered.  The parties shall resolve by arbitration all statutory, contractual and/or common law claims or controversies
(“Claims”) that the Company may have against Executive, or that Executive may have against the Company or any of its officers, directors, employees or
agents in their capacity as such or otherwise.  Claims subject to arbitration include (i) claims for discrimination (including but not limited to, age, disability,
marital status, medical condition, national origin, race, religion, sex, sexual harassment or sexual orientation); (ii) claims for breach of any contract (express
or implied); (iii) claims for any federal, state or governmental law, statute, regulation or ordinance; and (iv) tort claims (including but not limited to, negligent
or intentional injury, defamation and termination of employment in violation of public policy).

 
8.2          Claims Not Covered.  The arbitration of Claims shall not apply to (i) claims by Executive for workers’ compensation or

unemployment insurance; (ii) claims which even in the absence of these arbitration provisions could not have been litigated in court or before any
administrative proceeding under applicable federal, state or local law; (iii) claims for which arbitration is prohibited under the Fiscal Year 2010 Defense
Appropriations Act; and (iv) claims by the Company for injunctive and/or other equitable relief.

 
8.3          Procedures.  Claims shall be settled by arbitration by a single, neutral arbitrator in accordance with the employment arbitration

rules then in effect of Judicial Arbitration and Mediation Services (JAMS).  The arbitrator shall determine all questions of fact and law relating to any Claim,
including but not limited to, whether or not any such Claim is subject to the arbitration provisions contained herein.  The parties shall be permitted to engage
in such pre-hearing
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discovery as the arbitrator shall permit.  The arbitrator shall issue a written arbitration decision which shall include essential findings and conclusions on
which any award is based.  Judgment upon the award rendered by the arbitrator may be entered in any court having jurisdiction.  Each party shall pay the fees
of its own attorneys, the expenses of its witnesses and all other expenses connected with presenting its case, except insofar as such fees or expenses are
otherwise recoverable pursuant to a statutory claim or cause of action.  The Company shall bear the other costs of the arbitration, including the cost of any
record or transcript of the arbitration, administrative fees, the fee of the arbitrator, and all other fees and costs.

 
8.4          Remedies; Waiver of Jury Trial.  Executive understands that Executive is waiving the right to seek remedies in court, including

the right to a jury trial.  The arbitrator shall be empowered to award any relief which might have been available in a court of law or equity.
 
8.5          Required Notice and Statute of Limitations.  Arbitration shall be initiated by serving or mailing a written notice to the other

party within the applicable statutory limitations period.  Any notice to be sent to the Company shall be delivered to the Company President.  The notice shall
identify and describe the nature of all claims asserted and the facts upon which such claims are based.

 
9.     Miscellaneous.
 

9.1          Governing Law and Venue.  This Agreement is made under and shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws
of the State of Delaware, without regard to its conflicts of laws provisions, and all proceedings shall be brought in the courts or arbitral forums located in
located in Northern Virginia (Washington, D.C. metropolitan area), San Diego, California, or some other location as agreed by the parties.



 
9.2          Prior Agreements.  This Agreement, together with the Proprietary Information Agreement, contains the entire agreement of the

parties relating to the subject matter hereof and supersedes all prior agreements and understandings with respect to such subject matter. The parties have made
no agreements, representations or warranties relating to the subject matter of this Agreement which are not set forth herein.  This Agreement supersedes and
replaces the 2009 Agreement in its entirety.

 
9.3          Taxes.  Company may withhold from any benefits payable under this Agreement all federal, state, city or other taxes as shall be

required pursuant to any law or governmental regulation or ruling.
 
9.4          Successors.  The terms of this Agreement and all rights of Executive hereunder shall inure to the benefit of, and be enforceable by,

Executive’s personal or legal representatives, executors, administrators, successors, heirs, distributees, devisees and legatees.
 
9.5          Amendments.  No amendment or modification of this Agreement shall be deemed effective unless made in writing signed by the

parties.
 
9.6          No Waiver.  No term or condition of this Agreement shall be deemed to have been waived nor shall there be any estoppel to

enforce any provisions of this Agreement, except by a statement in writing signed by the party against whom enforcement of the waiver or estoppel is sought. 
Any written waiver shall not be deemed a continuing waiver unless specifically stated, shall
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operate only as to the specific term or condition waived and shall not constitute a waiver of such term or condition for the future or as to any act other than
that specifically waived.

 
9.7          Severability.  To the extent any provision of this Agreement shall be considered by a court or arbitrator to be invalid or

unenforceable, the provision shall be considered deleted and the remainder of such provision and of this Agreement shall be unaffected and shall continue in
full force and effect.

 
9.8          Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an original

and all which together shall be deemed to be one and the same instrument.
 
9.9          Notices.  All notices required or permitted hereunder shall be in writing and shall be deemed effectively given or received:

(a) upon personal delivery to the party to be notified, (b) when sent by confirmed fax if sent during normal business hours of the recipient upon confirmed
receipt, if not, then on the next business day, (c) five business days after having been sent by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, postage
prepaid, or (d) one business day after deposit with a nationally recognized overnight courier specifying next day delivery, with written verification of receipt. 
All notices shall be sent to Company and Executive at their respective addresses as set forth below or at such other address as Company or Executive may
designate by advance written notice to the other party.

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Employment Agreement as of the Effective Date.

 
THE COMPANY:

 

EXECUTIVE:
Kratos Government Solutions, Inc.

  

   
By: /s/ Eric DeMarco

 

/s/ Phil Carrai
Name: Eric DeMarco

 

Phil Carrai
Title: President and CEO

 

Title: President, ITS
  

Date: December 19, 2010
   
Address for Notice:

  

   
4820 Eastgate Mall

  

San Diego, CA 92121
  

Attn:  Law Department
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EXHIBIT 21.1 

LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES

1.  Kratos Government Solutions, Inc.
2.  Defense Systems, Incorporated
3.  JMA Associates, Inc.
4.  Madison Research Corporation
5.  Haverstick Consulting, Inc.
6.  HGS Holdings, Inc.
7.  Haverstick Government Solutions, Inc.
8.  DTI Associates, Inc.
9.  Rocket Support Services LLC
10.  Kratos Commercial Solutions, Inc.
11.  Kratos Mid-Atlantic, Inc.
12.  Kratos Southeast, Inc.
13.  Kratos Texas, Inc.
14.  WFI NMC Corp.
15.  Kratos Southwest L.P.
16.  SYS
17.  AI Metrix, Inc.
18.  Polexis, Inc.
19.  Reality Based IT Services, Ltd.
20.  Shadow I, Inc.
21.  Shadow II, Inc.
22.  Shadow III, Inc.
23.  DEI Services Corporation
24.  Digital Fusion, Inc.
25.  Digital Fusion Solutions, Inc.
26.  Summit Research Corporation
27.  Gichner Holdings, Inc.
28.  Gichner Systems Group, Inc.
29.  Gichner Systems International, Inc.
30.  Charleston Marine Containers Inc.
31.  Dallastown Realty I, LLC
32.  Dallastown Realty II, LLC
33.  Hammer Acquisition Inc.
34.  SCT Acqusition LLC
35.  Henry Bros. Electronics, Inc.
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EXHIBIT 23.1 

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 

        We have issued our reports dated March 1, 2011, with respect to the consolidated financial statements and internal control over financial reporting included
in the Annual Report of Kratos Defense & Security Solutions, Inc. on Form 10-K for the year ended December 26, 2010. We hereby consent to the incorporation
by reference of said reports in the Registration Statements of Kratos Defense & Security Solutions, Inc. on Forms S-3 (File No. 333-161340, effective August 14,
2009 and File No. 333-172103, effective February 8, 2011), on Form S-4 (File No. 333-167840, effective June 28, 2010) and on Forms S-8 (File No. 333-90455,
effective November 5, 1999, File No. 333-54818, effective February 1, 2001, File No. 333-71702, effective October 17, 2001, File No. 333-91852, effective
July 2, 2002, File No. 333-116903, effective June 28, 2004, File No. 333-124957, effective May 16, 2005, File No. 333-127060, effective August 1, 2005, File
No. 333-155317, effective November 12, 2008, File No. 333-157826, effective March 10, 2009, File No. 333-167839, effective June 28, 2010 and File No. 333-
171257, effective December 17, 2010).

/s/ GRANT THORNTON LLP

San Diego, California
March 1, 2011
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EXHIBIT 31.1 

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 

I, Eric M. DeMarco, certify that:

        1.     I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Kratos Defense & Security Solutions, Inc.;

        2.     Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

        3.     Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

        4.     The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:

        (a)   Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

        (b)   Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

        (c)   Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

        (d)   Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

        5.     The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

        (a)   All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

        (b)   Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control
over financial reporting.

Date: March 1, 2011

/s/ ERIC M. DEMARCO

Eric M. De Marco
Chief Executive Officer and President
(Principal Executive Officer)
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EXHIBIT 31.2 

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 

I, Deanna H. Lund, certify that:

        1.     I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Kratos Defense & Security Solutions, Inc.;

        2.     Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

        3.     Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

        4.     The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))for the
registrant and have:

        (a)   Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

        (b)   Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

        (c)   Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

        (d)   Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

        5.     The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

        (a)   All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

        (b)   Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control
over financial reporting.

Date: March 1, 2011

/s/ DEANNA H. LUND

Deanna H. Lund
Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)
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EXHIBIT 32.1 

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 18 U.S.C SECTION 1350

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 

        In connection with the Annual Report of Kratos Defense & Security Solutions, Inc. (the "Company") on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 26,
2010 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), I, Eric M. DeMarco, Chief Executive Officer of the Company,
certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:

        1.     The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d), of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

        2.     That the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

Date: March 1, 2011

  KRATOS DEFENSE & SECURITY
SOLUTIONS, INC.

  /s/ ERIC M. DEMARCO

Chief Executive Officer
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EXHIBIT 32.2 

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 18 U.S.C SECTION 1350

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 

        In connection with the Annual Report of Kratos Defense & Security Solutions, Inc. (the "Company") on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 26,
2010 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), I, Deanna H. Lund, Chief Financial Officer of the Company,
certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

        1.     The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d), of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

        2.     That the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

Date: March 1, 2011

 KRATOS DEFENSE & SECURITY
SOLUTIONS, INC.

 
/s/ DEANNA H. LUND

Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer
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